
Agenda and Meeting Materials
May 5, 2020

Telephone Conference Call
Tallahassee, FL

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Introductory Materials

1



CONSTITUTION  
OF THE  

STATE OF FLORIDA 

AS REVISED IN 1968 AND SUBSEQUENTLY AMENDED 

ARTICLE IX  

EDUCATION  

SECTION 7.  State University System.-- 

(a) PURPOSES.  In order to achieve excellence through teaching students, advancing research and 
providing public service for the benefit of Florida’s citizens, their communities and economies, the people 
hereby establish a system of governance for the state university system of Florida.

(b) STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM.  There shall be a single state university system comprised of all public 
universities. A board of trustees shall administer each public university and a board of governors shall govern 
the state university system.

(c) LOCAL BOARDS OF TRUSTEES.  Each local constituent university shall be administered by a board of 
trustees consisting of thirteen members dedicated to the purposes of the state university system. The board of 
governors shall establish the powers and duties of the boards of trustees. Each board of trustees shall consist 
of six citizen members appointed by the governor and five citizen members appointed by the board of 
governors. The appointed members shall be confirmed by the senate and serve staggered terms of five years 
as provided by law. The chair of the faculty senate, or the equivalent, and the president of the student body of 
the university shall also be members.

(d) STATEWIDE BOARD OF GOVERNORS.  The board of governors shall be a body corporate consisting of 
seventeen members. The board shall operate, regulate, control, and be fully responsible for the management 
of the whole university system. These responsibilities shall include, but not be limited to, defining the 
distinctive mission of each constituent university and its articulation with free public schools and community 
colleges, ensuring the well-planned coordination and operation of the system, and avoiding wasteful 
duplication of facilities or programs. The board’s management shall be subject to the powers of the legislature 
to appropriate for the expenditure of funds, and the board shall account for such expenditures as provided by 
law. The governor shall appoint to the board fourteen citizens dedicated to the purposes of the state 
university system. The appointed members shall be confirmed by the senate and serve staggered terms of 
seven years as provided by law. The commissioner of education, the chair of the advisory council of faculty 
senates, or the equivalent, and the president of the Florida student association, or the equivalent, shall also 
be members of the board.

(e) FEES. Any proposal or action of a constituent university to raise, impose, or authorize any fee, as 
authorized by law, must be approved by at least nine affirmative votes of the members of the board of 
trustees of the constituent university, if approval by the board of trustees is required by general law, and at 
least twelve affirmative votes of the members of the board of governors, if approval by the board of governors 
is required by general law, in order to take effect. A fee under this subsection shall not include tuition.

History.--Proposed by Initiative Petition filed with the Secretary of State August 6, 2002; adopted 2002; Am. 
proposed by Constitution Revision Commission, Revision No. 2, 2018, filed with the Secretary of State May 9, 
2018; adopted 2018.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Introductory Materials

4



1 
 

 

AGENDA 
Academic and Student Affairs Committee 

By Telephone Conference Call 
Tallahassee, Florida 

May 5, 2020 
1:00 p.m. - 1:30 p.m. 

or 
Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings 

Chair:  Ms. Darlene Jordan; Vice Chair:  Mr. Brian Lamb 
Members:  Cerio, Corcoran, Felton, Frost, Johnson, Scott, Tripp 

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Darlene Jordan 

2. Minutes of Committee Meeting Governor Jordan 
Minutes, March 25, 2020 

3. Academic and Student Affairs Updates  

A. SUS Council of Academic Vice Presidents (CAVP)  Dr. Sally McRorie 
Chair, CAVP 

B. SUS Council for Student Affairs (CSA) Dr. William Hudson Jr. 
Chair, CSA 

C. Florida Student Association (FSA) Ms. Zenani D. Johnson 
Chair, FSA 

4. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Jordan 



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Academic and Student Affairs Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Minutes of Committee Meeting held March 25, 2020

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Consider approval of the minutes of the Academic and Student Affairs Committee 
meeting held on March 25, 2020, via teleconference.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Committee members will review and consider approval of the minutes of the meeting 
held on March 25, 2020, via teleconference.

Supporting Documentation Included: Minutes, March 25, 2020

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Darlene Jordan

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Student Affairs Committee

9



MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
ACADEMIC AND STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

CONFERENCE CALL
March 25, 2020

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors
and its Committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu.

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks

Chair Darlene Jordan convened the Academic and Student Affairs Committee 
meeting at 10:08 a.m. with the following members present: Chair Jordan, Governors
Cerio, Felton, Johnson, Scott, and Tripp. A quorum was established.

2. Minutes of January 30, 2020, Committee Meeting 

Governor Jordan asked for a motion to approve the minutes from the January 30, 
2020, Committee meeting. Governor Tripp moved to approve, Governor Johnson 
seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously.

3. Public Notice of Intent to adopt Board of Governors Regulation 8.007 Articulation

Governor Tripp recognized Assistant Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs, Dr. Traki 
L. Taylor, to present the proposed language for Board of Governors Regulation 
8.007 Articulation.

Dr. Taylor shared that the Board of Governors and State University System 
institutions work hard to ensure access to all students. The concept of articulation is 
founded in the State’s Constitution and Florida Statutes emphasize the need for 
cross-sector collaboration to ensure access and equitable treatment for all students 
while avoiding duplication of courses or delays in completing the requirements for a 
degree. 

Dr. Taylor reported that the Board first adopted the Statewide Articulation Agreement 
by resolution in 2003 and has adopted stand-alone regulations addressing several
related areas, including Common Prerequisites, General Education Core, Civic 
Literacy, and Accelerated Mechanisms. 

She then explained that given the long-standing existence of the Statewide 
Articulation Agreement, and the recent emphasis on articulation by both the 
Legislature and the Board, staff drafted a stand-alone articulation regulation for the 
Committee to consider.  Dr. Taylor noted that this regulation if approved, will replace 
the existing articulation guidelines adopted by resolution in 2003. The new 
regulation will provide clear and consistent expectations for institutions; require 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Student Affairs Committee

10

http://www.flbog.edu/


2

points of contact for articulation issues at all SUS institutions; and ensure a smooth 
and equitable transition for students. 

Chair Jordan thanked Dr. Taylor for her presentation and asked if members of the 
Committee had any questions. Chair Jordan noted the system’s hard work on 
articulation. 

Chair Jordan asked for a motion to approve the Public Notice of Intent to adopt 
Board of Governors Regulation 8.007 Articulation. Governor Tripp moved to 
approved, Governor Cerio seconded the motion, and the motion carried
unanimously.

4. Amendment to Board of Governors Regulation 6.002 Admission of 
Undergraduate First-Time-in-College, Degree-Seeking Freshman 

Chair Jordan shared that the Board approved the request to notice an amendment to
Board of Governors Regulation 6.002, Admission of Undergraduate First-Time-in-
College, Degree-Seeking Freshmen in January 2020. Chair Jordan explained that 
the regulation was amended to provide greater flexibility for State University System 
institutions in making undergraduate admission decisions. Additionally, the revisions 
will provide technical changes to enhance readability. The regulation went through 
the 30-day noticing process, and one paragraph regarding high school students with 
Associate in Arts degrees was removed based on feedback provided by the Florida 
College System.  

No members of the Committee expressed questions or comments. 

5. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment 

Having no further business, Chair Jordan adjourned the meeting at 10:19 a.m.

Darlene Jordan, Chair

____________________________
Jeremy M. Hudak
Assistant Director for 
Academic Affairs

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Student Affairs Committee

11



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Academic and Student Affairs Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: State University System Council of Academic Vice Presidents

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Dr. Sally McRorie, Chair of the Council of Academic Vice Presidents, will provide an 
update on current council activities and issues.

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Facilitators/Presenters: Dr. Sally McRorie

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Student Affairs Committee

18



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Academic and Student Affairs Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: State University System Council of Student Affairs

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Dr. William Hudson Jr., Chair of the State University System Council for Student Affairs, 
will provide an update on current council activities and issues.

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Facilitators/Presenters: Dr. William Hudson Jr.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Student Affairs Committee

19



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Academic and Student Affairs Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Florida Student Association

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Governor Zenani D. Johnson, Chair of the Florida Student Association, will update the 
Committee on current association activities and issues. 

Supporting Documentation Included: None 

Facilitators / Presenters: Governor Zenani D. Johnson

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Student Affairs Committee

20



AGENDA
Strategic Planning Committee

Telephone Conference Call
May 5, 2020

1:30 p.m. - 2:00 p.m.
or

Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings

Chair:  Mr. Tim Cerio; Vice Chair:  Mr. Alan Levine
Members:  Felton, Frost, Huizenga, Jr., Jordan, Lamb, Scott, Silagy

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Tim Cerio

2. Minutes of Strategic Planning Committee Meeting Governor Cerio
Minutes, January 29, 2020

3. Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Governor Cerio
Regulation 2.002 University Accountability Plans

4. Overview of PBF Metric 3 Mr. Troy Miller
Deputy Chief Data Officer

Office of Data and Analytics

5. SUS Student Debt Mr. Miller

6. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Cerio

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

21



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Strategic Planning Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Minutes of Committee Meeting held January 29, 2020

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Consider approval of the minutes of the Strategic Planning Committee meeting held on 
January 29, 2020, at Florida State University.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Strategic Planning Committee will consider approval of the minutes of the meeting 
held on January 29, 2020, at Florida State University.

Supporting Documentation Included: January 29, 2020, minutes

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Tim Cerio

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

26



MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY
TALLAHASSEE, FL 

January 29, 2020

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors
and its committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu/.

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks

Chair Tim Cerio convened the meeting on January 29, 2020, at 1:01 p.m. with the 
following members present: Governors Felton, Frost (by phone), Huizenga, Lamb, 
Levine, Scott, and Silagy.  A quorum was established.

2. Minutes of Strategic Planning Committee Meeting

Chair Cerio called for a motion to approve the meeting minutes from the Committee’s 
October 30, 2019, meeting.  Governor Silagy moved to approve the minutes, Governor 
Frost seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously.

3. Florida Job Outlook and Demand

Chair Cerio announced that the next item on the agenda was to hear a presentation 
from the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) on the job outlook and 
demand data in Florida.  Chair Cerio recognized Ms. Adrienne Johnston, Chief of the 
Bureau of Workforce Statistics and Economic Research, to give the presentation.

Ms. Johnston gave an overview of the role of the Bureau of Workforce Statistics and 
Economic Research, which is to produce, analyze, and distribute labor market statistics
for improved economic decision-making.  She explained that since the methodology is 
consistent from state to state, comparisons can be drawn across states.

Ms. Johnston provided several statistics regarding Florida’s employment trends.  In 
2019, the total Florida private sector employment increased by almost 200,000 jobs.  
This increase is about a 2.5% growth rate for the year, which is higher than the rest of 
the country.  She added that Florida had maintained a growth rate above 2% for the last 
several years.  Ms. Johnston noted that there had been a continuous decline in Florida’s 
unemployment since the height of the recession and that unemployment was at a 
record low of 3%. She highlighted that Florida was keeping a low employment rate 
while still adding jobs to the private sector. Ms. Johnston then compared Florida’s job 
opening rate and hiring rate explaining that in the past, the job opening rate was below 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

27

http://www.flbog.edu/


2

the hiring rate; however, in the last two years, the job opening rate has surpassed the 
hiring rate.

Next, Ms. Johnston explained DEO’s four job roles that fuel Florida’s economy, which 
are the Face of Florida, Protect Florida, Inform Florida, and Transform Florida.  The 
Face of Florida includes jobs in retail sales, entertainment, food service, and other basic 
services.  She explained that these types of jobs are mainly entry-level and require the 
development of soft skills.  Of the four categories, the Face of Florida is the largest in 
terms of the number of jobs.  The second category, Protect Florida, contains jobs that 
involve higher levels of career-building, skill development, and education.  These jobs 
may include emergency services, construction, and other trades.  The third category is 
Inform Florida, which includes professional services, education, and management jobs.  
The last category is Transform Florida, which includes highly specialized jobs that
encourage innovation such as careers in the sciences, engineering, or technology.  

Next, Ms. Johnston provided detailed information on occupational growth and future 
expected growth for Florida’s economy.  She explained that some of the top growing 
industries in Florida include healthcare, education, management, scientific and technical 
services, construction, and arts and entertainment. In terms of future projections, most 
of the jobs that will be added over the next eight years will be in the Face of Florida 
group; however, the largest growth rate will be in the Transform Florida (Florida’s Future 
on the slide) category.

Ms. Johnston also provided statistics that divided up the total job openings by the job’s 
required education level.  By focusing on only those careers which required a bachelor’s 
degree or higher, Ms. Johnston provided information on the top 10 occupations in 
Florida, which included registered nurses, accountants and auditors, management 
analysts, elementary school teachers, and software developers.

Next, Ms. Johnston reviewed the findings of a job vacancy and skills gap study DEO 
conducted in 2017.  As part of this study, employers were asked to provide additional 
information on the requirements for each position.  This study found that 80% of the job 
openings required less than two years of experience; only a third required training 
above a high school diploma, and 35% required certification or a license.

Ms. Johnston then provided statistics on employee in-migration, which included the 
states Floridians are moving to, and the states that individuals are leaving to move to 
Florida.  She explained that although Florida loses some of its population to other 
states, overall, Florida’s population is still growing.  Using this data and supply and 
demand analysis, she identified industries that have potential gaps, including 
accountants, recruitment specialists, and training and development specialists.  
Registered nurses and software developers did not show up on these lists; however,
general rhetoric in Florida is that there is a gap. To explain this difference, Ms. 
Johnston provided data comparing wages and cost of living across several metropolitan 
areas to demonstrate that Florida’s wages are lower when compared to other 
metropolitan areas.  These wage differences could explain why individuals migrate 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

28



3

elsewhere.  This data does not account for taxes, and DEO is trying to find ways to 
factor in this information. 

Governor Silagy encouraged DEO to continue to find ways to incorporate taxes into the 
adjusted wage comparisons.  Governor Scott encouraged the Board to consider and 
investigate the root causes of some of the changes in employment in an effort to 
understand how Florida will address these issues.  

Governor Lamb asked for Ms. Johnston’s reaction to the data regarding employment 
growth by education and asked for her suggestions on where the Board should focus.  
Ms. Johnston explained that viewing growth by education level required was a way to 
place the information within context.  In general, the largest number of jobs required no 
diploma or a high-school diploma, but she also added that these education 
requirements are not fixed and are not true for every employer.

Governor Stermon asked Ms. Johnston if there were any occupations where there may 
be too much supply.  Ms. Johnston said she could not comment on too much supply 
because the data is based on historical trends, and the projections are eight-year 
estimates.  However, given the future of work and past trends, any emphasis on 
entrepreneurship and problem solving, which is adaptable across many domains, are 
skills that are critical for future needs.

Chancellor Criser added that the Board of Governors has just completed its review of 
Programs of Strategic Emphasis.  While the System targets about 50% of its programs 
in these areas, it is still important to produce graduates in areas that are not included in 
Programs of Strategic Emphasis as these areas are also important.  Additionally, in the 
past, the Board office has tracked baccalaureate graduates to determine their 
employment and education outcomes one, five, and ten years after graduation.  The 
Board office is in the process of updating this study, and the data will help inform the 
Board of Governors on what students are doing and where they are finding success.

Governor Levine added that some numbers might be misleading because there are 
some degrees where credentials are increasing, but these degrees do not match up 
with the job needs.  

Chair Cerio thanked Ms. Johnston for the presentation.  

4. U.S. News and World Report Rankings

Chair Cerio announced that the next item on the agenda was to hear a presentation on 
U.S. News and World Report rankings.  He explained that the presentation would cover 
the metrics of the U.S. News and World Report’s rankings and how they align with the 
Performance Based Funding metrics.  Chair Cerio introduced Mr. Troy Miller, Deputy 
Chief Data Officer, to give the presentation.

Mr. Miller explained that the state rankings include five metrics that fall into two 
categories: degree production and cost to the student.  Degree production is measured 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

29



4

by two-year public institutions’ and four-year public institutions’ graduation rates.  The 
graduation rate that is measured for four-year public institutions is the six-year 
graduation rate.  The other category of cost to the student is measured by low-debt at 
graduation and tuition and fees.  Mr. Miller explained that the State University System
(SUS) of Florida’s performance is captured by the four-year graduation rate, low-debt at 
graduation, and tuition and fees.  The two-year graduation pertains to the Florida 
College System and the educational attainment metric is a product of all post-secondary 
institutions in the state of Florida and in-migration from other states.  Mr. Miller then 
provided data on Florida’s performance on these metrics in comparison to the other top 
10 states.

Next, Mr. Miller gave an overview of the metrics for U.S. News and World Report’s Best 
Colleges rankings, noting the performance of SUS institutions over the past six years.  
Specifically, the University of Florida moved up seven spots to be ranked seventh in the 
nation; Florida State University moved up 22 spots to be ranked 18th in the nation; the 
University of South Florida moved up 50 spots to be ranked 44th in the nation, and the 
University of Central Florida moved up 15 spots to be ranked 79th in the nation.  Lastly, 
Mr. Miller demonstrated the alignment between Performance Based Funding metrics 
and both the U.S. News and World Report’s Best States for Higher Education’s and 
Best Colleges’ metrics.

Governor Silagy asked if there were cautionary tales or lessons learned from those 
institutions that have increased or decreased in rankings.  Mr. Miller said he would 
follow-up.

5. Monitoring Pillars of Excellence Progress

Chair Cerio said the next item on the agenda was a presentation on a process for 
monitoring the expenditure of state funds provided to the System for the Pillars of 
Excellence for the 2020-2021 Fiscal Year.  Chair Cerio recognized Dr. Christy England, 
Vice Chancellor for Academic and Student Affairs, to provide a draft of the monitoring 
plan.

Dr. England explained that the Board office submitted a legislative budget request that 
included funding for the Pillar of Excellence framework, which includes Performance 
Based Funding, Preeminence, and Universities of Distinction proposals.  When the 
legislative session has ended, and the Board office knows how much funding is 
allocated, institutions will be asked to revise their spending plans based on the actual 
funding allocated.  Additionally, Board staff will work with institutions on the University of 
Distinction proposals to review the rankings and metrics that were proposed in the 
original plans as well as provide historical data for the metrics.  Dr. England noted that 
the timeline was dependent on how the money is allocated and the revision process.  
Once the Board approves the revised plans, the next step would be for institutions to 
provide quarterly updates.  Board staff will summarize those quarterly reports and 
present them to the Strategic Planning Committee regularly.  The first quarterly report 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

30



5

will be due from the institutions in November of 2020, and then a summary will be given 
to the Board in January 2021.  

6. University of North Florida Strategic Plan

Chair Cerio announced that the next item on the agenda was to consider for approval 
the University of North Florida’s (UNF) 2020-2025 Strategic Plan.  Board of Governors 
Regulation 1.001(3)(c) requires that the University Board of Trustees adopt a strategic 
plan in alignment with its mission and the Board of Governors’ System Strategic Plan.  
These plans are required to be approved by the Board of Governors.  He added that the 
University of North Florida’s Board of Trustees approved the 2020-2025 Strategic Plan 
and crosswalk on November 1, 2019.  Chair Cerio then recognized Dr. David 
Szymanski, President of the University of North Florida, to present the strategic plan.  

President Szymanski provided an overview of the plan noting the mission and vision of 
the institution. He highlighted UNF’s first appearance on the U.S. News and World 
Reports’ Best Colleges list, ranking 140th.  He noted that this was a pivot point for UNF 
and a shift from a regional college to a national college.  As UNF continues to grow, he 
said the goal is to continue to be student-centered and create the next generation of 
thinkers and problem-solvers. He explained that the plan builds on the institution’s core 
values of integrity, respect, accountability, and innovation.  To achieve these goals, 
UNF is planning to focus on institutional excellence in the areas of research, teaching, 
service, and athletics.  The institution intends to place additional focus in the areas of 
healthcare, logistics, water, and technology, which are all regional, state, and national 
needs.  He added that the institution plans to pursue research and teaching in these 
fields while remaining concerned with student well-being and success.  As part of 
providing a unique learning experience for students, President Szymanski noted that
strategic partnerships would create experiential learning opportunities and integrate the 
community into the curriculum.  Lastly, the institution plans to focus on precision 
advising, counseling, and teaching, which would include faculty engagement, 
undergraduate research, and character development.

Chair Cerio requested that President Szymanski give an overview of the funding 
crosswalk.  President Szymanski stated that currently, UNF scores a ten on three of the 
Performance Based Funding metrics; however, the goal is to score a ten on all ten
metrics within the next five years.  Currently, the institution is working on reducing the 
cost to the student, while increasing retention rates, graduation rates, and the number of 
Pell Grant-eligible students.  

Governor Levine moved to approve the University of North Florida’s 2020-2025 
Strategic Plan, Governor Frost seconded the motion, and the motion carried 
unanimously.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

31



6

7. University of South Florida Consolidation Update

Chair Cerio announced that the next item on the agenda was to hear an update 
regarding the University of South Florida’s (USF) Consolidation Implementation Plan.  
Chair Cerio explained that the USF-Tampa, USF-St. Petersburg, and USF-Sarasota-
Manatee campuses are currently separately accredited by the Southern Association of 
Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges.  However, Section 1004.335, Florida 
Statutes, requires that all USF campuses be consolidated and accredited as a single 
institution by June 30, 2020.  On March 27, 2019, the Strategic Planning Committee 
reviewed the USF’s implementation plan, which established a timeline for each step of 
the consolidation process.  Chair Cerio recognized Dr. Steven C. Currall, President of 
USF, to provide an update on the plan. 

President Currall reviewed the USF Consolidation Plan timeline, which was approved by 
the USF Board of Trustees on March 5, 2019, and presented to the Board of Governors 
on March 27, 2019.  He then reviewed the USF Board of Trustees’ guiding principles for 
consolidation, which include strengthening USF’s stature as a preeminent research 
university, committing to students first, establishing clear and unified leadership, and 
maximizing performance, service quality, and operational efficiencies.  President Currall 
then listed several accomplishments to date, including the revision of faculty senate and 
student government bylaws, approval of tenure and promotion guidelines, approval of a 
new mission statement and goals, and completion of academic program alignment and 
structure.  USF is in the process of preparing the Substantive Change Prospectus as 
required by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on 
Colleges. Lastly, President Currall provided an overview of the remaining activities that 
are scheduled to be completed by spring 2020.  These activities include completing 
organizational charts, confirming faculty appointments and assignments, notifying 
accrediting agencies of new missions and goals, updating student, financial, and human 
resource systems, and implementing branding, communication, and marketing 
campaigns.

8. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

Having no further business, Chair Cerio adjourned the meeting at 2:40 p.m.

Tim M. Cerio, Chair

Disraelly Cruz, Ph.D. 
Director, Planning & Policy

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

32



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Strategic Planning Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulation 2.002 
University Accountability Plans

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Consider approval of Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulation 
2.002 University Accountability Plans

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Board of Governors Regulation 2.002 University Accountability Plans has been 
amended to address section 1001.706(5)(h), Florida Statutes.  The amendment 
requires that each institution, as part of the University Accountability Plan, submit 
information on the effectiveness of its plan for improving four-year graduation rates and 
the level of financial assistance provided to students pursuant to Section 
1001.706(5)(h), Florida Statutes.

If approved by the Strategic Planning Committee and the full Board of Governors, the 
Intent to Amend will be available for public comment for thirty days.  If no concerns are 
raised by that time, the regulation will come before the Board of Governors for final 
approval.

Supporting Documentation Included: Board of Governors Proposed 
Amendment to Regulation 2.002 
University Accountability Plans

Presenter: Governor Tim Cerio

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

33



1  

2.002  University Accountability Plans 
 

(1)  The Board of Governors shall institute a planning and performance 
monitoring system that includes university submissions of annual 
accountability plans designed to inform strategic planning, budgeting, and 
other policy decisions for the State University System. 

 
(2)  Each university’s accountability plan shall reflect the institution’s distinctive 
mission and focus on core institutional strengths within the context of State 
University System goals and regional and statewide needs. 

 
(3)  Each board of trustees shall prepare an accountability plan and submit 
updates on an annual basis for consideration by the Board of Governors. The 
accountability plan shall outline the university’s top priorities, strategic 
directions, and specific actions for achieving those priorities, as well as progress 
towards previously approved institutional and System-wide goals.   

 
(4)  Each university’s accountability plan shall include the following:  

(a) The university’s mission and vision statements;   

(b) Narrative describing the university’s strengths, opportunities, 

challenges, and the university’s top three key initiatives for the next 

three years;   

(c) Key Achievements by students, faculty, academic programs and research 

during the previous year;  

(d) Data reflecting institutional performance and projections of future 

performance on key indicators that support the State University System 

strategic plan goals – as identified by the Board of Governors; 

(e) University-identified, optional, metric goals designed to demonstrate the 

university’s distinctive mission, as identified in its strategic plan; 

(f) Actual and planned headcount and FTE enrollment data;  

(g) A listing of new academic degree program proposals that the university 

plans to submit to its board of trustees within the next three years; 

(h) Any other specific planning information requested by the Board of 

Governors in advance of the submission deadline.  Information on the 

effectiveness of its plan for improving 4-year graduation rates and the 

level of financial assistance provided to students pursuant to Section 

1001.706(5)(h), Florida Statutes; and 

(i) Any other specific planning information requested by the Board of 

Governors in advance of the submission deadline. 

 

(5)  The Chancellor shall provide universities with submission deadlines, as well 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

34



2  

as with content and format specifications for the accountability plans. 

 
(6)  The Board of Governors shall annually submit the university accountability 
plans and the System summary of the university plans to the Governor, the 
President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. 
 
 
Authority:  Section 7(d), Art. IX, Fla. Const.; Section 1001.706, Florida Statutes; 
History:  New 11-12-2009. Amended 11-08-2018. Amended MM-DD-YYYY. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

35



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Strategic Planning Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Overview of PBF Metric 3

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The cost to the student metric is an important component of the Board’s Performance 
Based Funding Model. The metric represents the net tuition and fees paid after taking 
into consideration financial aid and credits taken to earn a degree.

Mr. Troy Miller, Deputy Chief Data Officer, will describe how the cost to the student is 
calculated and the impact that student financial aid has on this metric.

Supporting Documentation Included: 1. PBF 3 Methodology

2. State University System
Student Debt Information Brief

Facilitators/Presenters: Mr. Troy Miller

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

36



 
 

 

Performance Funding Metrics 
Cost To The Student: 

Net Tuition & Fees Per 120 Credit Hours   

STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM of FLORIDA 
Board of Governors 
  

OVERVIEW 
OF METHODOLOGY 
AND PROCEDURES 

REVISED  08/25/2019     

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

37



 

1 

PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS 

COST TO THE STUDENT 08/25/2019    
METHODOLOGY & PROCEDURES 

 
Performance Funding Model Background  
The Performance Based Funding (PBF) model was approved at the January 2014 Board of 
Governors Meeting. The development of the model included university presidents, 
provosts, boards of trustees, and other stakeholders starting in the fall of 2012. The PBF 
model includes ten metrics that were chosen from the Board’s 2025 System Strategic Plan.  

The integrity of data provided to the Board of Governors is critical to the PBF model 
process.  To provide assurance that the data submitted for this process is reliable, 
accurate, and complete, the Board of Governors developed a Data Integrity Certification 
process in June 2014.  University presidents and boards of trustees were directed to task 
their chief audit executives to perform annual audits of the university's processes, which 
ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the Board of 
Governors.    

Cost per Degree Metric Background  
The original Cost per Bachelor’s Degree focused on the Cost to the Institution and was 
derived from university Expenditure Analysis reports.  During the June 2015 Budget and 
Finance Committee meeting, Governor Kuntz indicated that the Board would take 
suggestions for a possible alternative methodology that would enhance how the Cost of a 
Bachelor’s Degree was calculated.  Board staff convened multiple conference calls with 
university representatives and included a face-to-face workshop meeting on March 29, 
2016, which was attended by Board Chair Kuntz and Budget Chair Lautenbach to hear 
university proposals for alternative metrics.  After reviewing all the proposals, the Board 
decided to use a Cost to the Student metric that was largely based on a 2013 report from 
the Cost-per-Degree Workgroup.1  

This document provides details on the methodology and procedures used by Board of 
Governors staff to calculate the Cost to the Student: Net Tuition & Fees per 120 Credit 
Hours metric that was approved by the Board at its November 3, 2016 meeting.2  The data 
for this metric is reported in the annual Accountability Report (Table 1D) and included 
within the PBF model as metric #3.     

                                                                                                                         
1 The 2013 report, Cost of a Degree to the Student, the State & the Institution, is available at: 
http://www.flbog.edu/about/budget/docs/cost_per_degree/Cost-Per-Degree-Report-FINAL-06-03-2013.pdf.  
2 The November Board meeting includes an FAQ document that addresses many questions about the new metric and is 
available at: http://www.flbog.edu/documents_meetings/0202_1033_7800_7.4.4%20BUD%2004c%20-
%20Metric3_FAQ__JJ_2016-10-11.pdf.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

38



 

2 

PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS 

COST TO THE STUDENT 08/25/2019    
METHODOLOGY & PROCEDURES 

 

1. Data Sources and Procedures  
The State University System of Florida Board of Governors maintains a student unit record database titled the 
State University Database System (SUDS).  This database contains over 400 data elements about students, 
faculty and programs at SUS institutions.  It is important to note that SUDS does not include student tuition, 
fee, or book payments, so this ‘Cost to the Student’ metric is based on a model that serves as a reasonable 
estimate of the costs to the student.   

The Board of Governors’ Office of Data & Analytics (ODA) calculate this metric from the following SUDS files: 
Student Instruction File (SIF), Student Financial Aid File (SFA), and the Hours to Degree (HTD) file.  Once ODA 
staff have finished their analysis, each university Data Administrator leads the university review of the data 
analysis to make sure it is accurate before the data is approved by each university board of trustees and the 
Board of Governors as part of the Accountability Report process. 

 

2. Overview 

The ‘Sticker Price’ is the published tuition and fee amount; however, it does not represent the actual amount of 
tuition paid by most students.  Students actually pay the ‘net tuition’ amount, which is the amount of tuition 
and fees that remain after financial aid has been taken into account.  

 

 
 

3. Sticker Price 

The sticker price refers to the sum of the published tuition and required fees amount per credit hour and the 
national average cost for books and supplies.  Because this metric represents the cost of a degree, each 
institution’s sum of tuition, fees, books and supplies is multiplied by the average number of credit hours 
attempted by students for the most recent class of bachelor’s recipients who started as first-time-in-college 
students (FTICs) and graduated from a program that requires only 120 credit hours.  This method recognizes 
that a student who enrolls in more credit hours pays more for tuition, fees and books. 

a. Tuition and Required Fees:  
The per credit hour tuition rate is established annually by the Florida Legislature in the General 
Appropriations Act (GAA).  The Cost to the Student metric is based on the tuition rate for resident 
undergraduates and required fees (e.g., activity & service, transportation, health, technology, capital 
improvement, tuition differential, etc.) that have been approved by the Board of Governors at the request 
of the university boards of trustees.  The tuition and fees used for this metric are available at: 
http://www.flbog.edu/about/budget/current.php.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

39



 

3 

PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS 

COST TO THE STUDENT 08/25/2019    
METHODOLOGY & PROCEDURES 

b. Books & Supplies:  
Textbook affordability is a concern of the Florida Legislature, the Governor, the Board of Governors and 
students.  Board staff chose to use a national cost for books and supplies, as reported annually by the 
College Board,3 as a proxy due to the lack of comprehensive data regarding book costs across the multiple 
sources used by students to acquire their course materials.    

 The calculation of book costs is based on the costs for a 120-hour degree.  The College Board’s national 
average book cost is based on annual costs, so the average annual cost is multiplied by 4 to produce 
the book costs for a four-year, 120-hour degree.  This new cumulative four-year cost amount is then 
divided by 120 to produce a ‘per credit hour’ cost amount.   

 Due to the annual volatility of the national estimated costs for books and supplies, Board staff have 
decided to use the same data for book costs for the two years that are evaluated within the PBF model.  
This serves to standardize the book costs for the year-over-year improvement assessment.   
 

c. Total Hours Attempted:  
The average number of credit hours attempted by students who were admitted as FTIC and who graduated 
with a bachelor’s degree from a program that requires 120 credit hours, as reported on the Hours to 
Degree (HTD) file.      

 Native Credits: Includes all credit hours attempted at the state university from which the student 
received a baccalaureate degree, which is based on the sum of SECTION_CREDIT [#1459] when 
CRS_SYSTEM [#1484] = 'N--native'.  Native credits include all failed, dropped, repeated, and 
withdrawals.   
 Board of Governors staff have clarified that graduate-level credit that is attempted for completion of 

a baccalaureate degree is included in the Cost to the Student metric.  However, if graduate credit is 
attempted as part of a (3+2 or 4+1) dual bachelor’s/master’s degree, where the credit applies to 
both the undergraduate and graduate requirements, then it should be considered graduate degree 
coursework and is therefore excluded from the Cost to the Student metric.  The exempted credits 
are based on the sum of SECTION_CREDIT [#1459] when COURSE_GROUP [#1485] = 'R'. 

 Non-Native Credits Used Toward the Degree: Includes only the credit hours (sum of SECTION_CREDIT 
[#1459]) that are accepted for transfer by the degree-awarding institution (CRS_SYSTEM [#1484] <> 'N-
-native') and used toward the student’s baccalaureate degree program (USAGE_INDICATOR [#1489] = 
'D').  Transfer credits that were not used toward the degree are excluded from the calculation of total 
hours. 

 Excluded credit hours: It is important to note that the courses that are excluded for the calculation of 
total hours for the Cost to the Student metric are slightly different than the methodology used to 
calculate the Excess Hours PBF metric.  This difference is due to the fact that students pay for some 
courses (e.g., internships, remedial, and foreign language (up to 12 credits that are used to satisfy the 
FTIC admission requirement) that are exempt from the excess hours calculation. See Table 1 for the 
comparison of which course credits are included for the two metrics. 
 
 

                                                                                                                         
3 The College Board’s Trends in College Pricing report (Average Estimated Full-Time Undergraduate Budgets, Figure 1), that is 
based on their Annual Survey of Colleges for public four-year institutions, is available at: 
https://trends.collegeboard.org/college-pricing.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

40



 

4 

PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS 

COST TO THE STUDENT 08/25/2019    
METHODOLOGY & PROCEDURES 

 

Table 1. Comparison of Excluded Course Categories 
EXCLUDED FROM 

EXCESS HOURS 
EXCLUDED FROM 

COST TO THE STUDENT 
ACTIVE DUTY MILITARY ACTIVE DUTY MILITARY 
DUAL ENROLLMENT DUAL ENROLLMENT 
EXAM CREDIT EXAM CREDIT 
FOREIGN LANGUAGE   
GRADUATE ROLLOVER GRADUATE ROLLOVER 
INTERNSHIP   
LIFE EXPERIENCE LIFE EXPERIENCE 
MILITARY COURSE MILITARY COURSE 
PERSONAL HARDSHIP PERSONAL HARDSHIP 
REMEDIAL   

 
 

4. Financial Aid 

Financial aid is an administrative tool for achieving federal, state and institutional goals.  Financial aid is used by 
universities to offset the published tuition (or sticker) price as a way to recruit students based on merit and/or 
to change campus diversity.  The “Cost to the Student” metric includes grants, scholarships, waivers and third-
party payments awarded to resident undergraduates in a given academic year.  The “Cost to the Student” 
metric does not include forms of self-help financial aid such as loans, work study programs, or Florida Prepaid 
College Plans.  The total grants, scholarships, waivers and third-party payments are divided by the total credit 
hours earned by that same group of resident undergraduates during the same academic year.  This 
methodology provides an average ‘gift aid’ per credit hour, which is then multiplied by 120 credit hours and 
compared to the sticker price.  It is worth noting that federal ‘education tax credits’ are not collected within 
SUDS and not included in the data for the Cost to the Student metric.  Therefore, this metric slightly over-
estimates the total costs to students. 

a. Resident Undergraduates: 
The only financial aid data that is included in this “Cost to the Student” metric are funds that were awarded 
to resident undergraduate students (FEE CLASSIFICATION [#1106] = ‘F’, ‘R’, ‘T’ and STUDENT CLASS LEVEL 
[#1060] = ‘L’,’U’).  This group of students is selected from the enrollments table by academic year and then 
matched to the financial aid awards table and the courses taken table using a “left join” merge procedure 
that includes the academic term.  Including “term” in the match ensures that the resulting gift aid and 
credit hours do not include data for graduate students (as some undergraduates become graduate 
students within the same academic year).   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

41



 

5 

PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS 

COST TO THE STUDENT 08/25/2019    
METHODOLOGY & PROCEDURES 

 

b. Grants & Scholarships:  
Grants and scholarships are often called “gift aid” because they are free money—financial aid that doesn’t 
have to be repaid.  Grants are often need-based, while scholarships are usually merit-based.  Grants and 
scholarships can come from the federal government, state government, university, or a private or nonprofit 
organization.   
 All grants are included (Financial Aid Award Program Identifier [#1253] between ‘0 – 99’). 
 All scholarships are included (Financial Aid Award Program Identifier [#1253] between ‘200 – 299’).   

c. Waivers:  
A waiver is a form of “gift aid” that allows for a portion of a student's tuition and fees to be reduced, or 
discounted.  Using the same methodology as grants and scholarships, the total waivers awarded to resident 
undergraduates during an academic year are calculated.  BOG staff worked with university Data 
Administrators and Financial Aid Directors to resolve any questions about the waiver data calculated for 
any university.  

 Note: BOG staff are working with university staff in an effort to improve how waivers are reported in 
SUDS.  

d. Third-Party Payments [NEW] 
A third-party payment contract is a category of financial assistance in which a sponsor pays all, or a portion, 
of a student’s invoice directly to the institution (not to the student) via a special billing process.  These 
third-party sponsors are typically from government agencies, private companies, embassies, or service 
organizations.  A majority of third-party payments are related to the military, including: the Department of 
Veterans Affairs (payments related to Chapters 31 and 33 of the GI Bill4); the Division of Vocational 
Rehabilitation (for veteran and civilian disabilities); Reserve Officers' Training Corps (ROTC) and the 
National Guard; and, the Education Dollars for Duty (EDD) scholarship program administered by the Florida 
Department of Military Affairs – see Section 250.10, Florida Statute.  Third-party payments cannot be 
contingent on academic performance or employee reimbursement policies. These funds do not include 
university foundation funds, Florida Pre-Paid, or any other 529 savings plans that parents/students 
previously paid.     

Note: Third-party payments were first included in SUDS queries for reporting AY2017-18 data.  Since the 
Board office evaluates one-year improvement as part of PBF, Board staff requested an official ad hoc data 
request for the third-party payments that were gifted to resident undergraduates during the 2016-17 
academic year.   

e. Credit Hours:  
The total credit hours attempted by the group of resident undergraduates during the academic year are 
included as a denominator in order to calculate the total gift aid amount per credit hour.  All credit hours, 
regardless of the course budget entity, are included.  The only exception is for courses which are taught at 
the institution reporting the credit but are funded through another SUS institution (STU_SECTN_FUND_CD= 
A-I, K).  It should be noted that credit hours are based on student-level (not course-level), so any credit 
hours attempted at the graduate level by students coded as undergraduates are included in the count. 

 
                                                                                                                         
4 This does not include Chapter 35 benefits that are paid directly to the student. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

42



|  1Board of Governors  | State University System of Florida

www.flbog.edu

Information BRIEF

State University System Student Debt

March 24, 2020

Introduction

While student loan debt continues to make national headlines, the Florida story is very different.  
Florida has held tuition and fees flat since 2014-2015 as compared to a 14% increase nationally.
Additionally, state and federal financial aid has increased to historic highs, resulting in the average 
cost for a bachelor’s degree in a Florida public institution now less than $10,000. Increased financial 
aid and low tuition have resulted in fewer students taking out loans and lower loan default rates.  The 
Board of Governors has prioritized low costs for the students, by including this metric in its 
performance based funding model.  Additionally, U.S. News and World Report includes tuition and 
fees and average debt in its ranking for the best states for higher education.1 Florida has been 
recognized as the number one state in the nation for higher education three years in a row.

Tuition and Fees

Tuition and fee costs for full-time students attending public four-year institutions vary by state.  The 
average tuition and fees at the Florida four-year public institutions is $6,350. The national average for 
tuition and fees at public four-year institutions is $10,440.  Exhibit 1 shows that for the 2019-2020 
academic year, Florida has the second-lowest tuition and fees at public four-year institutions, trailing
Wyoming, where the average cost is $5,580.  Vermont is the most expensive state, with the average 
cost to a student being $17,470. 

1 “Higher Education Rankings.”  Retrieved March 5, 2020, from https://www.usnews.com/news/best-
states/rankings/education/higher-education

HIGHLIGHTS

¸ Tuition and fees have remained flat since 2014-15

¸ 11,000 fewer students took out loans in 2018-19 as compared to 2017-18

¸ Two-thirds of students did not take out any loans

¸ Loan default rate for students is 2.7%, a 6% point drop since 2012

¸ State and federal aid have increased over the past five years

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

43



State University System Student Debt

|   2State University System of Florida  |  Board of Governors

Exhibit 1:  Average Tuition and Fees at Public Four-Year Institutions by State: 2019-20

Source: College Board Trends in College Pricing

Annual Cost of Attendance

The cost of attending college includes more than just tuition and fees.  Students also need to pay for 
textbooks and instructional materials, transportation, housing, food, and other personal expenses.  
Florida residents living on campus pay an annual price of approximately $22,700 in direct and indirect 
costs to attend a Florida public university on a full-time basis.  The cost is comprised of $6,100 for 
tuition and fees, $10,700 for room and board, $1,200 for books and supplies, and $4,700 for other 
expenses (e.g., transportation, computer/cell phone, clothing/laundry, and student health insurance).  
Exhibit 2 shows the Florida resident undergraduate cost of attendance during 2019-2020.  The 
national average for four-year public in-state cost of attendance is $26,590 and for private institutions
is $53,980, making Florida’s cost of attendance more affordable.

FL
$6,350

U.S. Average
$10,440

$17,470

W
Y F
L

U
T

M
T

N
C

N
M N
V ID A
K

N
Y

W
V

M
S

G
A

N
E

O
K

S
D

M
O

A
R W
I

K
S

N
D IA L
A IN C
A

W
A

M
D

T
N

U
S

T
X

M
E

K
Y A
L H
I

O
R

O
H

C
O

M
N A
Z R
I

S
C

D
E

V
A

M
A

C
T M
I

IL N
J

P
A

N
H V
T

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

44



State University System Student Debt

|   3State University System of Florida  |  Board of Governors

Exhibit 2:  Florida Resident Undergraduate Cost of Attendance, System Estimate: 2019-20

EXPENSE AMOUNT PERCENT

BOOKS & SUPPLIES $1,200 5%

TRANSPORTATION $1,700 8%

OTHER EXPENSES $3,000 13%

TUITION & FEES $6,100 27%

ROOM & BOARD $10,700 47%

TOTAL $22,700 100%

Source: Board Office of Data Analytics analysis of State University System cost of attendance data.

Student Debt Trends

While the total number of undergraduate students attending SUS institutions has increased by more 
than 8,000 students over the past five years, fewer students are taking out loans.  As shown by
Exhibit 3, while resident undergraduate enrollment has grown, 11,000 fewer students took out loans 
in 2018-2019, and overall, two-thirds of students did not take out any loans.  For students who have 
secured loans, the average loan amount has remained stable between $7,100 and $7,300 annually.

Exhibit 3:  Florida Resident Undergraduate Debt Trends: 2018-19

Academic 
Years

Total
Students

Students 
with 

Loans

Students 
without
Loans

Percent
without 
Loans

Total
Annual 
Loans

Avg. Loans: 
Student with 

Loans

Avg. 
Loans:

All 
Students

2014-15 284,565 119,892 164,673 58% $883.5M $7,370 $3,100

2015-16 287,808 117,083 170,725 59% $852.4M $7,280 $2,960

2016-17 289,194 113,789 175,405 61% $835.1M $7,340 $2,890

2017-18 291,099 106,923 184,176 63% $776.1M $7,260 $2,670

2018-19 292,735 97,265 195,470 67% $695.0M $7,140 $2,370
Source: Board Office of Data Analytics analysis of State University System Database (SUDS) data.

Loan Default Rate Trend

Borrowing for college costs enables students to enroll full-time while working towards a degree in 
their area of interest.  When comparing the graduating classes of 2012 and 2018, the loan default 
rate for public four-year institutions nationally declined by 2.5%, while the rate for SUS institutions
decreased by 6% (Exhibit 4). The most recent graduating class had a default rate of 2.7%, much 
lower than the national average of 6.8%.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

45



State University System Student Debt

|   4State University System of Florida  |  Board of Governors

Exhibit 4: National and SUS Student Default Rate

Source: Board Office of Data Analytics analysis of U.S. Department of Education official cohort default rates.

Why has Student Debt Declined?

There are several explanations for the decline in student debt in the SUS.

∑ Tuition and fees in the SUS have remained flat since 2014-2015.  Nationally, there has been a 
14% increase in tuition and fees during the same timeframe.

∑ Student financial aid has increased since 2014-2015.

o Federal, state, and institutional grant funding have increased by 29% in the last five 
years (see Exhibit 5). Grants are a form of financial aid most often awarded to a 
student based on financial need that the student does not have to repay. The most 
significant increases in grant aid resulted from the federal Pell grants, increasing $73.1 
million, and the Florida Student Assistance Grant Program (FSAG) increasing $73.4 
million since 2014-2015.

o State and institutional scholarships available to students have also increased since 
2014-2015 (see Exhibit 6).  In contrast to grant aid, scholarships are typically merit-
based and have specific eligibility requirements. Students are not required to repay 
scholarships; however, most scholarships have academic qualifications such as 
maintaining a certain GPA for initial and renewal awards. The most significant increase 
was from the Florida Bright Futures Scholarship funds with the Florida Academic 
Scholarship (FAS) program increasing by $211 million, and the Florida Medallion 
Scholarship (FMS) program rising by $23 million in the last five years.

∑ State and federal dollars are now available to support attendance during the summer terms.  In 
the past, funding for summer attendance was limited to loans.  In 2014-2015, approximately 
66% of summer aid was in the form of student loans.  Currently, only about one-third of 
students borrow to fund summer school attendance.

9.3% 8.9%
7.6% 7.3% 7.5% 7.1% 6.8%

8.7%
7.1%

5.7% 5.3% 5.6%
4.5%

2.7%

2009-12 2010-13 2011-14 2012-15 2013-16 2014-17 2015-18

NATION (PUBLIC 4YR) SUS

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

46



State University System Student Debt

|   5State University System of Florida  |  Board of Governors

Exhibit 5:  Federal, State, & Institution Grant Funding

Actual
Year

Plan
Year

Pell
(Federal)

Institution
FSAG
(State)

Other Total

2014-15 2016 $431.1M $111.9M $48.4M $30.4M $621.8M

2015-16 2017 $429.3M $123.6M $49.0M $31.1M $633.1M

2016-17 2018 $423.1M $132.3M $51.1M $33.3M $639.8M

2017-18 2019 $460.2M $123.4M $121.3M $41.8M $746.8M

2018-19 2020 $504.2M $137.4M $121.8M $37.1M $800.5M

5-YR 
CHANGE 

($)
-- $73.1M $25.5M $73.4M $6.7M $178.7M

5-YR 
CHANGE 

(%)
-- 17% 23% 152% 22% 29%

Source: Board Office of Data Analytics analysis of State University System Database (SUDS) data.

Exhibit 6:  State & Institutional Scholarships 

Actual 
Year

Plan
Year

Bright 
Futures 
(FAS)

Bright 
Futures 
(FMS)

Institutional Other Total

2014-15 2016 $89.9M $116.0M $92.3M $47.7M $345.9M

2015-16 2017 $89.3M $96.4M $98.4M $55.1M $339.3M

2016-17 2018 $91.1M $78.6M $112.6M $59.5M $341.8M

2017-18 2019 $229.5M $68.8M $108.6M $60.8M $467.7M

2018-19 2020 $301.4M $139.3M $108.9M $66.1M $615.7M

5-YR 
CHANGE 

($)
-- $211.5M $23.3M $16.6M $18.4M $269.8M

5-YR 
CHANGE 

(%)
-- 235% 20% 18% 39% 78%

Source: Board Office of Data Analytics analysis of State University System Database (SUDS) data.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

47



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Strategic Planning Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: SUS Student Debt

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The issue of rising student debt levels has made national headlines in the last few 
years. However, the Florida story is different from the national picture.  Through the 
investments made in higher education by the Governor and State Legislature, Florida 
has held tuition and fees flat since 2014-15 while financial aid has increased to historic 
highs.  These efforts have resulted in the average cost for a bachelor’s degree to be 
less than $10,000. Nationally, other colleges and universities have seen a 14% 
increase in tuition since 2014-15.  In 2018-19, 67% of the System’s resident 
undergraduates did not report any loans, up from 58% in 2014-15.  Student loan default 
rates in the System have also decreased to 2.7% as compared to 6.8% nationally for 
public four-year institutions.

Mr. Troy Miller, Deputy Chief Data Officer, will describe undergraduate student debt 
across the State University System and the national trends.

Supporting Documentation Included: Included in State University 
System Student Debt Info brief

Facilitators/Presenters: Mr. Troy Miller

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Strategic Planning Committee

61



AGENDA
Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment

Telephone Conference Call
May 5, 2020

2:00 p.m. – 2:30 p.m.
or

Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings

Chair:  Mr. Eric Silagy; Vice Chair:  Mr. Wayne Huizenga, Jr.
Members:  Cerio, Jordan, Kitson, Lamb, Stermon

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Eric Silagy

2. Minutes of the Task Force on Academic Governor Silagy
and Workforce Alignment Meeting

Minutes, March 25, 2020

3. SUS Initiatives Around Academic and Ms. Emily Sikes
Workforce Alignment Assistant Vice Chancellor for

Strategic Initiatives and Economic Development

Ms. Lauren Loeffler
Executive Director, Career Development

and Community Engagement
University of West Florida

4. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Silagy

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment

72



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Minutes of Task Force Meeting held March 25, 2020

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Consider approval of the minutes of the Task Force on Academic and Workforce 
Alignment meeting held on March 25, 2020, via teleconference.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment will consider approval of the 
minutes of the meeting on March 25, 2020, via teleconference.

Supporting Documentation Included: March 25, 2020, minutes

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Eric Silagy

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment

76



MINUTES STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS
TASK FORCE ON ACADEMIC AND WORKFORCE ALIGNMENT

TELEPHONE CONFERENCE CALL
March 25, 2020

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors
and its committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu/.

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks

Chair Eric Silagy convened the meeting on March 25, 2020, at 10:28 a.m. with the 
following members present: Governors Cerio, Huizenga, Jordan, Kitson, Lamb, and 
Sterman.  A quorum was established.

2. Task Force Framework and Work Plan

Chair Silagy announced the one item on the agenda was to review and consider for 
approval the proposed Task Force framework and work plan.  He cited the primary 
areas that have been identified for the Task Force to address are determining the key 
industries important to Florida’s future, identifying Florida’s future workforce needed to 
attract businesses in those key industries, and recognizing the role the System plays in 
attracting the desired industries and creating Florida’s future workforce.  

Chair Silagy explained that the work plan outlines the activities and topics to be 
presented at the Task Force meetings beginning in June and going through November 
2021.  He stated that at the next meeting, the Task Force would learn about the ways in 
which the state universities currently engage with business and industry.  This would be
followed by an in-depth review of Florida’s projected key industry and occupation needs
that are critical to Florida’s future workforce and economic development. Chair Silagy 
stated that beginning with the September meeting, the Task Force would do a deep dive 
into key industries and occupations, and business representatives would be invited to 
provide their perspective and discuss ideas with the Task Force.   

Chair Silagy reported that in 2021, the Task Force would examine the future of work in 
Florida and how the System can help address these needs for Florida.  He stated that 
the goal is to conclude the work of the Task Force with recommendations outlined in a 
final report by the end of 2021. 

Chair Silagy called for a motion to approve the Task Force framework and work plan.  
Governor Kitson moved to approve, Governor Jordan seconded the motion, and the 
motion carried unanimously.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment

77

http://www.flbog.edu/


2

3. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

Having no further business, Chair Silagy adjourned the meeting at 10:32 a.m.

Eric Silagy, Chair

Lynn Nelson
Director, Student Affairs

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment

78



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: SUS Initiatives Around Academic and Workforce Alignment

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The State University System regularly engages in a variety of initiatives to ensure 
alignment between academic programs and the needs of businesses. This presentation 
will provide an overview of some of those initiatives in the areas of academic program 
planning, career services, and research. The presentation will also include examples of 
the ways in which the universities have adapted their interactions with businesses due 
to the sudden and extraordinary changes caused by the COVID 19 virus.

Ms. Emily Sikes, Assistant Vice Chancellor for Strategic Initiatives and Economic 
Development, and Ms. Lauren Loeffler, Executive Director, Career Development and 
Community Engagement at the University of West Florida, will present the information.

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Presenters: Ms. Emily Sikes
Ms. Lauren Loeffler

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment

79



1 

AGENDA 
Audit and Compliance Committee 

Board of Governors Meeting 
By Telephone Conference Call 

Tallahassee, FL 
May 5, 2020 

2:30- 3:00 p.m. 
or  

Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings 

Chair:  Mr. Charlie Lydecker; Vice Chair:  Mr. Kent Stermon. 
Members:  Edge, Frost, Huizenga, Jr., Levine 

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Charlie Lydecker 

2. Minutes of Committee Meeting Governor Lydecker 
Minutes: January 29, 2020 

3. SUS Data Integrity Audits Ms. Julie Leftheris 
and Certifications Summary Inspector General and 

Director of Compliance 

4. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Lydecker 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

90



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Audit and Compliance Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Minutes of Committee Meeting held January 29, 2020

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Approval of the January 29, 2020, Committee meeting minutes.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Committee members will review and consider approval of the minutes of the January
29, 2020, committee meeting.

Supporting Documentation Included: Minutes, January 29, 2020

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Lydecker

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

97



MINUTES
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE MEETING

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY
TALLAHASSEE, FL

January 29, 2020

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors 
and its Committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu/.

Chair Charles Lydecker convened the meeting of the Audit and Compliance Committee 
on January 29, 2020, at 3:02 p.m., in the Turnbull Conference Center on the campus of
the Florida State University in Tallahassee, Florida.  The following Audit and 
Compliance Committee members were present: Charles H. Lydecker, Kent Stermon, 
Patricia Frost, H. Wayne Huizenga, Jr., and Alan Levine. The following members of the 
Board were also present: Tim Cerio, Shawn Felton, Zenani D. Johnson, Sydney Kitson,
Brian Lamb, Steven Scott, Eric Silagy, and Norman D. Tripp.

1. Call to Order

Mr. Lydecker called the meeting to order.

2. Approval of Minutes

Mr. Levine motioned that the Committee approve the minutes of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee meeting held October 30, 2019, as presented.  Ms. Frost 
seconded the motion.  The minutes were approved.

3. SUS Compliance Summary

Ms. Leftheris presented a summary of the State University System compliance 
programs.  The presentation highlighted Board of Governors regulation 4.003 State 
University System Compliance and Ethics Programs intent and requirements.  
Additionally, the presentation discussed the duties and responsibilities of a Chief 
Compliance Officer, the implementation of mechanisms to report complaints at a
university, and documents that university compliance offices are required to submit to 
the Board of Governors.  Ms. Leftheris discussed the State University Compliance and 
Ethics Consortium and its purpose.

Mr. Tripp expressed concerns relating the Board of Governor’s (Board) ability to take 
action when universities do not comply with Board Regulations or State law.  Mr. Levine 
noted that Regulation 4.004, Board of Governors Oversight Enforcement Authority,
allows the Board to withhold funding in instances of non-compliance.  Mr. Criser further 
explained that if a university board of trustees is unwilling or unable to comply with any 
law, Board of Governors regulation, or audit recommendation within the specified 
timeframe, then the Board can take these actions.  Mr. Cerio brought up the previously 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

98

http://www.flbog.edu/


Page 2 of 3

discussed topic of the Board potentially getting subpoena power.  Mr. Criser noted this 
is an ongoing conversation.

4. SUS Three-peat Findings Summary

Ms. Leftheris described the three-peat findings process for Auditor General findings and 
noted the universities that currently or previously had three-peat findings.  Specifically, 
she described how and when a three-peat finding occurs and the escalation process in 
response to a three-peat finding, which requires notifying the Joint Legislative Auditing 
Committee.

Three universities were identified as having a three-peat finding during the 2018-2019 
fiscal year: Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University, Florida Atlantic University, 
and the University of Central Florida.  One university was identified as having a three-
peat finding thus far in the 2019-2020 fiscal year:  the University of South Florida.  Two 
universities, the University of North Florida and the University of South Florida, were 
identified as having three-peat findings during the 2017-2018 fiscal year and were 
directed by the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee to provide written statements 
explaining why full corrective action had not been taken. Both universities responded 
that corrective actions have been taken, and Ms. Leftheris reported that we are not 
aware of any further escalation of these issues.

5. Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University – Athletics Program Mid-
Year Financial Update

The university’s Board of Trustees’ chair, Mr. Kelvin Lawson, introduced Dr. Alan 
Robertson, CFO and Vice President of Finance and Administration; Mr. Courtney 
O’Shea, Athletic Director; and Mr. Joe Maleszewski, Vice President of Audit.  Dr. 
Robertson provided a mid-year financial update relating to Florida Agricultural and 
Mechanical University’s (FAMU) Intercollegiate Athletics program.  He explained that 
currently the budget is balanced and projects a profit for Fiscal Year 2019-2020.
Multiple committee members expressed gratitude to the university regarding their 
progress in addressing the athletics program’s budget.

6. OIGC Updates

Ms. Leftheris reported to the committee that the joint engagement by the Board of 
Governors and the University of West Florida into the University of West Florida’s use of 
funds for the Complete Florida Plus Program is ongoing, and that the review is expected
to be completed in time for the March Committee meeting. She said a representative 
from the firm Saltmarsh, Cleveland, and Gund will report the results of the review at the 
March 2020 Audit and Compliance Committee meeting.

Ms. Leftheris noted that the deadline for Data Integrity Certifications and Audits was 
upcoming and a summary of those audits will be reported on in the March committee 
meeting.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

99



Page 3 of 3

Ms. Leftheris noted that her office’s investigations function appears to have passed the 
Commission on Law Enforcement Accreditation’s assessment.  She said the award 
determination ceremony will be later in February and that she will report back the final 
results of the determination at the March committee meeting.

7. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

Mr. Lydecker asked Board members if anyone had any questions or comments.  
Hearing none, the Audit and Compliance Committee was adjourned at 3:51 p.m.

____________________________
Charles Lydecker, Chair

______________________________________________
Lori Clark, Compliance and Audit Specialist 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

100



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Audit and Compliance Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Performance-based Funding Data Integrity Audit Results and 
Certifications Summary

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Information Only – Discussion of university performance-based funding data integrity
audit reports, corrective action plans (if applicable), and certifications.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In his June 18, 2019, letter to university presidents and boards of trustees’ chairs, 
former Board of Governors Chair Ned Lautenbach reiterated the importance of reliable, 
accurate, and complete data from each state university to the Board of Governors to 
use in assessing each institution’s excellence and improvements.

Chair Lautenbach directed each university president to request the university’s chief
audit executive to conduct an audit of the university’s processes that ensure the
completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the Board Office.
University presidents should then use the audit results to affirm, or modify if necessary,
the Certification form regarding the effectiveness of the university’s processes.

Committee members will receive a summary of the Data Integrity Certification process 
results as well as copies of the related chief audit executives’ audits and certifications 
for their review and discussion.

Supporting Documentation Included: University Performance-based 
Funding Data Integrity Audit
Reports, Corrective Action
Plans (as applicable), 
Certifications, and Summary 
Table

Facilitators/Presenters: Ms. Julie Leftheris

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

101



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Report No. 19-20-0006 
Audit Report 

FY 19-20 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity 
 

ACCOUNTABILITY ⚫ INTEGRITY ⚫ EFFICIENCY 

  

 

February 20, 2020 
 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

102



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 2 of 21 

FY 19-20 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

WHAT WE DID 

We performed an audit to verify the data submitted for the Fall 2018, Spring 2019, and Summer 2019 
academic semesters that supports the University’s 10 performance funding metrics; evaluate the 
university’s processes for completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of performance funding data 
submissions; and review other University actions that impact the University’s Data Integrity 
Certification required by the Florida Board of Governors (FLBOG). 
 
WHAT WE FOUND 

We believe that our audit can be relied upon by the university president and the Florida Agricultural & 
Mechanical University’s (FAMU) Board of Trustees as a basis for certifying, without modification, the 
representations made to the FLBOG related to the integrity of data required for the FLBOG 
performance-based funding model. 
 
Based on our audit, we have concluded that FAMU controls and processes are adequate to ensure the 
completeness of data submitted to the FLBOG in support of performance-based funding.  Our audit did 
not reveal any material errors within the data files submitted by FAMU that would impact FAMU’s 
overall ranking among State University System institutions. However, our audit did disclose an error 
within the logic used by the FLBOG to calculate Metric 10: Number of Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded 
to Transfers with AA Degrees from Florida College System (FCS) which could materially impact 
FAMU’s overall ranking among State University System institutions. 
 
Specifically, the logic for Metric 10 calculations did not include an exclusion for transfers from FCS 
institutions who received their AA from FAMU after matriculation.  As a result, the number of 
bachelor’s degrees awarded to transfers with AA degrees from FCS institutions was overstated.  
During the course of our audit, FAMU worked with the FLBOG to update the logic to now exclude 
these FAMU AA graduates from the Metric 10 calculation.   FLBOG staff provided FAMU revised 
Metric 10 outcomes, but did not adjust the original benchmark. Without revising the associated Metric 
10 benchmark, there could be unintended scoring impacts. 
 
OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 

FAMU’s Provost, Vice President for Strategic Planning, Analysis and Institutional Effectiveness, and 
University Data Administrator should work with the FLBOG staff to establish a fair and equitable 
benchmark for Metric 10 based upon the revised metric logic to ensure that this change does not 
negatively impact FAMU’s PBF evaluation and scoring.   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

103



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 3 of 21 

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..................................................................................................................................... 2 

WHAT WE DID ................................................................................................................................................. 2 

WHAT WE FOUND ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT ....................................................................................................... 2 

BACKGROUND..................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Florida Statutes.................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Florida Board of Governors: Performance-Based Funding Overview ................................................................ 5 

Florida Board of Governors Audit and Certification Directives for FY 2019-2020 ........................................... 5 

FAMU State File Process Overview ................................................................................................................... 6 

PERFORMANCE-BASED FUNDING DATA INTEGRITY REVIEW OUTCOMES ........................................ 7 

APPENDIX A: PURPOSE, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY .......................................................................... 13 

APPENDIX B: FLBOG JUNE 18, 2019 LETTER TO FAMU REGARDING DATA INTEGRITY AUDITS 
AND CERTIFICATIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

APPENDIX C: DATA INTEGRITY CERTIFICATION ..................................................................................... 17 

DISTRIBUTION ................................................................................................................................................... 20 

PROJECT TEAM.................................................................................................................................................. 21 

STATEMENT OF ACCORDANCE .................................................................................................................... 21 

 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

104



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 4 of 21 

BACKGROUND 

 
Florida Statutes 

Florida Statutes 1001.921 – State University System Performance-Based Incentive governs the 
funding model under which state universities obtain state funding. Specifically: 
 

A State University System Performance-Based Incentive shall be awarded to state 
universities using performance-based metrics adopted by the Board of Governors of the 
State University System…The board shall adopt benchmarks to evaluate each state 
university’s performance on the metrics to measure the state university’s achievement 
of institutional excellence or need for improvement and minimum requirements for 
eligibility to receive performance funding. 

 
Florida Statutes 1001.0762 – Powers and duties of the Board of Governors requires Florida A&M 
University to conduct an annual audit of data submitted to the Florida Board of Governors. 
Specifically: 
 

The Board of Governors shall maintain an effective information system to provide 
accurate, timely, and cost-effective information about each university...To ensure 
consistency, the Board of Governors shall define the data components and methodology 
used to implement ss. 1001.7065 and 1001.92. Each university shall conduct an annual 
audit to verify that the data submitted pursuant to ss. 1001.7065 and 1001.92 complies 
with the data definitions established by the board and submit the audits to the Board of 
Governors Office of Inspector General as part of the annual certification process 
required by the Board of Governors. 

  
  

                                                      

 
1 Source: https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2019/1001.92 
2 Source: https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2019/1001.706 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

105

https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2019/1001.7065
https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2019/1001.92
https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2019/1001.7065
https://www.flsenate.gov/Laws/Statutes/2019/1001.92


 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 5 of 21 

Florida Board of Governors: Performance-Based Funding Overview 

The Performance-Based Funding Model includes 10 metrics that evaluate Florida universities on a 
range of issues.3 Two of the 10 metrics are Choice metrics; one picked by the FLBOG and one by the 
university board of trustees.  The 10 metrics upon which FAMU is evaluated are as follows:                                                                                                                                    

Florida Agricultural & Mechanical University Performance-Based Funding Metrics 

1 Percent of Bachelor's Graduates Employed 
(Earning $25,000+) or Continuing their 
Education 

2 Median Wages of Bachelor’s 
Graduates Employed Full-time 

3 Average Cost to the Student (Net Tuition 
per 120 Credit Hours) 

4 Four Year Graduation Rate (Full-time 
First Time in College (FTIC)) 

5 Academic Progress Rate (2nd Year Retention 
with Grade Point Average Above 2.0) 

6 Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded in Areas 
of Strategic Emphasis4 

7 University Access Rate (Percent of 
Undergraduates with a Pell-grant) 

8 Graduate Degrees Awarded in Areas 
of Strategic Emphasis 

9 Board of Governors Choice – Percent of 
Bachelor’s Degrees without Excess Hours 

10 FAMU Board of Trustees Choice – 
Number of Bachelor’s Degrees 
Awarded to Transfers with AA 
Degrees from Florida College System 

 

Florida Board of Governors Audit and Certification Directives for FY 2019-2020 

On June 18, 2019, Florida Board of Governors Chair, Ned Lautenbach, sent a letter (Appendix B) 

highlighting each university’s responsibilities for performing a performance-based funding data 

integrity audit along with instructions to submit the audit and revised Data Integrity Certification 

(Appendix C) to the FLBOG Office of Inspector General and Director of Compliance no later than 

March 2, 2020.   The letter required each University to perform an audit that includes the following: 

• An audit of the university’s processes that ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness 

of data submissions; 

• Testing of data that supports performance funding metrics, as well as preeminence or 

emerging preeminence metrics if applicable, as testing is essential in determining that 

processes are in place and working as intended; 

• A scope and objectives that are set jointly between the chair of the university board of trustees 

and the university chief audit executive; 

• Develop corrective action plans, as needed; and 

• Have the audit accepted by the University Board of Trustees. 

                                                      

 
3 Source: https://www.flbog.edu/wp-content/uploads/Overview-Doc-Performance-Funding-10-Metric-Model-
Condensed-Version-Nov-2019.pdf 
4 https://www.flbog.edu/resources/academic/programs-of-strategic-emphasis/ 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

106



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 6 of 21 

Upon conclusion of the audit, each University president was instructed to complete the Data Integrity 

Certification, evaluating the 13 prepared representations, and explain any modifications needed to 

reflect significant or material audit findings. 

FAMU State File Process Overview 

The Office of Institutional Research & Analytics (OIRA), led by the University Data Administrator, is 
charged with ensuring the completeness, timeliness, and accuracy of State University Database System 
(SUDS) files submission.  The chart below illustrates the general workflow of each data file 
submission5. 
  

                                                      

 
5 Source: FAMU Office of Institutional Research & Analytics (September 2019) 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

107



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 7 of 21 

PERFORMANCE-BASED FUNDING DATA INTEGRITY REVIEW 
OUTCOMES 

The Division of Audit performed this audit of the university’s processes to ensure the completeness, 
accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions, as well as, testing of data that supports performance 
funding metrics determined that the processes in place are working as intended.  The following table 
summarizes the outcomes of the work performed by the Division of Audit in the following areas: 
 

• Timeliness, completeness, and accuracy performance-based funding files;  
• Processes and data review objectives established for each performance funding metric in 

consultation with University management and approval of the President; and 
• Analysis of key responsibilities of the data administrator function within the performance 

funding process. 
 

 SUDS File Summary 
SUDS Files File Submitted Timely Data Validation Issues 

ADM – Fall 2018 Yes None 
ADM – Spring 2019 Yes None 
ADM – Summer 2019* Yes None 
SIF – Fall 2018 Yes None 
SIF – Spring 2019 Yes None 
SIF – Summer 2019* Yes None 
SIFD – Fall 2018 Yes None 
SIFD – Spring 2019 Yes None 
SIFD – Summer 2019* Yes None 
SFA – 2018/2019 Yes None 
HTD/CTD – 2018/2019 6 Days Late None 

[SUDS File Summary Legend: ADM - Admissions, SIF - Student Instruction File, SIFD - Degrees Awarded, SFA - Student 
Financial Aid, HTD - Hours to Degree, CTD - Courses to Degree] 
 
* Note: Summer 2018 file data for ADM, SIF, and SIFD were tested as part of the FAMU Division of Audit 2018-2019 
Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit.  Summer 2019 was tested as part of the current audit cycle, in order to 
obtain samples crossing three academic terms. 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

108



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 8 of 21 

 
The following tables summarize the audit objectives and outcomes by metric. 
 

Review of Metric 1: Percent of Bachelor’s Graduates Enrolled or Employed ($25,000) One 
Year After Graduation and Metric 2: Median Wages of Bachelor’s Graduates Employed Full-

time One Year After Graduation 
Objective Outcome 

Confirm student data, specifically social security 
numbers, from a sample of students within the 
SIFD file. 

Our review of a sample set of students 
determined that student information data 
submitted through SUDS accurately reflected 
iRattler, transcript, and admission application 
data for each student tested.   

 
Review of Metric 3: Avg. Cost to the Student Net Tuition & Fees for Resident Undergraduate 

Per 120 Credit Hours 
Objective Outcome 

Determine the accuracy and integrity of data 
related to Financial Aid provided by FAMU to 
students.  
 

Our review of a sample set of students 
determined that information submitted to the 
FLBOG accurately reflected the information 
within iRattler regarding resident classifications, 
grants and scholarship awards, fee waivers, and 
credit hours taken by students. 

Third-Party Payments: Verify the accuracy of 
financial aid coded as third-party payments and 
document the process the University uses for 
assessing third-party payments. 

Our review of a sample set of third-party 
payments submitted to the FLBOG revealed that 
the financial aid data was complete, accurate, 
and reflected the information within iRattler. 

 
Review of Metric 4: 4 Year FTIC Graduation Rate 

Objective Outcome 
Determine if degrees were appropriately 
awarded for FTIC students who graduated within 
one year of enrollment. 

FAMU did not award degrees to any FTIC 
students within one year of enrollment during the 
audit period.  

Determine whether students who were excluded 
from the 4-year cohort were enrolled in eligible 
programs for exclusion: 5-Year MBA or 6-Year 
PharmD 

FAMU excludes students enrolled in the 6-Year 
Pharm-D Program and the 5-Year MBA program 
from the 4-Year FTIC cohort.  Our review of the 
transcripts and iRattler data for students who 
were excluded from the 4-Year cohort confirmed 
those students as being enrolled in either the 6-
Year Pharm-D Program or the 5-Year MBA 
programs for the 2018-2019 reporting term thus 
were correctly excluded from the 4-Year 
graduation rate calculation. 

 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

109



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 9 of 21 

Review of Metric 5: Academic Progress Rate 2nd Year Retention with GPA Above 2.0 
Objective Outcome 

Confirm that there were no changes made to the 
GPA system calculation process and that the 
supporting grade change process has appropriate 
controls to ensure grade integrity. 

GPA Calculations 
FAMU’s cumulative GPA calculations are 
computed using iRattler. The accuracy of these 
calculations was validated during audit work 
performed in previous performance-based 
funding audits. No changes were made to the 
GPA calculation process during the current audit 
period.  
 
Grade Change Process 
FAMU has established a grade change process to 
ensure all grade changes are properly authorized, 
which subsequently would impact a student’s 
GPA.  A grade change is allowed only if it is 
determined that a grade was recorded in error, or 
when removing "Incomplete (I)" or "Passing but 
Not Proficient (PN)" grades; or as a result of a 
student’s successful appeal of a grade. A "Grade 
Change and Academic Record Update Form" 
must be submitted to the Registrar’s Office for 
processing. The form must contain the signature 
of the appropriate academic Dean in order to be 
processed.   
 
System Security 
FAMU has implemented additional layers of 
security within iRattler to protect accounts with 
the ability to change grades.   

 
Review of Metric 6 & 8: Degrees Awarded in Programs of Strategic Emphasis  

Objective Outcome 
Review all requests made to the FLBOG’s 
Academic and Student affairs unit to consider 
designating a program of strategic emphasis.  
Evaluate the rationale behind the requests and 
the number of students impacted if the requests 
are granted.   

Requests Review 
The University did not submit any requests for 
Programs of Strategic Emphasis (PSE) during 
the audit period.   
 
Approved Programs 
FAMU did not receive approval to add any new 
PSE during the audit period. 

Metric 6 (Undergraduate): Determine if degrees 
were appropriately awarded based on graduation 
requirements. 

Our review of a sample set of students from 
undergraduate PSE, determined that all students 
satisfied the necessary curriculum requirements 
to be awarded their respective degree. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

110



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 10 of 21 

Review of Metric 6 & 8: Degrees Awarded in Programs of Strategic Emphasis  
Objective Outcome 

Metric 8 (Graduate): Determine if degrees were 
appropriately awarded based on graduation 
requirements. 

Our review of a sample set of students from 
graduate PSE, determined that all students 
satisfied the necessary curriculum requirements 
to be awarded their respective degree. 

 
Review of Metric 7: University Access Rate Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell  Grant 

Objective Outcome 
Verify the receipt of funds by students coded as 
receiving a Pell Grant. 
 

Our review of a sample set of students revealed 
that all students recorded as receiving Pell 
Grants had received the Pell Grants in the 
amounts indicated within the SFA file. 

Review classification for students to ensure that 
those excluded from the metric (unclassified) 
met the appropriate criteria. 

Our review of a sample set of students revealed 
that student classification levels were 
appropriately classified within the SFA file. 

 
Review of Metric 9: Percent of Bachelor’s Degrees without Excess Hours 

Objective Outcome 
The objective of this test is to determine if the 
Hours-To-Degree file contains accurate degree 
hours per student. Specifically, to validate use of 
Credit Hour Usage Indicator, Course Grouping 
Codes, and Excess Hours Exclusion within the 
HTD files. 

Our review of a sample of students from the 
HTD file, and related CTD file, revealed that 
student degree hours reported were accurate. 
 

 
Review of Metric 10: Number of Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded to Transfers with AA from FCS 

Objective Outcome 
Validate whether students coded as transferring 
from a Florida College System (FCS) institution 
with an AA degree, obtained their AA degree 
from a FCS institution.  

Our review of a sample set of students revealed 
that all students who were coded as being 
awarded an AA degree from a FCS was correctly 
reflected within the SIFD file.   
 
Florida Board of Governors Metric 10 Logic 
Our audit revealed an issue in the logic used to 
calculate Metric 10: Number of Bachelor’s 
Degrees Awarded to Transfers with AA Degrees 
from FCS. Specifically, the logic did not exclude 
transfers from FCS institutions who received 
their AA at FAMU.  As a result, the number of 
bachelor’s degrees awarded to transfers with AA 
degrees from the FCS was overstated. During the 
course of our audit, the FLBOG updated the 
logic for calculating Metric 10 and submitted the 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

111



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 11 of 21 

University with new metric outcomes.  We 
recommend that FAMU continue to work with  
FLBOG staff to adjust the Metric 10 benchmark 
as well. 

 
Review of Data Administrator Processes  

Objective Outcome 
Determine whether the appointment of the Data 
Administrator by the university president and 
that duties related to these responsibilities are 
incorporated into the Data Administrator’s 
official position description. 
 

During the 2018-2019 academic year, the 
previous University Data Administrator, Dr. 
Kwadwo Owusu, was replaced by Interim 
University Data Administrator, Dr. Katherine 
Scheuch, on May 10, 2019.  Both University 
Data Administrators were appointed by the 
University President, had the responsibilities for 
University Data Administrator included within 
their position descriptions, and were fully aware 
of their responsibilities as it relates to 
Performance Funding files. 

Evaluate the processes, controls, and procedures 
used by the Data Administrator to ensure the 
completeness, accuracy, and timely submission 
of data to the FLBOG. 
 

The University Data Administrator has 
developed a documented procedure guide, “State 
File Submission Process,” that provides 
information regarding: 

• weekly tracking of files for timeliness; 
• steps for identifying and resolving edits 

and errors within the files for accuracy 
and completeness, including 
resubmission; and 

• roles and responsibilities of OIRA staff, 
Information Technology Services staff, 
and data custodians to ensure the overall 
completeness, accuracy, and timeliness 
of each SUDS file. 

Review data submissions for consistency with 
data definitions and guidance provided by the 
FLBOG. Specifically, for any files that were 
resubmitted, determine the cause for 
resubmission and document any process 
adjustments needed or that were made to prevent 
further resubmissions for the same cause.  

Our review revealed that 5 of 11 files submitted 
through the SUDS submission process during the 
audit period required resubmissions.  The 
University has assessed the causes for all file 
resubmissions and established procedures to 
prevent resubmissions for the same issues in the 
future. 

Verify that when critical errors have been 
identified, a written explanation of the critical 
errors was included with the file submission. 
 

Our review revealed that 4 of 11 files submitted 
through the SUDS submission process during the 
audit period contained critical errors.  The 
University has assessed the causes for all 
submissions containing critical errors and 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

112



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 12 of 21 

established procedures to prevent resubmissions 
for the same issues in the future. 

Determine the veracity of the university Data 
Administrator’s data submission statements that 
indicate, “I certify that this file/data represents 
the position of this University for the term being 
reported.” 

Based on our audit, we have concluded that 
FAMU’s controls and processes are adequate to 
ensure the completeness of data submitted to the 
FLBOG in support of performance-based 
funding.  Our audit did not reveal any material 
errors within the data files submitted by FAMU 
that would impact FAMU’s overall ranking 
among State University System institutions. 
Therefore, we believe that the Data 
Administrator’s certification that the files/data 
represents the position of FAMU is accurate. 
 

 
Review of SUDS User Access 

Objective Outcome 
Assigned security within the SUDS application 
enforces appropriate separation of duties for staff 
responsible for data entry. 

Our review revealed that 37 of 39 SUDS users had 
appropriate access to the SUDS system. The two 
users identified as having inappropriate access 
were assigned the “Validator” role (read-only), 
which did not impact the data integrity of the files 
submitted.  Both inappropriate read-only accesses 
have been fully resolved. 

 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

113



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 13 of 21 

APPENDIX A: PURPOSE, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY  

Purpose and Scope 
The purpose of this audit was to verify the data submitted for the Fall 2018, Spring 2019, and Summer 
2019 academic semesters that supports the University’s 10 performance funding metrics; evaluate the 
university’s processes for completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of performance funding data 
submissions; and review other University actions that impact the University’s Data Integrity 
Certification required by the FLBOG. 
   
Methodology 
Data submitted to the FLBOG to support the University’s performance-based funding metrics, 
methods and controls applied by management to ensure data integrity, and processes designed to 
ensure completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data were subject to the following audit procedures: 

• Detailed testing of each of file to ensure the data within the file matched the University system 
data. Additional testing was then conducted to test and evaluate veracity of the university 
system data, including reviews and testing of University processes, policies, and procedures. 

• Walk-throughs of processes for data file submission, compiling data files, inputting data into 
the system, and University processes upon which the data is generated (i.e. graduation 
approval process). 

• Interviews of key staff regarding processes, data integrity and responsibilities for data. 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

114



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 14 of 21 

APPENDIX B: FLBOG JUNE 18, 2019 LETTER TO FAMU 
REGARDING DATA INTEGRITY AUDITS AND CERTIFICATIONS  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

115



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 15 of 21 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

116



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 16 of 21 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

117



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 17 of 21 

APPENDIX C: DATA INTEGRITY CERTIFICATION  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

118



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 18 of 21 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

119



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 19 of 21 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

120



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 20 of 21 

DISTRIBUTION  

 
Responsible Manager:  

• Larry Robinson, Ph.D., President 
 
Internal Distribution:  

• Board of Trustees 
o Kelvin Lawson, Chair 
o Kimberly Moore, Vice Chair 
o Ann Marie Cavazos 
o Thomas W. Dortch, Jr. 
o Kristin Harper 
o David Lawrence, Jr. 
o Rochard Moricette 
o Belvin Perry, Jr. 
o Nicole Washington 
o Robert L. Woody 

• Craig Reed, Audit Committee Chair 
• Linda F. Barge-Miles, Chief of Staff 
• Denise Wallace, Vice President, Legal Affairs and General Counsel 
• Maurice Edington, Provost and Vice President, Academic Affairs 
• Alan Robertson, Vice President, Finance and Administration/CFO 
• William E. Hudson, Vice President, Student Affairs 
• Shawnta Friday-Stroud, Vice President, University Advancement/ Executive Director, 

FAMU Foundation 
• Charles Weatherford, Vice President, Research  
• Beverly Barrington, Vice President, Strategic Planning, Analysis and Institutional 

Effectiveness 
• Rica Calhoun, Chief External Compliance & Ethics Officer 
• Kortne Gosha, Vice President/Director of Athletics 
• Keith Miles, Interim Director, Communications, Marketing, and Media Relations 

 
External Distribution:  
 Julie Leftheris, Inspector General and Director of Compliance, Board of Governors 
 
   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

121



 

 

  

 

 

  

 

                                                                        

Accountability                             

                                                                             

 

Division of Audit  
FY 2019-2020 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

Page 21 of 21 

PROJECT TEAM  

 
Engagement was conducted by:  
Project Lead  

• Deidre Melton, CFE, CIA, CISA, CISM, CRISC, Audit Director  
 
Project Staff  

• Jessica Hughes, CCA, CCEP, CICA, CFE Audit Services/Investigations Administrator 
• Ruoxu Li, CIA, CISA Audit Services/Investigations Administrator 
• Carl Threatt, CIA, CRMA, CIGA, CIGI, CFE, CCEP Audit Services/Investigations 

Administrator 
• William Knight, CIGA, Internal Auditor/Investigator  

 
Engagement was supervised, approved, and distributed by:  
Joseph K. Maleszewski, MBA, CIA, CGAP, CISA, CIG, CIGA, CIGI, CCEP 
Vice President for Audit  
  
STATEMENT OF ACCORDANCE  

 
The Division of Audit’s mission is to provide independent, objective assurance and consulting services 
designed to add value and improve the University’s operations.  It helps the University accomplish its 
objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of 
risk management, control, and governance processes. 
 
We conducted this assurance service in accordance with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards. 
Those standards require we plan and perform the assurance service to obtain sufficient, appropriate 
evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our engagement 
objectives. We believe the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our conclusions based on 
our objectives. 
 
Please address inquiries regarding this report to the Division of Audit at (850) 412-5479. 
 
http://www.famu.edu/index.cfm?AuditandCompliance&AboutAuditandCompliance 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

122

http://www.famu.edu/index.cfm?AuditandCompliance&AboutAuditandCompliance


Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

123



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

124



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

125



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

126



    

  

 REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF 
 PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING DATA INTEGRITY  
 
 
 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
ITEM                                                     PAGE 

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  iii  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . iv 

SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 

BACKGROUND . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 

COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 

CONCLUSION . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 

LIST OF REPORT APPENDICES (A, B and C) . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Metric 1 - Percent of Bachelor's Graduates Employed and/or Continuing their Education Further 1 Yr after Graduation 
Metric 2 - Median Average Wages of Undergraduates Employed 1 Yr after Graduation 

Metric 3 - Net Tuition & Fees per 120 Credit Hours 
Metric 4 - Four Year Graduation Rates (Full-time FTIC) 
Metric 5 - Academic Progress Rate (2nd Year Retention with GPA above 2.0) 
Metric 6 - Bachelor's Degrees Awarded in Areas of Strategic Emphasis (includes STEM) 
Metric 7 - University Access Rate (Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell Grant) 
Metric 8a - Graduate Degrees Awarded in Areas of Strategic Emphasis (includes STEM) 
Metric 8b - Freshmen in Top 10% of Graduating High School Class 

Metric 9 - Board of Governors' Choice (Percentage of Bachelor's Degrees Awarded Without Excess Hours) 

Metric 10 - Board of Trustees' Choice (see detailed sheets) 
 
 

ii 

2019 Performance-Based Funding Model 
Final Metric Score Sheet 

Scores in black are based on Excellence. Scores in orange are based on Improvement. 

Metric FAMU FAU FGCU FIU FSU NCF UCF UF UNF USF UWF 
1 6 7 8 7 7 1 7 9 8 8 10 
2 6 9 8 9 9 4 9 10 9 8 8 
3 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 
4 1 10 10 10 10 10 6 10 7 10 10 
5 2 3 0 8 10 0 8 10 0 7 10 
6 7 9 10 8 7 9 10 10 10 10 10 
7 10 10 7 10 6 7 9 6 7 9 9 

8.a 
 

8 10 10 8 9  10 10 7 10 7 
8.b      6      

9 10 8 8 7 10 10 9 10 10 10 10 
10.a 10           

10.b  10 10 10        

10.c     10       

10.d      10      

10.e       10     

10.f        10    

10.g         10   

10.h          10  

10.i           10 
Total 
Score 70 86 81 87 88 67 88 95 78 92 94 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

127



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

128



    

  

 
 
 

 
  Executive Summary 

 
 
In accordance with the University’s Internal Audit Plan for fiscal year 2019-20, and at the request 
of the Florida Board of Governors (BOG), we have conducted an audit of the University’s 
processes and controls, which support data submitted to the BOG for its performance, based 
funding (PBF) metrics.  This audit was part of a system-wide examination of data integrity based 
on data due to be submitted to the BOG as of November 30, 2019.    
 
The primary objectives of this audit were to: 
 

• Evaluate controls and processes established by the Office of Institutional Effectiveness and 
Analysis and primary data custodians to ensure completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of 
data submitted to the BOG; and,     

 
• Provide a reasonable basis of support for the Performance Based Funding Data Integrity 

Certification statement that is required to be signed by the University president and Board 
of Trustees chair.      

 
Audit procedures included, but were not limited to, the evaluation of internal controls as those 
controls relate to the accomplishment of the foregoing audit objectives, as well as limited 
compliance testing of data elements comprising the Student Instruction, Degrees Awarded, Hours 
to Degree and Student Financial Aid data files which are used in computations for Metrics 3 and 
4 of the BOG performance based funding model. 
 
Based on our observations and tests performed, we are of the opinion that the University’s 
processes and internal controls for data compilation and reporting to the BOG are adequate.  There 
were no findings or recommendations as a result of this audit.  
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
iv 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

129



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

130



    

 
 

 
BACKGROUND 

 
The Florida Board of Governors has broad governance responsibilities affecting administrative and 
budgetary matters for Florida’s 12 public universities.  In January 2014, the BOG approved a 
performance funding model for the State University System of Florida (SUS) based on ten metrics, 
the first eight of which are common to all institutions and the last two reflecting the choices of the 
BOG and each university’s board of trustees respectively.  Listed below are the 10 performance based 
funding metrics, which are applicable to Florida Atlantic University for the 2019/20 scoring cycle:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The BOG performance-funding model has four guiding principles: 1) use metrics that align with SUS 
Strategic Plan goals, 2) reward Excellence or Improvement, 3) have a few clear, simple metrics, and 
4) acknowledge the unique mission of the different SUS institutions. 
    
Controls over Data Validation, Compilation, and Submission 
 
The Florida Board of Governors maintains a student unit record database titled the State University 
Database System (SUDS). This database contains over 400 data elements about students, faculty and 
programs at SUS institutions.  SUDS is part of a web-based portal developed by the BOG for the SUS 
to report data, and has centralized security protocols for access, data encryption, and password 
controls.  Initial input of data files supporting PBF metrics is the responsibility of primary data 
custodians, such as the Admissions Office, Office of the Registrar, and Student Financial Aid, and is 
scheduled to be uploaded to SUDS based on the BOG’s Due Date Master Calendar.  Data uploaded 
to SUDS by various departments are subject to edit checks to help ensure propriety, consistency with 
BOG-defined data elements, and accuracy of information submitted.  Once satisfied that any edit errors 
have been fully addressed, official submission of data files to the BOG is managed by the Office of 
Institutional Effectiveness and Analysis (IEA), a unit within the Office of Information Technology.       
  
Each file submission by IEA is subject to an affirmation statement in SUDS, which declares that data 
submitted for approval “represents electronic certification of this data per Board of Governors 
Regulation 3.007”.  The University also requires an internal certification by departments when they 
upload data to SUDS.  The internal certification is an email notification to IEA from the departmental 
data custodian manager, which states, “I certify that the approved business process for submission of 
the data file(s) has been followed and that the data submission is free from any major errors and 
accurate to the best of my knowledge.” 

 
2 

 

 
1. Percent of Bachelor's Graduates Employed (Earning $25,000 +) or Continuing their 

Education 
2. Median Wages of Bachelor’s Graduates Employed Full-time  
3. Average Cost to the Student (Net Tuition per 120 Credit Hours) 
4. Four Year Graduation Rate  (Full-time FTIC) 
5. Academic Progress Rate (Second Year Retention Rate with GPA Above 2.0) 
6. Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded in Areas of Strategic Emphasis  
7. University Access Rate (Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell grant) 
8. Graduate Degrees Awarded in Areas of Strategic Emphasis  
9. Percent of Baccalaureate Degrees Awarded Without Excess Hours 
10. Percent of Baccalaureate Degrees Awarded to Minorities 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

131



    

 
 

Board of Governors acceptance of data submissions is a formal process which is documented in SUDS, 
and if a submission is rejected it will be subject to resubmission protocols established by the BOG. 
  
Student Instruction, Hours-to-Degree, Student Financial Aid, and Degrees Awarded data submissions 

As part of the audit, we chose to focus on Metrics 3 and 4 since both metrics are deemed moderate 
high risk in light of recent updated PBF methodologies by the BOG.  The methodology for Metric #3 
was recently updated to account for new third-party payments (Financial Aid).  A third-party payment 
contract is a category of financial assistance in which a sponsor pays all, or a portion of a student’s 
invoice directly to the institution (not the student) via a special billing process.  The majority of third-
party payments are related to the military.  Regarding Metric #4, recent changes included clarification 
of the cohort year definition, and an update to the 4-year graduation rate methodology regarding cohort 
adjustments.   

COMMENTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Current Findings and Recommendations 
 

No findings were noted as a result of this audit. 
 
Other Comments 
 
In response to the 2019 Florida Legislature action that amended section 1001.7065 of the Florida 
Statutes to require the BOG to define the data components and methodology used to implement the 
annual evaluation for Preeminent State Research Universities, as defined in section 1001.7065 of the 
Florida Statutes.  Each university that has been approved by the Board as a Preeminent Research 
University, or an emerging Preeminent Research University, is required to conduct, and submit, an 
annual audit to the BOG Office of Inspector General to verify that relevant data complies with the 
definitions and methodology for 12 Preeminence metrics.  Florida Atlantic University was not 
classified as one of these designations; therefore, a Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence Data 
Integrity audit is not required.  
 
Prior Audit Recommendations 
 
Our examination generally includes a follow-up on findings and recommendations of prior internal 
audits, where the subjects of such findings are applicable to the scope of the current audit being 
performed.   
 
Within the past three years, our office has conducted data integrity audits related to the BOG 
performance based funding model.  There were no reportable findings in the prior year’s audit and any 
audit recommendations reported in similar audits completed during the last three fiscal years were 
satisfactorily addressed with appropriate corrective action. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

3 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

132



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

133



 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 
 11/30/2019  

 

***LIST OF REPORT APPENDICES*** 

         
         
           Appendix 

• TYPICAL INTERNAL DATA PROCESS FLOW AND SUBMISSION TO BOG  A 
- Office of the Registrar 
 

• METHODOLOGY FOR METRICS CALCULATIONS – SIF, HTD, SFA & SIFD FILES B 
- Metric #3, Cost to the Student   
- Metric #4, Retention and Graduation Rates   
 

• DATA INTEGRITY CERTIFICATION STATEMENT REQUIRED BY BOG   C   
 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
5 

                                                

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

134



Typical Process Flow for Data Integrity and Submission to the Florida Board of Governors 

-Office of the Registrar-

Appendix A 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

135



Performance Funding Metrics 
Cost To The Student: 

Net Tuition & Fees Per 120 Credit Hours 

OVERVIEW 

OF METHODOLOGY 

AND PROCEDURES 
REVISED 08/25/2019 

STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM a/FLORIDA 
Board of Governors 

.. Appendix B
Metric #3

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

136



Performance Funding Model Background
The Performance Based Fundine (PBF) model was approved at the Janua ry 2014 Board of

Governors Meeting. The development of the model included university presidents,

provosts, boards of trustees, and other stakeholders starting in the fall of 2012. The PBF

model includes ten metrics that were chosen from the Board's2025 System Strategic Plan.

The integrity of data provided to the Board of Governors is critical to the PBF model

process. To provide assurance that the data submitted for this process is reliable,

accurate, and complete, the Board of Governors developed a Data lntegrity Certification

process In Ju ne 2014. University presidents and boards of trustees were directed to task

their chief audit executives to perform annual audits of the university's processes, which

ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the Board of

Governors.

Cost per Degree Metric Background
The original Cost per Bachelor's Degree focused on the Cost to the lnstitution and was

derived from university Expenditure Analysis reports, During the lune 201-5 Budget and

Finance Committee meeting, Governor Kuntz indicated that the Board would take

suggestions for a possible alternative methodology that would enhance how the Cos{_of a

Bachelor's Degree was calculated. Board staff convened multiple conference calls with

university representatives and included a face-to-face workshop meeting on March 29,

201.6, which was attended by Board Charr Kuntz and Budget Chair Lautenbach tb hear

university proposals for alternative metrics, After reviewing all the proposals, the Board

decided to use a Cost to the Student metric that was largely based on a 2013 report from

the Cost-per-Degree Workgroup.l

This document provides details on the methodology and procedures used by Bpard of

Governors staff to calculate the Cost to the Student: Net Tuition & Fees per 120 Credit

Hours metric that was approved by the Board at its November 3, 201,6 meeting.2 The data

for this metric is reported in the annual Accountability Report (Table 1D) and included

within the PBF model as metric #3.

l The 20t3 report, Cost of a Degree to the Student, the Stote & the lnstitution, is available at:
http://www.flboe.edu/about/budeet/docsl-cost per deeree/Cost-Per-Deeree-Repgrt-FINAL-06-03-2Ql"3.pdf.
2 The November Board meeting includes an FAQ document that addresses many questions about the nEw metric and is

available at: http://www.flboe.edu/documents meetines/0202 1033 7800 7.4.{%20BUD%2004c%20-
%20Metric3 FAQ JJ 2016-10-11.pdf.

1

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

137



i PE.RFORil,IAiNCE FUN.DING. METRICS

COST TO T}{H STUDENT

1. Data $ources and Procedures

MrrnooolocY & Pnocrpunrs

The State University System of Florida Board of Governors maintains a student unit record database titled the
State University Database System (SUDS). This database contains over 400 data elements about students,
faculty and programs at SUS institutions. lt is important to note that SUDS does not include student tuition,
fee, or book payments, so this 'Cost to the Student' metric is based on a model that serves as a reasonable
estimate of the costs to the student.

The Board of Governors' Office of Data & Analytics (ODA) calculate this metric from the following SUDS files:
Student lnstruction File (SlF), Student Financial Aid File (SFA), and the Hours to Degree (HTD) file. Once ODA

staff have finished their analysis, each university Data Administrator leads the university review of the data
analysis to make sure it is accurate before the data is approved by each university board of trustees and the
Board of Governors as part of the Accountability Report process.

2. Overview
The 'Sticker Price' is the published tuition and fee amount; however, it does not represent the actual amount of
tuition paid by most students. Students actually pay the 'net tuition' amount, which is the amount of tuition
and fees that remain ofter financial aid has been taken into account,

3. $ticlier Price
The sticker price refers to the sum of the published tuition and required fees am6unt per credit hour and the
national average cost for books and supplies, Because this metric represents the cost of a degree, each
institution's sum of tuition, fees, books and supplies is multiplied by the average number of credit hours
attempted by students for the most recent class of bachelor's recipients who started as first-time-in-college
students (FTlCs) and graduated from a program that requires only 120 credit hours. This method recognizes

that a student who enrolls in more credit hours pays more for tuition, fees and books,

a. Tuition and Required Fees:

The per credit hour tuition rate is established annually by the Florida Legislature in the General
Appropriations Act (GAA). The Cost to the Student metric is based on the tuition rate for resident
undergraduates and required fees (e.g., activity & service, transportation, health, technology, capital
improvement, tuition differential, etc,) that have been approved by the Board of Governors at the request
of the university boards of trustees. The tuition and fees used for this metric are available at:
htt p ://www,f I bo g,ed u/a bout/b u deet /c u rre nt. p h p.

::it.t I ,.i':) |

2

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

138



b. Books & $upplies:
Textbook affordability is a concern of the Florida Legislature, the Governor, the Board of Governors and

students. Board staff chose to use a national cost for books and supplies, as reported annually bythe
College Board,3 as a proxy due to the lack of comprehensive data regarding book costs across the multiple

sources used by students to acquire their course materials.

o The calculation of book costs is based on the costs for a !20-hour degree. The College Board's national

average book cost is based on annual costs, sothe average annual cost is multiplied by4 to produce

the book costs for a four-year, 120-hour degree. This new cumulative four-year cost amount is then

divided by 120 to produce a 'per credit hour' cost amount.

o Due to the annual volatility of the national estimated costs for books and supplies, Board staff have

decided to use the same data for book costs for the two years that are evaluated within the PBF model.

This serves to standardize the book costs for the year-over-year improvement assessment.

c. Total Hours Attempted:
The average number of credit hours attempted by students who were admitted as FTIC and who graduated

with a bachelor's degree from a program that requires 120 credit hours, as reported on the Hours to

Degree (HTD) file,

' o Native Credits: lncludes all credit hours attempted at the state university from which the student
received a baccalaureate degree, which is based on the sum of SECTION_CREDIT [#1459] when

CRS_SYSTEM [#1484] ='N--native'. Native credits include allfailed, dropped, repeated, and

withdrawals.
. Board of Governors staff have clarified that graduate-level credit that is attempted for completion of

a baccalaureate degree is included in the Cost to the Student metric. However, if graduate credit is

attempted as part of a (3+2 or 4+1) dual bachelor's/master's degree, where the credit applies to
both the undergraduate and graduate requirements, then it should be considered graduate degree

coursework and is therefore excluded from the Cost to the Student rygt{ic. The exempted credits

are based on the sum of SECTION_CREDIT [#1459] when COURSE_GROUP [#1485] = 'R'.

o Non-Native Credits Used Toward the Degree: lncludes only the credit hours (sum of SECTION-CREDIT

[#1459]) that are accepted fortransfer bythe degree-awarding institution (CRS_SYSTEM l#1'484) <>'N-
-native') and used toward the student's baccalaureate degree program (USAGE-INDICATOR [#1489] =

'D'). Transfercreditsthatwere not used toward the degree are excluded from the calculation of total
hou rs.

o Excluded credit hours: lt is important to note that the courses that are excluded for the calculation of

total hours for the Cost to the Student metric are slightly different than the methodology used to
calculate the Excess Hours PBF metric. This difference is due to the fact that students pay for some

courses (e.9., internships, remedial, and foreign language (up to 12 credits that are used to satisfy the

FTIC admission requirement) that are exempt from the excess hours calculation. See Table L for the

comparison of which course credits are included for the two metrics.

3 The College Board's Trends in College Pricing report (Average Estimated
based on their Annual Survey of Colleges for public four-year institutions,
https://trends.col leseboa rd.orslcollese-pricins.

Full-Time Undergraduate Budgets, Figure 1), that is

is available at:

i.';l:.l i .1\':::: il ,)ili.': i,.t
COST TO TI'IE STUDENT

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

139



Mrrnooorocv &

COST TO T}IE STT]DENT

Table 1. Comparison of Excluded Gourse Categories

ACTIVI DUTY MILITARY ACTIVE DUTY MILITARY

DUAL ENROLLN/]ENT DUAL TNROLLMENT

EXAfu1 CREDIT EXAM CREDIT

FOREIGN LANGUAGE

GRADUATE ROLLOVER GRADUATE ROLLOVER

I NTERNSH I P

LIFE EXPERIENCE LIFE EXPERIENCI

MILITARY COUR.SE MILITARY COURSE

PIRSONAL HARDSHIP PERSONAL HARDSHIP

REMEDIAL

4. Financial Aid
Financial aid is an administrative tool for achieving federal, state and institutional goals, Financial aid is used by

universities to offset the published tuition (or sticker) price as a way to recruit students based on merit andlor

!o change campus diversity. The "Cost to the Student" metric includes grants, scholarships, waivers and third-
party payments awarded to resident undergraduates in a given academic year. The "Cost to the Student"

metric does not include forms of self-help financial aid such as loans, work study programs, or Florida Prepaid

College Plans. The total grants, scholarships, waivers and third-party payments are divided by the total credit

hours earned by that same group of resident undergraduates during the same academic year. This

methodology provides an average 'gift aid' per credit hour, which is then multiplied by 120 credit hours and

compared to the sticker price, lt is worth noting that federal 'education tax credits' are not collected within
SUDS and not included in the data for the Cost to the Student metric. Therefore, this metric slightly over-

estimates the total costs to students.

a. Resident lJndergraduates:

The only financial aid data that is included in this "Cost to the Student" metric are funds that were awarded

to resident undergraduate students (FEE CLASSIFICATION [#1106] = 'F' ,'R' ,'T' and STUDENT CLASS LEVEL

[#1060] -'L':U'). This group of students is selected from the enrollments table by academic year and then

matched to the financial aid awards table and the courses taken table using a "left join" merge procedure

that includes the academic term. lncluding "term" in the match ensures that the resulting gift aid and

credit hours do not include data forgraduate students (as some undergraduates become graduate

students within the same academic year).

*Bl25i)Aljt}

4

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

140



h. Grants & $cholarships:

Grants and scholarships are often called "gift aid" because they are free money-financial aid that doesn't

have to be repaid, Grants are often need-based, while scholarships are usuolly merit-based. Grants and

scholarships can come from the federal government, state government, university, or a private or nonprofit

organ ization.

. All grants are included (Financial Aid Award Program ldentifier [#1253] between '0 - 99')'

o All scholarships are included (Financial Aid Award Program ldentifier [#1253] between '200-299')'

Waivers:

A waiver is a form of "gift aid" that allows for
discounted. Using the same methodology as

undergraduates during an academic year are

Administrators and Financial Aid Directors to

any university.

Note: BOG staff are working with university staff in an effort to improve how waivers are reported in

SUDS.

Third-Party Payments [NEW]
Athird-party payment contract is a category of financial assistance in which a sponsor pays all, or a portion,

of a student's invoice directly to the institution (not to the student) via a special billing process. These

third-party sponsors are typically from government agencies, private companies, embassies, or service

organizations. A majority of third-party payments are related to the military, including: the Department of

Veterans Affairs (payments related to Chapters 31 and 33 of the Gl Billa); the Division of Vocational

Rehabilitation (forveteran and civilian disabilities); Reserve Officers'Training Corps (ROTC) and the

National Guard; and, the Education Dollars for Duty (EDD) scholarship program administered by the Florida

Department of Military Affairs - see Section 250.10, Florida Statute. Third-party payments cannot be

contingent on academic performance or employee reimbursement policies. These funds do not include

university foundation funds, Florida Pre-Paid, or any other 529 savings plans that parents/students

previously paid.

Note:Third-party payments were first included in SUDS queries for reporting AY20t7-1,8 data. Since the

Board office evaluates one-year improvement as part of PBF, Board staff requested an official ad hoc data

request for the third-party payments that were gifted to resident undergraduates during the 2016-17

academic year,

Credit Hours:

The total credit hours attempted by the group of resident undergraduates during the academic year are

included as a denominator in order to calculate the total gift aid amount per credit hour' All credit hours,

regardlessofthecoursebudgetentity,areincluded. Theonlyexceptionisforcourseswhicharetaughtat
the institution reporting the credit but are funded through another SUS institution (STU-SECTN-FUND-CD=

A-1, K). lt should be noted that credit hours are based on student-level (not course-level), so any credit

hours attempted at the graduate level by students coded as undergraduates are included in the count'

c.

a portion of a student's tuition and fees to be reduced, or

grants and scholarships, the total waivers awarded to resident

calculated. BOG staff worked with university Data

resolve any questions about the waiver data calculated for

d.

e.

4 This does not include Chapter 35 benefits that are paid directly to the student,

MrrnouolocY &,

COST TO T}{E STUDENT

5

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

141



Appendix BMetric #4

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

142



RETENTION & GRADUATION RATES
REVISED 04/24/2019

Background

The national standard graduation rate was created by the Student Right to Know Act of 1990, which

required institutions of higher education receiving federal financial assistance to report graduation

rates to current and prospective students via the US Department of Education's lntegrated

Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS). This act established the graduation rate forfirst-time

in college (FTIC) students based on t50% of the normal time for completion from the program - which

is six years for a four-year program.

ln 2011, the Board of Governors included retention and graduation rate metrics in its 2012-2025

System Strategic Plan. ln201,4,the importance of the retention and graduation rate data wasfurther

elevated by their inclusion in a new Performance-Based Funding (PBF) Model. ln 2018, the Florida

Legislature changed the graduation rate metric included in PBF from a six-year to a four-year measure.

This document provides details on the methodology and procedures used by Board of Governors staff

duringthe analysis of the retention and graduation rate data as reported in the annualAccountability

Plan and used in the Performance Based Funding model.

ffi

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

143



PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS

RETENTION & GRADUATION RATES

MrrnonolocY & PRocrounrs
REVTSED A4/24|2AB

1. Overview of Data Sources & Procedure

The State University System of Florida Board of Governors maintains a student unit record database

titled the State University Database System (SUDS). This database contains over 400 data elements

about students, faculty and programs at SUS institutions. Retention and graduation rate data are

finalized using the Retention submission. The Board's office of Data & Analytics (ODA) unit builds the
Retention file annually using data from the Admission (ADM), Student lnstruction File (SlF) and the
Degrees Awarded (SIFD) submissions that have been previously submitted by lnstitutional Data

Administrators. Once Retention has been built, each lnstitutional Data Administrator reviews the
Retention data and works with ODA staff to make edits before lnstitutional Data Administrators
approve and submit the final data to ODA. After universities have approved the Retention
submission, the Board's ODA staff analyze the number of students in a cohort (which serves as the
denominator) and the number ofthose same students who are retained or graduated by a specified
year (which serves as the numerator). ODA staff then provide the resu lts of the retention a nd

graduation rate data analysis to each lnstitutional Data Administrator for their review and approval
prior to the data being shared with, and approved by, each university Board of Trustee and the Board

of Governors as part of the Accountability plan process.

2. Defininq the Cohort
A cohort is a group of people used in a study who have something in common. ln this case, a cohort is

composed of students who were all admitted to the university during the same year. The number of
students who are assigned to a cohort serves as the denominator in the calculation of retention and
graduation rates. Institutional Data Administrators classify students based on the following
components which Board staff use to determine student cohorts:

a. Student Level:

Only the students who meet the following criteria ate lncluded in the cohort.
. STUDENT CLAss LEVEL [#1060] is either L (lower division undergraduate) or U (upper division

undergraduate).
. DEGREE HIGHEST HELD [#1112] must be less than a Bachelor's.
. FEE CLASSIFICATION KIND [#1].071 must equal 'G'(generalinstruction).

b. Cohort Year:

A retention cohort year is defined as the summer, fall, and spring terms when DATE MOST RECENT

ADMISSION l#1420) equals REPORTINc TtME FRAME [#2001].

COHORTS
RECENT ADMIT DATE

SUMMER FALL SPRING

2016-2017 201605 201608 201701.

2017-2018 201705 201708 201801

2018-2019 201805 201808 201801

2

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

144



PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS

RETENTION & GRADUATION RATES

MrrnooolocY & Pnocrounrs
REVTSED A4/24/2Ar9

c.

Cohort Types:

The COHORT TYPE [#1,429] is a derived element that is built by ODA staff and is based on the TYPE OF

STUDENT AT TIME OF MOST RECENT ADMISSION [#1"413] as assigned by the institution.

. First-Time in College Students include two types of students:

o Students who are admitted into a university for the first time and who have earned less than
L2 credit hours after high school graduation [#1413= 'B'].

o Students who are considered 'Early Admits' because they have been officially admitted and are

seeking a degree at the university prior to their high school graduation l#L41,3='E'1.

o AA Transfer Students who have transferred from the Florida College System with an Associate in Arts

Degree. This value is based on the three following elements:

o TYPE OF STUDENT AT DATE OF ENTRY [#1068] or TYPE OF STUDENT AT TIME OF MOST RECENT

ADM ISSION l#14131 equals'J'.
o DEGREE HIGHEST HELD [#1112] equals'A' (Associates).

o LAST INSTITUTIONAL CODE l#10671or INSTITUTION GRANTING HIGHEST DEGREE l#Ifttl must

equal a Florida Public Community College.

o Other Transfer Students include all other undergraduate transfer students.

Student Right to Know Flag:

The STUDENT RIGHT TO KNOW (SRK) FLAG l#1437) is an entry status indicator that is a 'Yes/No' flag based

on the term (Summer, Fall, or Spring) that a student is first admitted.
o YES: lf a student enters the institution in the fallterm the SRK flag will be set to 'Yes'. lf a student

enters the institution in the summer term and progresses to fall term, the SRK flag will be set to 'Yes'.

. NO: lf a student enters in the summer term and does not progress to the fall term; or, if a student
enters in the spring term the SRK flag will be set to 'No'.

Full-Time / Part-Time lndicator:
The FULL-TIME / pRRf-flME INDICATOR [#1433] is an indicator based on the number of credit hours
attempted (not earned) during their first fall term. A student entering in the fall and taking 12 or more
credit hours will remain in the full-time category regardless of the number of credits taken in subsequent
terms.

. This indicator is based on the CURRENTTERM COURSE LOAD [#1063] which is the number of hours
enrolled/attempted during a term. This excludes courses that are audited and all credits awarded
during the term through 'Credit by Examination'. Students completing prior term incompletes are not
included unless they have registered and paid fees for the credits they are completing.

. This indicator is used in reporting retention and graduation data to the federal government - to IPEDS.

Cohort Revisions and Adjustments:
The US Congress and the US Dept. of Education allow institutions to make revisions and adjustments to
their student cohorts. There is a difference between revising and adjusting a cohort. Revising a cohort
means modifyingthe cohort data to reflect better information that has become available since the cohort
was first reported. Adjusting a cohort means subtracting any allowable exclusions from the revised cohort
to establish a denominator for graduation rate calculation. These cohort revisions and adjustments are
typically the cause of the differences between historical and updated retention and graduation rates.

. Cohort Adjustment Flag l#14421is a data element on the Retention Cohort Changes (RETC) table that is

used by lnstitutional Data Administrators to indicate that a retention file record has been modified

d.

e.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

145



PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS

RETENTION & GRADUATION RATES

MrrHoooLoGY & Pnocrounrs
REVI5ED 04/24/2019

based on a change in status of the student at the institution. Historically, this field was usually only
populated for students for the six year cohort, but with the switch to the four year graduation rate,

several institutions have started identifying cohort adjustments for multiple cohorts in a single
retention submission.

o lnstitutional Data Administrators identify the students who have died, suffered a permanent

disability, leftto serve in theArmed Services, leftto serve in with Foreign Aid Service of the
federal government (such as the Peace Corps), or left to serve on an Official Church Mission.

These students are removed from the cohort and are not included in the retention and

graduation rates.

o Institutional Data Administrators also identify students who are officially admitted to an

Advanced Graduate program (classified as 'P' or 'T') without earning a bachelor's degree. lt is

important to stress that this code cannot be used for students who are just seeking an

Advanced Graduate degree - only students who have been formally admitted to the program

and will not be earning a bachelor's degree can have this designation. Since these students will
not earn a bachelor's degree, they can be removed from the FTIC cohort forthe calculation of
graduation rates.
. When the 2018 Legislature changed the PBF graduation rate from six to four years

effective immediately, the institutions did not have time to identify which students in their
four-year cohorts had been officially accepted into advanced graduate programs, so the
Board's Office of Data & Analytics made a temporary, one-year emergency methodological
change to also exclude those students whose Degree Level Sought (#01053), during their
fourth year, was identified as seeking a Pharmacy Degree ('W'). The graduation rates
reported in the 2AtB Accountability Plans used the temporary fix. The graduation rates
reported in the 2019 Accountability Plans no longer used the temporary fix, which is why
the historical rates for some institutions were revised in the 2019 Accountability Plans.

. Finally, it is important to note that these Advanced Graduate students will not be removed
from the Academic Progress Rate or Retention Rate calculations, as there is no reason why
entry into an accelerated program would prohibit enrollment during the second fall term.

o lnformation Adjusted by Correction (l) is used to revise the cohort type, SRK flag, or full/part-
time indicator based on newly confirmed information (e.9., SSN change, new transcription info,
etc...).

COHORTADJUSTMENTS USED IN PBF METRICS
CATEGORIES APR/RETENTION GRAD RATES

Death (A) Used Used

Registered but never attended (B) Used Used

Tota lly/Perma nently Disabled (D) Used Used

Serve in Armed Forces (F) Used Used

Federal Foreign Aid Service (eg, Peace Corps) (G) Used Used

Natural Disaster (K) Used Used

Official Church Mission (M) Used Used

Multiple Cohorts/lllegally Enrolled (Q) Used Used

lnformation Adjusted by Correction (l) Used Used

Pharmacy doctoral program (P) Not used Used

Advanced Graduate Program (T) Not used Used

Transfers (1,2, 4) Not used Not used

4

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

146



PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS

RETENTION & GRADUATION RATES

MrrHoooLoGY & PRocrounrs
REVTSED 04124/2AX9

3. Calculatinq the Number Retained or Graduated

a. Second Year Retention Rates
o Cohorts: The number of students in the cohort serves as the denominator for the retention rate, and is

based on the followlng rules: Cohort Type= 'FTIC'; Student Right to Know (SRK)= 'y"r' FT/PT lndicator=
'Full-time'.
o The methodology used for the Retention Rate in the annual Accountability Plans is different from

what is reported to the U.S. Department of Education's lntegrated Postsecondary Education Data

System(IPEDS). Theprimarydifferenceisduetotiming-theretentionratethatisreportedto
IPEDS is based on preliminary enrollment data; whereas the retention rate in the annual
Accountability Plan is based on final enrollment data.

Retained or Graduated: The numerator for the retention rate includes two components: (1) the number
of students in the cohort who are still enrolled during the second fall term, and (2) those students who
graduated in their first year - prior to the start of the second fall term.

Grade Point Average: A GPA criterion was added to the standard retention rate metric to gain a sense

of how well students who were retained were actually doing in their courses. Board staff decided to
use a cumulative GPA (at the end of the first year - before the second fall term) of at least 2.0 as a

threshold because 2.0 is a commonly referenced measure of satisfactory academic progress that is a

common eligibility threshold for financial aid eligibility. lt is also important to know that FTICs who
return for their 2nd fall with a frrst-year GPA above 2.0 are 8 times more Iikely to graduate within six
years than students who begin their second Fall with a GPA of less than 2.0.

o The University GPA [#1801] element is included on the Enrollments table and provides a student's
GPA for a given term as well as the cumulative GPA. Originally, the end of the first year cumulative
GPA was based on data that was submitted prior to the second fallterm. This process was

complicated by timing issues due in large part to the fact that many grades were still incomplete
during the summer term before the second fall term (usually due in mid-September). ln order to
create a smoother procedural flow, and fix timing issues caused by incomplete grades, the Board's
Office of Data & Analytics worked with the Council of Data Administrators to revise the
methodologyto instead use the beginning of term data as reported in the second fallenrollment
table (due late January). This new methodology was first implemented for the 2019 Accountability
Plan, and was applied tothe 201,6-17 and2OtT-18 cohortsto have a consistentyear-over-year
methodology for determining PBF 'lmprovement points'. The revised GPA calculation is a simpler,
more streamlined process that provides more accurate data. The detailed formulas used for
calculating GPA are provided below:

o ORIGINAL END-OF-YEARI METHODOLOGY

(G pA_r N ST_c RADE_PTS t#1 0861 + GPA_TERM_GRAD E_PTS I#1 0901)

divided by
(GPA_INST_HRS [#1 0s5] + GPA_TERM_CREDIT_HRS [#1 088])

o NEW BEGINNING-OF-YEAR2 METHODOLOGY

GPA_INST_GRADE_PTS [#1086]
divided by

GPA_INST_HRS [#1085]

5

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

147



PERFORMANCE FUNDING METRICS

RETENTION & GRADUATION RATES

MrrnooolocY & Pnocrounrs
REV$SED 04/24/20X9

b. Four Year FTIC Graduation Rates
o Cohorts: The number of students in the cohort serves as the denominator for the graduation rate. The

denominator used in the calculation of the four-year FTIC graduation rate is based on the following:
Cohort Type= 'FTIC' ('B' and 'E'), SRK= 'Yes', FT/PT lndicator= 'Full-time' only, and Cohort Adjustments.

o Graduated: The number of students in the cohort who graduated within four years (by the fourth
summer term after entry) from the same institution serves as the numerator for the graduation rate.

It is important to note that a small number of degrees are reported to SUDS after the degree was

awarded - these are called 'late degrees'. The methodology for four-year graduation rates include

these'late degrees'; however, late degrees that haven't already been submitted on the SIFD must be

submitted on the Retention submission to be included in the graduation rates.

. Note about historic rates that change. The table below provides a visualization showing the difference
in reporting degrees awarded for graduation rates and academic year degree counts. The'+'symbol
indicates when degrees are reported by institutions to the Board office by degree term (rows) and

rept_time_frame (columns). Deg_Term indictes when the degree was awarded and rept_time_frame
indicates when the institution reported that degree to the Board office. Degrees can be reported for
previous terms, which is why each rept_time_frame reports degrees for multiple deg_terms.

o The red box provides the logic on which degrees are counted for degrees reported in academic
year 2016-17. The logic for reporting degrees in an academic year includes three degree terms
(summer, fall, and spring) that is based on a 'summer to summer' rept_time_frame rule that
excludes degrees if they are reported too late based on rept_time_frame.

o Alternatively, graduation rates do not exclude 'late late' degrees, so each year historical graduation

rates can change as'late late'degrees are reported. ln thetable below, the blue horizontal line is
the only criteria restricting degrees awarded for purposes of calculating a graduation rate that ends

by summer 2017 (or, deg_term=201705).

o The highlighted cells indicate which degrees were available for the 201.6-17 Retention submission
that were included in the 2013-17 graduation rate calculation -the yellow highlights would extend
all the way back to the 201305 term if calculating the 2013-tl graduation rate. However, the
2017-18 Retention submission would also include any degrees awarded above the blue line that
were not shaded yellow. These'late late'degrees are not a large number but can change rates
reported into the decimals.

DEG_TERM

201505

201508

201601

20L605

201508

20L70L

201705

201708

20180L

201805

REPT-TIME_FRAME

20170L 201705 zAfiO8
+

+

+

+

+

+

20160s 201608 201801 20180s

++
++
++

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

+

6

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

148



Appendix C 

Data Integrity Certification 
March 2020 

University Name:  _Florida Atlantic University 

INSTRUCTIONS:  Please respond “Yes” or “No” for each representation below.   Explain any “No” responses to ensure clarity of 
the representation you are making to the Board of Governors. 
audit findings. 

Modify representations to reflect any noted significant or material 

Data Integrity Certification Form Page 1 

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment / Reference 

1. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining, and have established and
maintained, effective internal controls and monitoring over my university’s
collection and reporting of data submitted to the Board of Governors Office
which will be used by the Board of Governors in Performance Based Funding
decision-making and Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence Status.

☐ ☐ 

2. These internal controls and monitoring activities include, but are not limited
to, reliable processes, controls, and procedures designed to ensure that data
required in reports filed with my Board of Trustees and the Board of
Governors are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported in a manner
which ensures its accuracy and completeness.

☐ ☐ 

3. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 1.001(3)(f), my Board of
Trustees has required that I maintain an effective information system to
provide accurate, timely, and cost-effective information about the university,
and shall require that all data and reporting requirements of the Board of
Governors are met.

☐ ☐ 

4. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my university shall
provide accurate data to the Board of Governors Office.

☐ ☐ 

5. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, I have appointed a
Data Administrator to certify and manage the submission of data to the
Board of Governors Office.

☐ ☐ 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

149



Data Integrity Certification 

Data Integrity Certification Form Page 2 

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment / Reference 

6. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, I have tasked my
Data Administrator to ensure the data file (prior to submission) is consistent
with the criteria established by the Board of Governors Data Committee. The
due diligence includes performing tests on the file using applications,
processes, and data definitions provided by the Board Office.

☐ ☐ 

7. When critical errors have been identified, through the processes identified in
item #6, a written explanation of the critical errors was included with the file
submission.

☐ ☐ 

8. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my Data
Administrator has submitted data files to the Board of Governors Office in
accordance with the specified schedule.

☐ ☐ 

9. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my Data
Administrator electronically certifies data submissions in the State University
Data System by acknowledging the following statement, “Ready to submit:
Pressing Submit for Approval represents electronic certification of this data
per Board of Governors Regulation 3.007.”

☐ ☐ 

10. I am responsible for taking timely and appropriate preventive/ corrective
actions for deficiencies noted through reviews, audits,  and investigations.

☐ ☐ 

11. I recognize that Board of Governors’ and statutory requirements for the use
of data related to the Performance Based Funding initiative and Preeminence
or Emerging Preeminence status consideration will drive university policy
on a wide range of university operations – from admissions through
graduation. I certify that university policy changes and decisions impacting
data used for these purposes have been made to bring the university’s
operations and practices in line with State University System Strategic Plan
goals and have not been made for the purposes of artificially inflating the
related metrics.

☐ ☐ 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

150



Data Integrity Certification 

Data Integrity Certification Form Page 3 

Data Integrity Certification Representations, Signatures 

I certify that all information provided as part of the Board of Governors Data Integrity Certification for Performance Based 
Funding and Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence status (if applicable) is true and correct to the best of my knowledge; and 
I understand that any unsubstantiated, false, misleading, or withheld information relating to these statements render this 
certification void. My signature below acknowledges that I have read and understand these statements. I certify that this 
information will be reported to the board of trustees and the Board of Governors. 

President 

I certify that this Board of Governors Data Integrity Certification for Performance Based Funding and Preeminence or 
Emerging Preeminence status (if applicable) has been approved by the university board of trustees and is true and correct to 
the best of my knowledge. 

Certification: ________________________________________Date 
Board of Trustees Chair 

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment / Reference 

12. I certify that I agreed to the scope of work for the Performance Based
Funding Data Integrity Audit and the Preeminence or Emerging
Preeminence Data Integrity Audit (if applicable) conducted by my chief audit
executive.

☐ ☐ 

13. In accordance with section 1001.706, Florida Statutes, I certify that the audit
conducted verified that the data submitted pursuant to sections 1001.7065
and 1001.92, Florida Statutes [regarding Preeminence and Performance- 
based Funding, respectively], complies with the data definitions established
by the Board of Governors.

☐ ☐ 

Certification:  ____________________________________Date  ________________________________ 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

151



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

152



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

153



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

154



Florida Gulf Coast 
University 
Performance Based Funding Data Integrity

Internal Audit Report 

Report Date: January 23, 2020 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

155



 Page 2 of 10 

PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING DATA INTEGRITY AUDIT 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
At the direction of the Florida Board of Governors (BOG), audit procedures were performed to 
determine whether Florida Gulf Coast University (University) has effective internal controls, 
processes and procedures in place to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of the 
data submissions to the BOG which support the University’s Performance Based Funding 
Metrics.  

Audit procedures included, but were not limited to, the evaluation of internal controls, processes, 
and procedures established to ensure the completeness and accuracy of data submissions to the 
Board of Governors, which support performance measures funding, as well as limited testing of 
data elements comprising the Retention (RET), Admissions (ADM), Student Instruction File 
(SIF), Degree Awarded (SIFD), Student Financial Aid (SFA), Hours to Degree (HTD), data 
submissions which are used in computations for Metrics 5, 7, and 9 of the BOG performance 
based funding model. 

Overall, our audit indicates that there are no significant deficiencies in the processes 
implemented by the University that relate to the integrity of data that supports the performance 
based funding model. The data testing provides reasonable assurance that the data submitted to 
the Board of Governors is complete, accurate and timely. However, we did find an opportunity to 
enhance Information Technology (IT) security procedures as indicated in the Recommendations 
section of this report. 

We wish to express our appreciation to the Data Administrator and the Office of Institutional 
Research and Analysis (IR) staff for their cooperation and assistance. Their knowledge was 
instrumental in the successful completion of the audit.  We would also like to thank Information 
Technology Services, Office of Records and Registration, Undergraduate Admissions, Academic 
and Curriculum Support, and Financial Aid for their assistance.  

This audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing, issued by the Institute of Internal Auditors. The audit 
procedures provided a reasonable basis for our opinion and the following reportable 
observations and recommendations. 

OBJECTIVES 

A. Determine whether there are effective internal controls, processes, and procedures to
ensure the completeness and accuracy of data submissions to the Board of Governors,
which support performance measures funding.

B. Ensure the President and Board of Trustees receive the report in time to review, approve
and sign the data integrity certification and send it and the report to Board of Governors
by March 2, 2020.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

156



 Page 3 of 10 

AUDIT SCOPE – End of Fieldwork was January 8, 2020. 

• Review of applicable policies, procedures and control processes related to data
submissions associated with performance data metrics.

• Review samples of relevant data submissions from October 1, 2018 to September 30,
2019. See Appendix A for the list of required submissions that relate to performance
metrics during the audited time period.

• Detailed sample testing of data elements in the submissions submitted to the BOG was
limited to the submissions files that support metrics 5, 7, and 9. See Appendix B for
metric definitions with supporting submissions and table elements for the tested metrics.

BACKGROUND 

The Florida Board of Governors (BOG) has broad governance responsibilities that affect 
administrative and budgetary matters for Florida’s public universities. Beginning in fiscal year 
2013 – 2014, the BOG instituted the Performance Funding Model which is based on ten 
performance metrics used to evaluate the institutions on a range of issues. 

The 2018-2019 metrics are as follows: 

1. Percent of Bachelor's Graduates Enrolled or Employed ($25,000+), One Year After Graduation
2. Median Wages of Bachelor’s Graduates Employed Full-time, One Year After Graduation
3. Cost to the Student, Net Tuition & Fees for Resident Undergraduates per 120 Credit Hours
4. Four Year FTIC Graduation Rate
5. Academic Progress Rate, 2nd Year Retention with GPA Above 2.0
6. Bachelor's Degrees within Programs of Strategic Emphasis
7. University Access Rate, Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell-grant
8. Graduate Degrees within Programs of Strategic Emphasis
9. Percent of Bachelor's Degrees Without Excess Hours (BOG Choice Metric)
10. Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded to Minorities (BOT Choice Metric)

According to information published by the BOG in May 2019, the following are key components 
of the funding model: 

• Institutions are evaluated on either Excellence or Improvement for each metric.
• Data is based on one-year data.
• The benchmarks for Excellence are based on the Board of Governors 2025 System

Strategic Plan goals and analysis of relevant data trends, whereas the benchmarks for
Improvement were determined after reviewing data trends for each metric.

• The Florida Legislature and Governor determine the amount of new state funding and an
amount of institutional funding that will come from each university’s recurring state base
appropriation.

The amount of the state investment appropriated by the Legislature and Governor for 
performance funding will be matched by an amount reallocated from the university system base 
budget. These “institutional base” funds are the cumulative recurring state appropriations the 
Legislature has appropriated to each institution.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

157



   Page 4 of 10 
 

The highest point value for each metric is 10 points. All 10 of the metrics have equal weight. 
From a total possible 100 points, a university is required to earn at least 51 points in order to be 
eligible for new funding.  

The Florida Board of Governors maintains a student unit record database titled the State 
University Database System (SUDS). This database contains over 400 data elements about 
students, faculty and programs at State University System (SUS) institutions. SUDS is part of a 
web-based portal developed by the BOG for the SUS to report data, and has centralized security 
protocols for access, data encryption, and password controls. Initial input of data files supporting 
Performance Based Funding (PBF) metrics is the responsibility of the University’s Data 
Administrator in IR, and is scheduled to be uploaded to SUDS based on the BOG’s Due Date 
Master Calendar. Data uploaded to SUDS are subject to edit checks to help ensure consistency 
with BOG-defined data elements, and accuracy of the information submitted. Once IR is 
satisfied that any edit errors have been fully addressed, IR makes an official submission of data 
files to the BOG. This process is depicted further in Appendix C. 

Each file submission by IR includes an electronic certification in which the University’s Data 
Administrator certifies that the data represents the University for the term(s) being reported as 
required by Board of Governors Regulation 3.007.  

AUDIT PROCEDURES 

Audit procedures were conducted to address the Data Integrity Certification Representations 
provided by the Board of Governors. These procedures included, but were not limited to: 

• Identifying and evaluating key processes used by the Data Administrator and applicable 
University departments responsible for the data to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and 
timeliness of data submissions to the BOG. 

• Interviewing key personnel responsible for the data being reported and submitted to the 
BOG. For those interviewed, we discussed key internal controls and processes in place 
over data input, Banner access, SUDS access, validation tables, data submission 
procedures, error resolution, staff training, and other controls specific to the department 
and submission of accurate and timely data. 

• Verifying accuracy and completeness of the data submitted to the BOG for Measure 5, 
Academic Progress Rate; Metric 7, University Access Rate; and Metric 9, Percent of 
Bachelor’s Degree Without Excess Hours. 

• Reviewing 2019 BOG SUDS workshop proceedings, metric definitions, and other key 
Performance Based Funding documents. 

• Verifying submission files tested were submitted by the due date as identified on the 
SUDS website. 

• Reviewing a current listing of all those individuals who have access to the SUDS system 
for appropriateness of access to the BOG’s application portal. 

• Reviewing Banner access and termination procedures and quarterly Banner security 
reviews to determine whether controls are in place regarding access to Banner. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

158



   Page 5 of 10 
 

OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. SUDS User Access 
Observation 
During access control testing of the SUDS, it was found that Institutional Research and Analysis 
(IR) does not have a formal, documented access process relating to the creation, deletion, or 
modification of SUDS user accounts. Additionally, we found three (3) SUDS user accounts 
whose passwords have expired over 365 days ago, two of which have been expired since 2014. 
Having a password expired means the user account in question has not been accessed at a 
minimum from the date on which it had expired.  

Recommendation 
Internal Audit recommends IR document an access request process that includes, at a minimum 
the following details: 

• Define the different SUDS access Applications and Roles within SUDS 
• Procedures and requirements for the creation, including requesting and granting access, 

modification and deletion of Users within the SUDS database 
• Logging of user creation, modification and deletion requests 
• Procedures for an annual internal review of all users within the SUDS database   

Additionally, IR should work with the users who have been identified as having not accessed the 
SUDS database in more than 365 days to determine whether they still require access to SUDS 
and deactivate, as necessary.  

Management Response 

The Data Administrator and his staff in consultation with the BOG staff who administer SUDS 
along with existing FGCU staff with access to SUDS will define an appropriate SUDS access 
review meeting these criteria by the end of June 2020. The three users identified in the audit who 
have not logged into the system have had their access deleted. 

2. Change Management 
Observation 

IR, for state reporting purposes, maintains multiple programs that take institutional data and 
format it to meet SUDS guidelines for submission. We found that IR does not maintain any 
formal written change management procedures for implementing changes to code within these 
programs.  

Recommendation 

While the testing of data submitted to the Board of Governors did not yield any unexplained 
exceptions, we recommend IR develop formal change management procedures for making 
changes to their programs. The goal of change management is to increase awareness and 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

159



   Page 6 of 10 
 

understanding of changes. Additionally, change management ensures all changes are made in a 
way that minimizes negative impact to the programs and ensures that the integrity of the data 
associated with the programs remains intact.  

Management Response 

The Data Administrator and his staff, in consultation with SUS system colleagues, will develop 
change management procedures fulfilling these criteria that will not diminish effective and 
timely completion of work to fulfill critical BOG-deadlines by the end of June 2020.   

CONCLUSION 

In our opinion, based upon the work performed, the internal controls, processes and procedures 
in place to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and overall timeliness of data submissions that 
affect performance-based funding metrics are operating effectively. 

We believe our audit can be relied upon by the President and the Florida Gulf Coast University 
Board of Trustees as a basis for certifying representations to the Board of Governors related to 
the integrity of data required for its Performance Based Funding Model. 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide a response to the Performance-Based Funding Data 
Integrity Audit for 2018-2019. We were pleased to note and concur with the audit report 
concluding:  

“no significant deficiencies in the processes implemented by the University that relate to the 
integrity of data that supports the performance based funding model… In our opinion, based 
upon the work performed, the internal controls, processes and procedures in place to ensure the 
completeness, accuracy, and overall timeliness of data submissions that affect performance-
based funding metrics are operating effectively.” 

Given the magnitude of the data submission tasks and its importance to the University, it is 
gratifying that the Office of Institutional Research and Analysis, led by Dr. Robert Vines, 
continues successfully to fulfill this task since the inception of performance based funding some 
six years ago. 

In the course of its work, the Office of Internal Audit provided two observations and associated 
recommendations intended to reduce potential risk, not necessarily directly related to the goal of 
this audit, but useful nonetheless. 

Management Response Provided By: Dr. Paul Snyder, Senior Associate Provost and Associate 
Vice President, Planning and Institutional Performance 
Audit Performed by: Jena Valerioti, MBA, Internal Auditor II and Ron Tortorello, MSIA, 
Internal Auditor II 
Audit Supervised by: Carol Slade, Internal Auditor III 
Audit Reviewed by: William Foster, Director, Internal Audit 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

160



   Page 7 of 10 
 

APPENDIX A 
METRIC RELATED SUBMISSIONS 

 
 

Due Date Submission Term or Year 
Report Time 
Frame 

10/4/2018 Degrees Awarded (SIFD) Summer 2018 201805 
10/4/2018 Student Financial Aid (SFA) Annual 2017 20172018 
10/10/2018 Admissions (ADM) Fall 2018 201808 
10/17/2018 Student Instruction File Preliminary (SIFP) Fall 2018 201808 
11/7/2018 Hours to Degree (HTD) Annual 2017 20172018 
1/23/2019 Student Instruction File (SIF) Fall 2018 201808 
1/30/2019 Retention (RET) Annual 2017 20172018 
2/1/2019 Degrees Awarded (SIFD) Fall 2018 201808 
3/1/2019 Admissions (ADM) Spring 2019 201901 
6/12/2019 Student Instruction File (SIF) Spring 2019 201901 
6/26/2019 Degrees Awarded (SIFD) Spring 2019 201901 
9/20/2019 Admissions (ADM) Summer 2019 201905 
9/27/2019 Student Instruction File (SIF) Summer 2019 201905 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

161



   Page 8 of 10 
 

APPENDIX B 
METRIC DEFINITIONS WITH SUPPORTING SUBMISSIONS AND TABLE ELEMENTS 

 
Metric Definition Submissions and Table Elements 

5. Academic Progress 
Rate 2nd Year 
Retention with GPA 
Above 2.0 

This metric is based on the percentage 
of first-time-in-college (FTIC) 
students who started in the Fall (or 
summer continuing to Fall) term and 
were enrolled full-time in their first 
semester and were still enrolled in the 
same institution during the Fall term 
following their first year with had a 
grade point average (GPA) of at least 
2.0 at the end of their first year (Fall, 
Spring, Summer). Source: State 
University Database System (SUDS). 

Submission: SIFD                                                          
Table: Degrees Awarded                                            
Elements: 02001- Reporting Time Frame  
 
Submission: ADM                                                           
Table: Exceptions                                                  
Elements: 01068- Type of Student at Date of 
Entry 
 
Submission: SIF                                                            
Table: Enrollments                                                    
Elements: 01060- Student Classification Level                  
01112- Degree Highest Held                                            
01107- Fee Classification Kind                                        
01420- Date of Most Recent Admission                                
01413- Type of Student at Time of Most Recent 
Admission 
01067- Last Institution Code 
01411- Institution Granting Highest Degree 
01063- Current Term Course Load 
01801- University GPA (CUM & TERM) 
01085- Institutional Hours for GPA 
01086- Total Institutional Grade Points 
 
Submission: Retention                                                    
Table: Retention Cohort Changes                               
Elements: 01429- Cohort Type                                       
01437- Student-Right-To-Know (SRK) Flag                               
01442- Cohort Adjustment Flag 
 
 

7. University Access 
Rate Percent of 
Undergraduates with a 
Pell-grant 
 

This metric is based the number of 
undergraduates, enrolled during the fall 
term, who received a Pell-grant during 
the fall term. Unclassified students, who 
are not eligible for Pell Grants, were 
excluded from this metric. Source: State 
University Database System (SUDS). 
 

Submission: SIF                                                            
Table: Enrollments                                                    
Elements: 02041- Demo Time Frame                                    
01045- Reporting University                                                  
01413- Student at Most Recent Admission Type                     
01060- Student Classification Level                                        
01053- Degree Level Sough                                                  
01107- Fee Classification Kind 
 
Submission: SFA                                                            
Table: Financial Aid Awards                                                    
Elements: 02040- Award Payment Term                              
02037- Term Amount                                                           
01253- Financial Aid Award Program Identifier 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

162



   Page 9 of 10 
 

 

Metric Definition Submissions and Table Elements 

9. Percent of Bachelor's 
Degrees Without Excess 
Hours 
 

This metric is based on the percentage of 
baccalaureate degrees awarded within 
110% of the credit hours required for a 
degree based on the Board of Governors 
Academic Program Inventory. Note: It is 
important to note that the statutory 
provisions of the “Excess Hour 
Surcharge” (1009.286, FS) have been 
modified several times by the Florida 
Legislature, resulting in a phased-in 
approach that has created three different 
cohorts of students with different 
requirements. The performance funding 
metric data is based on the latest 
statutory requirements that mandates 
110% of required hours as the threshold. 
In accordance with statute, this metric 
excludes the following types of student 
credits (ie, accelerated mechanisms, 
remedial coursework, non-native credit 
hours that are not used toward the degree, 
non-native credit hours from failed, 
incomplete, withdrawn, or repeated 
courses, credit hours from internship 
programs, credit hours up to 10 foreign 
language credit hours, and credit hours 
earned in military science courses that 
are part of the Reserve Officers’ Training 
Corps (ROTC) program). Source: State 
University Database System (SUDS). 
 

Submission: HTD                                                            
Table: Courses to Degree                                                    
Elements: 01484- Course System Code                                 
01485- Course Grouping Code                                               
01489- Credit Hour Usage Indicator                                     
01459- Section Credit (Credit Hours)                                    
01488- Credit Hour Testing Method                                      
01104- Course Section Type                                            
02065- Excess Hours Exclusion                                                                            
Table: Hours to Degree                                                          
Elements: 01477- Catalog - Hours to Degree 
 
 
 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

163



  Page 10 of 10 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

164



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

165



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

166



2/18/20

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

167

sevans
Stamp



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Audit of the Performance Based Funding 
and Emerging Preeminence Metrics  

Data Integrity (Revised) 
 

Report No. 19/20-06 
February 12, 2020 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

168



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We have reissued the Audit of Performance Based Funding and Emerging Preeminence 
Metrics Data Integrity, Report No. 19/20-06, dated February 7, 2020, to correct two dates 
on page 21 relating to the original submission and resubmission dates for the Instruction 
& Research file. 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

169



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

170



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 Page 
 
OBJECTIVES, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY .........................................................  1 
 
BACKGROUND ...........................................................................................................  2 
 
OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS..........................................................  6 

 
1. Review of Process Flows of Data ...................................................................  7 

 
2. System Controls Overview and Follow-up  ...................................................  9 

 
a. SUDS On-boarding and Off-boarding .......................................................  9 

 
b. PantherSoft Access Control ......................................................................  10 

 
c. PantherSoft Audit Logs .............................................................................  10 

 
d. SUDS Metric Tables to BOG Reconciliation ............................................  10 

 
e. Data Modification .......................................................................................  11 

 
f. Transfer Server Controls ...........................................................................  11 

 
3. Data Accuracy Testing - Performance Based Funding Metrics ...................  14 

 
 Metrics 7 and 10 ..........................................................................................  15 

 
4. Data Accuracy Testing - Emerging Preeminence Metrics............................  18 

 
No. 7 - Total Amount R&D Expenditures in Non-Health Sciences .........  18 

 
No. 9 - Patents awarded (over a 3-year period) .......................................  19 

 
No. 11 - Number of Post-Doctoral Appointees  .......................................  19 

 
5. PBF Data File Submissions and Resubmissions  ........................................  20 

 
  Data File Submissions  ..............................................................................  20 
 
  Data File Resubmissions  ..........................................................................  21 

 
6. Review of University Initiatives  .....................................................................  25 

 
APPENDIX A – In-Scope BOG Data Elements .........................................................  26 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

171



Page 1 of 26 
 

OBJECTIVES, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY 
 
As directed by the State University System of Florida (SUS) Board of Governors (BOG), 
we have completed an audit of the data integrity and processes utilized in the University’s 
Performance Based Funding (PBF or “Funding Metrics”) and Emerging Preeminence 
Metrics. The primary objectives of our audit were to: 
 

(a) Determine whether the processes established by the University ensure the 
completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG, which 
support the Performance Based Funding and Emerging Preeminence Metrics; 
and 

 
(b)  Provide an objective basis of support for the University Board of Trustees Chair 

and President to sign the representations made in the Data Integrity 
Certification, which will be submitted to the Board of Trustees and filed with the 
BOG by March 2, 2020.  

 
Our audit was conducted in conformance with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing promulgated by the Institute of Internal Auditors 
and ISACA IS Audit and Assurance Standards, and included tests of the supporting 
records and such other auditing procedures, as we considered necessary under the 
circumstances.   
 
During the audit, we: 
 

1. Updated our understanding of the process flows of data for all of the relevant data 
files from the transactional level to their submission to the BOG; 
 

2. Reviewed BOG data definitions, SUS Data workshop documentation, and meeting 
notes to identify changes to the BOG Funding Metrics; 
 

3. Interviewed key personnel, including the University’s Data Administrator, 
functional unit leads, and those responsible for developing and maintaining the 
information systems;  

 
4. Observed current practices and processing techniques; 

 
5. Tested the system access controls and user privileges within the State University 

Database System (SUDS) application, upload folders, and production data; and 
 

6. Tested the latest data files for two (2) of the 10 performance based funding metrics 
as well as three (3) of the eight (8) emerging preeminence metrics achieved and 
submitted to the BOG as of August 31, 2019. Sample sizes and transactions 
selected for testing were determined on a judgmental basis applying a non-statistical 
sampling methodology.   

 
Audit fieldwork was conducted from September 2019 to January 2020.  In fiscal year 
2018-2019, we issued the report Audit of Performance Based Funding Metrics Data 
Integrity (Report No. 18/19-06), dated January 23, 2019.  During the current audit, we 
reviewed the prior audit report and followed-up on the one recommendations, which are 
addressed within this report. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

172



Page 2 of 26 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
The Florida Board of Governors has broad governance responsibilities affecting 
administrative and budgetary matters for Florida’s 12 public universities. Beginning in 
fiscal year 2013-2014, the BOG instituted a performance based funding program, which 
is based on 10 performance metrics used to evaluate the universities on a range of 
indicators, including graduation and retention rates, job placement, and access rate, 
among others.  Two of the 10 performance metrics are “choice metrics” – one picked by 
the BOG and one by each University’s Boards of Trustees. These metrics were chosen 
after reviewing over 40 metrics identified in the Universities’ Work Plans but are subject 
to change yearly.   
 
The BOG model has four guiding principles: 
  

1. use metrics that align with SUS Strategic Plan goals; 
2. reward Excellence or Improvement; 
3. have a few clear, simple metrics; and 
4. acknowledge the unique mission of the different institutions.  

 
The Performance Funding Program also has four key components: 
 

1. Institutions are evaluated and receive a numeric score for either Excellence or 
Improvement relating to each metric; 

2. Data is based on one-year data; 
3. The benchmarks for Excellence were based on the Board of Governors 2025 

System Strategic Plan goals and analysis of relevant data trends, whereas the 
benchmarks for Improvement were decided after reviewing data trends for each 
metric; and 

4. The Florida Legislature and Governor determine the amount of new state 
funding and the proportional amount of institutional funding that would come 
from each university’s recurring state-base appropriation. 

 
In 2016, the Florida Legislature passed, and the Governor signed into law the Board of 
Governors’ Performance-Based Funding Model, now codified into the Florida Statutes 
under Section 1001.66, Florida College System Performance-Based Incentive. 
 
During the 2019 Legislative Session, lawmakers approved Senate Bill 190 that contains 
language, amending section 1001.706, Florida Statutes. The new language states: 
 

Each university shall conduct an annual audit to verify that the data 
submitted pursuant to ss. 1001.7065[1] and 1001.92[2] complies with the data 
definitions established by the board and submit the audits to the Board of 
Governors Office of Inspector General as part of the annual certification 
process required by the Board of Governors. [(1) Florida Statutes, Preeminent 
State Research Universities Program; (2) Florida Statutes, State University System 
Performance-based Incentive]  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

173



Page 3 of 26 
 

FIU’s Performance Based Funding Metrics 

1. 

Percent of Bachelor's Graduates 
Employed (Earning $25,000+) or 
Continuing their Education (One Year 
After Graduation) 

6. Bachelor's Degrees Awarded in Areas of 
Strategic Emphasis 

2. 
Median Wages of Bachelor’s Graduates 
Employed Full-time (One Year After 
Graduation) 

7. University Access Rate (Percent of  
Undergraduates with a Pell-grant) 

3. Average Cost to the Student (Net Tuition 
per 120 Credit Hours) 8. Graduate Degrees Awarded in Areas of 

Strategic Emphasis 

4. Four Year Graduation Rate (Full-time, 
First-Time-In-College) 9. Board of Governors’ Choice - Percent of 

Bachelor’s Degrees without Excess Hours 

5. Academic Progress Rate (2nd Year 
Retention with GPA above 2.0) 10. Board of Trustees’ Choice - Bachelor's 

Degrees Awarded to Minorities 

 
The following table provided by the BOG summarizes the performance funds allocated 
for the fiscal year 2019-2020 using the performance metrics results from fiscal year 2018-
2019, wherein FIU earned 87 points. 

 
 
 

 *Institutions scoring 51 points or higher receive their full institutional funding restored. 

                                                
1 The amount of state investment is appropriated by the Legislature and Governor. A prorated amount is deducted 
from each university’s base recurring state appropriation (Institutional Investment) and is reallocated to each 
institution based on the results of the performance based funding metrics (State Investment).   

Florida Board of Governors Performance Funding Allocation, 2019-20201 

 Points* Allocation of 
State Investment 

Allocation of 
Institutional 
Investment 

Total 
Performance 

Funding 
Allocation 

UF 95 $   47,282,102 $   52,634,792 $   99,916,894 

UWF 94 10,442,148 11,624,278 22,066,426 

USF 92 36,504,867 40,637,494 77,142,361 

FSU 88 42,084,561 46,848,851 88,933,412 

UCF 88 36,760,351 40,921,901 77,682,252 

FIU 87   30,459,667    33,907,930 64,367,597 

FAU 86 20,517,518 22,840,256 43,357,774 

FGCU 81 10,895,127 12,128,538 23,023,665 

UNF 78 12,358,238 13,757,283 26,115,521 

FAMU 70 13,750,113 15,306,730 29,056,843 

NCF 67 3,945,308 4,391,947 8,337,255 

Totals   $265,000,000  $295,000,000  $560,000,000  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

174



Page 4 of 26 
 

In addition to the data integrity audit for the Performance Based Funding Model, 
universities designated as preeminent or emerging preeminent will need to conduct a 
similar audit for the data and metrics used for preeminence status consideration. This 
audit may be included with or separate from the Performance Based Funding Data 
Integrity Audit.  
 
In 2019, Florida International University achieved sufficient preeminent metrics to qualify 
for designation as an emerging preeminent state research university by the authority of 
Florida Statute 1001.7065. Emerging preeminence status is achieved upon meeting six 
(6) of the 12 metrics, while preeminence status requires meeting 11 of the 12 metrics. 
The University met eight (8) of the 12 metrics as noted in bold below:  
 

FIU’s Emerging Preeminent Metrics 

1. Average GPA and SAT Score for 
incoming freshman in Fall term 7. Total Amount R&D Expenditures in Non-

Health Sciences 

 2. Public University National Ranking 8. National Ranking in Research 
Expenditures 

3. Freshman Retention Rate (Full-Time, 
First-Time-In-College) 9. Patents Awarded (over a 3-year period) 

4. 4-Year Graduation Rate (Full-Time, 
First-Time-In-College) 10. Doctoral Degrees Awarded Annually 

5. National Academy Memberships 11. Number of Post-Doctoral appointees 

6. Total Annual Research Expenditures 
(Science & Engineering only) ($M) 12. Endowment Size ($M) 

 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

175



Page 5 of 26 
 

Organization 
 
FIU’s Office of Analysis and Information Management (AIM) consists of Institutional 
Research (IR) and the Office of Retention & Graduation Success.  One of the goals of 
AIM is to provide the University community with convenient and timely access to 
information needed for planning and data driven decision-making and to respond to data 
requests from external parties. IR is currently responsible for:  
 

 Faculty Perception of Administrators (FPOA) formerly Faculty Assessment of 
Administrator System;  

 Assisting with the online system used to credential faculty; 
 Academic Program Inventory; and  
 Assignment of CIP (Classification of Instructional Program) codes to courses and 

certificate programs.   
 
IR has been the official source of FIU’s statistics, providing statistical information to 
support decision-making processes within all academic and administrative units at FIU, 
and preparing reports and files for submission to the BOG and other agencies. It is also 
responsible for data administration, enrollment planning, and strategic planning.  
 
The Office of Retention & Graduation Success identifies barriers to student success and 
works to eliminate those barriers. This Office helps to carry out the Graduation Success 
Initiative (GSI), primarily by providing “Major Maps” and alerts for students and academic 
advisors, and information and analyses to departments and decision-makers. 
 
The Vice Provost for AIM, who is also the University’s Data Administrator reports directly 
to the Provost and is responsible for gathering data from all applicable units, preparing 
the data to meet BOG data definitions and requirements, and submitting the data.   
 
At FIU, the Performance Funding Metrics reporting process flows consist of three layers: 
(1) Production, (2) Upload, and (3) SUDS. The Production data (extracted from the 
PantherSoft databases) are originated from the following functional units --  
the Admissions Office, Registrar’s Office, Academic Advising, and Financial Aid. AIM and 
a Division of Information Technology (DoIT) team work collaboratively to translate the 
production data, which is sent to staging tables, where dedicated developers perform data 
element calculations that are based on BOG guidelines and definitions. Once the 
calculations are completed, the data is formatted into text files and moved to an Upload 
folder. Users then log into SUDS and depending on their roles, they either upload, 
validate, or submit the data to the BOG. The DoIT assists with the entire consolidation 
and upload process. 
 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

176



Page 6 of 26 
 

OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Based on our audit, we concluded that there are no material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in the processes established by the University to report required data to the 
Board of Governors in support of their Performance Based Funding Metrics and the 
Emerging Preeminence Metrics. While there is always room for improvement as outlined 
in the detailed findings and recommendations that follow, the system is functioning in a 
manner that can be relied upon to provide complete, accurate, and timely submission of 
data to the BOG.  
 

Accordingly, in our opinion, this report provides an objective basis of support for the Board 
of Trustees Chair and the University President to sign the representations made in the 
BOG’s Data Integrity Certification, which the BOG requested be filed with them by March 
2, 2020. Our evaluation of FIU’s operational and system access controls that fall within 
the scope of our audit is summarized in the following table:  
 

 

INTERNAL CONTROLS RATING 

CRITERIA SATISFACTORY OPPORTUNITIES 
TO IMPROVE INADEQUATE 

Process Controls X   
Policy & Procedures 
Compliance X   

Effect X   
Information Risk  X  
External Risk X   

INTERNAL CONTROLS LEGEND 

CRITERIA SATISFACTORY OPPORTUNITIES 
TO IMPROVE INADEQUATE 

Process Controls Effective 
Opportunities exist 

to improve 
effectiveness 

Do not exist or are not 
reliable 

Policy & Procedures 
Compliance 

Non-compliance 
issues are minor 

Non-compliance 
Issues may be 

systemic 

Non-compliance issues 
are pervasive, 

significant, or have 
severe consequences 

Effect 
Not likely to impact 

operations or 
program outcomes 

Impact on 
outcomes 
contained 

Negative impact on 
outcomes 

Information Risk Information systems 
are reliable 

Data systems are 
mostly accurate but 

can be improved 

Systems produce 
incomplete or 

inaccurate data which 
may cause 

inappropriate financial 
and operational 

decisions 

External Risk None or low Potential for 
damage Severe risk of damage 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

177



Page 7 of 26 
 

The results of our audit are as follows: 
 
1. Review of Process Flows of Data  

 
During prior years’ audits, we obtained an understanding of the processes the University 
implemented to ensure the complete, accurate, and timely submission of data to the BOG. 
During this audit, we met with the Data Administrator and other key personnel to update 
our understanding of the processes in place to gather, test, and ensure that only valid 
data, as defined by the BOG, are timely submitted to the BOG. Based upon our updated 
understanding, we determined that no significant changes have occurred in the process 
flows of data. 
 
At FIU, the PantherSoft Security Team and AIM collaborated and developed a tool that 
generates edit reports similar to the ones found in the State University Database System 
(SUDS). This tool allows users at functional units more time to work on their file(s) since 
the BOG edits are released closer to the submission deadline. The purpose of the review 
is for users at functional units to correct any problems concerning transactional errors 
before submitting the files.  
 
We found the Registrar’s Office, which generates data for five (5) of the 10 performance 
based metrics, the Office of Financial Aid, and the Graduation Office are using the tool.  
 
The Data Administrator’s team routinely reviews error and summary reports to identify 
and correct any data inconsistencies. As explained, the Data Administrator’s team is 
responsible for the day-to-day reporting and understands the functional process flows, 
while the functional units are responsible for their data and understand the technical 
process flows. According to AIM, they plan to continue to extend the use of the tool to all 
appropriate users upon request. Furthermore, for certain files, there are additional 
PantherSoft queries in place that users run to identify errors or bad data combinations. 
 
In addition to the internal FIU reports, the BOG has built into the SUDS a data validation 
process, which through many diagnostic edits, flags errors by critical level. The SUDS 
also provides summary reports and frequency counts that allow for trend analysis. The 
AIM team reviews the SUDS reports and spot-checks records to verify the accuracy of 
the data. Once satisfied as to the validity of the data, the file is approved for submission.  
 
As a result of a prior audit recommendation, AIM developed the AIM-BOG Business 
Process Manual.  The Manual addresses the BOG SUDS Portal Security, BOG SUDS 
File Submission Process (see table on the following page), and details of the process for 
each file submitted to the BOG. It is also evident that the Manual has been continually 
updated since its implementation. 
 
 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

178



Page 8 of 26 
 

Steps BOG Files Submission Cycle 

1. 
The PantherSoft (PS) Team extracts data from the PantherSoft database. 
Data is formatted according to the BOG data elements definitions and table 
layouts.  

2. The PS Team uploads data to the SUDS and runs edits.  

3. SUDS edits the data for possible errors and generates dynamic reports.  

4. Functional unit users are notified that edits are ready to be reviewed.  

5. 
Functional unit users review the edits and make any required transactional 
corrections in the PantherSoft database. 

6. 
AIM Lead/PS Team/Functional Unit users communicate by email, phone, 
or in person about any questions/issues related to the file. 

7. Steps 1 through 6 above are repeated until the freeze date. 

8. On the freeze date, a final snapshot of the production data is taken. 

9. 
The file is finalized, making sure all Level-9 (critical) errors were corrected 
or can be explained. 

10. 
AIM Lead reviews the SUDS reports, spot-checks data, and contacts 
functional unit users if there are any pending questions.  

 
Conclusion 
 

Based upon the review performed, we concluded that the data submitted to the BOG is 
properly validated prior to submission and approval and no material weaknesses were 
found in the University’s current process flows of data.  
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

179



Page 9 of 26 
 

2. System Controls Overview and Follow-up  
 
To understand the process for ensuring complete and accurate submissions, we reviewed 
the SUDS Data Dictionary, BOG methodology, and procedures applicable to the PBF 
submissions. We obtained procedures from the Office of Analysis and Information 
Management (AIM) and interviewed key personnel involved in the submission process. 
For the two metrics selected for testing: Metric 7 – Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell-
grant and Metric 10 – Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded to Minorities (see report Subsection 
No. 3, page 14, we reviewed controls around the extraction, compilation, and review of 
their data to ensure completeness and accuracy of the submission.  
 
We observed that IT system controls were in place for change management for both 
production scheduled jobs and the ad hoc generated reports, access, data quality, audit 
logging, and security. We noted that there were no significant changes since the prior 
audit. DoIT staff could make system and program changes while functional staff could 
make changes to data only through the applications, providing a separation of job 
functions. 
 
AIM implemented an annual review process, which is performed in collaboration with the 
functional areas, to limit functional unit personnel access to critical data. The annual 
review included examination of user privileges within the SUDS application and 
examination of audit log files and production data. AIM works annually with the functional 
units and the PantherSoft Security team to:  
 

 Review user accounts to ensure on-boarded and off-boarded SUDS users have 
an associated PAWS ticket and the existing users’ access match their current job 
description;  

 Review and reduce access privileges to the production environment to 
appropriately mitigate least privileged and segregation of duties risks; and  

 Review log reporting for all metric data files, where appropriate, to ensure the 
integrity of the data sent to the BOG.  
 

The areas covered during our audit are as follows: 
 

a) SUDS On-boarding and Off-boarding  
b) PantherSoft Access Control 
c) PantherSoft Audit Logs 
d) SUDS Metric Tables to BOG Reconciliation 
e) Data Modification 
f) Transfer Server Controls 

 
a) SUDS On-boarding and Off-boarding 

It is the responsibility of the individual’s supervisor or functional unit lead 
to notify the security manager when an employee no longer requires SUDS 
access. Contrary to established protocol, we observed that the AIM Data 
Analyst, initiates PAWS tickets to add, change, or remove users with 
access to SUDS. Furthermore, this process is done on an annual basis or 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

180



Page 10 of 26 
 

when AIM has knowledge of changing employment status. A delay in the 
updating of an employee’s status could increase the risk of unauthorized 
access. 
 

b) PantherSoft Access Control 
We observed there is an effective analysis performed by AIM to determine 
that functional users, PantherSoft developers, and AIM users have the 
appropriate levels of access to PantherSoft. Additional testing performed 
indicated that controls are in place to enforce segregation of duties 
between PantherSoft and SUDS.  
 

c) PantherSoft Audit Logs 
Audit logs capabilities in the production environments, as appropriate, 
increases the effectiveness of detection control to help the data 
administrator mitigate least privileges and segregation of duties risks. The 
purpose of this test was to review management implementation of a prior 
audit recommendation. The remediation stated was to: “Continue to create 
a log reporting mechanism for all metric data files, where appropriate, to 
help ensure the integrity of the data sent to the BOG”.  
 
Our testing confirmed that PantherSoft Security has developed queries that 
allow functional unit leads and AIM to identify actions that have been taken 
on relevant fields. The auditing capability is typically limited to a small 
number of specified fields due to the performance and resource intensive 
nature of audit logging. Any field that has the audit flag enabled will be 
captured in a log. The audit logs are separate tables in PantherSoft that 
cannot be modified. Any actions taken by a user on an audited field (e.g., 
logging in to the system) is recorded. The actions taken by a user can be 
reviewed by either the functional unit or the AIM team. Thus, the functional 
units are responsible for the integrity of data entered in PantherSoft. 
Similarly, PantherSoft Security is responsible for ensuring the integrity of 
the audit logs. 
 
The proprietary PeopleSoft table’s audit logging configuration can be 
deactivated after receiving an Oracle patch. Based on the annual AIM 
review documentation provided, the audit flags were disabled during the 
review of the following fields: FIU_AUD_ACADPLN and 
STDNT_ENRL_STATUS. Having disabled audit logs prevents proper 
validation and monitoring of activities to maintain information and system 
integrity. 
 

d) SUDS Metric Tables to BOG Reconciliation 
The purpose of our testing was to verify the integrity of files uploaded to 
SUDS. The test was performed by comparing production data received 
from PantherSoft (data translated to tables based on BOG guidelines) with 
data submitted to the BOG. We obtained access to the SUDS Portal and 
matched the information submitted to the BOG to the Metric translated data 
tables. The tables tested were those used for Metrics 7 and 10 (see report 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

181



Page 11 of 26 
 

Subsection No. 3, page 14): a) SFA-Financial Aid Awards; b) SIF-
Enrollment; c) SIFD-Degrees Awarded; d) SIF-Person Demographic. 
There were no exceptions noted.  
 

e) Data Modification 
When there is one or more errors in the submitted data, the functional units 
will attempt to correct those errors through PantherSoft. However, in the 
event that data cannot be corrected at the source, data modification is done 
through scripts. Before launching a script in production, it is tested in 
several deployment environments, including development, test, and 
staging, and is validated by developers and functional users at each level. 
For data modification samples selected during testing, we obtained 
evidence of an approval process through PAWS tickets. We were able to 
observe segregation of duties between AIM (requesting and approval) and 
the subsequent processing by the PantherSoft Team. However, we noted 
an absence of formally documented procedures describing internal 
controls in place to prevent and detect errors while processing scripts. Lack 
of standard operating procedures can increase ambiguity and decrease 
the clarity of the data modification process.  
 

f) Transfer Server Controls 
A UNIX share owned by the Enterprise group is used by the PantherSoft 
Team to store Performance Based Funding data prior to upload to SUDS. 
During our testing, we observed that there are several controls in place to 
ensure the integrity of data on the UNIX share: segregation of duties within 
the site, access to the share must be previously approved, and authorized 
users have “Read Only” access. In addition, notifications are used to 
communicate the success or failure of the jobs processed. SUDS edits can 
be used to indicate whether any errors were introduced between writing 
data and uploading to SUDS. However, we found a lack of formally 
documented procedures describing internal controls put in place to detect 
success or failure of data written to UNIX share that is subsequently 
transmitted to SUDS, as well as a lack of documentation for granting 
access to the UNIX share. Lack of standard operating procedures can 
increase ambiguity and decrease the clarity of controls ensuring the 
integrity of data on the UNIX share. 
 

Recommendations 
 

The Office of Analysis and Information Management should: 

1.1 Coordinate with PantherSoft Security and the functional units to timely update 
the status of employee’s roles in SUDS and PantherSoft. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

182



Page 12 of 26 
 

The PantherSoft Division of Information Technology should: 

1.2 

Perform regression testing, upon receiving Oracle patches, to ensure that 
updates have not adversely affected any existing features including audit 
logging and formally document the patch management process for PantherSoft 
and integrate it with the existing change management systems. 

1.3 
Formally document current practices used in the process of BOG submissions 
that support data modification outside of PantherSoft (via scripts) within the AIM 
BOG Process Manual. 

1.4 

Enhance jobs monitoring activities for the UNIX share by (a) Describing in the 
AIM-BOG Business Process Manual the procedures involved in detecting the 
success or failure of data written to UNIX share, which is subsequently 
transmitted to SUDS. This verification could be done via observation of job alerts 
and SUDs edits to conserve completeness and integrity of data transmitted; and 
(b) Describing in the AIM-BOG Business Process Manual the authorization 
process for users with access to UNIX share. 

 
Management Response/Action Plan: 
 
1.1 A query has been developed to include all SUDS users who have changed 

departments or separated from FIU. The results of the query will be analyzed 
monthly by AIM beginning at then of February 2020. Terminated employees will 
be removed from SUDS. For employees who have changed departments, AIM 
will contact the new department head to see if that employee still needs SUDS 
access.  In order to address other cases where the employee is in the same 
department but the employee’s responsibilities may have changed, AIM will send 
out an email every semester (starting at the end of the spring 2020 semester) to 
the respective functional unit directors and remind them of their responsibility to 
inform AIM if the access to SUDS and/or PantherSoft for their employee needs to 
be changed. If a change in access is needed, they will be asked to submit a 
change request using a PAWS ticket. 
 
Implementation date:  May 31, 2020 

 
1.2 This item has been completed. Documentation has been updated for the Oracle 

patch management process that includes testing and validation of the audit logs 
table and fields already in production. The DoIT will complete the necessary 
regression testing and validation of audit table configuration review as 
recommended by the Office of Internal Audit upon application of scheduled and 
critical patches as provided by Oracle.  

 
Implementation date:  Immediately  

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

183



Page 13 of 26 
 

1.3 This item has been completed. DoIT provided the update and AIM updated the 
BOG Process Manual to document accordingly.  

 
Implementation date:  Immediately  
 

1.4 (a) This item has been completed. BOG Process Manual has already been 
updated by DoIT describing the procedures involved (including screenshots) in 
detecting the success or failure of data written to the UNIX share. (b) This item 
has been completed. The AIM-BOG Process Manual has been updated by DoIT 
with the process for authorizing and granting access to UNIX shares.   

 
Implementation date:  Immediately  

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

184



Page 14 of 26 
 

3. Data Accuracy Testing – Performance Based Funding Metrics 
 
This is our sixth audit of the Performance Based Funding Metrics since it became effective 
in 2014. During our first-year audit, we performed data accuracy testing on all 10 metrics 
as requested by the BOG. In subsequent years’ audits, since internal controls have 
always been deemed satisfactory, we have limited our data accuracy testing to specific 
metrics and followed up on any prior year recommendations. Metrics to audit are chosen 
based on different factors: audit risk, changes to the metric, or how long it has been since 
the metric was last subject to audit. Depicted in the following table are the metrics audited 
by year. 
 

AUDIT COVERAGE OF PBF METRICS 

Audit FY Metrics 
Tested Comment 

1. 2014-15 1-10 First year; test of all metrics required by BOG 
2. 2015-16 6, 7, 8, & 10  
3. 2016-17 1, 2, 4, & 5  
4. 2017-18 3 & 9 First year of the revised Metric 3 
5. 2018-19 4 & 5 First year of the revised Metric 4 
6. 2019-20 7 & 10  

 
At the May 2018 meeting of the State University Audit Council (SUAC), the BOG Chief 
Data Officer presented a risk rating, ranging from low to high, for each PBF metric. The 
four metrics identified at the SUAC with the highest risk, either “moderately high” or 
“moderate”, were audited during the two most recent audits, without exceptions. In 
developing this year’s audit scope, since there were no prior year audit findings stemming 
from our data accuracy testing and there have been no significant changes to the metrics 
affecting this year’s audit, we determined to test Metrics 7 and 10, last audited in  
2015-16. In addition, these two metrics represented the only two metrics the University 
received the highest possible rating of “Excellence” awarding 10 points. Points are 
distributed based on a rating of either “Excellence” or “Improvement.”       
 
PBF Metrics Testing 

 
The two PBF metrics tested were as follows: 
 

 Metric 7 – Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell-grant.  
 Metric 10 – Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded to Minorities. 

 
We identified the main data files and tables related to the calculations of the two metrics 
under review, as follows:  
 

 Student Instruction file (SIF), Enrollment table;  
 Student Financial Aid (SFA), Financial Aid Awards table; and 
 Degrees Awarded file (SIFD), Degrees Awarded and Person Demographic tables.   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

185



Page 15 of 26 
 

The BOG provided us with the in-scope data elements for each of the metrics under 
review (see Appendix A – In-scope BOG Data Elements), which we used in our testing.   
 
Data accuracy for the two metrics was tested by reviewing the corresponding data files, 
tables, and elements, and by tracing them to the source document data in PantherSoft.  
Testing was limited to the PantherSoft data itself as the objective of our testing was to 
corroborate that the data submitted were in fact unabridged and identical to the data 
contained in the University’s PantherSoft system.   
 

Metrics 7 and 10 
 
The data for Metrics 7 and 10 are generated by the BOG from the Student Instruction file 
(SIF), Student Financial Aid file (SFA), and the Degrees Awarded file (SIFD) submitted 
by the University.   

 
In order to verify that the data submitted in the SIF fall 2018 file to the BOG were accurate, 
we selected a sample of 25 students and verified that the data provided to the BOG were 
the same as the data contained in PantherSoft student records. We verified the data in 
the six elements relevant to the Enrollment table (containing 58,063 students) without 
exception. In addition, we selected a separate sample of 25 students from the Annual 
2017 SFA file and likewise, verified that the data provided to the BOG were the same as 
the data contained in PantherSoft student records. We verified the data in the four 
elements relevant to the Financial Aid Awards table (containing 49,160 students) without 
exception.   
 

 
In order to verify the data submitted in the SIFD fall 2018 file to the BOG were accurate, 
we selected a sample of 30 students and verified that the data provided to the BOG were 
the same as the data contained in PantherSoft student records. We verified the data in 
the five elements relevant to the Degrees Awarded table without exception.  In addition, 
we selected a separate sample of 30 students and verified that the ethnicity/race data 
provided to BOG were the same as the data contained in PantherSoft student records.  
We verified the data in the nine elements relevant to the Person Demographic table 
without exception. 
 
 

Metric 7, University Access Rate (Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell-grant), is 
based on the number of undergraduates, enrolled during the fall term, who received a 
Pell-grant during the fall term.  Unclassified students, who are not eligible for Pell-grants, 
are excluded from this metric. 

Metric 10, Bachelor’s Degrees Awarded to Minorities, is based on the number, or 
percentage, of baccalaureate degrees granted in an academic year to Non-Hispanic 
Black and Hispanic students. This metric does not include students classified as Non-
Resident Alien or students with a missing race code. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

186



Page 16 of 26 
 

In addition, as part of our testing of the SIFD file, we reconciled the number of students 
and degrees awarded reported to the BOG with the records maintained by the Office of 
the Registrar. The SIFD file contained 5,301 degrees awarded (4,662 single degrees, 
536 single degrees with double major, 51 double degrees, and 1 single degree with a 
triple major) to 5,247 students (3 students had both a Bachelor’s degree and a second 
Bachelor’s degree with a double major). The BOG rule allows for the multiple degrees, 
not double majors, to be counted individually. Thus, double majors are counted as half 
and triple majors as thirds. Included in the 5,301 degrees awarded were 109 out-of-term 
degrees.    
 
We examined the out-of-term degrees reported to the BOG to understand why they were 
posted late. We found 109 such late postings.  Of the 109, we found that 30 pertained to 
students from the Nurse Anesthesia Program who had simultaneously earned both a 
Masters and a Doctorate degree prior to the fall 2018 term. These were identified by the 
School of Nursing management during the submittal process. It was subsequently 
determined that due to an algorithm error these nursing students’ double degrees had 
been counted as single degrees when originally reported to the BOG.  
 
As explained to us by DoIT, this was the result of the late degrees selection algorithm, 
which would normally pick up late degrees from three terms prior. Thus, any graduation 
approved and posted more than three terms after having been earned would not be 
reported to the BOG. As a result of the algorithm error found, in fall 2018, the University 
changed its late degrees selection algorithm from the standard look-back of three-terms 
prior, and examined all prior terms starting in 2015. This resulted in the additional out-of-
term degrees that had not been previously reported to the BOG.  As a result, the BOG 
was notified by the University and the students’ degrees were reported during the fall 
2018 term (submitted spring 2019). However, subsequently, the algorithm was changed 
back to the standard prior three terms.   
 
To test the reasoning for the inclusion of the other out-of-term students included, we 
examined a sample 10 other non-nursing students’ degrees posted out of term. We found 
six (6) additional cases similar to the nursing students in that they had simultaneously 
earned double degrees with only one being reported at the time of submittal to the BOG. 
As for the four (4) other cases, we found that the students’ graduation approval was 
received late from the department and posted more than three terms after earning their 
degrees: one (1) degree had been earned in fall 2017 (posted early spring 2019); one (1) 
in spring 2016 (posted fall 2017); two (2) in summer 2015 (posted in fall 2016 and fall 
2017). Since they were approved more than three terms after they were earned, the 
algorithm did not pick them up for reporting to the BOG.   
 
Furthermore, we then compared the fall 2018, and spring and summer 2019 SIFD 
submittals, examining for duplicate students. We found eight (8) students that were 
reflected on two of the submittals. Upon review, we learned that three (3) had earned 
double degrees. The remaining five (5) students earned one degree with double majors, 
with one major awarded in fall 2018 and the other major awarded in spring 2019. As a 
result, AIM requested the original degrees submitted in fall 2018 be rescinded and were 
resubmitted in spring 2019 to pick up the primary and the secondary major.     

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

187



Page 17 of 26 
 

As part of the reconciliation between the fall 2018 SIFD submittal to the BOG and the 
Office of the Registrar’s records of graduates in fall 2018, we found 54 students not 
reported to the BOG; however, 43 students were subsequently reported to the BOG in 
spring 2019 as out-of-term degrees, and another eight (8) students were reported in 
summer 2019.  Three (3) of the students remain to be reported. Since the algorithm goes 
back three terms, these three students should be picked up in the fall 2019 SIFD submittal 
as their degree dates are now posted in PantherSoft as of fall 2019.   
 
Upon discussing the issue with management, they informed us that the reconciliation 
error has since been corrected. They stated that prior to submitting the Degrees Awarded 
file in SUDS, they always ran an internal query to obtain the headcounts. The internal 
headcount was then compared to the headcounts in the SUDS site.  However, the internal 
query was pointing to the Degrees Awarded file itself. As a result, a new query was 
prepared which now compares the headcounts in the Degrees Awarded file to the degree 
headcounts in the reporting PantherSoft database.   
  
Conclusion  
 
Our testing of the SIF, SFA, and SIFD data files found no differences between the 
information submitted to BOG and the data in FIU’s system relating to the relevant 
elements for Metrics 7 and 10. However, based upon management’s own finding of 
student degrees awarded not being reported to the BOG on a timely basis, we found that 
AIM’s reconciliation of the Degrees Awarded file and the related records from the Office 
of the Registrar did not properly capture all out-of-term degrees. They have since 
corrected the deficiency in the reconciliation process.   
 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

188



Page 18 of 26 
 

4. Data Accuracy Testing – Emerging Preeminence Metrics 
 
In 2019, the University achieved eight (8) of the 12 Preeminence metrics, earning it the 
Emerging Preeminence designation. Three (3) of the eight (8) metrics are associated with 
data in the file submissions tested within the PBF Metrics: Average GPA and SAT Score, 
Freshman retention rate, and Doctoral degrees awarded annually. Therefore, we have 
determined to select three (3) of the five (5) other metrics not previously audited for testing 
during this audit, as follows: 
 
Emerging Preeminence Metrics Testing 

 
The three metrics tested were as follows: 
 

 7 – Total Amount R&D Expenditures in Non-Health Sciences 
 9 – Patents Awarded (over a 3-year period) 
 11 – Number of Post-Doctoral Appointees 

 
In October 2019, the BOG issued the Preeminent Metrics Methodology Document, which 
we used in our testing.   
 
Data accuracy for the three metrics was tested by obtaining the respective University files 
and reviewing them against the data provided to the respective organizations associated 
with each metric, e.g., the National Science Foundation (NSF) and the United States 
Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO). In addition, where applicable, we agreed the 
information to the data in PantherSoft.   
 
No. 7 - Total Amount R&D Expenditures in Non-Health Sciences 
 

 
In order to test the accuracy of the data related to R&D expenditures in non-health 
sciences, we reconciled the research expenditures data received from the BOG’s Office 
of Data & Analytics (ODA) to the data reported by the National Science Foundation (NSF), 
without exception. The NSF website reported research expenditures totaling 
$153,113,000.  We further grouped the data by cost center and tested all expenditures, 
totaling $15,600,247, from 20 cost centers selected, to ensure the expenditure was: (1) 
related to research, (2) for non-health sciences, and (3) in agreement with the amount 
reported in PantherSoft Financials. The results of our testing found no exceptions.   
 
  

No. 7, Total Amount R&D Expenditures in Non-Health Sciences. Total annual 
Science & Engineering research expenditures in diversified non-medical sciences of $150 
million or more, based on data reported annually by the NSF. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

189



Page 19 of 26 
 

No. 9 - Patents awarded (over a 3-year period) 
 

 
In order to test the accuracy of the data related to patents awarded, we compared the list 
of 126 utility patents provided by the ODA to the USPTO database listing for such patents 
from 2016-2018 without exception. We then selected and tested 10 patents, ensuring 
each qualified as a utility patent and had been awarded in the 2016-2018 period. We 
found no exceptions.   
 
No. 11 - Number of Post-Doctoral Appointees 
 

 
The 2019 Florida Legislature allowed the 2019 evaluation of this metric to be based on 
ODA’s review of the annual NSF/National Institute of Health annual Survey of Graduate 
Students and Postdoctorates in Science and Engineering (“GSS”) reporting fall 2017 
data.   
 
In order to test the accuracy of the data related to post-doctoral appointees, we obtained 
the listing of post-doctoral appointees for fall 2017, totaling 222. From the listing, we 
selected 10 appointees to determine if the post-doctoral appointee worked in the science, 
engineering, or health fields, and to ensure the data agreed with the information obtained 
from the PantherSoft Human Resources database for fall 2017 and that the appointee 
qualified for such appointment. We found no exceptions.        
 
Conclusion  
 
Our testing of the data for the Emerging Preeminence metrics tested found that the data 
provided complies with the definitions and methodology for the Preeminence metrics as 
outlined in the BOG’s Preeminent Metrics Methodology Document.  
  

No. 9, Patents Awarded. One hundred or more total patents awarded by the United 
States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) for the most recent 3-year period. 

No. 11, Number of Post-Doctoral Appointees. Two hundred or more postdoctoral 
appointees annually, as reported in the TARU annual report. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

190



Page 20 of 26 
 

5. PBF Data File Submissions and Resubmissions 
 
Data File Submissions  
 
To ensure the timely submission of data, AIM used the due date schedule provided by 
the BOG as part of the SUS data workshop to keep track of the files due for submission 
and their due dates.  AIM also maintains a schedule for each of the files to be submitted, 
which includes meeting dates with the functional unit leads, file freeze date, file due date, 
and actions (deliverables) for each date on the schedule.  We used data received directly 
from the BOG-IRM Office in addition to data provided by AIM to review the timeliness of 
actual submittals.   
 
The following table and related notes, where applicable, reflect the original due dates and 
original submission dates of all relevant Performance Based Funding Metrics files during 
the audit period:  
 

File File 
Submission Period 

Original 
Due Date 
Including 

Extensions 

Original 
Submission 

Date 

ADM Admissions Summer 2018 09/14/2018 09/14/2018 
SIF Student Instruction Summer 2018 09/25/2018 09/25/2018 

ADM Admissions Fall 2018 10/10/2018 10/10/2018 
SFA Student Financial Aid Annual 2017 10/04/2018 10/04/2018 
SIFD Degrees Awarded Summer 2018 10/04/2018 10/04/2018 

SIFP 
Student Instruction 

Preliminary Fall 2018 10/17/2018 10/17/2018 
IRD Instruction & Research Annual 2017 10/23/2018 10/23/2018 
EA Expenditure Analysis Annual 2017 10/30/2018 10/30/2018 

HTD Hours to Degree Annual 2017 11/07/2018 11/07/2018 
SIF Student Instruction Fall 2018 01/23/2019 01/23/2019 
RET Retention Annual 2017 01/30/2019 01/30/2019 
SIFD Degrees Awarded* Fall 2018 02/01/2019 02/08/2019 
ADM Admissions Spring 2019 03/01/2019 03/01/2019 
SIF Student Instruction Spring 2019 06/12/2019 06/12/2019  

SIFD Degrees Awarded** Spring 2019 06/26/2018 06/28/2019 
* Management informed us that the Fall 2018 Degrees Awarded file (SIFD) was submitted seven days 

late due to communication and technical issues. Guidance was requested from the BOG because of 
errors generated upon submission, but the response was not received by the due date. Furthermore, 
the University experienced technical issues, as the institutional edits would not run properly. 

**Management explained that the Spring 2019 Degrees Awarded file (SIFD) could not be submitted until 
the Student Instruction file (SIF) was officially approved by the BOG.  Due to the required resubmission 
of the SIF file (see No. 6 in Data File Resubmissions, page 22), this caused the SIFD file to be submitted 
two days late.  

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

191



Page 21 of 26 
 

Data File Resubmissions 
 
We obtained the list of resubmissions since the last audit from the BOG-IRM staff. The 
Data Administrator described the nature and frequency of the six required resubmissions 
and provided correspondence between the BOG and the University related to the data 
resubmissions. AIM examined the correspondence to identify lessons learned and to 
determine whether any future actions can be taken that would reduce the need for 
resubmissions.   
 
The Data Administrator has acknowledged that although their goal is to prevent any 
resubmissions, they are needed in cases where inconsistencies in data are detected by 
either University or BOG staff after the file has been submitted. According to her, a 
common reason for not detecting an error before submission is that some inconsistencies 
only arise when the data are cross-validated among multiple files.  
 
In regards to the frequency of the resubmissions, a list was provided by the BOG-IRM 
staff for all files submitted pertaining to the 10 PBF metrics.  For files with due dates 
between October 1, 2018, and August 31, 2019, the University submitted 15 files to the 
BOG with five (5) files requiring resubmissions (one file was resubmitted twice).   
 
The following table describes the five files resubmitted and AIM’s reason for the 
resubmission. 

 

 File 
Submission Period Original 

Due Date 
Original 

Submission 
Date 

Resubmission 
Date 

No.
1 Admissions  Fall 2018 10/10/2018 10/10/2018 02/18/2019 
 AIM Reason for Resubmission:  We received an email from BOG requesting for the file to 

be reviewed, particularly in reference to test scores.  We ultimately discovered an error in the 
submission. There is a flag in the file that needed to be changed to report all test scores (from 
N to Y), not just those test scores used for admissions purposes. 

 
 Instruction & 

Research  Annual 2017 10/23/2018 10/23/2018 11/19/2018 
No.
2 

AIM Reason for Resubmission:  The BOG added a new element called BOG JOB to all files 
containing HR data.  All employees had to be categorized under one of these 13 BOG JOB 
categories. There were 5,504 records for which the DoIT extract program did not assign a 
BOG JOB value in the 2017-18 IRD File. Unfortunately, this did not come up as an error in any 
of the edit reports and was not detected by our internal data verification procedures.  When 
alerted of this omission by the BOG, AIM worked with DoIT to correct this error.  AIM and DoIT 
have taken actions to ensure that verifying the correct mapping of this element is part of our 
routine data validation processes. 

 
 

 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

192



Page 22 of 26 
 

 File 
Submission Period Original 

Due Date 
Original 

Submission 
Date 

Resubmission 
Date 

No.
3 Hours to Degree  Annual 2017 11/07/2018 11/07/2018 11/30/2018 

 AIM Reason for Resubmission:  The BOG requested the resubmission due to students that 
were not included in the original file and listed in the HTDNOMATCH report.  Upon review, 
students were awarded a second major, which allows removal from HTD. However, BOG 
required clean-up of the record at their database as well as resubmission of HTD.  Also, the 
BOG handled the corrections differently for this submissions cycle than in previous years. 

 
 

 Retention Annual 2017 01/30/2019 01/30/2019 02/20/2019 
03/08/2019 

Nos.
4 

and 
5 

AIM Reason for Resubmission:  (02/20/2019) There was an error is SUDS system database 
accepting original file.  There was a student missing a PersonDemo at their end.  This resulted 
in us having to resubmit the file with a PersonDemo record. (03/08/2019) The BOG requested 
for comparable exclusions be applied to non-affected cohorts. The cohort being evaluated was 
CH 2014 while the non-affected cohort was CH 2013.      

 
 Student Instruction  Spring 2019 06/12/2019 06/12/2019 06/27/2019 

No.
6 

AIM Reason for Resubmission:  The BOG requested a more detailed review of Student 
Credit Hours reported as continuing education but not self-supporting.  We worked with FIU's 
Office of Financial Planning and discovered that some of the data was incorrectly categorized.  
As a result, the student credit hours had to be updated and reported as self-supporting and 
the file was resubmitted on 06/27/2019. 

 
As a result of the increase in resubmissions from the prior two audits issued in fiscal years 
2018/2019 and 2017/2018, we inquired of the Data Administrator as to the reasons for 
the increase, and she provided us the following statement: 
 

While both AIM and DoIT continuously monitor our data validation 
processes and look for opportunities to improve data accuracy and avoid 
resubmissions, there have been several changes in personnel and 
business processes, both at FIU and at the BOG, that have led to an 
increase in resubmissions in the past year. Specific reasons for 
resubmissions included the BOG staff giving us the wrong instructions, 
inconsistency in the BOG internal review processes, and BOG staff not 
responding to our inquiries in a timely manner. These issues are 
compounded by the fact that some errors cannot be detected locally 
because the fields are derived by the BOG programs and the raw values 
are not available to us.  Similarly, some file errors only surface once the 
BOG accepts the file and merges the FIU data with the SUS system data. 
In addition, the BOG changed their business processes. Items that could be 
explained previously [via email], now require resubmission. Further, the 
level of review the BOG places on a file changes from one semester to the 
other. This inconsistency has resulted in the BOG asking us new things they 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

193



Page 23 of 26 
 

did not ask before and for which there are no edits or reports in their system 
that can detect the errors. There have also been changes in personnel in 
FIU functional areas leading to slower turnaround time and inconsistent 
validation of data.  

 
Furthermore, we inquired as to whether any steps had been taken to reduce/prevent the 
number of resubmissions in the future and the Data Administrator provided us the 
following list: 

  

Efforts Taken by AIM to Prevent Resubmission 
 Review and document email chains between BOG, AIM and DoIT to make sure 

documented issues from the past have been investigated to ensure they are not 
re-occurring. 

 Review of current logic with DoIT to make any necessary adjustments to prevent 
future occurrences of the same issues that cause errors. 

 Creation of new queries and reports to check for things we now know are an issue. 
 Requesting from the BOG that they inform AIM of any additional checks or data 

validation done on their end that are not part of existing error reports.  
 AIM hired a new employee whose duties will cover the manual processes and 

follow up with functional units, so other employees can focus more of their time on 
analytics and cross-validation. 

 We are working with the BOG and DoIT to attempt to replicate internally the logic 
used to calculate the BOG derived elements and incorporate into the PantherSoft 
edit tools.  

 FIU and other data administrators formed a committee to review data elements for 
particular files to ensure that we are providing information that is consistent with 
the other SUS universities and accurately reflect what the BOG wants. We are 
beginning with the HTD file. 

 

Efforts Taken by DoIT to Prevent Resubmission 
 Replication of queries and reports sent in prior years by the BOG to run for future 

submissions. 
 Translate programming code technicalities into pseudo business language for 

better understanding by AIM and other functional users. 
 Share program logic with AIM technical team for cross-validation. This was 

particularly helpful to develop the enhancement that lead to reporting old/missing 
late degrees that were delayed in being posted. 

 PantherSoft Team hired a new resource to assist in the technical preparation of 
the BOG files. 

 Replicate the logic used to calculate the BOG derived elements and insert into 
reserved/internal fields. 

 Advise AIM on edits that do not currently exist that could be suggested to the BOG 
for implementation as Level 9 or Level 5 errors.  

 Translate and recreate SUDS-platform-specific SQL (structured query language) 
sent by the BOG in our PantherSoft database in order to produce equivalent 
reports for AIM’s analysis. 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

194



Page 24 of 26 
 

Conclusion  
 
Our review disclosed, that even though the process used by the Data Administrator 
provides reasonable assurance that complete, accurate, and for the most part timely 
submissions occurred, the increased number of resubmissions this year was the result of 
changes in processes at FIU and the BOG, along with personnel turnover and other 
issues not considered systemic in nature. Furthermore, all the reasons for the 
resubmissions continue to be addressed as noted by the Data Administrator’s list of 
efforts taken to reduce/prevent resubmittals above. Notwithstanding the increase in the 
number of resubmittals, we noted no reportable material weaknesses or significant control 
deficiencies related to data file submissions or resubmissions.  
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

195



Page 25 of 26 
 

6. Review of University Initiatives 
 
We obtained the following list of the University initiatives that are meant to bring the 
University’s operations and practices in line with SUS Strategic Plan goals: 
 

 Implemented E&G revenue reallocation model; 
 Implemented faculty reallocation model for academic units; 
 Provided greater access to on-demand analytics relevant to the metrics; 
 Implemented student level graduation benchmarking; 
 Implemented student attendance and midterm progress monitoring and 

outreach; 
 Integration of career and academic advising; 
 Strategic enrollment planning and course scheduling optimization via Noel Levitz 

and Platinum Analytics; 
 Created an Office of Scholarships and Academic Program Partners to support 

all colleges in their efforts to apply foundation scholarship funds to student 
success and enrollment goals;  

 Expanded merit scholarship opportunities and initiated two new scholarships – 
“Jumpstart FIU” and “Panther Achievement Award”; 

 Implemented centralized coordination and local deployment for student 
recruitment efforts; and 

 Established centralized retention, graduation, and student success outreach. 
 

University senior management also states that they are in the process of establishing 
much greater central oversight and control of the scheduling and course offering practices 
and policies. 

 
Conclusion 
 
None of the initiatives provided appear to have been made for the purposes of artificially 
inflating performance goals. 
 
 

 
 
 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

196



Page 26 of 26 
 

APPENDIX A 
In-Scope BOG Data Elements 

No. Metric Definition Submission/Table/Element 
Information 

Relevant 
Submission 

7 
 

University 
Access 

Rate 
 

Percent of 
Undergraduates 
with a Pell-grant 

 

This metric is based the number of 
undergraduates, enrolled during 
the fall term, who received a Pell-
grant during the fall term. 
Unclassified students, who are not 
eligible for Pell-grants, were 
excluded from this metric.  
This metric is based the number of 
undergraduates, enrolled during 
the fall term, who received a Pell-
grant during the fall term. 
Unclassified students, who are not 
eligible for Pell-grants, were 
excluded from this metric.  
 

Submission:  SIF 
Table:  Enrollments  
Elements:   
02041  – Demo Time Frame 
01045  – Reporting University 
01413  – Student at Most Recent 

Admission Type 
01060 –  Student Classification Level 
01053 –  Degree Level Sought 
01107 –  Fee Classification Kind 
 

Summer 2018 
 

Fall 2018 
 

Spring 2019 
 
 

Submission:  SFA 
Table:  Financial Aid Awards 
Elements:   
01045  –  Reporting University 
02040  –  Award Payment Term 
02037  –  Term Amount 
01253  –  Financial Aid Award Program 

Identifier 

Annual 2017  

10 Bachelor's 
Degrees 

Awarded to 
Minorities (BOT 

Metric) 

This metric is the number, or 
percentage, of baccalaureate 
degrees granted in an academic 
year to Non-Hispanic Black and 
Hispanic students. This metric 
does not include students 
classified as Non-Resident Alien 
or students with a missing race 
code. 
 

Submission: SIFD 
Table:  Degrees Awarded 
Elements: 
01082 –  Degree Program Category 
01083 –  Degree Program Fraction of 

Degree Granted (This field is a 
summed field) 

01045 –  Reporting Institution 
01412 –  Term Degree Granted 
01081 –  Degree Level Granted 

Summer 2018 
 

Fall 2018 
 

Spring 2019 
 

   Submission: SIF 
Table:  Person Demographic 
Elements: 

01044 – Racial/Ethnic Group 
01491 – Hispanic or Latino 
01492 – American Indian/Alaska 

Native  
01493 – Asian 
01494 – Black or African American 
01495 – Native Hawaiian or Other 

Pacific Islander 
01496 – White 
02043 – Non – resident Alien Flag 
01497 – No Race Reported  

Summer 2018 
 

Fall 2018 
 

Spring 2019 
 

Definition Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

197



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

198



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

199



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

200



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

201



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

202



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

203



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

204



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

205



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

206



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

207



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

208



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

209



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

210



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

211



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

212



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

213



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

214



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

215



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

216



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

217



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

218



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

219



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

220



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

221



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

222



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

223



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

224



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

225



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

226



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

227



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

228



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

229



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

230



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

231



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

232



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

233



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

234



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

235



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

236



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

237



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

238



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

239



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

240



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

241



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

242



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

243



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

244



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

245



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

246



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

247



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

248



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

249



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

250



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

251



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

252



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

253



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

254



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

255



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

256



NEW COLLEGE OF FLORIDA BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Meeting Date:  February 25, 2020 

 
 

SUBJECT:  Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Agreed-Upon 
Procedures Audit and Certification Representations 

 
 

 
PROPOSED BOARD ACTION 

 
Accept the Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Agreed-Upon Procedures Audit Report 
Memorandum dated February 17, 2020 and authorize Chairman Schulaner and President O’Shea to 
execute the Data Integrity Certification Representations document. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
The integrity of data provided to the Board of Governors by each SUS institution is critical to the 
performance based funding decision-making process. In accordance with June 18, 2019 
correspondence received from Board of Governors’ Chairman Ned Lautenbach, President O’Shea and 
BOT Audit Committee Chairman Schulaner directed that a Data Integrity Audit be conducted by the 
College’s independent audit firm, Mauldin & Jenkins, to: 

 
1) Determine whether the processes established by the College ensure the completeness, 

accuracy and timeliness of data submissions to the Board of Governors that support 
performance funding metrics; and, 

 
2) Provide an objective basis of support for the College’s President and Board of Trustees’ 

Chairman to sign the representations made in the Performance Based Funding – Data 
Integrity Certification to be submitted to the Board of Governors by March 1, 2020. 

 
The Audit Committee approved Mauldin & Jenkins’ Agreed-Upon Procedures engagement at its 
meeting on June 8, 2019. The engagement was performed in accordance with attestation standards 
established by the American Institute of Certified Public. The planning, fieldwork, and reporting were 
consistent with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing as 
published by the Institute of Internal Auditors.  
 

  
 
 

Supporting Documentation Included: 
Memorandum from CAE/CCO Stier dated February 17, 2020 
Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Agreed-Upon Procedures Audit dated January 24, 2020 
Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Certification Form 
Florida Board of Governors’ Letter dated June 18, 2019 

 
Facilitators/Presenters: CAE/CCO Stier 

 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

257



 

     INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES 
 

 
 

 
Date: February 17, 2020 
 
To:  New College of Florida Board of Trustees 
  President O’Shea 
 
From: Barbara Stier, CAE/CCO 
 
Subject: Summary of new College of Florida’s Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Agreed-

Upon Procedures Audit 
 

The Integrity of data provided to the Board of Governors by each SUS institution is critical to the 
performance based funding decision-making process.  In accordance with June 18, 2019 correspondence 
received from Board of Governors’ Chairman Ned Lautenbach, President O’Shea and Chairman 
Schulaner directed that a Data Integrity Audit be conducted to: 
 

1) Determine whether the processes established by the College ensure the completeness, accuracy 
and timeliness of data submissions to the Board of Governors that support performance funding 
metrics; and, 
 

2) Provide an objective basis of support for the College’s President and Board of Trustees’ 
Chairman to sign the representations made in the Performance Based Funding – Data Integrity 
Certification to be submitted to the Board of Governors by March 1, 2020. 

 
 

Chairman Lautenbach’s correspondence directed the Chair of the Board of Trustee and the Chief Audit 
Executive to set the scope and objectives.  It was decided to retain the scope and objectives established 
in the previous year. 

 
Audit Findings 

 
There were no findings identified from the agreed-upon procedures completed by Mauldin & Jenkins.  
However, there was an issue identified from 2019-20-01 Alternative Admissions and Career Seminar 
Internal Audit report that may impact Performance Funding.  The reason the Mauldin & Jenkins agreed-
upon procedures report did not identify this issue is because Metric 1 is calculated by the Board of 
Governors using the NCF graduate submission file.  Mauldin & Jenkins tested the graduate submission 
file and found no issues. 
 
Background Information –  
One of the pledges that President O’Shea made in January 2016 to meet Governor Scott’s “Ready, Set, 
Work” Challenge to reach 100% fulltime employment (or graduate school enrollment) within one year 
for graduates in our two most popular majors of Psychology and General Studies (including Humanities, 
Natural Sciences, and Social Sciences) was to enroll graduates without jobs in these majors in the NCF 
career seminar on an opt-out basis.  That is, the seminar would be advertised to all students graduating in 
these majors, they would be enrolled in the course, and encouraged to take it.  If they did not want to 
take it, they could opt out. It was also assumed that they would be dropped automatically if they did not 
participate at all.  2019-20-01 Alternative Admissions and Career Seminar Internal Audit report has 
more detail concerning this process. 
 
Enrolling students using an opt out method may impact Metric 1 of the Performance-Based Funding 
Model. Metric 1 measures the % of graduated students that are enrolled or employed.  In order to get 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

258



Metric 1 scores, NCF uploads information concerning students that are graduating (SIFD – Degrees 
Awarded) to the BOG.  The BOG is responsible for calculating the final score of Metric 1 using various 
resources.  To verify enrollment, the BOG uses National Student Clearinghouse records to determine 
whether a student was enrolled again anywhere in the US within 14 months after graduation. 
 
An analysis was performed to determine if NCF received Performance-Based funds with the help of a 
Metric 1 score.  NCF has only received Performance-Based funds twice since the inception of the 
Performance-Based Funding Model.  The first time was on June 2017 which was before the data from 
the career seminar would be used.  The second time was June 2019.  However, NCF had the lowest 
score of all the SUS and Metric 1 had a score of one.  A score of one for Metric 1 means that NCF had at 
least 52.3% to 54.5% of graduates employed earning at least $25k per year and/or continuing their 
education. 
 
Finding –  
NCF has not received performance based funding in the past resulting from opt-out enrolment in the 
career seminar.  However, the practice of enrolling students in the career seminar in an opt-out basis 
may result in an inflated Metric 1 score unless students who did not to participate in the seminar were 
administratively dropped from the course.  Hence, Performance-Based funds awarded in 2020 and 2021 
could be impacted by this practice. Performance-Based funds awarded in 2020 will look at students that 
graduated in Spring 2018 and funds awarded in 2021 will look at Spring 2019 graduates. 
 
Since the BOG is responsible for calculating this metric, the SUS Inspector General’s office was notified 
on January 15, 2020 of this issue.  Also, the Performance-Based Funding Internal Audit due to the BOG 
by March 1, 2020 and the certification signed by the BOT chair and President will reference this issue. 
 
Risk –  
NCF could receive Performance-Based funds that we should not receive.  
 
Recommendation –  
Management should ensure that information provided to the National Student Clearinghouse reflects the 
students that are withdrawn from the career seminar for lack of participation.  This may provide a more 
accurate Metric 1 score for NCF. 
 
Management Response:       Agree/Disagree:    Agree 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conclusion 
 

In our opinion, based upon the work performed, the internal controls, processes and procedures in all 
material respects are functioning in a reliable manner to ensure completeness, accuracy, and timeliness 
of data submissions and meet Board of Governors’ certification objectives with the exception of internal 
controls related to Metric 1. 
 
Enclosure: Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Agreed-Upon Procedures Audit issued    

January 24, 2020 
 Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Certification Form 
 Florida Board of Governors’ Letter dated June 18, 2019  

 
 

Management Action Plan: 
 
We will work with the Registrar’s Office to ensure that the report to the National Student 
Clearinghouse will take into account the students that are withdrawn for lack of participation. 
 
Responsible Party:   Brad Thiessen, Chief of Staff 
Target Date:  May 1, 2020 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

259



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NEW COLLEGE OF FLORIDA 
INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT  

ON APPLYING 
AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

260



NEW COLLEGE OF FLORIDA 
INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT  

ON APPLYING 
AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

 
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019 

 
 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
     Page 
 
INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON APPLYING  
   AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES  ................................................................................................................ 1 
 
Report   ............................................................................................................................................................. 2 
 
Attachment I Metric Related Submissions Testing ................................................................................... 10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

261



 

1401 MANATEE AVENUE WEST, SUITE 1200 • BRADENTON, FLORIDA 34205 • 941-747-4483 • 855-891-0070 • FAX 941-747-6035 
MEMBERS OF THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS • www.mjcpa.com 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON APPLYING 
AGREED-UPON PROCEDURES 

  
 
Board of Trustees 
New College of Florida 
Sarasota, Florida  34243 
 
We have performed the procedures enumerated below, which were agreed to by the Board of Trustees of 
New College of Florida (the “College”), solely to assist the College in determining whether the College 
has processes established to ensure the completeness, accuracy and timeliness of data submissions to 
the Board of Governors (the “BOG”) which support the Performance Funding Metrics of the College as of 
September 30, 2019. The College is responsible for all processes and procedures related to the 
complete, accurate and timely submission of data to the BOG. This agreed-upon procedures engagement 
was performed in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. The sufficiency of these procedures is solely the responsibility of the parties specified 
in this report. Consequently, we make no representation regarding the sufficiency of the procedures 
described below either for the purpose for which this report has been requested or for any other purpose. 
 
Our procedures and findings were as follows: 
 
We reviewed all of the BOG submissions relating to the Performance Funding Metrics identified and 
published by the State University System of Florida (the “SUS”) specific to the certification. See 
Attachment I for a listing of the submissions tested as provided by the College to us.  
 

a) Verify the appointment of the Data Administrator by the College President and that duties related 

to these responsibilities are incorporated into the Data Administrator’s official position description. 

 

1. Review the Data Administrator’s position description; note details of the description, paying 
special attention to responsibilities related to coordinating the gathering of data from 
departmental sources, quality assurance procedures applied and other data integrity checks 
prior to submission to the BOG. 

2. Determine if the Data Administrator was appointed by the President.   
3. Conclude on whether the Institutional Data Administrator’s responsibilities include the 

requirements identified in BOG Regulation 3.007, SUS Management Information System. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

262



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 2 
 

 

Procedures Performed 
 
 Reviewed the Position Description for the Director of Institutional Research and Assessment 

effective February 14, 2007. Verified description included the requirements identified in the 
BOG Regulation 3.007.   

 Reviewed the original appointment for the Director of Institutional Research by the President 
dated July 11, 2003.  

 Observed the State University Database System (the “SUDS”) submission screen and the 
“Submit for Approval” button that represents the College’s certification of complying with BOG 
Regulation 3.007.  

 Reviewed current organizational chart available via the President’s office, and discussed the 
Institutional Research and Assessment structure with the Director. 

 
Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 
 

b) Review the processes used by the Data Administrator to ensure the completeness, accuracy and 

timely submission of data to the Board of Governors.  

 

1. Interview the Data Administrator and other key data managers to understand the internal 
processes in place to gather, test and ensure that only valid data, as defined by the BOG, is 
timely submitted to the BOG. 

2. Identify and evaluate key processes over data input and submission. Consider evaluating the 
processes from the point of incoming information to the submission of the data file to the 
BOG. 

3. Review internal records such as time management schedules and relevant correspondence 
which purport to demonstrate that complete and accurate data is timely submitted to the BOG 
(See due dates addressed in the SUS data workshop).  

4. According to BOG Regulation 3.007, prior to submitting the file, the universities shall ensure 
the file is consistent with the criteria established in the specifications document by performing 
tests on the file using applications/processes provided by the BOG Information Resource 
Management (IRM) office. Review process for timely and accurately addressing data file error 
reports. 

5. Evaluate the results and document your conclusion on the Data Administrator’s processes.  
 
Procedures Performed 
 
 Interviewed the following people who have significant responsibility for the data being 

reported and submitted to the BOG: 
 

 Director of Institutional Research and Assessment, Office of Institutional Research and 
Assessment; 

 Director of Administrative Computing, Office of Information Technology; 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

263



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 3 
 

 

 Controller, Business Office; 
 Registrar, Office of the Registrar; 
 Associate Dean of Enrollment Services and Director of Admissions, Office of Admissions 

and Financial Aid; 
 Director of Financial Aid, Office of Admissions and Financial Aid. 

 
 For those interviewed, we discussed key internal controls and processes in place over data 

input, Banner access, SLATE (the Admission Department’s recruitment software) access 
(when applicable), State University Database System (SUDS) access, validation tables, data 
submission procedures, error resolution, staff training, and other controls specific to the 
department and submission of accurate and timely data. Reviewed the metrics specific to 
each department to ensure controls are in place and a clear understanding exists to ensure 
only valid data is being submitted based on the data definitions. 

 Reviewed the Recurring Reporting Calendar created by the Office of Information Technology 
and maintained by the Institutional Research and Assessment Department (IRA) which is 
sent to department heads annually when the BOG submission schedule is produced. These 
calendar events detail the upcoming submissions due during the year to the BOG and who is 
responsible for the data being submitted. Department heads review the data requests and 
are responsible to ensure the data is accurate and ready for timely submission. 

 Reviewed submission schedule maintained by the IRA department. 
 Verified submission files tested were submitted by the due date as published by the State 

University System of Florida (SUS) and identified on the SUDS website. 
 Tested the submission file criteria definitions used by the College to ensure they meet the 

data definitions published by the SUS. 
 Obtained the data definition tables from the SUDS website and verified tables documented in 

the College processes agreed to the SUDS tables. 
 Reviewed processes over testing and validating data submissions and procedures for the 

resolution of errors prior to the final submission.   
 

Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 
 

c) Evaluate any available documentation including policies, procedures and desk manuals of 

appropriate staff; and assess their adequacy for ensuring data integrity for College data 

submissions to the Board of Governors.  
 

1. Request the Data Administrator provide its policies, procedures, minutes of meetings, and 
any other written documentation used as resources to ensure data integrity; note whether 
these documents are sufficiently detailed, up-to-date and distributed to appropriate staff.  

2. Evaluate the results and document your conclusion.  
 
 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

264



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 4 
 

 

Procedures Performed 
 
 Discussed key processes with those interviewed to ensure procedures are in place to ensure 

data accuracy for their department. 
 Ensured each department, that is key to the submission process, had written policy and 

procedures regarding data they are responsible for.   
 
Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 
 

d) Review system access controls and user privileges to evaluate if they are properly assigned and 

periodically reviewed to ensure only those authorized to make data changes do so.  
 

1. Obtain a list of individuals that have access to SUDS.   
2. Obtain the definitions for the roles in the SUDS system. http://www.flbog.edu/ 

resources/ditr/suds/_doc/userguide.pdf 
3. Review the procedures to grant system access and/or initiate, monitor and cancel user 

privileges.   
4. Perform a test of system access controls and/or user privileges to determine if only 

appropriate employees have access or need the privilege. 
5. Consider other IT systems and related system access controls or user privileges that may 

impact the data elements used for each measure reviewed. 
6. Evaluate the results and conclude on the reasonableness of procedures and practices in 

place for the setup and maintenance of system access, specifically addressing employees 
with SUDS access.  
 

Procedures Performed 
 
 Obtained a current listing of all those individuals who have access to the SUDS system from 

the BOG’s application portal manager.   
 Obtained the role definitions in the SUDS system for each type of user. 
 Discussed procedures with the Director of Institutional Research and Assessment for 

granting access to the SUDS system and monitoring to ensure user privileges are terminated 
in a timely manner. Verified only she has administrative authority to change users in the 
system. 

 Reviewed user listing and discussed with the Director of Institutional Research and 
Assessment to ensure only personnel that need access have access to the SUDS system 
and only a limited number have the ability to submit data.   

 Reviewed Banner access/termination procedures with each department listed in section b. 

and ensured procedures are in place for authorization of adding a new user and timeliness of 
terminating personnel access. 

 Verified email is sent to Data Custodians on a semi-annual basis requesting them to review 
Banner users for their department to ensure access is proper and needed. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

265



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 5 
 

 

 Selected a sample of four (4) users to verify proper authorization was obtained for the user to 
be added to Banner and verified employee requires access for their job duties.  

 Reviewed SLATE access/termination procedures with the Associate Dean of Enrollment 
Services and Director of Admissions in the Office of Admissions and Financial Aid and 
ensured procedures are in place for authorization of adding a new user and timeliness of 
terminating personnel access. 

 Reviewed the October 2019 SLATE user listing. 
 Verified that only the Acting Director of Operations has access to add new users. 
 Selected a sample of four (4) users to verify proper authorization was obtained for the user to 

be added to SLATE and verified employee requires access for their job duties. 
 
Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 
 

e) Testing of data accuracy.  
 

1. Identify and evaluate data validity controls to ensure that data extracted from the primary 
systems of record are accurate and complete. This may include review of controls over code 
used to create the data submission. Review each measure’s definition and calculation for the 
consistency of data submissions with the data definitions and guidance provided by the BOG.   

2. As appropriate, select samples from data the College has submitted to the BOG for its 
Performance Funding Model. Vouch selected data to original source documents (this will 
most likely include the College’s student and financial systems used to capture relevant 
information).  

3. Evaluate the results of the testing and conclude on the completeness and accuracy of the 
submissions examined. 
 

Procedures Performed 
  

 For each submission file listed in Attachment I, we performed the following procedures for the 
specific metrics identified in the Performance Funding Metrics published by the SUS: 

 
 Obtained complete submission file for time period being tested; 
 Selected a sample size of thirty (30) data items to test for each file submission and each 

metric specific to the performance funding testing; 
 Verified data reported in the submission files specific to the metrics identified by the SUS 

agreed to the source system Banner; 
 Verified the data reported for each metric agreed with the SUDS data dictionary. 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

266



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 6 
 

 

 To determine the completeness of the files being submitted, we performed the following 
procedures: 

 
 For each term and reported time frame, we obtained a file which was extracted from 

Banner and compared to submission files extracted by the Institutional Research and 
Analysis department. For each comparison we identified any person that was on the 
Banner report that was not in the file submission. We then selected a sample size based 
on the size of the file and errors returned and verified the student was properly omitted 
for the specific submission based on the current data definitions.  Selected files and 
corresponding sample sizes are as follows: 
 
1. All students enrolled were compared to the Student Instruction files (SIF) submitted. 

No differences were identified. 
2. All students who received Pell grants were compared to the Student Financial Aid 

(SFA) files submitted.  Two (2) differences were identified and reconciled. 
3. All students who had a degree awarded were compared to the Degrees Awarded 

(SIFD) files submitted.  No differences were identified. 
4. All students admitted were compared to the Admissions (ADM) files submitted.  No 

findings were identified. 
 

Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 

 
f) Evaluate the veracity of the College Data Administrator’s data submission statements that 

indicate, “I certify that this file/data represents the position of this College for the term being 

reported.”  

 

1. Interview the College Data Administrator to consider the reasonableness of the various 
coordination efforts with the Data Administrator’s staff, the other Data Custodians' staff, BOG 
IRM, and other knowledgeable individuals which form the basis for personal and professional 
satisfaction that data submitted to the BOG is complete, accurate and submitted timely.  

2. Inquire how the Data Administrator knows the key controls are in place and operating 
effectively.  If not already done, consider verifying these key controls are in place and 
adequate to support the Data Administrator’s assertions. 

 
Procedures Performed 
 
 Interviewed personnel listed in section b. and verified communication with the Institutional 

Research and Assessment department is on-going and clear to ensure accurate and timely 
data submission. Also, verified the Data Administrator understands the key controls specific 
to the metrics being tested and that they are functioning. 

 Verified with the Director of Institutional Research and Assessment her communication with 
the BOG and IRM to ensure data being submitted meets the data definitions. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

267



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 7 
 

 

Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 
 

g) Review the consistency of data submissions with the data definitions and guidance provided by 

the Board of Governors through the Data Committee and communications from data workshops.  
 

1. Evaluate the College’s procedures for periodically obtaining and communicating definitions 
and due dates as provided by the BOG through the Data Committee and communications 
from data workshops. 

2. Verify with the College Data Administrator that the most current data file definitions are used 
as a basis for preparation of data to be submitted to the BOG. 

3. Review SUDS most recent cumulative release notes and workshop agendas. 
http://www.flbog.edu/resources/ditr/suds/ 

4. Request evidence of the most recent formal staff training/workshops, internal discussions or 
communications with other responsible employees and the BOG Data Committee necessary 
to ensure the overall integrity of data to be submitted to the BOG. 

5. Conclude as to the consistency of the submissions. 
 
Procedures Performed 
 
 Reviewed the Recurring Reporting Calendar created by the Office of Information Technology 

and maintained by the IRA department sent to department heads. These calendar events 
detail the upcoming submissions due in the next year to the BOG and who is responsible for 
the data being submitted. Department heads review the data requests and are responsible to 
ensure the data is accurate and ready for timely submission. 

 Obtained the most recent data definition tables on the SUDS website and verified data 
definitions outlined in the file processes agreed to the SUDS data tables. 

 Verified the Institutional Research and Assessment Department’s process of communication 
to department heads of the data definitions and any new or changed metric.  

 Obtained the SUDS release notes and workshop agenda’s during the testing period and 
verified any changes were properly incorporated into the data file submissions. 

 Reviewed staff training with each personnel interviewed as listed in section b. in relation to 
both Banner and SUDS security and knowledge training.   

 Our testing was performed on all file submissions with due dates from October 1, 2018 
through September 30, 2019, for the specific metrics tested to review for consistency among 
data submissions. 

 
Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

268



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 8 
 

 

h) Review the College Data Administrator’s data resubmissions to the Board of Governors with a 

view toward ensuring these resubmissions are both necessary and authorized. This review 

should also evaluate how to minimize the need for data resubmissions.  
 

1. Interview the College Data Administrator about the types and quantity of recent data 
resubmissions and the level(s) of approvals necessary for corrective action.   

2. Request and examine any correspondence between the College and the BOG IRM office 
related to data resubmissions that pertain to the performance metrics.  Determine if these 
resubmissions problems tend to be reoccurring and what, if any, actions management has 
taken or plans to take in order to reduce them. 

3. Conclude as to the frequency, need and authorization of the resubmission process. 
 

Procedures Performed 
 

 Interviewed the Director of Institutional Research and Assessment about the resubmission 
procedures. 

 Reviewed data resubmission correspondence from the BOG and verified files were properly 
resubmitted with no outstanding errors. 

 Reviewed resubmissions to identify if there are reoccurring submission problems. 
 

Findings 
 
No exceptions were identified as a result of applying these procedures. 

 
i) Provide an objective basis of support for the President and Board of Trustees Chair to sign the 

representations made in the Performance Based Funding−Data Integrity Certification.  
 

1. Review The Performance Based Funding (the “PBF”) Data Integrity Certification statement to 
identify additional procedures that should be designed to support the representations. (For 
example, #11 requests a certification that College policy changes and decisions impacting 
the PBF initiative were not made for the purposes of artificially inflating performance 
measures.) 

 
Procedures Performed 
 
 We reviewed the Data Integrity Certification and performed procedures agreed upon by the 

College to meet the objectives of the certification.   
 

Findings  
 

2019-01 Mauldin & Jenkins was engaged to perform procedures that were provided by you 
and were outlined in our engagement letter that management has identified to meet 
the objectives of the certification. The College must conclude as to the adequacy of 
these procedures and findings to meet their certification objectives. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

269



New College of Florida 
January 24, 2020 
Page 9 
 

 

We were not engaged to and did not perform an audit, the objective of which would be the expression of 
an opinion on the processes and procedures for the complete, accurate and timely submission of data to 
the BOG. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. Had we performed additional procedures, 
other matters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to management. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of New College of Florida’s Board of Trustees 
and management and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

 
 
 

 
Bradenton, Florida 
January 24, 2020 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

270



New College of Florida 
Metric Related Submissions 

October 1, 2018 through September 30, 2019 
 

 

Attachment I 
 

Due Date Submission Term or Year Rept Time Frame Sample Tested
10/10/2018 ADM - Admissions File Fall 2018 201808 30
10/4/2018 SFA - Student Financial Aid File (1) Annual 2017 20172018 60
1/30/2019 RET - Retention File (2) Annual 2017 20172018 1
1/29/2019 SIF - Student Instruction File (4) Fall 2018 201808 90
3/1/2019 ADM - Admissions File Spring 2019 201901 30
6/21/2019 SIF - Student Instruction File (4) Spring 2019 201901 90
7/5/2019 SIFD - Degrees Awarded (3) Spring 2019 201901 30

Metric Submitted Data Term or Year Rept Time Frame Sample Tested
Metric #3 & 9c HTD Data Annual 2017 20172018 30
Metric #8b ADM - Admissions File Fall 2018 201808 30

(1)

(2) One (1) change to prior BOG data files was reported and submitted to the BOG during the period. 

(3) The sample tested was also used to test Metric 10(d) specific to New College of Florida.

(4)
The Enrollments table was tested for Metric #3, Metric #4, and Metric #7. Metric #3 required its
own sample to be selected while Metrics #4 and #7 shared a sample, generating a sample size
of sixty (60) per submission. In addition, the Fee Waivers table was tested for Metric #3,
increasing the sample size per submission to ninety (90).

The Financial Aid Awards table was tested for both Metric #3 and Metric #7. The metrics have
different methodologies and require two (2) samples to be tested, therefore sample tested is sixty
(60). 

Submissions Tested

Additional Data Submissions tested for New College specific metrics

 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

271



 

 
 
 

 

Office of the Chancellor 
325 West Gaines Street, Suite 1614 

Tallahassee, FL 32399 
Phone 850.245.0466 

Fax 850.245.9685 
www.flbog.edu 

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University | Florida Atlantic University | Florida Gulf Coast University | Florida International University 

Florida Polytechnic University | Florida State University | New College of Florida | University of Central Florida   

University of Florida | University of North Florida | University of South Florida | University of West Florida 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Chairs, University Boards of Trustees 
 University Presidents 
   
FROM: Ned Lautenbach, Chair  
  
DATE: June 18, 2019 
  
RE: Data Integrity Audits and Certifications for Performance Based Funding 

and Preeminence Metrics  
 
Since the Board of Governors’ January 2014 approval of the Performance Based 
Funding Model, the model has incentivized universities and their boards of trustees to 
achieve excellence and performance improvements in key areas aligned to the State 
University System of Florida Strategic Plan goals.  Over the past six years, the 
Performance Based Funding state investment has totaled $1,250,000,000 in additional 
state funding, demonstrating continued support for the System.  This is a testament to 
the value of the state university system to the educational and economic growth of our 
state.  These investments have allowed the System to keep tuition stable for our 
students.   
 
For the 2019-2020 fiscal year, the investment into performance based funding remains at 
the all-time high of $560 million with $265 million in state investment and $295 million 
in institutional investment.  With this investment, universities have demonstrated the 
ability to achieve excellence and improvements in the 10 key metrics, including 
graduation and retention rates.  The U.S. News & World Report released May 14, 2019, 
ranked Florida as the best state for higher education for the third consecutive year.  The 
state university system has had a 9.5% five-year increase in graduation rates, and a 31% 
year-over-year drop in the cost-to-student for a bachelor’s degree.   
 
In November 2018, the Board of Governors evaluated the model’s metrics and 
approved changes to metric 10 as selected by university boards of trustees.  Data is 
currently being collected for the new metrics, and benchmarks will be set based on the 
most recent data.   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

272



 
 
 
BOT Chairs and Presidents 
June 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
Key to the model’s success is the ability of the Board of Governors to rely on the 
information you provide for performance based funding decision-making.  During the 
2019 Legislative Session, lawmakers approved Senate Bill 190 that contains language 
amending section 1001.706, Florida Statutes.  The new language states:  
 

Each university shall conduct an annual audit to verify that the data submitted 
pursuant to ss. 1001.7065[1] and 1001.92[2] complies with the data definitions 
established by the board and submit the audits to the Board of Governors Office of 
Inspector General as part of the annual certification process required by the Board 
of Governors.    

 
As now required by Florida Statutes, university boards of trustees shall direct the 
university chief audit executive to perform, or cause to have performed by an 
independent audit firm, an audit of the university’s processes that ensure the 
completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions.  Additionally, I ask that 
these audits include testing of data that supports performance funding metrics, as well 
as preeminence or emerging preeminence metrics if applicable, as testing is essential in 
determining that processes are in place and working as intended.   
 
In addition to the data integrity audit for the Performance Based Funding Model, 
universities designated as preeminent or emerging preeminent will need to conduct a 
similar audit for the data and metrics used for preeminent status consideration.  This 
audit may be included with or separate from the Performance Based Funding Data 
Integrity Audit.    
 
The scope and objectives of the audit(s) should be set jointly between the chair of the 
university board of trustees and the university chief audit executive.  The audit(s) shall 
be performed in accordance with the current International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing as published by the Institute of Internal Auditors, Inc. 
 
Using the results from the data integrity audit(s), each university president should 
complete the attached Data Integrity Certification.  When completing this certification, 
evaluate each of the 13 prepared representations, which have been revised to include 
preeminence and emerging preeminence for those universities so designated.  If you are 
able to affirm a representation as prepared, do so.  If you are unable to affirm a 
                                                 
1 S. 1001.7065, Florida Statutes, Preeminent State Research Universities Program 
2 S. 1001.92, Florida Statutes, State University System Performance-based Incentive 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

273



 
 
 
BOT Chairs and Presidents 
June 18, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 
 
representation as prepared, explain the modification in the space provided.  It is 
important that representations be modified to reflect significant or material audit 
findings.  The certification document shall be signed by the university president and 
board of trustees chair after being approved by the board of trustees.   
 
The audit results and corrective action plans as needed shall be provided to the Board 
of Governors after being accepted by the university’s board of trustees.  The audit 
results shall support the president’s certification and include any noted audit findings. 
The completed Data Integrity Certification and audit report(s) shall be submitted to the 
Office of Inspector General and Director of Compliance no later than March 2, 2020.   
 
I ask that you consider the March 2nd deadline when establishing dates for your 2020 
board of trustees meetings as we will need these audits and certifications in sufficient 
time to be included in our March Board of Governors’ meeting materials. 
 

I commend you, your data administrators, and the many university staff responsible for 
ensuring reliable, accurate, and complete information is timely submitted to the Board 
of Governors.  I would also like to thank your chief audit executives for focusing a 
significant portion of their office’s resources to auditing your university’s data-related 
controls, processes, and submissions.  Collectively, these efforts allow you to 
confidently certify the accuracy of data submissions to the Board of Governors and 
enhance public trust and confidence in this process.  We appreciate your cooperation 
and assistance in ensuring the integrity of the performance funding and preeminence 
processes. 
 

If you have questions regarding these requirements, please do not hesitate to contact 
the Board of Governors Inspector General at BOGInspectorGeneral@flbog.edu or 850-
245-0466. 
 
NCL/jml 
  
Attachment:  Data Integrity Certification Form 
 
 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

274

mailto:BOGInspectorGeneral@flbog.edu


STATE 
UNIVERSITY 
SYSTEM 
of FLORIDA 
Board of Governors 

Data Integrity Certification 
March 2020 

University Name: New College of Florida 

INSTRUCTIONS: Please respond "Yes" or "No" for each representation below. Explain any "No" responses to ensure clarity of the 
representation you are making to the Board of Governors. Modify representations to reflect any noted significant or material audit 
find · 

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment/ Reference 

1. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining, and have established and IZI D Controls were effective except 
maintained, effective internal controls and monitoring over my university's for the Metric 1 issue noted in 
collection and reporting of data submitted to the Board of Governors Office the 2019-20-02 Performance 
which will be used by the Board of Governors in Performance Based Funding Funding Internal Audit. 
decision-making and Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence Status. 

2. These internal controls and monitoring activities include, but are not limited IZI D Controls were effective except 
to, reliable processes, controls, and procedures designed to ensure that data for the Metric 1 issue noted in 
required in reports filed with my Board of Trustees and the Board of the 2019-20-02 Performance 
Governors are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported in a manner Funding Internal Audit. 
which ensures its accuracy and completeness. 

3. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 1.001(3)(£), my Board of IZI D 
Trustees has required that I maintain an effective information system to 
provide accurate, timely, and cost-effective information about the university, 
and shall require that all data and reporting requirements of the Board of 
Governors are met. 

4. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my university shall IZI D Data used were accurate except 
provide accurate data to the Board of Governors Office. for the Metric 1 issue noted in 

the 2019-20-02 Performance 
Funding Internal Audit. 

5. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, I have appointed a IZI D 
Data Administrator to certify and manage the submission of data to the 
Board of Governors Office. 

Data Iutegrihj Certificntio11 Form Page 1 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

275



Data Integrity Certification 

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment/ Reference 

6. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, I have tasked my IX! 0 
Data Administrator to ensure the data file (prior to submission) is consistent 
with the criteria established by the Board of Governors Data Committee. The 
due diligence includes performing tests on the file using applications, 
processes, and data definitions provided by the Board Office. 

7. When critical errors have been identified, through the processes identified in IX! 0 
item #6, a written explanation of the critical errors was included with the file 
submission. 

8. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my Data IX! 0 
Administrator has submitted data files to the Board of Governors Office in 
accordance with the specified schedule. 

9. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my Data IX! D 
Administrator electronically certifies data submissions in the State University 
Data System by acknowledging the following statement, "Ready to submit: 
Pressing Submit for Approval represents electronic certification of this data 
per Board of Governors Regulation 3.007." 

10. I am responsible for taking timely and appropriate preventive/ corrective IX! D 
actions for deficiencies noted through reviews, audits, and investigations. 

11 . I recognize that Board of Governors' and statutory requirements for the use 181 D For Metric 1 issue, please see 
of data related to the Performance Based Funding initiative and Preeminence the 2019-20-02 Performance 

or Emerging Preeminence status consideration will drive university policy Funding Internal Audit. 

on a wide range of university operations - from admissions through 
graduation. I certify that university policy changes and decisions impacting 
data used for these purposes have been made to bring the university's 
operations and practices in line with State University System Strategic Plan 
goals and have not been made for the purposes of artificially inflating the 
related metrics. 

Data /11tegritt; Certificntio11 Form g, 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

276



Data Integrity Certification 

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment/ Reference 

12. I certify that I agreed to the scope of work for the Performance Based IZI D 
Funding Data Integrity Audit and the Preeminence or Emerging 
Preeminence Data Integrity Audit (if applicable) conducted by my chief audit 
executive. 

13. In accordance with section 1001.706, Florida Statutes, I certify that the audit IZI D 
conducted verified that the data submitted pursuant to sections 1001.7065 
and 1001.92, Florida Statutes [regarding Preeminence and Performance-
based Funding, respectively], complies with the data definitions established 
by the Board of Governors. 

Data Integrity Certification Representations, Signatures 

I certify that all information provided as part of the Board of Governors Data Integrity Certification for Performance Based 
Funding and Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence status (if applicable) is true and correct to the best of my knowledge; and 
I understand that any unsubstantiated, false, misleading, or withheld information relating to these statements render this 
certification void. My signature below acknowledges that I have read and understand these statements. I certify that this 
information will be reported to the board of trustees and the Board of Governors. 

Certification: c::= ~ ~"\ Date o?(.;z S Lzo.?? D 
President 

I certify that this Board of Governors Data Integrity Certification for Performance Based Funding and Preeminence or 
Emerging Preeminence status (if applicable) has been approved by the university board of trustees and is true and correct to 
the best of my knowledge. 

Certification: ~ ~ Date ;dd~ lozo02.o 
Boara of Trustees Chair 

Dntn I11tegrity Certificntio11 Form Pnge 3 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

277



 
 

 

UNIVERSITY AUDIT 
AUDIT 354 

JANUARY 17, 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

P E R FO R M A N C E - BAS E D  
F U N D I N G   

DATA  I N T E G R I T Y   

AUDIT OF INTERNAL CON TROLS AN D COMPLIANC E 
AS OF S EPTEMBER 30,  2019 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

UNIVERSITY OF CENTRAL FLORIDA 
 

This work product was prepared in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing, as 
published by the Institute of Internal Auditors, Inc. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

278



 

 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 

 

TO:  Thad Seymour 
  Interim President 
 
FROM:  Robert J. Taft 
  Chief Audit Executive 
 
DATE:  January 17, 2020 
 
SUBJECT: Audit of Performance-based Funding Data Integrity 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The enclosed report represents the results of our Performance-based Funding Data Integrity audit. 
 
We appreciate the cooperation and assistance of the staff in Institutional Knowledge Management 
and UCF IT.   
 
 
 
cc: M. Paige Bordon 
 Linda Sullivan 
 Elizabeth Dooley 
 Jana Jasinski 
 Board of Trustees  
 State University System of Florida Inspector General 
  
 
 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

279



 

3 
 

Background and Performance Objectives 

Beginning in 2013-14, the Florida Board of Governors (BOG) implemented a performance-based 
funding (PBF) model which utilizes 10 performance metrics to evaluate universities on a range of 
issues, including graduation rates, job placement, cost per degree, and retention rates. According to 
information published by the BOG in May 2014, the following are key components of the funding 
model.  

• For each metric, institutions are evaluated on either Excellence (a raw score) or 
Improvement (the percentage change from the prior year).  

• Performance is based on data from one academic year.  
• The benchmarks for Excellence are based on the BOG 2025 System Strategic Plan goals and 

analysis of relevant data trends, whereas the benchmarks for Improvement are determined 
by the BOG after reviewing data trends for each metric.  

• The Florida Legislature and Governor determine the amount of new state funding and a 
proportional amount of institutional funding that would come from each university’s 
recurring state base appropriation.  
 

For 2019-20 funding, each university was evaluated on seven metrics common to all universities, 
except Florida Polytechnic University, which is not yet eligible to participate in the funding process. 
The eighth metric applied to all institutions except New College, which had an alternate metric 
more appropriate to its mission. The ninth metric was chosen by the BOG, focusing on areas of 
improvement and the distinct missions of each university. The tenth metric was chosen by each 
university’s Board of Trustees (BOT) from the remaining metrics in the University Work Plan.  
 
UCF’s metrics were: 

  1. percent of bachelor’s graduates continuing their education or employed (with a salary 
greater than $25,000) within the U.S. one year after graduation 

  2. median wages of bachelor’s graduates employed full-time one year after graduation 
  3. average cost to the student (net tuition per 120 credit hours) for a bachelor’s degree  
  4. four-year graduation rate (includes full-time, first time in college students) 
  5. academic progress rate (second year retention with a GPA greater than 2.0) 
  6. bachelor’s degrees awarded within programs of strategic emphasis 
  7. university access rate (percent of fall undergraduates with a Pell-grant) 
  8. graduate degrees awarded within programs of strategic emphasis 
  9. percent of bachelor’s degrees without excess hours 
10. number of bachelor’s degrees awarded annually 

 
The BOG developed a Performance-based Funding Data Integrity Certification form to provide 
assurances that the data provided by universities is reliable, accurate, and complete. In a letter 
dated June 18, 2019, to University Board of Trustee Chairs, Ned Lautenback, Board of Governor’s 
Chair, asked that the data integrity audits include preeminence and emerging preeminence metrics. 
Accordingly, we incorporated the preeminence metrics into our audit plan. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

280



 

4 
 

This certification form is to be signed by the university president, affirmatively certifying each of 
the 13 stated representations or providing an explanation as to why the representation cannot be 
made as written. The certification form is also to be approved by the university BOT and signed by 
the BOT chair.  

To make such certifications meaningful, during the 2019 Legislative Session, lawmakers approved 
Senate Bill 190 that contains language amending section 1001.706. Florida Statutes. The new 
language states:  

“Each university shall conduct an annual audit to verify that the data submitted pursuant to 
ss. 1001.7065[1] and 1001.92[2] complies with the data definitions established by the board 
and submit the audits to the Board of Governors Office of Inspector General as part of the 
annual certification process required by the Board of Governors.” 

Audit Objectives and Scope 

The primary objective of this audit was to determine the adequacy of university controls in place to 
promote the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG, particularly as 
they relate to PBF metrics and preeminence metrics. This audit will also provide an objective basis 
of support for the president and BOT chair to certify the required representations on the data 
integrity certification form.   

Our approach is to audit files related to a minimum of four of the 10 measures each year so that all 
measures are tested at least twice within a five-year cycle but this year we tested five since we 
repeated testing of the percent of bachelor’s degrees without excess hours. This year’s testing 
including data files submitted as of September 30, 2019, related to:  

• Metric 1: percent of graduates employed full-time in Florida or continuing their education 
in the U.S. on year after graduation 

• Metric 5: academic progress rate (second year retention rate with GPA above 2.0) 
• Metric 8: graduate degrees awarded within programs of strategic emphasis 
• Metric 9: percent of bachelor’s degrees without excess hours 
• Metric 10: number of bachelor’s degrees awarded annually for 2017-18 

The achieved Preeminent Metrics selected for testing include: 
• Metric E: National Academy memberships 
• Metric H: National ranking in STEM research expenditures 
• Metric I: Patents awarded (over 3-year period) 
• Metric J: Doctoral degrees awarded annually 

No testing was performed for Preeminent Metrics that were not achieved. 

                                                           
1 S. 1001.7065, Florida Statute, Preeminent State Research University Program 
2 S. 1001.92, Florida Statute, State University System Performance-based Incentive 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

281



 

5 
 

We performed a comprehensive review of the controls and processes established by the university 
to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG which 
supported the PBF metrics during our audit in 2015-16 and continued to review any changes to 
these controls and processes on an annual basis.  

In addition, we verified the completeness and accuracy of the Hours to Degree (HTD), Courses to 
Degree (CTD), Student Instruction File (SIF), and Student Financial Aid (SFA) files submitted to the 
BOG in support of the measures listed above. By independently developing our own queries in 
PeopleSoft and comparing those results to the files submitted to BOG, we were able to test 100 
percent of the students submitted for each file, with the exception of HTD. Because of methodology 
and source system complexities, a query could not be developed; therefore, we tested a sample of 
students to ensure accuracy. 

Overview of Results 

Based on our audit, we have concluded that UCF’s controls and processes are adequate to ensure 
the completeness and accuracy of data submitted to the BOG in support of performance-based 
funding. However, we found a minor error that resulted in inaccurate information being submitted 
to the BOG for a student. Specifically, for metric 9 (percent of bachelor’s degrees without excess 
hours), we identified one student who should not have had excess hours because too many of his 
transfer credits were marked toward the degree in error. This error was immaterial (less than one 
percent of courses tested) and had no impact on UCF’s overall ranking among SUS institutions. 

We believe that our audit can be relied upon by the university president and the UCF Board of 
Trustees as a basis for certifying the representations made to the BOG related to the integrity of 
data required for the BOG performance-based funding model. 

 

Audit Performance Metrics 

Beginning of audit: July 3, 2019 

End of fieldwork: December 18, 2019 

 

Audit Team Members: 

Vicky Sharp, senior auditor, auditor in charge  

Vallery Morton, audit manager, level I reviewer 

Robert Taft, chief audit executive, level II reviewer 

 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

282



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

283



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

284



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

285



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

286



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA 
 

OFFICE OF INTERNAL AUDIT 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Audit of:     University of Florida  
        Performance Based Funding 
        and Preeminence – Data Integrity 
 

 Period of Audit:    As of September 30, 2019 
 
 Report Issue Date:    November 21, 2019 

 
Report Number:    UF-19-737-22 

 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

287



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

288



 
 

UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA 
 

PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING AND PREEMINENCE – DATA INTEGRITY 
 

As of September 30, 2019 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  1 

AUDIT REPORT  2 

 Scope and Objectives  2 

 Background  2 

 Overall Conclusion  5 

 Attachment A:  Preeminent Research University Funding Metrics 

 Attachment B:  Board of Governors Performance Based Funding 2019 Metric Definitions 

Attachment C:  Performance Based Funding Metric Scores for 2016-2017, 2017-2018, 2018-2019 
and 2019-2020. 

 Attachment D:  Performance Based Funding March 2020 Data Integrity Certification 

 Attachment E:  Overview of the University SUDS Submission Data and Process Flows 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 14 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

289



Office of Internal Audit 1 November 21, 2019 

PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING AND 
PREEMINENCE – DATA INTEGRITY 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Pursuant to Section 1001.92, Florida Statutes, the Board of Governors (BOG) implemented a performance 
based funding (PBF) model, which is intended to build upon the BOG’s strategic plans and goals and annual 
accountability reports.  This model seeks to further elevate the SUS while acknowledging each university’s 
distinct mission.  The BOG also implemented the Preeminent State Research Universities Program in 2013 
to award universities demonstrating high performance.  The program was designed to promulgate a set of 
academic and research excellence standards where universities must meet or exceed 11 of the 12 
benchmarks to earn the preeminent designation.  

The integrity of the data provided by the universities is critical to the BOG decision-making process.  
Therefore, the BOG developed a Data Integrity Certification Form to provide assurances that the data 
submitted to the BOG for PBF and preeminence status is reliable, accurate, and complete.  This certification 
form is to be executed by the university president, affirmatively certifying each representation and/or 
providing an explanation as to why the representation cannot be made as written.  The certification is also 
to be approved by the university Board of Trustees (BOT) and executed by the BOT chair.   

On June 18, 2019, the chairman of the BOG instructed each university’s BOT to “direct the university chief 
audit executive to perform, or cause to have performed by an independent audit firm, an audit of the 
university’s processes that ensure the completeness, accuracy and timeliness of data submissions” to the 
BOG.  This audit will provide an objective basis of support for the president and BOT chair to certify the 
required representations. 

The Office of Internal Audit conducted an audit, as of September 30, 2019, of the university’s data 
submission process related to metrics used for the BOG’s performance based funding initiative and 
preeminence status.  The primary objective of this audit was to determine the adequacy of university 
controls in place to promote the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of these data submissions to the 
BOG. 

Based on the results of our audit procedures, we concluded that controls over the university’s data 
submission process were adequate to promote the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of submitted 
data for PBF and preeminence metrics.  Our conclusion of “adequate” indicates that controls were in place 
and functioning as designed. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

290



Office of Internal Audit            2  November 21, 2019 

PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING AND  
PREEMINENCE - DATA INTEGRITY 

 
 

AUDIT REPORT 
 
Scope and Objectives 
 

On June 18, 2019, the chairman of the BOG instructed each university board of trustees to “direct the 

university Chief Audit Executive to perform, or cause to have performed by an independent audit firm, an 

audit of the university’s processes that ensure the completeness, accuracy and timeliness of data 

submissions” to the BOG.   

 

We have completed an audit, as of September 30, 2019, of the university’s data submission process related 

to data metrics used for the BOG’s performance based funding initiative and preeminence status.  The 

primary objective of this audit was to determine the adequacy of university controls in place to promote the 

completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of these data submissions to the BOG.   

 

Because of the inherent limitation in the application of such controls, errors or irregularities may, 

nevertheless, occur and not be detected.  Also, assurances regarding the adequacy of internal controls 

cannot be projected to future periods due to the risk that procedures may become inadequate because of 

changes in conditions or compliance with procedures may deteriorate. 

 

We conducted the audit in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of 

Internal Auditing, as promulgated by the Institute of Internal Auditors.  The audit fieldwork was conducted 

from July 11, 2019 through October 22, 2019 in accordance with the 2019 audit work plan, and pursuant to 

the BOG directive to the University of Florida BOT.  

 

Background  
 

During the 2019 Legislative Session, lawmakers approved Senate Bill 190 to amend Florida Statutes 

section 1001.706, which states that each university shall conduct an annual audit to verify that the data 

submitted for Preeminent State Research Universities Program and State University System Performance-

Based Incentive complies with the data definitions established by the board and shall submit the audit to 

the Board of Governors Office of Inspector General as part of the annual certification process required by 

the Board of Governors. 

 

The Preeminent State Research Universities Program was established in 2013 to award universities 

demonstrating high performance.  It promulgated a set of academic and research excellence standards 

such as graduation rates, student retention rates, research expenditures, the number of patents awarded, 

and the size of the endowment.  Universities must meet or exceed 11 of the 12 benchmarks to earn the 

preeminence designation.  Attachment A identifies the preeminence metrics and University of Florida’s 

performance, as reported in the 2019 Accountability Plan.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

291



Office of Internal Audit            3  November 21, 2019 

The PBF model was established in 2014 to align the State University System Strategic Plan goals and 

acknowledge the unique mission of the different institutions.  The PBF Model includes ten metrics that 

evaluate the institutions’ performance in a variety of different strategic areas:   

 

 Eight of the ten metrics are common to all institutions.  These include metrics on employment after 

graduation, cost to the student, graduation rates, academic progress, programs of strategic 

emphasis, and access to the university.  In March 2018, metric four was changed from a six-year 

graduation rate to a four-year graduation rate. 

 The ninth metric, chosen by the BOG, focuses on areas of improvement and distinct missions of 

each university.  For the University of Florida, this metric was changed in November 2017 to be 

Percent of Bachelor’s Degrees without Excess Hours.  

 The final metric is chosen by each university BOT from the remaining metrics in the University Work 

Plans that are applicable to their mission.  The performance score for 2019 was based on the 

national ranking for number of licenses/options executed annually. In 2020, the university has 

elected to change this metric to the six-year Graduation Rate.  

 

Attachment B provides a list of the BOG Performance Based Funding Metric Definitions.  Attachment C 

identifies the University of Florida’s final scores for the past three allocation years and the 2019-2020 

benchmarks.   

 

The BOG Regulation 3.007, State University System (SUS) Management Information System, states the 

SUS universities shall provide accurate data to a management information system established and 

maintained by the BOG Office.  The BOG has created a web-based State University Database System 

(SUDS) Master File Submission Subsystem for the SUS to report their data.   

 

Upon upload of all required files to SUDS, the system will generate a series of edits and standard reports 

to identify errors or anomalies which may cause the files to be rejected.  There is an iterative process to 

validate that the submissions are free from BOG identified errors.  These items are corrected or explained 

on the source file and uploaded to the system to be checked again.  Once that is accomplished, the 

university is ready to ‘officially’ submit the data to the BOG for approval.  The electronic submission certifies 

that the file/data represents the position of the university for the term reported. 

 

The BOG developed a Data Integrity Certification process to obtain assurances that the data submitted to 

the BOG for PBF and preeminence status is reliable, accurate, and complete.  This certification form is to 

be executed by the university president, affirmatively certifying each representation and/or providing an 

explanation as to why the representation cannot be made as written.  The certification form is also to be 

approved and certified by the BOT chair.  This audit is intended to provide an objective basis of support for 

the president and BOT chair to certify the required representations (see Attachment D).  

 

Organizational Responsibilities 
 

The Office of Institutional Planning and Research (IPR) is responsible for providing university leadership 

with information that supports institutional planning, policy formation and decision making; serving as a 

comprehensive source for information about the institution; and administering the reporting of institutional 

data to state and federal entities.    

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

292



Office of Internal Audit            4  November 21, 2019 

The IPR consisted of a data administrator, appointed to certify and manage the submission of data, and 

eight other staff responsible for completing BOG requests as well as requests from other internal or external 

entities.  The IPR estimated they annually receive more than 1,200 data requests, of which at least 40 

percent originate from the BOG.   

 

Data owners at the university consist of the core offices responsible for the extraction and compilation of 

the institutional data that support the BOG submissions and other data requests. Upon creating the 

submission file from the authoritative system of records, key staff are responsible for reviewing and 

correcting data in the information systems prior to the submission through SUDS.  The following 

offices/units were responsible for compiling the data files and were included within the scope of this audit: 

 

 Office of Admissions (Admissions): Responsible for the admission records related to freshman, 

transfer, graduate, online and international students. This data was used for the calculation of 

average high school GPA (Preeminence Metric 1a) and average SAT score (Preeminence Metric 

1b). The admission data also served as the underlying source to derive the key PBF elements for 

the Enrollments table.  

 Office of University Registrar (OUR):  Responsible for student records and degree information 

used to create the Student Instruction File (SIF) and Degrees Awarded (SIFD).  This data was used 

in the PBF and preeminence metrics involving graduation, retention, academic progress, cost to 

student, and strategic emphasis. 

 Office of Undergraduate Affairs (OUA): Responsible for degree audit monitoring and generation 

of the Hours to Degree (HTD) file.  This data was used for determining the cost to the student (PBF 

Metric 3) and excess hours (PBF Metric 9). 

 Bursar: Responsible for processing waivers in the Student Financial System. This data was used 

in PBF Metric 3 for determining the cost to the student.  

 Student Financial Affairs (SFA):  Responsible for the financial aid award data used to create the 

SFA file.  This data was used in Cost to Student (PBF Metric 3) and University Access Rate (PBF 

Metric 7). 

 Cost Analysis: Responsible for compiling the cost of research expenditures reported in the 

National Science Foundation (NSF) Higher Education Research and Development Survey (HERD). 

This information is used for determining the amount of research expenditures in multiple 

preeminence metrics.  

 Office of Technology Licensing (OTL):  Responsible for compiling a list of all licenses/options 

and reporting to the Association of University Technology Managers through their annual Licensing 

Survey.  The information is used for the BOT Choice Metric 10f. 

 Enterprise Systems (ES):  This unit provided information technology (IT) support to the various 

other units and was directly responsible for maintaining certain systems as well as compiling data 

and generating reports from those systems for the other core offices.  

 

The data owners work collaboratively with IPR to review and explain errors noted in the SUDS edit 

summaries.  The IPR then performs a final review to evaluate data accuracy prior to certifying the 

submission to the BOG for their approval.  At any point, the BOG may ask the university to address 

additional exceptions requiring further review, explanation, or resubmission of the file.  

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

293



Office of Internal Audit            5  November 21, 2019 

Attachment E is a flowchart summarizing the data and process flows from extraction through the BOG 

approval.   

 

Prior Audit Comments 
 
An internal control audit of Performance Based Funding – Data Integrity was performed as of September 

30, 2018, with audit report UF-19-723-08 issued October 30, 2018.  The audit results included no comments 

in regards to the university’s data submission process. 

 
Overall Conclusion 
 

To identify and evaluate the controls in place relative to the university’s data submissions in support of the 

PBF and preeminence metrics, we conducted employee interviews, performed analytical reviews, 

evaluated risks related to each metric, reviewed program extraction codes, performed process 

walkthroughs, and tested reported values to source data.  

 

Based on the results of our audit procedures, we concluded that controls over the university’s data 

submission process were adequate to promote the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of submitted 

data for PBF and preeminence metrics.  Conclusions relative to specific data owners and other comments 

on the data submission process, including audit procedures employed, are described below. 
 

Data Administrator (DA)     

 
BOG Regulation 3.007(2) states that each university president shall appoint an institutional DA to certify 

and manage the submission of data to the SUS management information system.  We verified the president 

had formally appointed the IPR director as the DA for the university and her job description clearly defined 

her role as the DA.  We noted that the IPR director has the overall responsibility to serve as the official point 

of contact with the BOG for submission of data and reports.  These responsibilities included the integrity of 

data reported to the BOG and promoting data stewardship on campus by working with different functional 

areas to resolve data issues, improve data quality and to assure that external reporting standards are met.  

 

The DA also participated in the Council of Data Administrators (CODA) with other Florida university data 

administrators.  The council’s vision statement asserts that the CODA exists to promote and ensure that 

reliable and consistent data are used and reported by SUS institutions for current and future information‐

based decisions.  Collectively, the council can improve communication or find solutions that institutions 

consistently address related to SUDS such as standardizing codes or edits between data elements.  

 

IPR Review and Edit Procedures    
 

BOG Regulation 3.007(2)(b) states that the DA is responsible for providing complete responses to 

information requests within the time frame specified by the Board Office.  The Office of Data Analytics is 

responsible to collect and manage the SUDS submissions for the BOG.  Pursuant to the schedule set forth 

in the submission section of the specification of each file, IPR utilized a Data Request System to 

communicate and monitor the required deadlines with data owners.   

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

294



Office of Internal Audit            6  November 21, 2019 

Extensive procedures were performed by the data owners during their data extraction and review, and by 

the IPR during their review and submissions.  We noted IPR worked with the data owners and the BOG to 

resolve errors or inconsistencies within data elements.  Each data owner was required to submit a 

certification statement summarizing the work performed to verify the accuracy of the data, the supporting 

documents were maintained, and to acknowledge that the file was ready to submit.  

 

We noted that IPR had comprehensive written procedures and checklists to document the work initiation 

and quality-checking procedures to validate the accuracy of the data being submitted.  For example, IPR 

staff reviewed and compared historical data for validity.  We reviewed the support and verified their review 

was adequately documented in the Data Quality Review summary where it provided a reference and steps 

that were needed to resolve the data issues from recurring in subsequent submissions 

 

With the implementation of the new student system as described in the IT section below, we verified IPR 

performed an extensive review in checking the accuracy and consistency of data for all elements amongst 

the tables within the submission for SIF and SIFD. We reviewed the Data Quality Review Summary and 

email correspondence to address data issues and discrepancies such as student demographics, courses 

taken, student group, fundable credit hours, and residency.  

 

The IPR director also submitted an annual letter to the president attesting to her due diligence to promote 

assurance that the submissions were timely, accurate and complete.  The IPR created a file sharing site 

called the President’s Portal to store and retrieve documentation and correspondence concerning the 

submissions for the metrics.   

 

We tested all twelve SUDS submissions for PBF and preeminence from October 1, 2018 (the date of our 

last audit) through September 30, 2019 to verify timeliness and certification by the data owners.  We noted 

that all submissions were submitted by data owners with certification for accuracy and explanations of any 

errors, approved by the DA, and accepted by the BOG. However, we noted that four submissions were not 

submitted according to the scheduled date due to technical difficulties of resolving errors in the new student 

system.  Specifically, the delay of the Fall 2018 SIF submission impacted the timely submission of SIFD 

and Retention as these files verified the referential integrity from SIF.  While there were no formal extension 

procedures, we verified that the DA had notified the BOG chief data officer of the planned delay prior to the 

submission date to ensure the revised submission date would meet their reporting requirements.   

 

Based on the results of our review, we concluded that the IPR employed adequate review and edit 

processes, including appropriate documentation of their procedures. 

 

Information Technology 
 

The university completed a large-scale three-year project in December 2018 to implement a new student 

information system, Oracle/PeopleSoft Campus Solutions, to replace the decades old mainframe-based 

student systems.  Key offices, dedicated staff, and an implementation consultant were involved in the 

project and Campus Solutions was implemented on August 20, 2018 with a stabilization period through the 

end of the year.   

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

295



Office of Internal Audit            7  November 21, 2019 

For this audit period, we noted that the reporting conversions had been completed for SIF and SIFD 

submissions.  Conversely, the development, testing, and review was underway for Admissions, SFA and 

HTD.  Due to the timing of new systems, data conversion and new data input, the submission for SIF and 

SIFD were sourced from Campus Solutions while others used the mainframe as the authoritative source 

and system of record.  The legacy mainframe system was still used for some processing until the system 

was officially decommissioned and shut down on October 2, 2019.   

 

To gain an understanding of the new information systems and data, we interviewed staff, reviewed project 

documentation and meeting notes, and engaged with a federation of student data users.  The Campus 

Solutions information system was designed to store and update transactional student data in real time.  

UFIT utilized DataStage, a specialized set of extraction, translation, and loading (ETL) processes, as part 

of the SUDS reporting.  The ETL processing began with making “snapshots” of the transactional data.  A 

daily snapshot was created for preparing the BOG data tables and getting the submission files ready for 

data owners to review. As each BOG SUDS submission was nearing its due date, a special “frozen 

snapshot” was created on the freeze date.  The frozen snapshot was then used to build the submission 

tables. After the submission, the “build” tables were copied into an “archive” table.  In this manner, 

permanent secure records of the data were kept as that data existed in the transactional system precisely 

at the time the snapshot was taken, to ensure reproducibility, auditability, and accountability. 

 

We reviewed the ETL processes and program code for SIF and SIFD to ensure that the BOG reporting 

requirements were adequately addressed.  Our review focused on the program logic, data flow, and data 

mappings.  We evaluated the key elements pertaining to PBF and preeminence metrics for alignment with 

the SUDS Data Dictionary definitions.  Based on our review of the system documentation, we concluded 

that the programming logic steps were reasonable for accurate and complete data extraction and 

transformation.  We identified one category of student type, post-baccalaureate, that was not coded 

accurately.  Although this student type did not have any impact on the relevant metrics, we reported the 

error to management and staff confirmed with IT that it was corrected.  Overall, we concluded that the 

reported data elements were derived appropriately from the Campus Solutions system of record data 

sources.  

 

Program change management controls were in place for Campus Solutions applications, production 

scheduled jobs and the DataStage ETLs, as well as generated reports in the Cognos Analytics environment.  

SUDS submission data was stored in staging tables in an Oracle database in Campus Solutions.  A custom 

application allows OUR and Admissions staff to make corrections to the data prior to generating the 

submission file for uploading to SUDS.  IT staff were tasked with the system and program changes.  

Functional staff could make changes to data only through the applications, providing a separation of job 

functions.  We reviewed system and data security to ensure direct data access to files and relational 

database tables had been controlled.  Appropriate role-based security for DataStage was assigned to staff 

based on their job duties, as well as appropriate Oracle database access restrictions.  In addition, IT had 

adequate process in place to document requests to update the submission file including the SQL code used 

and the records affected.  

 

Based on our review, we determined that there were adequate IT system controls in place for change 

management, access restrictions, data quality, audit logging, and overall security of student data in Campus 

Solutions.   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

296



Office of Internal Audit  8 November 21, 2019 

DATA OWNERS 

Using the established BOG methodology for PBF and preeminence, we performed a risk analysis to 

determine the level of review, including the amount of testing we would perform with data owners.  Our risk 

analysis took into consideration changes in the information systems and internal procedures for extraction, 

review, and submission processes.  We also considered staffing changes, changes in reporting 

requirements between years, variances in the data reported, and score received.  Based on the results of 

our risk analysis, our review primarily focused on university data submissions.  We did not include in the 

scope of our review the three preeminence metrics in which the BOG utilized third party information 

directly.    

To understand the requirements for complete and accurate submissions, we reviewed the SUDS Data 

Dictionary, documentation from SUS data workshops, and BOG methodology and procedures applicable 

to the PBF and preeminence metrics.  The BOG issued annual notices communicating updates for reporting 

of institutional data based on the results of SUS data workshops.  Depending on the required changes, the 

university may need to modify procedures or program codes.  An example of a change noted in the SUS 

data workshop was that a new value for Benacquisto Scholars was added to the waiver type for SIF, which 

related to Metric 3.   

The following is a summary of our review and conclusions for each data owner: 

Office of Admissions 

Admissions was responsible for application servicing for all levels of student entry into the university 

including beginning freshmen, transfers, graduate students, online students, students applying to 

professional school programs, and international recruitment strategies.  

Historically, Admissions used the legacy mainframe-based systems for all information processing.  As part 

of the COMPASS project, Admissions implemented a new admission processing system, known as Slate, 

in September 2018, for future applications.  The submissions for Fall 2018 and Spring 2019 were continually 

sourced from the mainframe while admission applications processing transitioned to Slate.    

We performed a walk-through of controls at Admissions including edit processes, error correction, and data 

extraction and upload processes.  Written procedures and a processing checklist were in place to verify the 

accuracy of data for submissions generated using the mainframe.  Admissions staff reviewed internal 

reports and SUDS system error reports for inconsistencies and invalid data.  Example of errors reported 

included invalid last institution code, mismatch for degree highest held, and missing high school GPA/test 

scores.  

We randomly selected 100 records from the Fall 2018 and Spring 2019 submissions to verify the accuracy 

of key elements identified for the preeminence metrics.  Our testing noted that the high school GPA and 

college GPA were accurately reported for admitted students.  However, we identified six instances where 

the best sub-score for ACT was not reported.  We discussed these exceptions with IPR and concluded 

there was no impact to any PBF or preeminence metrics, and management has confirmed that this issue 

was corrected in the new system.   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

297



Office of Internal Audit            9  November 21, 2019 

Based on the results of our review, we concluded that the Admissions’ processes were reasonable for 

extraction, review and upload of student data to the SUDS in the mainframe environment. 

 

The Summer 2019 data was submitted on September 20, 2019 and was the first file sourced from Slate.  

Due to the timing of the audit, our review was limited to the review of the general processing controls and 

testing of the mainframe process, as new procedures were being developed for Slate.  For example, staff 

stated they compared the submission data to admission type reports from Slate to identify the correct 

population of students.  

 
Office of University Registrar (OUR)  
 
In Campus Solutions an academic structure consisted of a student’s career, program, and plans. These 

records are linked to the terms, classes, grades and graduation in the Student Information System, which 

is the authoritative system of records for the SIF, SIFP, SIFD, and HTD submissions.  Metrics generated 

from these records involved graduation, retention, academic progress, and information regarding the 

programs of strategic emphasis (STEM programs). 

 

The OUR utilized continuous monitoring procedures to help assure the student data was accurate.  The 

OUR quality control checks looked for internal inconsistencies in the data such as a student with invalid 

degree level sought, undergraduate students with an invalid degree highest held, invalid race or gender 

code, and student class level inconsistent with other data. Additionally, written procedures specifically 

addressed processing and review of ad hoc reports, production jobs, and uploads.  We noted that the 

quality control procedures were performed by experienced staff prior to the final review by the DA.  With 

the conversion of more than 19 million student enrollment records from legacy mainframe data, the OUR 

worked closely with IT to identify and resolve data issues such as programming logic or data mapping for 

elements in the SIF submissions for both Fall 2018 and Spring 2019.  

 

To ascertain the accuracy of the data submitted for SIF and SIFD, we analyzed the submitted data for 

Spring 2019 as compared to the system data represented by a frozen snapshot generated in the ETL 

process.  Our analysis noted that very minimal changes (less than 0.2 percent) were made to correct SUDS 

reported diagnostic errors. We evaluated all these adjustments and determined they were reasonable 

based on the correlation with other variables from the file.  

 

We utilized various testing methods to verify the reported information agreed to the data in Campus 

Solutions.  For some elements we verified 100 percent of the data and others we selected a random sample 

of student records from the SIF and SIFD submissions covering all the key elements identified in the BOG 

Methodology.  We found several instances where the total institutional grade points and hours in the Fall 

2018 SIF submission did not match. Upon discussions with IPR, we concluded that the errors did not have 

an impact on PBF metrics, and the root cause was identified and corrected.  

 

Based on the results of our review, we concluded that the OUR’s processes were adequate for extraction, 

review and upload of student data to the SUDS. 

 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

298



Office of Internal Audit            10  November 21, 2019 

Bursar’s Office 
 
Waivers are a non-cash method of satisfying all or a portion of tuition and fee costs, which include state-

authorized waivers, graduate assistantship/fellowship, employee education program, and UF department 

awarded waivers.  We noted that the Bursar’s Office had an adequate process in place for ensuring that 

waivers were applied to the correct students’ accounts in the myUFL Student Financial System.  

 

Additionally, IPR had coordinated with the Bursar’s Office for validation of the waivers, which were reported 

as part of the SIF submission and used for PBF Metric 3.  We compared the submission file with the frozen 

snapshot and confirmed the minor differences were appropriate as it pertained to university’s regulations 

on state funding.  We also ran an enterprise report for Spring 2019 and determined that the total dollar 

amount of all waivers reported was accurately reflected in myUFL.  Based on our audit results, we 

concluded that the procedures used to report waivers were generally adequate.  

 

Office of Undergraduate Affairs (OUA)  
 

The “Hours to Degree” (HTD) file consists of students who graduated with their first baccalaureate degree 

but not more than one degree or a combined degree (BS/MS).  Additionally, the submission contains a 

Courses to Degree (CTD) table which contains a listing of courses for each student that indicates whether 

the course was used to satisfy their degree.  

 

The annual submission for 2017-2018 HTD was generated from the legacy mainframe student records 

system prior to decommissioning.  The key OUA staff confirmed that there were no procedural changes 

relating to the HTD submission, which utilized the Student Academic Support System (SASS) to evaluate 

the student's academic records in reference to the completion of program requirements for each degree.  

To build the HTD file, the IT staff had developed an automated process to pull all the data together from 

the OUR core files in the Student Records System and combine that with the degree audits to create the 

submission file.   

 

Through the review of correspondence, we observed that there were shared efforts amongst OUA and 

OUR in checking the count of students and courses data for accuracy.  We randomly selected 30 students 

and verified that the students’ course information in CTD matched the data in the student record system.  

We found no differences for the key elements tested.  Based on the results of our review, we concluded 

that the OUA’s processes were adequate for extraction, review and upload of student data to the SUDS. 

 
Student Financial Affairs (SFA)  
 

The primary role of SFA is to provide financial resources to students who would otherwise be unable to 

receive post-secondary education.  Universities generally use financial aid to offset the published tuition 

price to recruit students based on merit and/or to impact campus diversity. The BOG utilized the amount of 

grants and scholarships students received to calculate cost to the student for PBF Metric 3 and to evaluate 

the percentage rate of university access for students from low-income families (PBF Metric 7).   

 

We reviewed SFA’s documented procedures for data extraction, review and upload, noting no significant 

changes since the prior audit in staffing, procedures, or BOG reporting requirements.  Management also 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

299



Office of Internal Audit            11  November 21, 2019 

documented their review procedures for historical data comparison and verification of variances in financial 

aid award programs such as the Florida Public Student Assistance Grant.  

 

We randomly selected 100 financial aid awards and verified the amount reported to the BOG agreed with 

the SFA financial records in the system without exception.  

 

Based on the results of our review, we concluded that SFA employed adequate processes to ensure data 

accuracy, completeness, and timely creation of the submission file. 

 
Office of Technology Licensing (OTL)  

 
The OTL connects researchers with investors and industry to lead them through the commercialization 

process.  The OTL was responsible for reporting licenses (patents, copyrights, and trademarks) to the 

Association of University Technology Managers (AUTM) in their annual Licensing Survey.  The data in this 

survey was used by the BOG to identify the university’s ranking within Association of American Universities 

for Metric 10f.   

 

We reviewed the process OTL utilized to reporting licenses.  As noted in the 2019 Accountability Plan, there 

were a total of 226 licenses reported to the AUTM for the 2018 fiscal year.  We verified that the number of 

licenses reported agreed with the information tracked in the internal database.  Based on our review, the 

processes to compile and report the licensing information were generally adequate to promote that the 

licenses were accurately reported. 

 

Cost Analysis 
 
Total research expenditures reported to the NSF were used in the preeminence metrics.  Cost Analysis 

was responsible for responding to the NSF HERD survey and had developed queries using myUFL general 

ledger data to identify all university research-related expenses.  Adequate written procedures were 

established to ascertain the specific accounting chart fields used to identify research expenditures.  In 

addition, the information was reviewed and approved by the university controller and director for the Division 

of Sponsored Programs prior to submission.   

 

We compared the total research expenditures reported in the 2018 HERD survey with the university’s 

audited financial statement ended on June 30, 2018.  We determined that the amounts reported were 

comparable and far exceeded the minimum threshold established for the preeminence metrics.   

 

Based on our audit results, we concluded that the procedures used to report amounts in the HERD survey 

used by the BOG were adequate.  

 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

300



Office of Internal Audit            12  November 21, 2019 

OTHER COMMENTS 
 
Retention  
 

The BOG built an annual retention file using data submitted from ADM, SIF, and SIFD.  It established the 

number of students in a cohort and the number of those same students who are retained or graduated by 

a specified year.  Such information is used in the calculation of retention and graduation rates for both the 

PBF and preeminence metrics.  

 

We noted that IPR had procedures and processes in place for reviewing and analyzing the retention data 

generated by the BOG.  Specifically, staff compared the generated data with internal data to establish the 

correct cohort population for first-time in college and transfer students.  In addition, IPR had processes in 

place for submitting the appropriate cohort adjustments as permitted by the BOG.  We noted that IPR staff 

obtained data from OUR for deceased students so they could be removed from the cohort.  IPR analyzed 

the degree information in the retention file for the identification of students who were admitted to an 

Advanced Graduate program, such as Pharmacy or Accounting, without first earning a bachelor’s degree.  

 

We randomly selected 15 students in the 2017-2018 Retention file and verified the enrollment records in 

Campus Solutions.  Our review confirmed that the adjustments to the cohort were appropriate as the 

students were enrolled in a graduate degree program for Pharmacy or Accounting and were not awarded 

a bachelor’s degree.  Based on the audit results, we determined there were adequate controls in place over 

the verification of accuracy on the retention submission.  

 
Resubmissions    

 

Resubmissions are typically an iterative process between the BOG, the DA and the data owners to correct 

data errors or anomalies identified by the SUDS edit process.  Resubmissions may also be necessary in 

the event the university finds errors in its reporting system or the BOG does not agree with the comments 

on errors identified in the SUDS review process.  When errors are identified with a data submission that 

has already been accepted, BOG Regulation 3.007(2)(c) requires the DA shall email a resubmission 

request to the Office of Data Analytics.  

 

We reviewed the DA’s data resubmissions to the BOG to ensure these resubmissions were necessary, 

authorized, and were not indicative of any inherent problems in the submission process for PBF and 

preeminence metrics.  Below is a summary of the resubmissions that occurred during the audit period:  

 

 Retention for 2017-2018 was resubmitted to align the graduation rate with federal reporting (IPEDS) 

based on the BOG’s clarification of cohort adjustments.   

 The summer 2018 Admission file was resubmitted due to incomplete reporting of all test scores for 

applicants.  Management explained that the IT staff did not correctly change the programming logic 

to reflect new the BOG requirement.  

 The fall 2018 Admission file was resubmitted to correct a specific student group (PaCE students).  

Management explained that the data was erroneously generated in the legacy mainframe student 

system.  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

301



Office of Internal Audit            13  November 21, 2019 

Based on management’s assertions and our detailed review of these submissions, we determined that the 

resubmissions were completed for data changes that would have no impact on the university’s PBF and 

preeminence metrics and did not represent potential issues for future submissions as Admissions was 

migrating to Campus Solutions.  

 

SUDS System Access Control   
 

Data upload and submissions to the BOG were performed through a secure website.  The DA was assigned 

the role of Data Administrator for the SUDS System by the BOG System Administrator.  The DA’s role was 

the highest level assignable at the institution and was assigned to only one individual at each SUS 

institution.   

 

As of September 2019, there were 48 employees with access to SUDS.  The DA and three IPR staff were 

the only individuals authorized to finalize submissions.  In addition, the DA and IPR associate director of 

Analytic Services were the only individuals with the security manager role that provided the ability to create 

users and assign roles to the authorized submissions that the user is responsible to process.   

 
Procedures required a written approval by the supervisor and the DA to grant access to SUDS.    We 

verified that the required approvals were obtained for all new users during the audit period.  IPR also 

generated a monthly monitoring report to identify any changes in university personnel records for users 

with access.  Based on our review of monitoring reports, we concluded that adequate controls were in place 

over authorization and monitoring of SUDS access.  

 

General Comment 
 

We wish to express our appreciation to the management and staff of the Office of Institutional Planning and 

Research, UFIT Enterprise Systems, the Office of the University Registrar, the Office of Admissions, Cost 

Analysis and Office of Technology and Licensing for the courtesy and cooperation extended to us during 

this review. 

 

Audit Supervised by: Joe Cannella 

 

Audit Conducted by: Jeff Capehart 

   Lily Ly 

   Choi Choi 

 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

302



Metric    Measure

# 2019

1a 4.4 10%

1b 1355 13%

2 10 400%

3 96 7%

4 67.1 12%

5 29 383%

6 $831 316%

7 $506 237%

8 7 of 8 40%

9 319 219%

10 1,627 307%

11 661 231%

12 $1,735 247%

Preeminent Research University Funding Metrics

Endowment Size ($Millions)
An endowment of $500 million or more

Four-year Graduation Rate
60 percent or higher  for full-time, first-time-in-college students

Average GPA
An average weighted grade point average of 4.0 higher  on a 4.0 scale for fall semester 
incoming freshmen 

Average SAT Score
An average SAT score 1200 or higher  on a 1600-point scale for fall semester incoming 
freshmen

Public University National Ranking
A top-50 ranking on at least two  well-known and highly respected national public university 
rankings

Freshman Retention Rate
90 percent or higher  for full-time, first-time-in-college students

Number of Broad Disciplines Ranked in Top 100 for Research Expenditures
A top-100 university national ranking for research expenditures in five or more  science, 
technology, engineering, or mathematics fields of study

Utility Patents Awarded
One hundred or more  total patents awarded by the United States Patent and Trademark 
Office for the most recent 3-year period

National Academic Memberships
Six or more  faculty members at the state university who are members of a national 
academy

Science & Engineering Research Expenditures ($M)
Total annual research expenditures, including federal research expenditures, of $ 200 million 
or more

Non-Medical Science & Engineering Research Expenditures ($M)
Total annual research expenditures in diversified nonmedical sciences of $ 150 million or 
more

% over 
Required

Doctoral Degrees Awarded Annually
Four hundred or more  doctoral degrees awarded annually

Number of Post-Doctoral Appointees
Two hundred or more  postdoctoral appointees annually

Attachment A

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

303



PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING 
2019 METRIC DEFINITIONS 

1. Percent of Bachelor's
Graduates Enrolled or
Employed ($25,000+)
One Year After Graduation 

This metric is based on the percentage of a graduating class of bachelor’s degree recipients 
who are enrolled or employed (earning at least $25,000) somewhere in the United States. 
Students who do not have valid social security numbers and are not found enrolled are 
excluded.  This data now includes non-Florida data from 41 states and districts, including the 
District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.  
Sources: State University Database System (SUDS), Florida Education & Training Placement 
Information Program (FETPIP) and Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) 
analysis of Wage Record Interchange System (WRIS2) and Federal Employment Data 
Exchange (FEDES), and National Student Clearinghouse (NSC). 

2. Median Wages
of Bachelor’s Graduates
Employed Full-time
One Year After Graduation 

This metric is based on annualized Unemployment Insurance (UI) wage data from the fourth 
fiscal quarter after graduation for bachelor’s recipients. This data does not include 
individuals who are self-employed, employed by the military, those without a valid social 
security number, or making less than minimum wage.  This data now includes non-Florida 
data from 41 states and districts, including the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. 
Sources: State University Database System (SUDS), Florida Education & Training Placement 
Information Program (FETPIP) and Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO) 
analysis of Wage Record Interchange System (WRIS2) and Federal Employment Data 
Exchange (FEDES), and National Student Clearinghouse (NSC). 

3. Cost to the Student
Net Tuition & Fees  
for Resident Undergraduates 
per 120 Credit Hours 

This metric is based on resident undergraduate student tuition and fees, books and supplies 
as calculated by the College Board (which serves as a proxy until a university work group 
makes an alternative recommendation), the average number of credit hours attempted by 
students who were admitted as FTIC and graduated with a bachelor’s degree for programs 
that requires 120 credit hours, and financial aid (grants, scholarships and waivers) provided 
to resident undergraduate students (does not include unclassified students).  
Source: State University Database System (SUDS), the Legislature’s annual General 
Appropriations Act, and university required fees. 

4. Four Year FTIC
Graduation Rate

This metric is based on the percentage of first-time-in-college (FTIC) students who started in 
the Fall (or summer continuing to Fall) term and were enrolled full-time in their first 
semester and had graduated from the same institution by the summer term of their fourth 
year.  FTIC includes ‘early admits’ students who were admitted as a degree-seeking student 
prior to high school graduation. 
Source: State University Database System (SUDS).  

5. Academic
Progress Rate
2nd Year Retention 
with GPA Above 2.0 

This metric is based on the percentage of first-time-in-college (FTIC) students who started in 
the Fall (or summer continuing to Fall) term and were enrolled full-time in their first 
semester and were still enrolled in the same institution during the Fall term following their 
first year with had a grade point average (GPA) of at least 2.0 at the end of their first year 
(Fall, Spring, Summer). 
Source: State University Database System (SUDS).  

6. Bachelor's Degrees within
Programs of Strategic
Emphasis

This metric is based on the number of baccalaureate degrees awarded within the programs 
designated by the Board of Governors as ‘Programs of Strategic Emphasis’. A student who 
has multiple majors in the subset of targeted Classification of Instruction Program codes will 
be counted twice (i.e., double-majors are included). 
Source: State University Database System (SUDS).  

7. University Access Rate
Percent of Undergraduates
with a Pell-grant

This metric is based the number of undergraduates, enrolled during the fall term, who 
received a Pell-grant during the fall term. Unclassified students, who are not eligible for Pell-
grants, were excluded from this metric. 
Source: State University Database System (SUDS).  

8a. Graduate Degrees 
within Programs of 
Strategic Emphasis 

This metric is based on the number of graduate degrees awarded within the programs 
designated by the Board of Governors as ‘Programs of Strategic Emphasis’. A student who 
has multiple majors in the subset of targeted Classification of Instruction Program codes will 
be counted twice (i.e., double-majors are included). 
Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

Attachment B

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

304



PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING 
2019 METRIC DEFINITIONS 

2 

8b. Freshmen in Top 10% 
of High School Class 
Applies only to: NCF 

Percent of all degree-seeking, first-time, first-year (freshman) students who had high school 
class rank within the top 10% of their graduating high school class. 
Source: New College of Florida as reported to the Common Data Set. 

BOG Choice Metric 

9. Percent of Bachelor's
Degrees Without Excess
Hours

This metric is based on the percentage of baccalaureate degrees awarded within 110% of 
the credit hours required for a degree based on the Board of Governors Academic Program 
Inventory.  Note: It is important to note that the statutory provisions of the “Excess Hour 
Surcharge” (1009.286, FS) have been modified several times by the Florida Legislature, 
resulting in a phased-in approach that has created three different cohorts of students with 
different requirements. The performance funding metric data is based on the latest 
statutory requirements that mandates 110% of required hours as the threshold. In 
accordance with statute, this metric excludes the following types of student credits (ie, 
accelerated mechanisms, remedial coursework, non-native credit hours that are not used 
toward the degree, non-native credit hours from failed, incomplete, withdrawn, or repeated 
courses, credit hours from internship programs, credit hours up to 10 foreign language 
credit hours, and credit hours earned in military science courses that are part of the Reserve 
Officers’ Training Corps (ROTC) program).  
Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

Attachment B

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

305



PERFORMANCE BASED FUNDING 
2019 METRIC DEFINITIONS 

3 

BOT Choice Metrics 
10a. Percent of R&D 
Expenditures Funded from 
External Sources 
FAMU 

This metric reports the amount of research expenditures that was funded from federal, 
private industry and other (non-state and non-institutional) sources. 
Source: Accountability Report (Table 6A), National Science Foundation annual survey of 
Higher Education Research and Development (HERD). 

10b. Bachelor's Degrees 
Awarded to Minorities 
FAU, FGCU, FIU 

This metric is the number, or percentage, of baccalaureate degrees granted in an academic 
year to Non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic students.  This metric does not include students 
classified as Non-Resident Alien or students with a missing race code. 
Source: Accountability Report (Table 4I), State University Database System (SUDS). 

10c. National Rank Higher 
than Predicted by the 
Financial Resources Ranking 
Based on U.S. and World 
News 
FSU 

This metric is based on the difference between the Financial Resources rank and the overall 
University rank. U.S. News measures financial resources by using a two-year average 
spending per student on instruction, research, student services and related educational 
expenditures - spending on sports, dorms and hospitals doesn't count.  
Source:  US News and World Report’s annual National University rankings. 

10d. Percent of 
Undergraduate 
Seniors Participating in a 
Research Course 
NCF 

This metric is based on the percentage of undergraduate seniors who participate in a 
research course during their senior year. 
Source: New College of Florida. 

10e. Number of Bachelor 
Degrees Awarded Annually 
UCF 

This metric is the number of baccalaureate degrees granted in an academic year. Students 
who earned two distinct degrees in the same academic year were counted twice; students 
who completed multiple majors or tracks were only counted once. 
Source: Accountability Report (Table 4G), State University Database System (SUDS). 

10f. Number of 
Licenses/Options 
Executed  Annually 
UF 

This metric is the total number of licenses and options executed annually as reported to 
Association of Technology Managers (AUTM).  The benchmarks are based on UF’s rank 
within AAU institutions. 
Source: Accountability Report (Table 6A), University of Florida. 

10g. Percent of 
Undergraduate FTE 
in Online Courses 
UNF 

This metric is based on the percentage of undergraduate full-time equivalent (FTE) students 
enrolled in online courses.  The FTE student is a measure of instructional activity that is 
based on the number of credit hours that students enroll by course level.  Distance Learning 
is a course in which at least 80 percent of the direct instruction of the course is delivered 
using some form of technology when the student and instructor are separated by time or 
space, or both (per 1009.24(17), F.S.). 
Source: Accountability Report (Table 3C), State University Database System (SUDS). 

10h. Number of 
Postdoctoral Appointees 
USF 

This metric is based on the number of post-doctoral appointees at the beginning of the 
academic year. A postdoctoral researcher has recently earned a doctoral (or foreign 
equivalent) degree and has a temporary paid appointment to focus on specialized 
research/scholarship under the supervision of a senior scholar. 
Source: National Science Foundation/National Institutes of Health annual Survey of 
Graduate Students and Postdoctorates in Science and Engineering (GSS). 

10i. Percentage of Adult 
Undergraduates Enrolled 
UWF 

This metric is based on the percentage of undergraduates (enrolled during the fall term) 
who are at least 25 years old at the time of enrollment. This includes undergraduates who 
are unclassified (not degree-seeking) students. 
Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

Attachment B

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

306



Metric    Metric Description Points

# 2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020

1   Points Received 6 8 9 9
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 60% 80% 90% 90%

2   Points Received 8 10 10 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 80% 100% 100% 100%

3   Points Received 6 8 8 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 60% 80% 80% 100%

4   Points Received 10 10 10 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 100% 100% 100% 100%

5   Points Received 10 10 10 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 100% 100% 100% 100%

6   Points Received 10 10 10 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 100% 100% 100% 100%

7   Points Received 10 9 6 6
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 100% 90% 60% 60%

8a   Points Received 10 10 10 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 100% 100% 100% 100%

9   Points Received 5 10 10 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 50% 100% 100% 100%

10f   Points Received 7 10 10 10
  Maximum Points 10 10 10 10
  Percent of Maximum 70% 100% 100% 100%

Note: Points in red are based on improvement scoring Total Points Received 82 95 93 95
Maximum Points 100 100 100 100
  Percent of Maximum 82% 95% 93% 95%

Percent of Bachelor's Degrees without Excess Hours
Metric change in 2018-2019 from Number of Faculty Awards: applies to UF and FSU only

Number of Licenses/Options Executed Annually: applies to UF only
Metric was changed in 2017-2018

Bachelor's Degrees Awarded within Programs of Strategic Emphasis - as designated by the Board of 
Governors

University Access Rate - Percent of Undergraduates with a Pell-grant
Access rate benchmark was changed in 2018-2019 due to Senate Bill 4

Graduate Degrees Awarded within Programs of Strategic Emphasis - as designated by the Board of 
Governors

Performance Based Funding Metric Scores

Academic Progress Rate - 2nd Year Retention with GPA Above 2.0

Percent of Bachelor's Graduates Enrolled or Employed (earning at least $25,000) - in the U.S. One 
Year After Graduation
Metric benchmark scale was changed in 2017-2018

Median Wages of Bachelor’s Graduates Employed Full-time One Year After Graduation
Metric calculation and benchmark scale were changed in 2017-2018

Cost to the Student - Net Tuition and Fees per 120 credit hours

Four Year FTIC Graduation Rate - Percent of first-time-In-college students who graduate within four 
years
Metric change in 2018-2019 from Six Year FTIC Graduation Rate 

Attachment C

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

307



Data Integrity Certification 
March 2020 

Data Integrity Certification Form   Page 1

University Name: ___________________________________________________________________ 

INSTRUCTIONS:  Please respond “Yes” or “No” for each representation below.   Explain any “No” responses to ensure clarity of 
the representation you are making to the Board of Governors.  Modify representations to reflect any noted significant or material 
audit findings.    

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment / Reference 

1. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining, and have established and
maintained, effective internal controls and monitoring over my university’s
collection and reporting of data submitted to the Board of Governors Office
which will be used by the Board of Governors in Performance Based Funding
decision-making and Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence Status.

☐ ☐

2. These internal controls and monitoring activities include, but are not limited
to, reliable processes, controls, and procedures designed to ensure that data
required in reports filed with my Board of Trustees and the Board of
Governors are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported in a manner
which ensures its accuracy and completeness.

☐ ☐

3. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 1.001(3)(f), my Board of
Trustees has required that I maintain an effective information system to
provide accurate, timely, and cost-effective information about the university,
and shall require that all data and reporting requirements of the Board of
Governors are met.

☐ ☐

4. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my university shall
provide accurate data to the Board of Governors Office.

☐ ☐

5. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, I have appointed a
Data Administrator to certify and manage the submission of data to the
Board of Governors Office.

☐ ☐

Attachment D

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

308



Data Integrity Certification 

                   Data Integrity Certification Form                       Page 2 

    
Data Integrity Certification Representations 

Representations Yes No Comment / Reference 
6. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, I have tasked my 

Data Administrator to ensure the data file (prior to submission) is consistent 
with the criteria established by the Board of Governors Data Committee.  The 
due diligence includes performing tests on the file using applications, 
processes, and data definitions provided by the Board Office.   

☐ ☐  

7. When critical errors have been identified, through the processes identified in 
item #6, a written explanation of the critical errors was included with the file 
submission. 

☐ ☐  

8. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my Data 
Administrator has submitted data files to the Board of Governors Office in 
accordance with the specified schedule.    

☐ ☐  

9. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my Data 
Administrator electronically certifies data submissions in the State University 
Data System by acknowledging the following statement, “Ready to submit:  
Pressing Submit for Approval represents electronic certification of this data 
per Board of Governors Regulation 3.007.” 

☐ ☐  

10. I am responsible for taking timely and appropriate preventive/ corrective 
actions for deficiencies noted through reviews, audits,  and investigations.   

☐ ☐  

11. I recognize that Board of Governors’ and statutory requirements for the use 
of data related to the Performance Based Funding initiative and Preeminence  
or Emerging Preeminence status consideration will drive university policy 
on a wide range of university operations – from admissions through 
graduation.  I certify that university policy changes and decisions impacting 
data used for these purposes have been made to bring the university’s 
operations and practices in line with State University System Strategic Plan 
goals and have not been made for the purposes of artificially inflating the 
related metrics. 
 
 

☐ ☐  

Attachment D

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

309



Data Integrity Certification 

                   Data Integrity Certification Form                       Page 3 

Data Integrity Certification Representations 
Representations Yes No Comment / Reference 

12. I certify that I agreed to the scope of work for the Performance Based 
Funding Data Integrity Audit and the Preeminence or Emerging 
Preeminence Data Integrity Audit (if applicable) conducted by my chief audit 
executive. 

☐ ☐  

13. In accordance with section 1001.706, Florida Statutes, I certify that the audit 
conducted verified that the data submitted pursuant to sections 1001.7065 
and 1001.92, Florida Statutes [regarding Preeminence and Performance-
based Funding, respectively], complies with the data definitions established 
by the Board of Governors. 

☐ ☐  

    
Data Integrity Certification Representations, Signatures 

 
I certify that all information provided as part of the Board of Governors Data Integrity Certification for Performance Based 
Funding and Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence status (if applicable) is true and correct to the best of my knowledge; and 
I understand that any unsubstantiated, false, misleading, or withheld information relating to these statements render this 
certification void.  My signature below acknowledges that I have read and understand these statements.  I certify that this 
information will be reported to the board of trustees and the Board of Governors. 
 
Certification: ____________________________________________ Date______________________ 
                        President 
 
 

I certify that this Board of Governors Data Integrity Certification for Performance Based Funding and Preeminence or 
Emerging Preeminence status (if applicable) has been approved by the university board of trustees and is true and correct to 
the best of my knowledge.    
 
Certification: ____________________________________________ Date______________________ 
                        Board of Trustees Chair 
 

 

Attachment D

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

310



Overview of the University SUDS Submission Data & Process Flows

Data Flow by Owner

IT Group Data Owner Data Administrator

Submission FileData SourceIT Group Data Owner Data Administrator

BOG←SHARED→ 

PR
O

CE
SS

 O
U

TL
IN

E
FI

LE
 S

U
BM

IS
SI

O
N

 B
Y 

D
AT

A 
O

W
N

ER

Data 
Extraction

Data 
Transformation

and
 File Creation

Data 
Quality 
Review 

Errors?

Data 
Quality 
Review

NO

Data 
Correction

YES

Accurate & 
Complete?

Submit File
 to BOG

NO

Begin

YES

File 
Upload

 to 
SUDS

End

BOG 
Review

Errors?

NO

Re-
Submission

YES

Admissions 
Application ADM Office of 

Admissions

IPR

Office of Institutional 
Planning & Research

Student 
Financial System

UFIT
 Enterprise Systems

Bursar

Student 
Academic 

Support System 
(SASS)

HTD
Office of 

Undergraduate 
Affairs

Student Records 
System

SIFP
SIF

SIFD

Office of the 
University 
Registrar

Financial Aid 
Award System SFA Office for Student 

Financial Affairs

W
AI

VE
RS

Ongoing Data 
Input and Data 
Quality Review

Data 
Source

Attachment E

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

311



 

The Foundation for The Gator Nation 
An Equal Opportunity Institution 

Office of the Provost and Senior Vice President 235 Tigert Hall 
 PO Box 113175 
 Gainesville, FL 32611-3175 
 352-392-2404 Tel 
 352-392-8735 Fax 
 
 
 
November 19, 2019 
 
 
 
Audit and Compliance Committee 
University of Florida Board of Trustees 
903 W. University Avenue, Room 217 
CAMPUS 
 
Dear BOT Audit and Compliance Committee Members: 
 
I am writing to indicate my concurrence with the Performance Based Funding-Data Integrity 
audit report as of September 30, 2019.  I have reviewed the substance of that report in a 
meeting with Joe Canella and the audit staff in an exit meeting on November 7, 2019.   
 
I would like to thank Joe and his staff for the substantial amount of work they put into this 
audit review in support of the university’s Performance Funding effort.    
 
Sincerely yours, 

 
Joseph Glover 
Provost and Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

312



STATE 
UNIVERSITY 
SYSTEM 
of FLORIDA

Data Integrity Certification 
March 2020 

University Name: _____________________________ _ 

Attachment D 

INSTRUCTIONS: Please respond "Yes" or "No" for each representation below. Explain any "No" responses to ensure clarity of 
the representation you are making to the Board of Governors. Modify representations to reflect any noted significant or material 

d·tf ct· au 1 m mgs. 
Data Integrity Certification Representations 

Representations Yes No Comment/ Reference 

I. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining, and have established and � □ 

maintained, effective internal controls and monitoring over my university's
collection and reporting of data submitted to the Board of Governors Office
which will be used by the Board of Governors in Performance Based Funding
decision-making and Preeminence or Emerging Preeminence Status.

2. These internal controls and monitoring activities include, but are not limited I¾'.! □ 

to, reliable processes, controls, and procedures designed to ensure that data
required in reports filed with my Board of Trustees and the Board of
Governors are recorded, processed, summarized, and reported in a manner
which ensures its accuracy and completeness.

3. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 1.001(3)(f), my Board of � □ 

Trustees has required that I maintain an effective information system to
provide accurate, timely, and cost-effective information about the university,
and shall require that all data and reporting requirements of the Board of
Governors are met.

4. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, my university shall � □ 

provide accurate data to the Board of Governors Office.
5. In accordance with Board of Governors Regulation 3.007, I have appointed a � □ 

Data Administrator to certify and manage the submission of data to the
Board of Governors Office.

Dain /11/egrity Certificntio11 Form Page 1 

University of Florida

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

313



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

314



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

315



 

 

January 8, 2020 

 
 
  

Internal Audit Report 

2020.01 
Performance Based 

Funding Data Integrity 

Issued by:  
Julia Hann, 

Chief Audit Executive 
 

Auditors: 
Brandon Bergman, 

Audit Manager 

Final 

Issued to:  
Audit and Compliance Committee: 
Paul McElroy, Doug Burnett, Tom Bryan, 

Sharon Wamble-King, Jill Davis, Nik Patel,  
Kevin Hyde (ex-officio) 
 
President: David Szymanski 

 
Vice Presidents: Jay Coleman, Simon 
Rhodes, Shari Shuman 

 
Associate Vice President: Terry Curran 
 
Director: Abby Willcox 
 
 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

316



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 1 of 12 
 

 

Table of Contents 

The Swoop ..................................................................................................... 2 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................. 2 

Summary of Recommendations .......................................................................................... 3 

Background .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Audit Objective ........................................................................................................................... 5 

Scope and Methodology .......................................................................................................... 6 

Observations ................................................................................................. 7 

Accomplishments....................................................................................................................... 7 

Appendix I .................................................................................................... 8 

Report and Item Ranking Scale ........................................................................................... 8 

Appendix II ................................................................................................... 9 

Data Files ...................................................................................................................................... 9 

Appendix III ................................................................................................ 10 

2019 Metric Definitions ......................................................................................................... 10 

 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

317



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 2 of 12 
 

The Swoop 
Executive Summary 
The University of North Florida (UNF), established in 1972, has gained national recognition 

for its quality, service, and signature emphasis on Transformational Learning Opportunities 

for students. The student population has grown to approximately 17,000, and the University 

has six colleges: College of Education and Human Services; Coggin College of Business; 

Brooks College of Health; College of Arts & Sciences; Hicks Honors College; and College of 

Computing, Engineering, and Construction. 

The integrity of data provided to the State University System Board of Governors (BOG) is 

critical to the Performance Based Funding (PBF) decision-making process.  Therefore, in 

2014 the BOG developed a Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Certification Form to 

provide assurances that the data submitted by universities are reliable, accurate, and 

complete.  The certification form is approved by each university’s board of trustees and 

executed by the university president and their board chairman, affirmatively certifying each 

representation.  

On June 18, 2019, the chairman of the BOG instructed each university’s board and 

president to “…direct the university chief audit executive to perform or cause to have 

performed by an independent audit firm, an audit of the university’s processes that ensure 

the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions.” 

The UNF Office of Internal Auditing (OIA) completed our sixth iteration of the Performance 

Based Funding audit to support the data certification representation.  The primary objective 

of this audit was to determine the adequacy of University controls in place to ensure the 

completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of these data submissions to the BOG.  While we 

reviewed internal controls applicable to all ten metrics; emphasis for detail testing was 

placed in the following: 

• Cost to Student (Metric 3) 

• FTIC Four-Year Graduation Rate (Metric 4) 

• Academic Progress (Metric 5) 

• University Access Rate (Metric 7) 

 

The audit was conducted in accordance with professional auditing standards and is to be 

submitted to the BOG prior to their annual meeting in March 2020.  The audit results 

provide the basis for the UNF president’s and chairman’s certification. 

Overall, based on the results of our audit procedures, we concluded controls over the 

University data submission processes are adequate to ensure the completeness, accuracy, 

and timeliness of submitted data relative to the BOG’s PBF initiative.   

We categorized the overall residual risk ranking to be low.  Internal Audit would like to note 

the staff who took part in the audit were knowledgeable of their area, responded quickly to 

questions, and showed patience throughout the review.  Their cooperation was greatly 

appreciated. 

 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

318



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 3 of 12 
 

Summary of Recommendations 
The Office of Internal Auditing’s (OIA) mission is to provide an independent objective 

assurance and consulting activity which adds value and helps improve operations. Ensuring 

the integrity of data submitted to the BOG requires a holistic approach that involves many 

areas and technological controls.  We did not identify any reportable observations or 

recommendations as defined in Appendix I. 

During our review, we noted five (5) processing exceptions as a result of manual data entry.  

However, these exceptions were corrected during the audit and were determined to be 

immaterial to the overall integrity of submitted submission files.  

 

Additionally, as part of this audit we conducted follow-up on the one (1) outstanding 

corrective action plan from the prior audits and confirmed implementation.     

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

319



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 4 of 12 
 

Background 
The Performance Based Funding Data Integrity Audit is required annually by the BOG and is 

included in our fiscal year 2019-2020 risk-based audit plan approved by the University 

President and Board of Trustees (BOT). 

The Performance Based Funding Model was approved by the BOG in January 2014 and has 

incentivized universities and their boards of trustees to achieve excellence and performance 

improvements in key areas aligned to the State University System (SUS) Strategic Plan 

goals.  Over the years, there have been several changes to the model. Most recently, in 

March 2018, Senate Bill 4 was signed into law requiring the inclusion of a 4-year, rather 

than a 6-year, graduation rate in the Performance Funding Model.  

The PBF Model includes ten metrics to evaluate an institution’s performance in a variety of 

different strategic areas: 

• Nine of the ten metrics are common to all institutions.  These include metrics on 

employment after graduation, cost to the student, graduation rates, academic 

progress, programs of strategic emphasis, university access rates, and students 

graduating without excess hours.   

• The final metric is chosen by each university board of trustees.  Metric 10 must be 

applicable to the mission of the university and have not been previously chosen for 

the model.  UNF BOT selected the percent of undergraduate full-time equivalent 

students enrolled in online courses. 

 

For each metric, institutions are evaluated on either Excellence (a raw score) or 

Improvement (the percentage change or difference in percentage points from the prior year 

depending on the metric).  BOG staff uses raw data submitted by the Office of Institutional 

Research to calculate performance on the individual metrics.  Appendix II defines the ten 

metrics and their corresponding data elements, and Appendix III states each metric and the 

data files used by the BOG for calculations. 

BOG Regulation 3.007, SUS Management Information System, states SUS universities shall 

provide accurate data to a management information system established and maintained by 

the BOG Office.  The BOG has created a web-based State University Database System 

(SUDS) Master File Submission Subsystem for the SUS to report their data. 

The number of files to be uploaded is dependent on the submission type.  Once all required 

files and any desired optional files for the submission are uploaded, the University checks 

the submission based on edits and standard reports generated by SUDS.  The SUDS system 

will identify errors or anomalies which may cause the file to be rejected.  These items are to 

be corrected or explained on the source file and uploaded to the system to be checked 

again.  This process is repeated until the submission is free of all significant errors and/or 

the errors are explained.  Once accomplished, the University will ‘officially’ submit the data 

to the BOG for approval.  The electronic submission certifies that the file/data represents 

the position of the University for the term reported. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

320



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 5 of 12 
 

Once submitted, BOG staff review the results and the submission will either be accepted or 

rejected.  If rejected, the reason will be posted to the user and a resubmission request will 

be completed.  If accepted, the submitted data will be promoted to the production database. 

IR performs the University's data administration function by producing or coordinating all 

official data reports and electronic files submitted to federal, state, regional, and local 

agencies.  IR has the following organizational structure: 

 

Additionally, IR is actively involved in the following committees:  

• Data Management Council: Provides key leadership to the institutional data 

governance initiative by providing oversight and strategic decision making within the 

following data areas: 

o policies and standards, 

o security and privacy, 

o access, 

o quality and consistency,  

o retention, archiving and disposition, and 

o adherence to federal and state compliance laws. 

• Data Governance Committee: An advisory committee to the Data Management 

Council. 

 

Audit Objective 
The objectives of the audit were to: 

▪ Determine whether the University has adequate controls in place to ensure the 

completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG, which 

support the Performance Based Funding metrics; 

▪ Provide an objective basis of support for the president and board of trustees chair to 

sign the required representations in the Performance Based Funding - Data Integrity 

Certification which will be filed with the BOG on or before March 1, 2020; 

▪ Follow-up on the implementation of corrective action plans reported in the prior 

audit. 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

321



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 6 of 12 
 

Scope and Methodology 
The scope of this audit included the data submitted to the BOG for 2020 Performance Based 

Funding metrics calculations.  To satisfy our objectives, we performed the following: 

• Determined if the university president has appointed an institutional data 

administrator. 

• Performed detailed testing on the following data submission files: 

o Student Instruction File (SIF) 

o Student Financial Aid (SFA) 

o Hours to Degree (HTD) 

o Retention (RET) 

• Determined if the University has adequate internal controls in place to gather, test, 

and ensure the validity of data submitted and resubmitted (if necessary) to the 

BOG. 

• Ensured the timely submission of data submission files as outlined by the BOG. 

 

We conducted employee interviews, performed process walkthroughs, analytical reviews, 

and evaluated risks in the processes and its impact on each of the focused metrics.  

Audit fieldwork began August 21, 2019 and concluded on December 17, 2019. We 

conducted the audit in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional 

Practice of Internal Auditing published by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA).  We relied 

on UNF Policies and Regulations, State of Florida Board of Governors Regulations and best 

business practices to support strong internal controls. 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

322



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 7 of 12 
 

Observations 

Accomplishments 
 

The President appointed the Director of IR as the Institutional Data Administrator to certify 

and manage the submission of data to the BOG Office.  

Data integrity controls exist throughout many of the University’s data collecting, processing, 

and reporting processes. It is noted management has made several improvements, outlined 

below, to the internal controls over data integrity. 

Topics Accomplishments 

Data Submission Process 

Documentation 

IR has data submission building instructions 

along with a copy of all individual Structured 

Query Language (SQL) used.  These building 

instruction files have a step-by-step listing of 

the pull, formatting, and review process. 

Timeliness of file submissions 

All but one (1) PBF data submission files were 

provided to the BOG by the requested due 

date.  This one file missed the BOG’s due date 

by two (2) business days. 

Data Owner Reviews 

Data owners review data submission files prior 

to final submission to the BOG.  Data owners 

have their own review process in addition to 

IR’s review processes. 

Student ID Changes 

IR has revised and enhanced their student ID 

capture and change process to better identify 

changes made.  The identification of these 

changes enhances the reliability of submission 

files, including cohort adjustments.  

Third-Party Billing 

IR is collaborating with the Controller’s Office 

to better identify and include third-party 

billing. 

 

 

 

 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

323



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 8 of 12 
 

Appendix I 

Report and Item Ranking Scale 
 

Overall Report Residual Risk Ranking 

▪ Low  

o The internal control system scoped within the audit is functioning 

satisfactorily, and remaining operating risks are low. 

o The collective audit issues are considered minor deficiencies. 

o Related corrective action need only be addressed to improve current 

operations. 

 

▪ Moderate  

o The internal control system scoped within the audit is functioning in a manor 

that provides reasonable assurance that most major risks will be mitigated. 

o Corrective action to address the audit issues may not be critical to the 

university’s business operations as a whole, but needs to be addressed to 

minimize financial, reputational, operational, and strategic risks. 

▪ High  

o The internal control system scoped within the audit needs major 

improvement. 

o The deficiencies identified could significantly impair operations. 

o If corrective action is not implemented timely, issues may escalate to cause 

critical financial, reputational, operational, or strategic risks. 

o Corrective action plans should be given a priority. 

 

Reportable Item Ranking Scale 

▪ Minor Risk [Osprey Opportunity]  

o Observation reportable to address a nominal risk. 

o Recommendations provide opportunities for improvement. 

o Minor violations of procedures, rules, or regulations.  

o Routine administration attention requested. 

o Corrective action strongly recommended to improve quality or processes of 

area being audited. 

 

▪ Notable Risk 

o Significant observation reportable to address an increased risk.  

o Multiple violations of policies and procedures, and/or weak internal controls.  

o Important opportunity to improve effectiveness and efficiency.  

o Corrective action required.  

 

▪ Critical Risk 

o Major observation reportable due to a critical risk to the university. 

o Material violation of policies/procedures/laws, and/or unacceptable internal 

controls, and/or high risk for fraud/waste/abuse, and/or major opportunity to 

improve effectiveness and efficiency.  

o Material risk identified.  

o Immediate corrective action required.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

324



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 9 of 12 
 

Appendix II 
Data Files 

Metric Description 
SUDS Data 

File Used  

Additional Data Used in 

Calculation 

Functional 

Data 

Owner 

1 

Percent of Bachelor’s 

Graduates Enrolled or 

Employed ($25,000+) 

SIFD 

National Student Clearinghouse (NSC), 

Florida Education and Training 

Placement Information Program 

(FETPIP) analysis of Wage Record 

Interchange System (WRIS2), and 

Federal Employment Data Exchange 

(FEDES) 

Registrar 

2 
Median Wages of Bachelor’s 

Graduates Employed Full-time 
SIFD FETPIP, WRIS2, FEDES, and NSC 

 

Registrar 

3 

Average Cost to the Student 

[Net Tuition & Fees per 120 

Credit Hours for Resident 

Undergraduates] 

HTD, SFA, SIF None 
Registrar, 

Financial Aid 

4 
FTIC Four-Year Graduation 

Rate 
SIF, SIFD, RET None Registrar 

5 

Academic Progress Rate 

[Second Year Retention Rate 

with At Least a 2.0 GPA] 

SIF, RET None Registrar 

6 

Percentage of Bachelor’s 

Degrees Awarded within 

Programs of Strategic 

Emphasis 

SIFD None Registrar 

7 

University Access Rate 

[Percent of Undergraduates 

with a Pell grant] 

SFA, SIF None 
Financial Aid, 

Registrar 

8 

Percentage of Graduate 

Degrees Awarded within 

Programs of Strategic 

Emphasis 

SIFD None 

Registrar, 

Graduate 

School 

9 

Percent of Baccalaureate 

Degrees Awarded Without 

Excess Hours 

HTD None Registrar 

10 

BOT Choice: Percent of 

Undergraduate FTE in Online 

Courses 

SIF None Registrar 

 

RET = Retention File     SFA = Student Financial Aid 

SIF = Student Instruction File    HTD = Hours to Degree 

SIFD = Student Instruction File – Degrees Awarded 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

325



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 10 of 12 
 

Appendix III 
2019 Metric Definitions  

1. Percent of Bachelor's 

Graduates Enrolled or 

Employed ($25,000+) 
One Year After Graduation 

This metric is based on the percentage of a graduating class of bachelor’s 

degree recipients who are enrolled or employed (earning at least $25,000) 

somewhere in the United States. Students who do not have valid social 

security numbers and are not found enrolled are excluded. This data now 

includes non-Florida data from 41 states and districts, including the District 

of Columbia and Puerto Rico.  

Sources: State University Database System (SUDS), Florida Education & 

Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP) and Florida Department of 

Economic Opportunity (DEO) analysis of Wage Record Interchange System 

(WRIS2) and Federal Employment Data Exchange (FEDES), and National 

Student Clearinghouse (NSC) 

2. Median Wages of 

Bachelor’s Graduates 

Employed Full-time  
One Year After Graduation 

This metric is based on annualized Unemployment Insurance (UI) wage data 

from the fourth fiscal quarter after graduation for bachelor’s recipients. This 

data does not include individuals who are self-employed, employed by the 

military, those without a valid social security number, or making less than 

minimum wage. This data now includes non-Florida data from 41 states and 

districts, including the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico.  

Sources: State University Database System (SUDS), Florida Education & 

Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP) and Florida Department of 

Economic Opportunity (DEO) analysis of Wage Record Interchange System 

(WRIS2) and Federal Employment Data Exchange (FEDES), and National 

Student Clearinghouse (NSC). 

3. Cost to the Student 
Net Tuition & Fees for Resident 

Undergraduates per 120 Credit 

Hours 

This metric is based on resident undergraduate student tuition and fees, 

books and supplies as calculated by the College Board (which serves as a 

proxy until a university work group makes an alternative recommendation), 

the average number of credit hours attempted by students who were 

admitted as FTIC and graduated with a bachelor’s degree for programs that 

requires 120 credit hours, and financial aid (grants, scholarships and 

waivers) provided to resident undergraduate students (does not include 

unclassified students).  

Source: State University Database System (SUDS), the Legislature’s annual 

General Appropriations Act, and university required fees. 

4. Four Year FTIC 

Graduation Rate 

This metric is based on the percentage of first-time-in-college (FTIC) 

students who started in the Fall (or summer continuing to Fall) term and 

were enrolled full-time in their first semester and had graduated from the 

same institution by the summer term of their fourth year. FTIC includes 

‘early admits’ students who were admitted as a degree-seeking student prior 

to high school graduation.  

Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

326



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 11 of 12 
 

5. Academic Progress 

Rate 2nd Year Retention with 

GPA Above 2.0 

This metric is based on the percentage of first-time-in-college (FTIC) 

students who started in the Fall (or summer continuing to Fall) term and 

were enrolled full-time in their first semester and were still enrolled in the 

same institution during the Fall term following their first year with had a 

grade point average (GPA) of at least 2.0 at the end of their first year (Fall, 

Spring, Summer).  

Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

6. Bachelor's Degrees 

within Programs of 

Strategic Emphasis 

This metric is based on the number of baccalaureate degrees awarded within 

the programs designated by the Board of Governors as ‘Programs of 

Strategic Emphasis’. A student who has multiple majors in the subset of 

targeted Classification of Instruction Program codes will be counted twice 

(i.e., double-majors are included).  

Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

7. University Access Rate 
Percent of Undergraduates with 

a Pell-grant 

This metric is based the number of undergraduates, enrolled during the fall 

term, who received a Pell-grant during the fall term. Unclassified students, 

who are not eligible for Pellgrants, were excluded from this metric.  

Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

8a. Graduate Degrees 

within Programs of 

Strategic Emphasis 

This metric is based on the number of graduate degrees awarded within the 

programs designated by the Board of Governors as ‘Programs of Strategic 

Emphasis’. A student who has multiple majors in the subset of targeted 

Classification of Instruction Program codes will be counted twice (i.e., 

double-majors are included).  

Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

 

BOG Choice Metric 

 

9. Percent of Bachelor's 

Degrees Without Excess 

Hours 

This metric is based on the percentage of baccalaureate degrees awarded 

within 110% of the credit hours required for a degree based on the Board of 

Governors Academic Program Inventory. Note: It is important to note that 

the statutory provisions of the “Excess Hour Surcharge” (1009.286, FS) have 

been modified several times by the Florida Legislature, resulting in a 

phased-in approach that has created three different cohorts of students with 

different requirements. The performance funding metric data is based on the 

latest statutory requirements that mandates 110% of required hours as the 

threshold. In accordance with statute, this metric excludes the following 

types of student credits (ie, accelerated mechanisms, remedial coursework, 

non-native credit hours that are not used toward the degree, non-native 

credit hours from failed, incomplete, withdrawn, or repeated courses, credit 

hours from internship programs, credit hours up to 10 foreign language 

credit hours, and credit hours earned in military science courses that are 

part of the Reserve Officers’ Training Corps (ROTC) program).  

Source: State University Database System (SUDS). 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

327



OFFICE OF THE PRESIDENT 
Office of Internal Auditing 

 

Page 12 of 12 
 

BOT Choice Metric  

10g. Percent of 

Undergraduate FTE in 

Online Courses UNF 

This metric is based on the percentage of undergraduate full-time equivalent 

(FTE) students enrolled in online courses. The FTE student is a measure of 

instructional activity that is based on the number of credit hours that 

students enroll by course level. Distance Learning is a course in which at 

least 80 percent of the direct instruction of the course is delivered using 

some form of technology when the student and instructor are separated by 

time or space, or both (per 1009.24(17), F.S.).  

 

Source: Accountability Report (Table 3C), State University Database System 

(SUDS). 

 

 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

328



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

329



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

330



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

331



 

USF SYSTEM AUDIT 

4019 E. Fowler Ave., Suite 200  Tampa, FL 33617 

(813) 974-2705  www.usf.edu/audit  

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Dr. Ralph Wilcox, Provost & Executive Vice President of Academic Affairs 

Dr. Terry Chisolm, Vice Provost for Strategic Planning, Performance & 
Accountability 
 

FROM: Virginia L. Kalil, CIA, CISA, CFE, CRISC 
Executive Director/Chief Internal Auditor 
 

DATE: February 13, 2020 
 

SUBJECT: 20-010 Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 
 

 
USF System Audit (Audit) performed an audit of the internal controls that ensure the completeness, 
accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the Board of Governors (BOG).  These data 
submissions are relied upon by the board in preparing the measures used in the performance-based 
funding (PBF) process.  This audit also provides an objective basis of support for the President and 
Board of Trustees (BOT) Chair to sign the representations included in the Data Integrity 
Certification to be filed with the BOG by March 2, 2020.  This project is part of the approved 2019-
2020 Work Plan. 
 
The PBF measures are based on data submitted through the State University Database System 
(SUDS) utilizing a state-wide data submission process for BOG files.  For additional information on 
data files included in this audit, see Appendix A. 
 
Audit’s overall conclusion was that there was an adequate system of internal controls in place to 
meet our audit objectives, assuming corrective actions are taken timely to address one medium-
priority risk communicated separately in our management letter related to Metric Nine-percent of 
bachelor’s degrees awarded without excess hours.  No impact to the performance measures was 
identified. 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

332

http://www.usf.edu/audit


AUDIT 20-010 

2 of 8 

 

OVERALL CONCLUSION 
☐     Adequate System of Internal Control Findings indicate that, as a whole, controls are adequate.  Identified 

risks, if any, were low-priority requiring timely management attention 
within 90 days. 

☒    Adequate System of Internal Control – 

        with reservations 

Medium-priority risks are present requiring urgent management 
attention within 60 days. 

☐     Inadequate System of Internal Control High-priority risks are present requiring immediate management 
attention within 30 days. 
 

 
We received outstanding cooperation throughout this audit.  Please contact us at (813) 974-2705 if 
you have any questions. 
 
 
cc:  President Steven C. Currall, USF System 

Chair Jordan Zimmerman, USF Board of Trustees 
David Lechner, Senior Vice President, Business and Financial Strategy 
Dr. Charles Lockwood, Senior Vice President, USF Health 
Dr. Karen Holbrook, Regional Chancellor, USF Sarasota-Manatee 
Dr. Martin Tadlock, Regional Chancellor, USF St. Petersburg 
Dr. Paul Dosal, Vice President for Student Affairs and Student Success 
Nick Trivunovich, Vice President, Business and Finance and Chief Financial Officer 
Sidney Fernandes, Vice President, Information Technology and Chief Information Officer 
Dr. Paul Atchley, Dean of Undergraduate Studies and Sr. Associate Vice President, 
Student Affairs and Student Success 
Billie Jo Hamilton, Associate Vice President, Enrollment Planning & Management 
Masha Galchenko Director, University Budgets, Analytics and Data Administration Dr. 
Dr. Glen Besterfield, Dean of Admissions and Associate Vice President, Student Affairs 
and Student Success 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

333



AUDIT 20-010 

3 of 8 

BACKGROUND 
 

In 2014, the Board of Governors (BOG) implemented the Performance-Based Funding (PBF) 
Model which includes 10 metrics intended to evaluate Florida institutions on a range of issues (e.g., 
graduation and retention rates, average student costs).  Eight of the metrics are common to all 
institutions, while the remaining two vary by institution and focus on areas of improvement or the 
specific mission of the university. 
 
The metric calculations are based on data submitted through the State University Database System 
(SUDS) utilizing a state-wide data submission process for BOG files.  In order to ensure the 
integrity of the data being submitted to the BOG to support the calculation of the metrics, USF has 
established specific file generation, review, certification, and submission processes. 
 
File Generation Process 
 
USF utilizes an automated process, Application Manager, to extract data files from the original 
systems of record and reformat and redefine data to meet the BOG data definition standards.  The 
only data file that can be impacted outside the Application Manager process is the Hours to Degree 
submission.  (See Hours to Degree File Generation Process below.) 
 
This Application Manager process includes the following key controls: 
 

 The Application Manager jobs can only be launched by authorized Data Stewards.  In 
addition, individuals responsible for the collection and validation of the data have no ability 
to modify the Application Manager jobs. 

 The Retention File generated by the BOG is downloaded from the BOG SUDS portal to 
HubMart by Resource Management & Analysis (RMA).  The Data Stewards and Sub-
certifiers cannot change the files. 

 Corrections are made to the original systems of record and the Application Manager job is 
re-run until the file is free of material errors. 

 Any changes to the data derivations, data elements, or table layouts in the Application 
Manager jobs are tightly controlled by RMA and Information Technology (IT) utilizing a 
formal change management process. 

 There are IT controls designed to ensure that changes to the Application Manager jobs are 
approved via the standard USF change management process and that access to BOG 
submission-related data at rest or in transit is appropriately controlled. 

 
Hours to Degree File Generation Process 
 
The Hours to Degree file submission has two primary tables:  1) Hours to Degree (HTD) that 
contains information regarding the students and the degrees issued and 2) Courses to Degree (CTD) 
that includes information regarding the courses taken and utilization of the courses to degree.  The 
HTD file is derived based on data in HubMart (Degrees_Submitted_Vw) and data from the student 
records system, OASIS (Online Access Student Information System)-a Banner product.  The CTD 
file is generated from a combination of OASIS data and data obtained from the degree certification 
and advising system (DegreeWorks). 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

334



AUDIT 20-010 

4 of 8 

While an Application Manager process is used to create the HTD file, the process utilizes a series of 
complex scripts to select the population, normalize the data fields to meet BOG data definition 
standards, and populate course attributes used by the BOG to identify excess hours exemptions.  
This includes deriving whether courses are “used to degree” or “not used to degree” from 
DegreeWorks. 
 
The systematically-identified HTD population and CTD file are loaded into two custom Banner 
reporting tables for validation.  Any necessary corrections are made manually by the Data Steward 
utilizing custom Banner forms. 
 
BOG File Review and Certification Process 
 
USF utilizes a formal review process managed by RMA for all BOG file submissions.  The review 
and certification process includes the following key controls: 
 

 Data Stewards, Sub-certifiers and Executive Reviewers who had operational and/or 
administrative responsibility for the institutional data are assigned key roles and 
responsibilities.  The RMA website defines each of these roles. 

 A central repository (DocMart) contains detailed information regarding data elements for 
each BOG SUDS file. 

 A secured file storage location (HubMart) provides read-only access and functionality to the 
data collected and extracted into the Data Warehouse from transactional source systems in 
order to allow Data Stewards and Sub-certifiers to review and validate data. 

 A formal sub-certification and executive review process is in place to ensure that institutional 
data submitted to the BOG accurately reflects the data contained in the primary systems of 
record.  No BOG file is submitted to the BOG by the Data Administrator until the 
Executive Reviewer(s) approves the file. 

 A formal process for requesting and approving resubmissions includes a second executive 
review process. 

 
BOG File Submission Process 
 
Once all data integrity steps are performed and the file is ready for upload to the SUDS portal, a 
secure transmission process is used by RMA to ensure data cannot be changed prior to submission. 
 
Key controls within this process include: 
 

 A dedicated transfer server is used to transmit the BOG SUDS files.  Only RMA and IT 
server administrators have access to the transfer server. 

 Only RMA staff can upload a file from the transfer server to SUDS, edit submissions, 
generate available reports, or generate reports with re-editing. 

 Only the Data Administrator and Back-up administrator can submit the final BOG file. 
 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

335

http://www.usf.edu/business-finance/resource-management-analysis/data-administration/roles.aspx


AUDIT 20-010 

5 of 8 

SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES 
 

Our audit focused on the internal controls established by the USF System as of September 30, 2019 
to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG, which 
support the PBF measures. 
 
The primary objectives of our audit were to: 
 

 Determine whether the processes and internal controls established by the university ensure 
the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG which support 
the PBF measures. 

 

 Provide an objective basis of support for the President and BOT Chair to sign the 
representations included in the Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Certification, 
which will be submitted to the BOT and filed with the BOG by March 2, 2020. 

 
The scope and objectives of the audit were set jointly and agreed to by the President, BOT Chair, 
the BOT Audit & Compliance Committee Chair, and the university’s Chief Audit Executive.  USF 
System Audit (Audit) followed its standard risk assessment, audit program, and reporting protocols. 

 

PROCEDURES PERFORMED 
 
We followed a disciplined, systematic approach using the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing.  The information system components of the audit were performed in 
accordance with the ISACA (Information Systems Audit and Control Association) Standards and Guidelines.  
The COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) and COBIT 
(Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies) Control Frameworks were used to 
assess control structure effectiveness. 
 
For term-based submissions, testing of the control processes was performed on the files covering 
the period Summer 2018 through Spring 2019.  For files submitted annually, the current year file 
was selected for testing if available by November 15, 2019.  Our testing focused on the tables and 
data elements in the files which were utilized by the BOG to compute the performance measure.  
For additional information on the files included in this review see Appendix A. 
 
Minimum audit guidelines were established by the BOG in year one which outlined eight key 
objectives.  Although not required, these key objectives have been incorporated into the audit each 
subsequent year:  
 

1. Verify the Data Administrator has been appointed by the university president and PBF 
responsibilities incorporated into their job duties. 

2. Validate that processes and internal controls in place are designed to ensure 
completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions. 

3. Determine whether policies, procedures, and desk manuals are adequate to ensure 
integrity of submissions. 

4. Evaluate the adequacy of system access controls. 
5. Verify data accuracy through sample testing of key files and data elements. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

336



AUDIT 20-010 

6 of 8 

6. Assess the consistency of Data Administrator’s certification of data submissions. 
7. Confirm the consistency of data submissions with the BOG data definitions (files and 

data elements). 
8. Evaluate the necessity and authorization of data resubmissions. 

 
In year one, a comprehensive review (Audit 15-010) of processes and controls was conducted 
followed by a risk assessment.  In each subsequent year, system process documentation was updated 
to reflect any material changes that took place; a new risk assessment was performed based on the 
updated system documentation and processes; and a new work plan was developed based on the 
updated risk assessment.  Fraud-related risks, including the availability and appetite to manipulate 
data to produce more favorable results, was included as part of the risk assessment. 
 
This year’s audit included: 
 

1. Identifying and evaluating any changes to key processes used by the Data Administrator and 
data owners/custodians to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data 
submissions to the BOG.  This includes verifying new controls put in place to resolve 
deficiencies identified in the prior year’s audit and identifying changes in key personnel 
performing these processes. 

2. Reviewing 2019 BOG SUDS workshop proceedings, metric definitions, benchmarks, and 
other key documents to identify any changes to the BOG PBF metrics and data definitions 
used for the BOG PBF metrics. 

3. Reviewing all requests to modify data elements and/or file submission processes to ensure 
they followed the standard change management process and are consistent with BOG 
expectations. 

4. Reviewing the Data Administrator’s data resubmissions to the BOG from January 1, 2019 to 
December 31, 2019 to ensure these resubmissions were both necessary and authorized, as 
well as evaluating that controls were in place to minimize the need for data resubmissions 
and were functioning as designed. 

5. Updating the prior year risk assessment and fraud risk assessment to reflect changes 
identified. 

6. Tracing samples from the Retention (RET), Student Instructional File (SIF), SIF – Degrees 
Awarded (SIFD), and Student Financial Aid (SFA) BOG files to OASIS (Online Access 
Student Information System), the system of record.  The integrity of these files collectively 
impact metrics one through ten. 

7. Verifying accuracy, completeness, and consistency with BOG expectations of the data 
submitted to the BOG for Measure Nine - Percent of Bachelor’s Degrees without Excess 
Hours, via the Hours to Degree (HTD) file.   

 
 

PRIOR AUDIT PROJECTS 
 
In FY 2018-2019, an audit of the controls established by the university to ensure the completeness, 
accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the BOG which supported the PBF metrics (Audit 
19-010, issued February 4, 2019) was performed.  As of February 4, 2019, one of the two medium-
priority risk recommendations were reported as in progress.  As of the date of this report, all 
recommendations have been reported by management as implemented. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

337



AUDIT 20-010 

7 of 8 

 
Audit verified the new controls in place were effectively mitigating the risks identified. 
 

 

CONCLUSION 
 
Audit’s overall conclusion was that there was an adequate system of internal controls in place to 
meet our audit objectives, assuming corrective actions are taken timely to address one medium-
priority risk communicated separately in our management letter related to Metric Nine-percent of 
bachelor’s degrees awarded without excess hours.  No impact to the performance measures was 
identified. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

338



AUDIT 20-010 

8 of 8 

APPENDIX A 
PERFORMANCE MEASURES DATA SOURCES 

 
Measure Description BOG File Data Used/Created by the BOG 

One Percent of bachelor’s graduates employed full-
time in or continuing their education in the U.S. 
one year after graduation 

SIFD National Student Clearing house, 
Florida Education and Training 
Placement Information Program 

Two Median wages of bachelor’s graduates employed 
full-time one year after graduation 

SIFD Unemployment Insurance wage 
data 

Three Net Cost to Student SIF, SFA, 
HTD 

College Board national average 
book cost 

Four Four year FTIC graduation rate SIFP, SIF, 
SIFD, 
Retention 
Cohort 
Change File 

BOG created Cohort and 
Retention File 

Five Academic progress rate SIF  BOG created Cohort 

Six Bachelor’s degrees awarded within programs of 
strategic emphasis 

SIFD  

Seven University access rate SFA, SIF  

Eight Graduate degrees awarded within programs of 
strategic emphasis 

SIFD  

Nine Percent of bachelor’s degrees without excess 
hours 

HTD  

Ten1 Six-year FTIC graduation rate SIFP, SIF, 
SIFD, 
Retention 
Cohort 
Change File  

BOG created Cohort and 
Retention File 

1Metric replaces number of post-doctoral appointees for 2020 cycle. 
 

BOG FILES REVIEWED 
 

Submission 
System of 

Record Table 
Submission 
Reviewed 

Hours to Degree (HTD) OASIS, 
DegreeWorks 

Hours to Degree 
Courses to Degree 

2018-2019 

Student Financial Aid (SFA) OASIS Financial Aid Awards 2018-2019 

Student Instructional File - 
Degree (SIFD) 

OASIS Degrees Awarded Summer 2018, 
Fall 2018, 

Spring 2019 

Student Instructional File (SIF) OASIS, GEMS Person Demographics 
Enrollments 

Summer 2018, 
Fall 2018, 

Spring 2019 

Retention File (RET) BOG Retention Cohort 
Change 

2017-2018 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

339



 

USF SYSTEM AUDIT 

4019 E. Fowler Ave., Suite 200  Tampa, FL 33617 

(813) 974-2705  www.usf.edu/audit 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Dr. Ralph Wilcox, Provost & Executive Vice President of Academic Affairs 

Dr. Terry Chisolm, Vice Provost for Strategic Planning, Performance & 
Accountability 
 

FROM: Virginia Kalil, CIA, CISA, CFE, CRISC 
Executive Director/Chief Internal Auditor 
 

DATE: February 13, 2020 
 

SUBJECT: 20-010 Management Letter – Performance-Based Funding Data Integrity Audit 

 
USF System Audit (Audit) performed an audit of the University’s processes and internal controls that 
ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions to the Board of Governors 
(BOG).  These data submissions are relied upon by the board in preparing the measures used in the 
performance-based funding process.  An audit report was issued on February 13, 2020, which defined 
the scope and results of our audit. 
 
Based on the review, Audit concluded there was an adequate system of internal controls in place to 
meet the audit objectives, assuming timely corrective actions are taken for the one medium-priority risk 
included in this Management Letter. 
 
As audit reports are focused only on high-priority risks, this medium-priority risk was not addressed in 
our audit report.  Urgent management attention is required within 60 days.  The medium-priority risk 
identified for management attention related to Measure Nine, percent of bachelor’s degrees awarded 
without excess hours. 
 
The risks identified had no impact on the performance metrics. 
 
Within 10 business days, please provide your actions planned and expected implementation dates 
within the Team Central Follow-Up System for those recommendations not marked as resolved. 
 
Please contact us at (813) 974-2705 if you have any questions. 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

340

http://www.usf.edu/audit


AUDIT 20-010 

2 of 4 

cc:   President Steven C. Currall, USF System 
Chair Jordan Zimmerman, USF Board of Trustees 
David Lechner, Senior Vice President, Business and Financial Strategy 
Dr. Charles Lockwood, Senior Vice President, USF Health 
Dr. Karen Holbrook, Regional Chancellor, USF Sarasota-Manatee 
Dr. Martin Tadlock, Regional Chancellor, USF St. Petersburg 
Dr. Paul Dosal, Vice President for Student Affairs and Student Success 
Nick Trivunovich, Vice President, Business and Finance and Chief Financial Officer 
Sidney Fernandes, Vice President and Chief Information Officer, Information Technology 
Dr. Paul Atchley, Dean of Undergraduate Studies, and Sr. Associate Vice President of 
Student Affairs and Student Success. 
Billie Jo Hamilton, Associate Vice President, Enrollment Planning & Management 

      Masha Galchenko Director, University Budgets, Analytics and Data Administration          
      Dr. Glen Besterfield, Dean of Admissions and Associate Vice President, Student Affairs    
      and Student Success 

 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

341



AUDIT 20-010 

3 of 4 

 MEDIUM PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 
1. Additional emphasis is needed to ensure repeated course work is properly 

identified in Banner and Degree work. 
 

In Progress 

 Hours to Degree (HTD) Courses to Degree (CTD) logic relies on a course attribute 
which is placed on the course in Banner (“REPT”).  Audit identified an issue where 
repeated course work, ineligible for use toward degree, was reflected as used toward 
degree in the CTD file.  
 
The CTD Credit Hour Usage Indicator (BOG Element 01489) (usage indicator) is a 
code used to indicate whether a course was used toward a student’s degree 
requirements or to meet the foreign language requirement.  The usage indicator is set 
to “D” if the hours were used toward degree.   
 
Repeated course work for which a passing grade is received cannot be flagged as used 
toward degree unless the course has been approved as a repeatable course or an 
exception has been approved.  If the course is not a repeatable course the course 
instance with the lowest grade is assigned a course attribute (“REPT”) in OASIS to 
prevent DegreeWorks and the HTD CTD Logic from using the repeated course 
toward a degree requirement.   
 
Of the 455,673 records in the CTD file, contained within the HTD submission, only 
4,706 had the “REPT” course attribute applied.  Since the “REPT” course attribute 
can be manually or systematically applied, Audit performed a reasonableness review 
of students who had two or more courses with the same prefix and suffix which had 
a usage indicator of “D”(used toward degree) in order to verify that the CTD logic 
was correctly handling duplicate course work.   
 
During the review, Audit identified 18 instances where a non-repeatable course was 
used toward a degree.  None of these repeated courses identified by Audit had the 
“REPT” course attribute assigned to the course in OASIS.  In five of the 18 instances 
the repeat course work was not properly identified in DegreeWorks and the CTD 
logic accurately reflected the system of record which contained the error. For the 
remaining thirteen instances, the CTD usage indicator did not match the system of 
record. The root cause of the difference was as follows: 
 

 For six students, the HTD CTD logic intentional coded the non-repeatable 
courses as “used for degree” to meet the minimum hours required for the 
degree.    

 For seven students, the HTD CTD logic selected the course as used toward 
degree in error since the course had not been flagged as a repeated course in 
OASIS. A new report designed to identify duplicate course errors was 
implemented in June 2019 but these students were not included on the report 
since they had already graduated.  This report should identify these exceptions 
in the future.   

 
Audit verified that the errors identified had no impact on the student’s excess hours 
computation.  Failure to properly identify and code repeated course work in Banner  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

342

https://prod.flbog.net:4445/pls/apex/f?p=112:30:::NO::P30_ELEMENT_ID:320


AUDIT 20-010 

4 of 4 

 MEDIUM PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 
 and/or DegreeWorks increased the probability that repeated coursework will be 

improperly coded by the HTD CTD Logic. 
 

 

 Recommendation: The Office of the Registrar, in coordination with 
Information Technology and Undergraduate Studies, should: 
 

1. Reinforce appropriate best practices related to the utilization of 
repeated coursework toward degree in DegreeWorks including 
ensuring that DegreeWorks is properly applying non-repeatable course 
work toward degree and that documentation of any approvals to use 
previously excluded coursework toward degree is maintained within 
DegreeWorks. 

2. Continue the recently implemented anomaly report process to identify 
repeated coursework which has not been properly identified to ensure 
that the “REPT” attribute is applied to the course which cannot be 
utilized toward degree without an exception.  This will ensure that the 
CTD logic works properly. 
 

 

 

 Management Attention Required: ☐ 

 

Immediate ☒ 

 

Urgent ☐ 

 

Timely  

 Resources/Effort Required: ☐ 
 

Significant ☒ 
 

Moderate ☐ 
 

Minimal  

 Management’s Response:   
 
Undergraduate Studies has already coordinated with the Office of the Registrar to 
identify process improvements and/or approaches to ensuring best practices to 
ensure the REPT course attribute is accurately applied.  These improvements will be 
implemented no later than May 30, 2020. 
 
The Office of the Registrar will continue our collaboration with Information 
Technology to ensure REPT error checking report logic remains sound, ensuring the 
efficacy of the tool. 
 
Estimated Completion Date:  May 30, 2020 

 

  
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

343



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

344



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

345



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

346



 

USF SYSTEM AUDIT 

4019 E. Fowler Ave., Suite 200  Tampa, FL 33617 

(813) 974-2705  www.usf.edu/audit  

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Dr. Ralph Wilcox, Provost & Executive Vice President of Academic Affairs 

Dr. Paul R. Sanberg, Senior Vice President for Research & Innovation 

 
FROM: Virginia L. Kalil, CIA, CISA, CFE, CRISC  

Executive Director/Chief Internal Auditor 
 

DATE: March 20, 2020 
 

SUBJECT: 20-020 Preeminence Data Integrity Audit 
 

 
USF System Audit (Audit) performed an audit of the internal controls that ensure the completeness, 
accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions that support the calculation of the 12 preeminence 
metrics.  These data submissions are relied upon by the Board of Governors (BOG) in assessing 
USF’s eligibility under Florida Statute 1001.7065 Preeminent state research universities program.  
This audit also provides an objective basis of support for the President and Board of Trustees 
(BOT) Chair to sign the representations included in the Data Integrity Certification to be filed with 
the BOG.  This project was added to the 2019-2020 Audit Work Plan, as a result of a legislative 
change to Florida Statute 1001.706(5)(e)Powers and duties of the Board of Governors  which now 
requires all universities to perform an audit of the data used in the preeminence metrics. 
 
The data supporting preeminence metrics comes from a variety of sources including data reported 
to external entities, data submitted to the BOG via routine and ad hoc requests, financial data 
submitted by the USF Foundation regarding endowments, and data that is created and reported by 
an independent, external entity outside of USF’s control.  USF may assist the BOG’s Office of Data 
Analytics (BOG-ODA) by gathering the data or confirming the data.  For additional information on 
metrics and data sources included in this review see Appendix A. 
 
Audit’s 2018-2019 Work Plan included a consulting project (19-020 Institutional Data Reporting 
Review) to assess internal controls that ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data 
submissions that support the calculation of the 12 preeminence metrics as reported in the 2019 
Accountability Plan.  Fieldwork for 19-020 was in progress when the legislative bill was passed 
mandating an audit be conducted.  Although not originally planned to meet the audit requirements 
established by Senate Bill 190, the work performed in 19-020 was relied upon during the 
performance of the current audit, 20-020 Preeminence Data Integrity Audit.  For additional 
information on the scope, objectives, and results of Audit’s consulting project 19-020 see 
Attachment A.  
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

347

http://www.usf.edu/audit
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&URL=1000-1099/1001/Sections/1001.7065.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Statutes/index.cfm?App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=&URL=1000-1099/1001/Sections/1001.706.html


AUDIT 20-020 
 

2 of 17 
 

As approved by the BOT Chair, the BOT Audit & Compliance Committee Chair, and the President, 
the scope of the current audit 20-020 focused on the BOG Methodology document provided on 
October 7, 2019 to ensure USF interpretations were consistent with the BOG’s expectations; sample 
testing for metrics F, G, H and K not performed during the consulting project; and follow-up on 
control deficiencies identified in consulting project 19-020.  
 
Audit’s overall conclusion was that there was an adequate system of internal controls in place over 
nine of the 12 metrics (Metrics A-E and I-L) assuming corrective action is taken timely to address 
the one remaining unresolved medium-priority risk communicated in 19-020.  This medium-priority 
risk related to enhancing oversight of survey data used in the preeminence metrics. 
 
Controls over the remaining three metrics (F-H) relied on data from the same source, the National 
Science Foundation (NSF) Higher Education Research & Development (HERD) survey.  Our 
overall conclusion for this data source was that there was not an adequate system of internal 
controls in place.  While progress has been made to resolve the high-priority risks reported in 19-
020, no significant changes have been implemented to the overall control environment.  Also, as a 
result of testing performed in the current audit, additional recommendations were identified related 
to the high-priority risk concerning the data governance structure over the HERD survey.  These 
additional recommendations are included within this report.  
 
Although the issues identified were considered high risk due to their potential reputational 
risk, there was no impact to the overall status of each metric (pass or fail).  USF Tampa met 
the preeminence measures despite the issues identified.  For additional information on the 
impact to metrics F-H see Appendix B.  
 

OVERALL CONCLUSION 
☐     Adequate System of Internal Control Findings indicate that, as a whole, controls are adequate.  Identified 

risks, if any, were low-priority requiring timely management attention 
within 90 days. 

☐    Adequate System of Internal Control – 

        with reservations 

Medium-priority risks are present requiring urgent management 
attention within 60 days. 

☒     Inadequate System of Internal Control High-priority risks are present requiring immediate management 
attention within 30 days. 
 

 
 
We appreciated the outstanding cooperation received throughout this review.  Please contact us at 
(813) 974-2705 if you have any questions. 
 

cc:  David Lechner, Senior Vice President, Business and Financial Strategy 
Dr. Charles J Lockwood, Senior Vice President, USF Health 
Nick Trivunovich, Vice President, Business and Finance and Chief Financial Officer 

      Robert Fischman, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
Sidney Fernandes, Vice President, Information Technology and Chief Information Officer 
Dr. Terry Chisolm, Vice Provost for Strategic Planning, Performance & Accountability 
Dr. Paul Dosal, Vice President for Student Affairs and Student Success 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President, Research & Innovation 
Masha Galchenko, Director, University Budgets, Analytics and Data Administration 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

348



AUDIT 20-020 
 

3 of 17 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
Regulatory Requirements 
 
In 2013, the Legislature and Governor approved Senate Bill 10761, (see Florida Statute 1001.7065), 
creating the Preeminent State Research Universities Program, specifying 12 benchmarks and 
providing added resources and benefits to those eligible universities meeting six out of those 12 
benchmarks for emerging preeminence and 11 out of 12 for preeminence.  Florida Statute 
1001.7065 established the academic and research excellence standards and data sources for the 
preeminent state research universities program.  The university’s performance results related to the 
preeminence metrics are reported to the BOG via the Accountability Plan, after review and approval 
by the USF BOT.  The 2019 Accountability Plan was approved by the USF BOT, via consent 
agenda, on April 8, 2019.  The BOG Strategic Planning Committee reviewed and approved the 
Accountability Plan on June 11, 2019. 
 
BOG regulation 2.002 University Accountability Plans requires each university BOT to “prepare an 
accountability plan and submit updates on an annual basis for consideration by the Board of 
Governors.”  The accountability plan outlines the university’s top priorities, strategic directions, and 
specific actions for achieving those priorities, as well as progress towards previously approved 
institutional and System-wide goals.   
 
On June 18, 2019 Senate Bill 190 was approved by the Legislature and Governor which required the 
BOG to define the data components and methodology used to implement Florida Statute 1001.7065 
and required each university to conduct an annual audit to verify that the data submitted pursuant to 
Florida Statute 1001.7065 complies with the data definitions established by the board.   
 
The data supporting preeminence metrics comes from a variety of sources including: 

 Data reported to external entities, which is managed in accordance with USF Policy 11-007. 

 Data submitted to the BOG via routine and ad hoc requests, which is managed by Resource 
Management & Analysis’ (RMA) Office of Data Administration & State Reporting (RMA-
ODA). 

 Financial data submitted by the USF Foundation (USFF) regarding endowments to the 
National Association of College and University Business Officers (NACUBO). 

 Data that is created and reported by an independent external entity outside of USF’s control.  
USF may assist the BOG’s Office of Data Analytics (BOG-ODA) by gathering the data or 
confirming the data, but has no ability to impact the data. 

 

USF Roles and Responsibility for External Data Requests 
 
In order to ensure the integrity of the data submitted to external agencies outside of the BOG 
process, USF promulgated USF Policy 11-007 Data Submission to External Entities, effective 
August 24, 2018, which communicates “to the USF System, the roles and responsibilities for 
responding to requests from external entities that involve provision of institutional data.”  The 
policy applies to all units/offices across the USF System and provides guidelines for processing data 
requests by external entities.  External data requests not exempted from this policy, “must go 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

349

https://m.flsenate.gov/Statutes/1001.7065
https://www.usf.edu/system/documents/board/general/20190408-bot-agenda.pdf
https://www.flbog.edu/meeting/florida-board-of-governors-meeting-pkn788ld/
https://www.flbog.edu/wp-content/uploads/Reg_2_002_FINAL_2018_11_8-1.pdf
https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2019/00190
http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf
http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf


AUDIT 20-020 
 

4 of 17 
 

through the USF System’s Office of Decision Support (ODS) which has established procedures for 
processing those requests details of which may be accessed on the ODS Data Request site.” 

 
According to USF Policy 11-007, institutional data is defined as “all data elements created, 
maintained, received, or transmitted as a result of business, educational or research activities of a 
USF System unit or office.”  External data requests include, but are not limited to, “publications by 
external entities (NSF, CUPA, ACT, etc.), ranking publications – international and domestic (U.S. 
News and World Report, Times Higher Education, etc.), surveys administered by or on behalf of 
external entities (NSSE, THE-WSJ, Princeton Review, etc.), other external reports available to the 
general public, and mandated reports (IPEDS, etc.)”.   
 
 
ODS Validation Process  
 
There are four surveys used as data sources for the preeminence metrics:  the Integrated 
Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) Survey, the NSF HERD Survey, the NSF/National 
Institutes of Health (NIH) Graduate Students and Postdoctorates in Science and Engineering (GSS) 
Survey, and the NACUBO Endowment Survey.  Only the IPEDS survey is prepared and validated 
by ODS. 
 
According to Florida Statute 1001.7065, the IPEDS survey data must be used for Metric C 
(Retention) and Metric D (4-year Graduation Rate).  This is inconsistent with the BOGs intent to 
calculate the metrics using BOG file submissions.  Prior to 2017-2018, the IPEDS survey, was 
prepared and submitted by the BOG using data submitted by the University.  These data files were 
subject to the BOG submission validation process below.  Beginning in 2017-2018, ODS began 
preparing and submitting the IPEDS survey for each campus separately using USF copies of the 
BOG file submissions.  The IPEDS survey data is compiled using an AppWorx job written and 
maintained by Information Technology (IT).  Once submitted to the BOG and IPEDS, a copy of 
the submission is placed on the ODS website. 
 
Each year, the BOG-ODA utilizes the BOG submissions to recalculate Metrics C and D and 
provides the source data and results to each university.  ODS validates the results provided by 
BOG-ODA and works with BOG-ODA to reconcile any differences.  Since ODS prepares the data 
for IPEDs, the quality standards mandated by USF Policy 11-007 are complied with, but the 
standard process for requesting ODS approval is not necessary. 
 
 
BOG Submission Validation Process 
 
Specifically excluded from USF Policy 11-007 Data Submission to External Entities are requests 
from the BOG including official information requests, routine annual requests, and ad hoc special 
requests, which are managed by RMA-ODA.  The Institutional Data Administrator manages the 
RMA process.  
 
RMA-ODA is responsible for certifying and managing the submission of data to the BOG on behalf 
of the USF System pursuant to BOG Regulation 3.007.  RMA-ODA serves as a liaison between the 
BOG-ODA and the USF System regarding requests for information and coordinates the efforts of 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

350

http://usfweb.usf.edu/ODS/Forms/
https://www.usf.edu/ods/data-and-reports/ipeds.aspx
http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf
https://www.flbog.edu/wp-content/uploads/0003_0077_0551_29.pdf


AUDIT 20-020 
 

5 of 17 
 

academic and administrative resources to ensure timely and accurate reporting.  The RMA-ODA has 
established roles and responsibilities for those involved in maintaining institutional data, preparing 
required files for submission to the BOG, and validating the files are accurate and consistent with 
BOG data definitions.  Each data submission is assigned to a primary executive reviewer who is 
responsible for the review and approval of the institutional data submission prior to the official 
submission to the BOG.  As an additional data integrity control the RMA-ODA collaborates with 
ODS, who services as a member of the executive review team, before submission to the BOG. 
 
The process used to create standard BOG submissions, submitted via the State University Data 
System (SUDS), is audited each year by USF System Audit (Audit).  For more information on the 
control process, see USF Audit 20-010 Performance Based Funding (PBF) Data Integrity Audit. 
 
The following BOG SUDS file submissions are utilized by the BOG to calculate or validate 
preeminence metrics: 
 

 Admission file used to compute Average Grade Point Average (GPA) and Average 
Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) Score (Metric A). 

 Student Instruction file used to generate the First Time in College (FTIC) cohort used in 
Metrics A, C (Retention Rate), and D (4-yr Graduation Rate) and calculate metrics. 

 Degrees Awarded file used to compute Number of Doctoral Degrees Awarded Annually 
(Metric J) and Metric D.  

 
The BOG also makes numerous requests for ad hoc data including data submitted to the NSF via 
the HERD survey and the NSF/NIH via the GSS Survey.  The ad hoc data requests are used in four 
metrics:  Research Expenditures in Science & Engineering (Metric F), Research Expenditures in 
Non-Medical Science & Engineering (Metric G), Top 100 Rank in Research Funding (Metric H), 
and Post-doctoral appointees (Metric K).  The number of post-doctoral appointees was also used in 
the institution-selected PBF metric until 2019-2020.  As a result, the NSF GSS survey was included 
in the annual PBF audit and follows a formal executive review process used for BOG SUDS 
submissions. 
 
All BOG ad hoc reports are assigned to a sub-certifier who has been given the responsibility to 
oversee the definition, management, control, integrity, and maintenance of institutional data.  A 
formal executive review meeting may be held or an executive review is performed via email in which 
institutional data is reviewed and approved prior to submission to the BOG.  Upon approval by the 
executive review team, the data is submitted to the BOG.  
 
 
USFF Process 
 
The USFF is responsible for calculating and reporting the data for the NACUBO – TIAA Study of 
Endowments (NTSE) which is used for Metric L (Endowments >= $500 Million).  USFF utilizes 
the NACUBO definition of endowments to complete the survey.  Once compiled, the endowment 
team reviews the data and the survey is approved by the Vice President for University Advancement.  
The endowment team includes the Vice President and three additional USFF team members 
(Assistant Vice President, Director of Investments, and USFF Accounting manager).  Once the 
survey is submitted the endowment number is provided to ODS for inclusion in the Accountability 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

351

https://www.usf.edu/business-finance/resource-management-analysis/data-administration/roles.aspx


AUDIT 20-020 
 

6 of 17 
 

Plan.  On October 3, 2019, the USFF initiated an executive review process for the NTSE survey 
through RMA-ODA. 
 
 
Process Used to Validate Metrics Using External Sources 

The results of three of the metrics are based on data maintained by external sources including: 
Public University National Ranking (Metric B), National Academy Memberships (Metric E), and 
Utility Patents Awarded (Metric I). 
 
University ranking (Metric B) is tracked on an on-going basis by ODS.  Annually, ODS submits 
their list to the BOG who validates the rank on the external entities’ websites.  USF does not submit 
the data to the BOG for Metric E or I, the BOG obtains the number of faculty members whom are 
members of a National Academy by reviewing public data without the assistance of USF and obtains 
the number of patents directly from uspto.gov.  ODS (metric E) and the Office of Research & 
Innovation (Metric I) validate the BOG data. 

 

 
SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES 

 
Our audit focused on the internal controls established by the USF System as of September 30, 2019 
to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions, which support the 
preeminence measures. 
 
The primary objectives of our audit were to: 
 

 Determine whether the processes and internal controls established by the university ensure 
the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions which support the 
preeminence measures. 

 Provide an objective basis of support for the President and BOT Chair to sign the 
representations included in the Data Integrity Certification, which will be submitted to the 
BOT and filed with the BOG. 

 

The scope and objectives of the audit were set jointly and agreed to by the President, BOT Chair, 
the BOT Audit & Compliance Committee Chair, and the university’s Chief Audit Executive.  USF 
System Audit (Audit) followed its standard risk assessment, audit program, and reporting protocols. 
 
We followed a disciplined, systematic approach using the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing.  The information system components of the audit were performed in 
accordance with the ISACA (Information Systems Audit and Control Association) Standards and Guidelines.  
The COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) and COBIT 
(Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies) Control Frameworks were used to 
assess control structure effectiveness. 
 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

352

https://www.uspto.gov/


AUDIT 20-020 
 

7 of 17 
 

PRIOR AUDIT WORK RELIED UPON 
 

Audit’s 2018-2019 Work Plan included a consulting project (19-020 Institutional Data Reporting 
Review) to assess the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions that support the 
calculation of the 12 preeminence metrics as reported in the 2019 Accountability Plan.  Fieldwork 
for 19-020 was in progress when the legislative bill was passed mandating an audit be conducted.  
Although not originally planned to meet the audit requirements established by Senate Bill 190, the 
work performed in 19-020 was relied upon during the performance of the current audit, 20-020 
Preeminence Data Integrity.  For additional information on the scope, objectives, and results of 
Audit’s consulting project 19-020, see Attachment A.  

 
 

PROCEDURES PERFORMED 
 
In order to meet the BOG’s Data Integrity Audit and Certification for Preeminence Metrics 
requirements, and build on the work performed in our consulting review, Audit performed the 
following additional procedures: 

1. Reviewed the BOG’s definition of the data components and methodology used to 
implement Florida Statute 1001.7065 (Preeminent state research universities program) to 
ensure USF’s interpretations were consistent with the BOG’s expectations. 

2. Traced samples from the NSF/NIH GSS survey and the NSF HERD survey to the system 
of record or supporting documentation. 

3. Followed up on control deficiencies identified in the consulting review. 
 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

Audit’s overall conclusion was that there was an adequate system of internal controls in place over 
nine of the 12 metrics (Metrics A-E and I-L) assuming corrective action is taken timely to address 
the one remaining unresolved medium-priority risk communicated in 19-020.  This medium-priority 
risk related to enhancing oversight of survey data used in the preeminence metrics. 
 
Controls over the remaining three metrics (F-H) relied on data from the same source, the NSF 
HERD survey.  Our overall conclusion for this data source was that there was not an adequate 
system of internal controls in place.  While progress has been made to resolve the high-priority risks 
reported in 19-020, no significant changes have been implemented to the overall control 
environment.  Also, as a result of testing performed in the current audit, additional 
recommendations were identified related to the high-priority risk concerning the data governance 
structure over the HERD survey.  These additional recommendations are included within this 
report. 
 
Although the issues identified were considered high risk due to their potential reputational 
risk, there was no impact to the overall status of each metric (pass or fail).  USF Tampa met 
the preeminence measures despite the issues identified. For additional information on the 
impact to metrics F-H see Appendix B.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

353



AUDIT 20-020 
 

8 of 17 
 

 HIGH PRIORITY RISK STATUS 
1. As noted in 19-020, the data governance structure over the HERD survey is not 

adequate to ensure accurate and consistent reporting of research and 
development (R&D) expenditures. 
 

In Progress 

 High-priority risk #2 in Audit’s consulting review, 19-020 Institutional Data 
Reporting, identified deficiencies in the controls over the data compilation, validation, 
and submission related to the HERD survey.  As a result of the review, Audit 
recommended management review the following R&D expenditures included in the 
2018 HERD survey to determine whether inclusion was appropriate. For additional 
information regarding the HERD survey definitions, see Attachment B.  
 

 Research project coded as training or instructional  

 Convenience accounts  
 
As part of the current review, Audit followed up on management’s corrective actions 
taken in response to Audit’s 19-020 recommendations, as well as evaluated 
supporting documentation for expenditures reported in the 2018 HERD survey. 
 

Research Projects 
 
The 2018 HERD survey included $29.8 million in expenditures coded as related to 
training or instructional grants.  The Office of Research & Innovation (ORI) 
completed a review of the projects associated with these expenditures and 
identified $12.2 million that should not have been reported in the HERD survey.  
Subsequently, Audit reviewed a judgmental sample of projects the ORI 
determined to be allowable and identified an additional $1.2 million for which the 
research-related purpose was not sufficiently supported.  Therefore, Audit 
concluded this expenditure category to be over-reported in the HERD survey by 
up to an estimated $13.4 million.  In addition, Audit’s review determined the 
associated contract or grant’s purpose was not being coded consistently within the 
Financial Accounting System (FAST’s) grant module because there was no 
guidance provided to those selecting the purpose and no independent oversight.   

 
Convenience Accounts 
 
The 2018 HERD survey also included $70.9 million in expenditures from 
convenience accounts included by ORI because they believed they contained 
research related expenditures.  Convenience accounts are used to account for 
expenditures to be reimbursement by a direct support organization or other 
affiliated organization.  The ORI, with support from USF Health (USFH) 
Graduate Medical Education (GME), completed a review of convenience account 
activity based on available information regarding the intended purpose of the 
account and identified $.1 million that should not have been reported in the 
HERD survey.  Subsequently, Audit reviewed a judgmental sample of convenience 
accounts accounting for 93% of the HERD survey R&D expenditures in this 

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

354



AUDIT 20-020 
 

9 of 17 
 

 HIGH PRIORITY RISK STATUS 
 category.  Audit identified an additional $64.5 million which did not have sufficient 

support to conclude the expenditure related to research activities or activities were 
commingled within the same fund which did not permit adequate tracking of fund 
activity.  Therefore, Audit concluded this expenditure category to be over-reported 
in the HERD survey by up to an estimated $64.6 million. 

 
In both categories of expenditures, Audit determined the data governance structure 
was not effective in identifying R&D expenditures in the systems of record to 
adequately support accurate and consistent reporting for the HERD survey. 
 
When a robust data management framework is not in place the probability that data 
submitted to external entities is inaccurate, incomplete, or inconsistent with the 
established methodology of the data request is significantly increased.  Whether 
intentional or unintentional, material errors in reporting data used to measure 
institutional performance creates a significant reputational risk. 
 
Based on the results of the additional work performed, Audit recommends the 
following actions also be taken as management works to improve the control 
structure over reporting R&D expenditures in the HERD survey.  
 

 

   

 Recommendation: Office of Research & Innovation, in coordination with 
Information Technology and the University Controller’s Office should: 
 

1. Capture additional information within the financial accounting systems 
to allow for efficient and accurate reporting of a research projects 
purpose consistent with NSF definitions (research, research related 
training and instructions, non-research training, public services etc.). 

2. Obtain and retain adequate documentation of the purpose of 
convenience accounts which will permit research related activities to be 
identified and develop and implement a methodology for tracking 
R&D related expenditures contained within these funds. 
 

 

 Management Attention Required: ☒ 

 

Immediate ☐ 

 

Urgent ☐ 

 

Timely  

 Resources/Effort Required: ☒ 

 

Significant ☐ 

 

Moderate ☐ 

 

Minimal  

  
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

355



AUDIT 20-020 
 

10 of 17 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

PREEMINENCE DATA SOURCES 
 

Metric Description 
Responsible 

Unit Source Data Used/Created by the BOG 

A Average GPA and 
SAT score for 
incoming freshman in 
Fall semester. 

BOG-ODA Admission 
File (ADM)  

BOG-ODA performs concordance of SAT 
scores and calculates averages based on the 
ADM tables provided by USF. 

B Top 50 in national 
public university 
rankings 

ODS External 
rankings 

List of acceptable organizations maintained by 
BOG-ODA.  USF’s performance for listed 
organizations is prepared by ODS.  BOG 
validates using external websites.  

C Freshman retention 
rate (Full-time, FTIC) 

ODS IPEDS 
survey 

Data based on BOG Files (SIF, SIFP) used to 
calculate the FTIC Cohort and the retention 
rate.  IPEDS Survey is prepared by ODS and 
validated by BOG. 

D Four year FTIC 
graduation rate 

ODS IPEDS 
survey  & 
BOG 
submission 
files 

Data based on BOG files (SIF, SIFP) used to 
calculate the FTIC cohort and SIFD. IPEDS 
survey is prepared by ODS and validated by 
BOG.  BOG also computes graduation rates 
based on BOG files (SIF, SIFP, and SIFD). 

E National Academy 
memberships 

BOG-ODA Official 
membership 
directories 

Calculated by BOG but validated by ORI 
using external websites.  List of acceptable 
organizations maintained by BOG. 

F Total annual research 
expenditures: science 
& engineering  only 

ORI NSF HERD 
survey  

Survey utilizes FAST, FAIR, and BANNER 
financial data, and R&D activities reported by 
and external affiliates and DSO via manual 
survey tools. 

G Total annual research 
expenditures in 
diversified non-
medical  sciences  

ORI NSF HERD 
survey 

Same as Metric F 

H Top 100 national 
ranking in research 
expenditures  in at 
least five STEM 
disciplines  

ORI NSF HERD 
survey  

Same as Metric F, except ORI utilizes 
department ID number to associate R&D 
activities with a discipline. 

I Patents awarded over 
three year period 

BOG-ODA USPTO  As reported by USPTO for the most recent 
three years. 

J Doctoral degrees 
awarded annually  

BOG-ODA Degrees 
Awarded File 
(SIFD) 

BOG computes and ODS validates based on 
SIFD. 

K Number of post-
doctoral  appointees 

OPA NSF GSS 
survey 

USF OPA 

L Endowment  size USFF NACUBO 
survey 

USFF financial records in BANNER and 
external investment statements. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

356



AUDIT 20-020 
 

11 of 17 
 

KEY TERMS 
 

Term Description 

BANNER  Financial accounting system used by USF Foundation and USF Research Foundation 

BOG-ODA Florida Board of Governors’ Office of Data Analytics 

FAIR Faculty Academic Information Reporting System used to obtain departmental funded research 
efforts 

FAST Financial Accounting System used by USF to manage contracts and grant activities 

FTIC First-time in College as defined by IPEDS and BOG 

IPEDS Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System at the National Center for Education Statistics 

NACUBO National Association of College and University Business Officers 

NSF GSS NSF/National Institutes of Health (NIH) Survey of Graduate Students and Post-doctorates in 
Science and Engineering 

NSF 
HERD 

National Science Foundation Higher Education Research & Development Survey  

ODS Office of Decision Support in the Office of the Provost 

OPA Office of Post-Doctoral Affairs in the Office of Graduate Studies 

ORI Office of Research & Innovation 

PBF Performance Based Funding 

USFF USF Foundation, direct support organizations of USF 

USFRF USF Research Foundation, direct support organization of USF 

USPTO United States Patent & Trademark Office 

R&D Research & Development expenditures as defined by the HERD survey 

 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

357



AUDIT 20-020 
 

12 of 17 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

IMPACT OF CONTROL DEFICIENCIES ON METRICS 
 

Metrics F&G (in Millions) 

 Originally 

reported 

to HERD 

Affiliates 

not 

reported in 

Financial 

Statements 

Non-

research 

training & 

instruction 

Convenience 

Account 

Activities 

not directly 

related  

Other 

errors 

Total 

Adjustments 

Adjusted 

Balance  

All R&D 

Expenditures 

$581.6 $(123.1) $(13.4) $(64.6) $(.3)1 $(201.4) $380.2 

Total R&D 

expenditures for 

Science & 

Engineering 

(S&E) 

Disciplines 

(Metric F 

Benchmark 

$200) 

$524.7 $(123.1) $(6.8) $(60.9) $(.4) $(191.2) $333.5 

Total R&D for 

Non-health 

S&E Disciplines 

(Metric G 

Benchmark 

$150) 

$295.6 $(31.3) $(6.3) $(6.3) $(.3) $(44.2) $251.4 

1Total is less than R&D S&E due to under reporting of Non-S&E USF Foundation expenditures. 

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

358



AUDIT 20-020 
 

13 of 17 
 

Metric H: By Discipline (S&E Only) 

Discipline Originally 

Reported 

Adjusted Adjusted 

Number 

Impact on Rank 

Computer & 

Information Sciences 

$8.9 $(.4) $8.5 Remains in top 100 

Geosciences, 

Atmospheric, & 

Ocean Sciences 

$25.3  $25.3 Remains in top 100 

Life Sciences $374.9 $(177.4) $197.5 Remains in top ten 

Mathematics & 

Statistics 

$2.3  $2.3 Remains in top 100 

Physical Sciences $12.5 $(.2) $12.3 Remains below top 100 

Psychology $12.5 $(6.9) $5.6 Remains in top 100 

Social Sciences $38.4 $(5.3) $33.1 Remains in top 100 

Engineering $48.3 $(1.0) $47.3 Remains in top 100 

Other Sciences $ 1.6  $1.6 Not Applicable 

Total S&E $524.7 $(191.2) $333.5  

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

359



AUDIT 20-020 
 

14 of 17 
 

ATTACHMENT A 

 
INSTITUTIONAL DATA REPORTING CONSULTING PROJECT (19-020) 

 
SCOPE & OBJECTIVES 

 
Our review focused on the internal controls established by the USF System as of April 1, 2019 to 
ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions, which support the 
preeminence measures. 
 
The primary objectives of our review was to: 
 

 Gain an understanding of data elements, data sources, and methodologies used to compute 
the metric. 

 Identify and evaluate key processes and controls used by the data owners to ensure the 
completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submission.  

 Validate all populations utilized and recalculate metrics using internal and external data sets, 
when available. 

 Verify data accuracy through sample testing of key files and data elements.  

 Review the processes used by the data administrators in the Office of Decision Support 
(ODS) and Resource Management & Analysis Office of Data Administration & State 
Reporting (RMA-ODA) to ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timely submission of data 
supporting the metrics. 

 Determine overall risk of a data submission being inaccurate or incomplete. 

 Recommend corrective actions where weaknesses were identified. 
 
Our audit scope excluded controls in place to produce the data files supporting the Performance 
Based Funding metrics, which were reviewed in a separate audit (Audit 19-010 dated February 4, 
2019).   
 
Our review was conducted in conformance with the International Standards for the Professional Practice of 
Internal Auditing.  The COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission) Control Frameworks were used to assess control structure effectiveness. 

 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

360



AUDIT 20-020 
 

15 of 17 
 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS (BOG) FILES REVIEWED 
 

Submission 
System of 

Record Table(s) 
Submission 
Reviewed 

Admission File (ADM) OASIS1 Applicants Admits 
Tests Reqs 
 

Fall 2018 

Retention File (RET), based on Student 
Instruction File (SIF) and Student 
Instructional File - Degree (SIFD) 

BOG Retention File 
Retention Cohort Change 

2017-2018 
(cohort 2014) 

Student Instructional File - Degree (SIFD) OASIS1 Degrees Awarded Summer 2017 
Fall 2017 
Spring 2018 

1 OASIS is the student information system used by the USF System. 

 

 
CONCLUSION (19-020) 

Audit’s overall conclusion was that there was an adequate system of internal controls in place over 
nine of the 12 metrics (Metrics A-E and I-L) assuming corrective actions are taken timely to address 
the two medium-priority risks related to enhancing oversight of surveys and maintenance of 
historical data to support data submitted to the Board of Governors.  
 
Controls over the remaining three metrics (F-H) relied on data from the same source, the National 
Science Foundation Higher Education Research & Development (HERD) survey.  Our overall 
conclusion for this data source was that there was not an adequate system of internal controls in 
place due to the presence of two high-priority risks related to affiliate research and development 
expenditures and the control structure to ensure accurate and consistent reporting of research and 
development expenditures.   
 
Although, the issues identified were considered high risk due to their potential reputational 
risk, there was no impact to the overall status of each metric (pass or fail).  USF Tampa met 
the preeminence measures despite the issues identified. 
  
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

361



AUDIT 20-020 
 

16 of 17 
 

ATTACHMENT B 
 

NATIONAL SCIENCE FOUNDATION (NSF) HIGHER EDUCATION RESEARCH & 
DEVELOPMENT (HERD) SURVEY DEFINITIONS 

 
NSF provides guidance to institutions completing the HERD survey via survey instructions, annual 
webinars, and written question & answer documents, and via direct response to institutions.  
 

Reporting Units 
 
The following guidance was provided in the 2018 survey; 
 

Reporting units include: Reporting units do not include: 

All units of your institution included in or with 
your financial statements, such as: 
 • Agricultural experiment stations  
 • Branch campuses  
 • Medical schools  

Other organizations or institutions, such as 
teaching hospitals or research institutes, with 
which your institution has an affiliation or 
relationship, but which are not components of 
your institution. 

 • Hospitals or clinics  Federally funded R&D Centers 

 • Research centers and facilities  
 • A university 501(c)(3) foundation 

Other campuses headed by their own president, 
chancellor, or equivalent within your university 
system.  Each campus is asked to respond 
separately 

 
 

Definition of R&D 
 

The NSF provides guidance to institutions on how to define research activities as R&D.  This 
guidance is contained in a document titled “Definitions of Research and Development: An 
Annotated Compilation of Official Sources”. 
 

This document includes the HERD Survey definition of R&D: 
 

“R&D is creative and systematic work undertaken in order to increase the stock of knowledge—including 

knowledge of humankind, culture, and society—and to devise new applications of available knowledge.  R&D 

covers three activities defined below—basic research, applied research, and experimental development. 

 Basic research is experimental or theoretical work undertaken primarily to acquire new knowledge of 

the underlying foundations of phenomena and observable facts, without any particular application or 

use in view. 

 Applied research is original investigation undertaken in order to acquire new knowledge.  It is 

directed primarily towards a specific, practical aim or objective. 

 Experimental development is systematic work, drawing on knowledge gained from research and 

practical experience and producing additional knowledge, which is directed to producing new 

products or processes or to improving existing products or processes.” 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

362

https://www.nsf.gov/statistics/srvyherd/surveys/srvyherd_2018.pdf
https://www.nsf.gov/statistics/ffrdc/


AUDIT 20-020 
 

17 of 17 
 

The 2018 Survey instructions provided the following additional guidance: 
 
R&D Expenditures include all expenditures for R&D activities from your institution’s current 
operating funds that are separately accounted for.  For purposes of this survey, R&D includes 
expenditures for organized research as defined by 2 CFR Part 200 Appendix III and expenditures 
from funds designated for research. 
 

R&D includes: R&D does not include: 

Sponsored research (federal and nonfederal) Public service grants or outreach 
programs 

University research (institutional funds that are 
separately budgeted for individual R&D 
projects) 

Curriculum development (unless 
included as part of an overall research 
project) 

Startup, bridge, or seed funding provided to 
researchers within your institution   

R&D conducted by university faculty or 
staff at outside institutions that is not 
accounted for in your financial records 

Other departmental funds designated for 
research 

Estimates of the proportion of time 
budgeted for instruction that is spent on 
research 

Recovered and unrecovered indirect costs Capital projects (i.e., construction or 
renovation of research facilities) 

Equipment purchased from R&D project 
account 

Non-research training grants 

R&D funds passed through to a sub recipient 
organization, educational or other 

Unrecovered indirect costs that exceed 
your institution’s federally negotiated 
Facilities and Administrative (F&A) rate 

Clinical trials, Phases I, II, or III  

Research training grants funding work on 
organized research projects 

 

Tuition remission provided to students working 
on research 

 

 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

363

https://www.nsf.gov/statistics/srvyherd/surveys/srvyherd_2018.pdf


 
 
 

USF Research & Innovation | Office of the Senior Vice President 
University of South Florida | 3702 Spectrum Blvd., Suite 165 | Tampa, FL 33612-9445 

(813) 974-5570 | Fax (813) 974-4962 | www.research.usf.edu 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Virginia L. Kalil, Executive Director/Chief Internal Audit 

USF System Audit 
 
FROM:  Paul R. Sanberg, Senior Vice President for Research, Innovation & 
  Knowledge Enterprise  

    
DATE: February 13, 2020 
 
RE:   Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 20-020 
 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 20-020: 
 
Recommendation #1— 
 
The University agrees that a robust data management framework must be in place which 
adheres to data integrity standards.  Additionally, the process used to gather, validate, and 
compile data from multiple sources must be documented and a methodology for 
identifying expenditures for funds designated for research must be developed.   
 
Action Plan— 
 
Commencing with FY 2020’s HERD Survey, the Internal Form will be amended to reflect 
four categories—research, research instruction, non-research instruction and public service—
so as to facilitate accurate reporting.  The justification for including expenditures involving a 
new project will be based on R&D effort as indicated based on the definitions provided by 
NSF in the HERD Survey instructions.  Furthermore, formal classification or designation of a 
project as basic research, applied research and/or experimental development will occur 
commencing with fiscal year 2020. 
 
Date of Implementation— 
 
Completion of an overall framework and plan – March 13, 2020 
Completion of all of the remaining steps - January 31, 2021.   
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

364



 

 

Memo re Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 20-020 
February 13, 2020 
Page Two 
 
 
Technical Owner/ Functional Manager 
 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President 
 
 
Recommendation #2— 
 
To facilitate tracking R&D expenditures to be reported to the HERD Survey, the 
University concurs that a methodology must be devised and adequate documentation 
relating to the purpose of each convenience account must be maintained. 
 
Action Plan— 
 
Commencing with FY 2019’s HERD Survey, Sponsored Research will review the account set 
up documentation establishing new convenience funds to determine the purpose of the 
account.  If the fund is research-related, Sponsored Research will retain adequate supporting 
documentation on file.  
 
 
Date of Implementation— 
 
Completion of an overall framework and plan – March 13, 2020 
Completion of all of the remaining steps - January 31, 2021.   
 
Technical Owner/ Functional Manager 
 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

365



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

366



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

367



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

368



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

369



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

370



USF SYSTEM AUDIT 

4019 E. Fowler Ave., Suite 200  Tampa, FL 33617 

(813) 974-2705  www.usf.edu/audit  

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Dr. Ralph Wilcox, Provost & Executive Vice President of Academic Affairs 

Dr. Paul R. Sanberg, Senior Vice President for Research & Innovation 

 
FROM: Virginia Kalil, CIA, CISA, CFE, CRISC 

Executive Director/Chief Internal Auditor 

DATE: March 20, 2020 
 

SUBJECT: 19-020 Institutional Data Reporting Review 
 

 
At the request of management, USF System Audit (Audit) performed a review of the internal 
controls, as of April 1, 2019, that ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data 
submissions that support the calculation of the 12 preeminence metrics as reported in the 
2019Accountability Plan.  This review was included on the 2018-2019 Audit Work Plan.  Fieldwork 
was performed during the period of April 10, 2019 to July 31, 2019. 
 
The data supporting preeminence metrics comes from a variety of sources including: 

 Data reported to external entities, which is managed in accordance with USF Policy 11-007.  

 Data submitted to the Board of Governors (BOG) via routine and ad hoc requests, which is 
managed by Resource Management & Analysis’ Office of Data Administration & State 
Reporting (RMA-ODA). 

 Financial data submitted by the USF Foundation (USFF) regarding endowments to the 
National Association of College and University Business Officers (NACUBO). 

 Data that is created and reported by an independent external entity outside of USF’s control.  
USF may assist the BOG’s Office of Data Analytics (BOG-ODA) by gathering the data or 
confirming the data, but has no ability to impact the data. 

 
For additional information on metrics and data sources included in this review see Appendix A. 
 
During the performance of fieldwork, Senate Bill 190, effective July 1, 2019, was approved by the 
Legislature and Governor.  SB 190 requires the BOG to define the data components and 
methodology used to implement Florida Statute 1001.7065 (Preeminent state research universities 
program) and requires each university to conduct an annual audit to verify that the data submitted 
pursuant to Florida Statue 1001.7065 complies with the data definitions established by the board.  
The BOG data definitions and/or methodology was not received until October 7, 2019 following  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

371

http://www.usf.edu/audit
http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf
https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2019/00190
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=1001.7065&URL=1000-1099/1001/Sections/1001.7065.html


AUDIT 19-020 
 

2 of 17 
 

fieldwork.  Although not originally planned to meet the audit requirements established by Senate Bill 
190, the work performed was relied upon during the performance of the required audit in Fall 2019, 
as appropriate. 

 
Audit’s overall conclusion was that there was an adequate system of internal controls in place over 
nine of the 12 metrics (Metrics A-E and I-L) assuming corrective actions are taken timely to address 
the two medium-priority risks communicated in Appendix C.  These medium-priority risks, which 
require timely action within 90 days, are related to enhancing oversight of surveys and maintenance 
of historical data supporting data submitted to the BOG.  As of the date of this report, the risk 
associated with the oversight of surveys is partially resolved, and the risk to maintenance of 
historical data is fully resolved. 
  
Controls over the remaining three metrics (F-H) relied on data from the same source, the National 
Science Foundation’s (NSF) Higher Education Research & Development (HERD) survey.  Our 
overall conclusion for this data source was that there was not an adequate system of internal 
controls in place due to the presence of two high-priority risks communicated in Appendix B.  
These high-priority risks related to affiliate research and development expenditures and the control 
structure to ensure accurate and consistent reporting of research and development expenditures.  
Although, the issues identified were considered high risk due to their potential reputational 
risk, there was no impact to the overall status of each metric (pass or fail).  USF Tampa met 
the preeminence measures despite the issues identified.  Management’s action plan to resolve 
the high-priority risk recommendations is attached to this report.  Urgent action is needed to resolve 
these issues since the next HERD survey submission must be completed in March 2020.  As of the 
date of this report, the risk associated with affiliate expenditures is fully resolved, and the risk of 
accurate and consistent reporting of expenditures is partially resolved. 
 
We appreciated the outstanding cooperation received throughout this review.  Please contact us at 
(813) 974-2705 if you have any questions. 
 
 
cc:  David Lechner, Senior Vice President, Business and Financial Strategy 

Dr. Charles J Lockwood, Senior Vice President, USF Health 
Nick Trivunovich, Vice President, Business and Finance and Chief Financial Officer 
Robert Fischman, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
Sidney Fernandes, Vice President, Information Technology and Chief Information Officer 
Dr. Terry Chisolm, Vice Provost for Strategic Planning, Performance & Accountability 
Dr. Paul Dosal, Vice President for Student Affairs and Student Success 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President, Research & Innovation 
Masha Galchenko, Director, University Budgets, Analytics and Data Administration  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

372



AUDIT 19-020 
 

3 of 17 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
Regulatory Requirements 
 
In 2013, the Legislature and Governor approved Senate Bill 10761, (see Florida Statute 1001.7065), 
creating the Preeminent State Research Universities Program, specifying 12 benchmarks and 
providing added resources and benefits to those eligible universities meeting six out of those 12 
benchmarks for emerging preeminence and 11 out of 12 for preeminence.  Florida Statute 
1001.7065 established the academic and research excellence standards and data sources for the 
preeminent state research universities program.  The university’s performance results related to the 
preeminence metrics are reported to the BOG via the Accountability Plan, after review and approval 
by the USF Board of Trustees (BOT).  The 2019Accountability Plan was approved by the USF 
BOT, via consent agenda, on April 8, 2019.  The BOG Strategic Planning Committee reviewed and 
approved the Accountability Plan on June 11, 2019. 
 
BOG regulation 2.002 University Accountability Plans requires each university BOT to “prepare an 
accountability plan and submit updates on an annual basis for consideration by the Board of 
Governors.”  The accountability plan outlines the university’s top priorities, strategic directions, and 
specific actions for achieving those priorities, as well as progress towards previously approved 
institutional and System-wide goals.   
 
The data supporting preeminence metrics comes from a variety of sources including: 

 Data reported to external entities, which is managed in accordance with USF Policy 11-007. 

 Data submitted to the BOG via routine and ad hoc requests, which is managed by RMA-
ODA. 

 Financial data submitted by the USFF regarding endowments to the NACUBO. 

 Data that is created and reported by an independent external entity outside of USF’s control.  
USF may assist the BOG’s Office of Data Analytics (BOG-ODA) by gathering the data or 
confirming the data, but has no ability to impact the data. 

 
On June 18, 2019, Senate Bill 190 was approved by the Legislature and Governor which required the 
BOG to define the data components and methodology used to implement Florida Statute 1001.7065 
and required each university to conduct an annual audit to verify that the data submitted pursuant to 
Florida Statute 1001.7065 complies with the data definitions established by the board.  The BOG 
provided the data definitions and/or methodology on October 7, 2019, after our fieldwork was 
completed.   
 

USF Roles and Responsibilities for External Data Requests 
 
In order to ensure the integrity of the data submitted to external agencies outside of the BOG 
process, USF promulgated USF Policy 11-007 Data Submission to External Entities, effective 
August 24, 2018, which communicates “to the USF System, the roles and responsibilities for 
responding to requests from external entities that involve provision of institutional data.”  The 
policy applies to all units/offices across the USF System and provides guidelines for processing data 
requests by external entities.  External Data Requests not exempted from this policy, “must go 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

373

https://m.flsenate.gov/Statutes/1001.7065
https://www.usf.edu/system/documents/board/general/20190408-bot-agenda.pdf
https://www.flbog.edu/board/upcoming-meeting/?id=294&agenda=1190&type=Past
https://www.flbog.edu/wp-content/uploads/0275_1168_8868_9.10.1.2-BOG-SPC-Reg_2.002_Amended_Text_CE.pdf
http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf
https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2019/00190
http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf


AUDIT 19-020 
 

4 of 17 
 

through the USF System’s Office of Decision Support (ODS) which has established procedures for 
processing those requests details of which may be accessed on the ODS Data Request site.” 

 
According to USF Policy 11-007, institutional data is defined as “all data elements created, 
maintained, received, or transmitted as a result of business, educational or research activities of a 
USF System unit or office.”  External data requests include, but are not limited to, “publications by 
external entities (NSF, CUPA, ACT, etc.), ranking publications – international and domestic (U.S. 
News and World Report, Times Higher Education, etc.), surveys administered by or on behalf of 
external entities (NSSE, THE-WSJ, Princeton Review, etc.), other external reports available to the 
general public, and mandated reports (IPEDS, etc.).”   
 
ODS Validation Process  
 
There are four surveys used as data sources for the preeminence metrics:  the IPEDS Survey, NSF 
HERD Survey, the NSF/National Institutes of Health (NIH) Graduate Students and Postdoctorates 
in Science and Engineering (GSS) Survey, and the NACUBO Endowment Survey.  Only the IPEDS 
survey is prepared and validated by ODS.  
 
Prior to 2017-2018, the IPEDS survey, was prepared and submitted by the BOG using data 
submitted by the University.  These data files are subject to the BOG submission validation process 
below.  Beginning in 2017-2018, ODS began preparing and submitting the IPEDS survey for each 
campus separately using USF copies of the BOG file submissions.  The IPEDS survey data is 
compiled using an AppWorx job written and maintained by Information Technology (IT).  Once 
submitted to the BOG and IPEDS, a copy of the submission is placed on the ODS website. 
 
Each year, the BOG-ODA utilizes the BOG submissions to recalculate Metrics C and D and 
provides the source data and results to each university.  ODS validates the results provided by the 
BOG-ODA and works with the BOG-ODA to reconcile any differences.  Since ODS prepares the 
data for IPEDs, the quality standards mandated by USF Policy 11-007 are complied with, but the 
standard process for requesting ODS approval is not necessary. 
 
Regarding Metric D, Florida Statute Chapter 1001.7065(2) Academic and Research Excellence 
Standard requires “a 4-year graduation rate of 60 percent or higher for full-time, first-time-in-college 
students, as reported annually to the IPEDS”. (Emphasis added)   
 
The USF Accountability Plan includes data for the 2014 cohort at the instruction of the BOG.  The 
BOG calculated the 4-year graduation rate from BOG files submitted by USF.  Since the Integrated 
Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) focuses on a 6-year cohort, the 2014 Cohort will 
not be reported by IPEDS until 2019-2020.  In order to meet the statutory requirement that the rate 
be reported to IPEDS, the BOG-ODA instructed ODS to send an email with the current 4-year 
graduation rate to IPEDS.  IPEDS does not review the data until it is included in a formal 
submission. 
 
To alleviate the timing problems House Bill 7071 section 35 was passed (Rule  2019-119 (35)), which 
states, “The Board of Governors shall use its 2019 Accountability Plan in determining a state 
university’s preeminence designation and in distributing awards for the 2019-2020 fiscal year 
appropriation.”  This one-year exemption does not address the problem in the long term. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

374

http://usfweb.usf.edu/ODS/Forms/
https://www.usf.edu/ods/data-and-reports/ipeds.aspx
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=1001.7065&URL=1000-1099/1001/Sections/1001.7065.html
http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/index.cfm?mode=View%20Statutes&SubMenu=1&App_mode=Display_Statute&Search_String=1001.7065&URL=1000-1099/1001/Sections/1001.7065.html
https://www.flbog.edu/wp-content/uploads/USF-SYSTEM_2019_Accountability_Plan_FINAL_BOG_APPROVED.pdf
https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2019/7071/BillText/er/PDF
http://laws.flrules.org/2019/119


AUDIT 19-020 
 

5 of 17 
 

 
BOG Submission Validation Process 
 
Specifically excluded from USF Policy 11-007 Data Submission to External Entities are requests 
from the BOG including official information requests, routine annual requests, and ad hoc special 
requests, which are managed by RMA-ODA.  The Institutional Data Administrator manages the 
RMA process.  
 
RMA-ODA is responsible for certifying and managing the submission of data to the BOG on behalf 
of the USF System pursuant to BOG Regulation 3.007.  RMA-ODA serves as a liaison between the 
BOG-ODA and the USF System regarding requests for information and coordinates the efforts of 
academic and administrative resources to ensure timely and accurate reporting.  The RMA-ODA has 
established roles and responsibilities for those involved in maintaining institutional data, preparing 
required files for submission to the BOG, and validating the files are accurate and consistent with 
BOG data definitions.  Each data submission is assigned to a primary executive reviewer who is 
responsible for the review and approval of the institutional data submission prior to the official 
submission to the BOG.  As an additional data integrity control the RMA-ODA collaborates with 
ODS, who serves as a member of the executive review team, before submission to the BOG. 
 
The process used to create standard BOG submissions, submitted via the State University Data 
System (SUDS), is audited each year by USF System Audit (Audit).  For more information on the 
control process, see USF Audit 19-010 Performance Based Funding (PBF) Data Integrity. 
 
The following BOG SUDS file submissions are utilized by the BOG to calculate or validate 
preeminence metrics: 
 

 Admission file used to compute Average Grade Point Average (GPA) and Average 
Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) Score (Metric A). 

 Student Instruction file used to generate the first time in college (FTIC) cohort used in 
Metrics A, C (Retention Rate) , and D (4-yr Graduation Rate) and calculate the metrics. 

 Degrees Awarded file used to compute Number of Doctoral Degrees Awarded Annually 
(Metric J) and Metric D.  

 
The BOG also makes numerous requests for ad hoc data including data submitted to the NSF via 
the HERD survey and the NSF/NIH via the GSS Survey.  The ad hoc data requests are used in four 
metrics:  Research Expenditures in Science & Engineering (Metric F), Research Expenditures in 
Non-Medical Science & Engineering (Metric G), Top 100 Rank in Research Funding (Metric H), 
and Post-doctoral appointees (Metric K).  The number of post-doctoral appointees was also used in 
the institution-selected PBF metric until 2019-2020.  As a result, the NSF GSS survey was included 
in the annual PBF audit and follows a formal executive review process used for BOG SUDS 
submissions. 
 
All BOG ad hoc reports are assigned to a sub-certifier who has been given the responsibility to 
oversee the definition, management, control, integrity, and maintenance of institutional data.  A 
formal executive review meeting may be held or an executive review is performed via email in which 
institutional data is reviewed and approved prior to submission to the BOG.  Upon approval by the 
executive review team, the data is submitted to the BOG.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

375

http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf
https://www.flbog.edu/wp-content/uploads/0003_0077_0551_29.pdf
https://www.usf.edu/business-finance/resource-management-analysis/data-administration/roles.aspx


AUDIT 19-020 
 

6 of 17 
 

 
USFF Process 
 
The USFF is responsible for calculating and reporting the data for the NACUBO – TIAA Study of 
Endowments (NTSE) which is used for Metric L (Endowments >= $500 Million).  USFF utilizes 
the NACUBO definition of endowments to complete the survey.  Once compiled, the endowment 
team reviews the data and the survey is approved by the Vice President for University Advancement.  
The endowment team includes the Vice President and three additional USFF team members 
(Assistant Vice President, Director of Investments, and USFF Accounting manager).  Once the 
survey is submitted the endowment number is provided to ODS for inclusion in the Accountability 
Plan. 
 
Process Used to Validate Metrics Using External Sources 
 
The results of three of the metrics are based on data maintained by external sources including: 
Public University National Ranking (Metric B), National Academy Memberships (Metric E), and 
Utility Patents Awarded (Metric I). 
 
University ranking (Metric B) is tracked on an on-going basis by ODS.  Annually, ODS submits 
their list to the BOG who validates the rank on the external entities’ websites.  USF does not submit 
the data to the BOG for Metric E or I, the BOG obtains the number of faculty members whom are 
members of a National Academy by reviewing public data without the assistance of USF and obtains 
the number of patents directly from uspto.gov.  ODS (metric E) and the Office of Research & 
Innovation (ORI) (Metric I) validate the BOG data. 

 
 

SCOPE AND OBJECTIVES 
 

Our review focused on the internal controls established by the USF System as of April 1, 2019 to 
ensure the completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions, which support the 
preeminence measures. 
 
The primary objectives of our review were to: 
 

 Gain an understanding of data elements, data sources, and methodologies used to compute 
the metric. 

 Identify and evaluate key processes and controls used by the data owners to ensure the 
completeness, accuracy, and timeliness of data submissions.  

 Validate all populations utilized and recalculate metrics using internal and external data sets, 
when available. 

 Verify data accuracy through sample testing of key files and data elements.  

 Review the processes used by the data administrators in ODS and RMA-ODA to ensure the 
completeness, accuracy, and timely submission of data supporting the metrics. 

 Determine overall risk of a data submission being inaccurate or incomplete. 

 Recommend corrective actions where weaknesses were identified. 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

376

https://www.uspto.gov/


AUDIT 19-020 
 

7 of 17 
 

Our audit scope excluded controls in place to produce the data files supporting the Performance 
Based Funding metrics, which were reviewed in a separate audit (Audit 19-010 dated February 4, 
2019).   
 
We followed a disciplined, systematic approach using the International Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing.  The information system components of the audit were performed in 
accordance with the ISACA (Information Systems Audit and Control Association) Standards and Guidelines.  
The COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission) and COBIT 
(Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies) Control Frameworks were used to 
assess control structure effectiveness. 
 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

Audit’s overall conclusion was that there was an adequate system of internal controls in place over 
nine of the 12 metrics (Metrics A-E and I-L) assuming corrective actions are taken timely to address 
the two medium-priority risks communicated in Appendix C.  These medium-priority risks related to 
enhancing oversight of surveys and maintenance of historical data to support data submitted to the 
BOG. 
 
Controls over the remaining three metrics (F-H) relied on data from the same source, the NSF 
HERD survey.  Our overall conclusion for this data source was that there was not an adequate 
system of internal controls in place due to the presence of two high-priority risks communicated in 
Appendix B related to affiliate research and development expenditures and the control structure to 
ensure accurate and consistent reporting of research and development expenditures.  Although, the 
issues identified were considered high risk due to their potential reputational risk, there was 
no impact to the overall status of each metric (pass or fail).  USF Tampa met the 
preeminence measures despite the issues identified. 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

377



AUDIT 19-020 
 

8 of 17 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

PREEMINENCE DATA SOURCES 
 

Metric Description 
Responsible 

Unit Source 

Data Used/Created by 
the BOG 

Testing 
Methodology 

A Average GPA 
and SAT score 
for incoming 
freshman in Fall 
semester 

BOG-ODA Admission 
File (ADM)  

BOG-ODA performs 
concordance of SAT 
scores and calculates 
averages based on the 
ADM tables provided by 
USF. 

Recomputed average 
GPA and SAT using 
ADM files.  Selected a 
sample and traced to 
system of record. 

B Top 50 in 
national public 
university 
rankings 

ODS External 
rankings 

List of acceptable 
organizations 
maintained by BOG-
ODA.  USF’s 
performance for listed 
organizations is 
prepared by ODS.  
BOG validates using 
external websites.  

Validated ODS listing 
to external sites. 

C Freshman 
retention rate 
(Full-time, 
FTIC) 

ODS IPEDS 
survey 

Data based on BOG 
files (SIF, SIFP) used to 
calculate the FTIC 
Cohort and the retention 
rate.  IPEDS Survey is 
prepared by ODS and 
validated by BOG.  

Recomputed retention 
rate using retention 
files produced by 
BOG from SIF and 
SIFP. Selected a 
sample and traced to 
system of record. 

D Four year FTIC 
graduation rate 

ODS IPEDS  
survey & 
BOG 
submission 
files  

Data based on BOG 
files (SIF, SIFP) used to 
calculate the FTIC 
cohort and SIFD. 
IPEDS survey is 
prepared by ODS and 
validated by BOG. BOG 
also computes 
graduation rates based 
on BOG files (SIF, 
SIFP, and SIFD). 

Recomputed 
graduation rate using 
SIF, SIFD, and FTIC 
cohort. Sample tested 
during PBF Audit. 

E National 
Academy 
memberships 

BOG-ODA Official 
membership 
directories 

Calculated by BOG but 
validated by ORI using 
external websites. List of 
acceptable organizations 
maintained by BOG. 

Validated BOG-ODA 
listing to external sites. 

F Total annual 
research 
expenditures: 
science & 
engineering  only 

ORI NSF 
HERD  
survey 

Survey utilizes FAST, 
FAIR, and BANNER 
financial data, and R&D 
activities reported by 
external affiliates and 
DSOs via manual survey 
tools. 

Recalculated metric 
using FAST data and 
data obtained from 
ODS (FAIR), USFF, 
USFRF, and affiliates. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

378



AUDIT 19-020 
 

9 of 17 
 

Metric Description 
Responsible 

Unit Source 

Data Used/Created by 
the BOG 

Testing 
Methodology 

G Total annual 
research 
expenditures in 
diversified non-
medical  sciences  

ORI NSF 
HERD 
survey 

Same as Metric F Same as Metric F 

H Top 100 national 
ranking in 
research 
expenditures in 
at least five 
STEM 
disciplines  

ORI NSF 
HERD 
survey  

Same as Metric F, except 
ORI utilizes department 
ID number to associate 
R&D activities with a 
discipline. 

Recalculated rank 
using HERD survey 
published data. 

I Patents awarded 
over three year 
period. 

BOG-ODA USPTO  As reported by USPTO 
for the most recent three 
years. 

Verified using USPTO 
website. 

J Doctoral degrees 
awarded annually  

BOG-ODA Degrees 
Awarded 
File (SIFD) 

BOG computes and 
ODS validates based on 
SIFD. 

Recalculated using the 
SIFD file. Sample 
tested during PBF 
Audit. 

K Number of post-
doctoral  
appointees 

OPA NSF GSS 
survey 

USF OPA No testing performed 
since testing was done 
during the PBF Audit. 

L Endowment  
size 

USFF NACUBO 
survey 

USFF financial records 
in BANNER and 
external investment 
statements. 

Reviewed calculation 
and traced to 
supporting documents. 

 
KEY TERMS 

 
Term Description 

BANNER  Financial  accounting system used by USF Foundation and USF Research Foundation.  

BOG-ODA Florida Board of Governors’ Office of Data Analytics 

FAIR Faculty Academic Information Reporting System used to obtain departmental funded research 
efforts 

FAST Financial Accounting SysTem used by USF to manage contracts and grant activities. 

FTIC First -time in College as defined by IPEDS and BOG 

IPEDS Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System at the National Center for Education 
Statistics 

NACUBO National Association of College and University Business Officers 

NSF GSS NSF/National Institutes of Health (NIH) Survey of Graduate Students and Post-doctorates in 
Science and Engineering 
 

NSF 
HERD 

National Science Foundation Higher Education Research & Development Survey  

ODS Office of Decision Support in the Office of the Provost 

OPA Office of Post-Doctoral Affairs in the Office of Graduate Studies 

ORI Office of Research & Innovation 

PBF Performance Based Funding 

USFF USF Foundation, direct support organizations of USF. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

379



AUDIT 19-020 
 

10 of 17 
 

USFRF USF Research Foundation, direct support organization of USF 

USPTO United States Patent & Trademark Office 

R&D Research & Development expenditures as defined by the HERD survey. 

 
 

FILES REVIEWED 
 

Submission 
System of 

Record Table(s) 
Submission 
Reviewed 

Admission File (ADM) OASIS1 Applicants Admits 
Tests Reqs 
 

Fall 2018 

Retention File (RET), based on Student 
Instruction File (SIF) and Student 
Instructional File - Degree (SIFD) 

BOG Retention File 
Retention Cohort Change 

2017-2018 
(cohort 2014) 

Student Instructional File - Degree (SIFD) OASIS Degrees Awarded Summer 2017 
Fall 2017 
Spring 2018 

1 OASIS is the student information system used by the USF System.  
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

380



AUDIT 19-020 
 

11 of 17 
 

APPENDIX B 

 HIGH PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 

1. Research and development (R&D) expenditures of affiliates were 
included in the Higher Education R&D (HERD) survey. 

 

Resolved 

 The HERD survey states that R&D “conducted by university faculty or staff at 
outside institutions that is not accounted for in your financial records cannot 
be included.” (Emphasis added)  The HERD survey also defines allowable 
reporting units.  Responding institutions are advised not to include “Other 
organizations or institutions, such as teaching hospitals or research institutes, 
with which your institution has an affiliation or relationship, but which are not 
components of your institution.” 
 
Each year the Office of Research & Innovation (ORI) sends affiliates a paper 
HERD survey to complete with the instructions to include “research activity of 
those employees who hold dual appointments both with USF and the USF 
affiliate partners that is not reflected in FAST”, the university’s Financial 
Accounting SysTem.  These affiliates are not accounted for in the USF financial 
statements as direct support organizations or component units. 
 
According to the ORI, affiliates have been included in the HERD survey since at 
least 2003-2004.  The organizations included as affiliates in the 2017-2018 survey 
included:  Moffitt, Veteran’s Administration (VA)-Bay Pines, VA- Haley, All 
Children’s Hospital, Jaeb Center for Health Research, Florida Institute of 
Orthopedics, and Research Park tenants.  
 
The 2017-2018 surveys completed by the affiliates reported $123.1 million in 
science and engineering R&D expenditures, which was included in the HERD 
survey.   
 
Inclusion of the affiliates overstated the amount of research expenditures on the 
HERD survey incurred directly by the USF System, as reported in their financial 
records.  Reporting affiliate R&D expenditures, inconsistent with the HERD 
survey definitions and instructions, could result in significant reputational risk. 
 

 

 Recommendation:  
 
The ORI should discontinue the process of including affiliates in the 
HERD survey. 
 

 

 Management Attention Required: ☒ 

 

Immediate ☐ 
 

Urgent ☐ 
 

Timely  

 Resources/Effort Required: ☐ 
 

Significant ☐ 
 

Moderate ☒ 
 

Minimal  

  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

381



AUDIT 19-020 
 

12 of 17 
 

 HIGH PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 

2. The data governance structure over the HERD survey is not adequate to 
ensure accurate and consistent reporting of R&D expenditures. 

In Progress 

   
 In order to ensure that the R&D expenditures are reported accurately and 

consistently there must be a robust data management framework, which ensures 
that data custodians adhere to data integrity standards, maintain proper 
documentation, ensure completeness of the data, and maintain accurate records 
to support the submission.  This includes ensuring an independent data quality 
assurance process is in place.  
 
The HERD survey was not following USF Policy 11-007 Data Submission to 
External Entities standard for external data submissions because the survey was 
provided an exemption as a Board of Governors (BOG) ad hoc report.  
Responsibility for maintaining an adequate data management structure for the 
HERD survey is assigned to the data stewards, sub-certifiers, and primary 
executive reviewers in the ORI. 
 
There were no work instructions, flowcharts, or other comprehensive 
documentation of the process used to gather, validate, and compile data from 
the multiple sources.  A Senior Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Analyst, in 
the ORI who serves as the data steward relied on guidance provided by the ORI 
leadership and the prior data steward to determine what R&D expenditure to 
report.  
 
Audit’s review of the methodology utilized to complete the survey identified the 
following issues: 
 

 The HERD survey allowed “expenditures from funds designated for 
research”.  USF establishes convenience account funds within FAST to 
record payroll costs and other expenditures to be reimbursed by Direct 
Support Organizations (DSOs) and external affiliates.  The activity 
reflected in these funds may be directly related to research, unrelated to 
research, or a combination of both research and non-research activities.  
The ORI’s data steward was excluding those account funds unrelated to 
research, but had no methodology in place to allocate dual-purpose 
account funds which contained research and non-research activities.  
Expenditures, totaling $70.9 million were included in the HERD survey.  
USF Health House staff account funds represent 82% of these costs 
($57.8 million) and are a multi-purpose account fund.   

 The HERD R&D survey covers three activities: basic research, applied 
research and experimental development.”  HERD excludes “public 
service grants or outreach programs” and “non-research training grants”.  
USF establishes a FAST project for each sponsored research activity 
managed by the ORI.  USF includes all research activity associated with 
a FAST project in the HERD survey.  While each ORI FAST project is 
associated with a purpose (research, instructional, or other), there is no  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

382

http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf
http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf


AUDIT 19-020 
 

13 of 17 
 

 HIGH PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 

 way to identify externally funded non-research training grants or public 
service grants since the purpose of these projects are coded as either 
instructional, training, or other.  There was $25.5 million in expenditures 
coded in FAST as instructional and $4.3 million coded as training which 
could be research or non-research training.  In addition, public service 
grants would be coded as “other”. 

 USF Foundation (USFF) funded R&D activities were recorded based on 
revenues received not expenditures incurred, which resulted in an under 
reporting of $738,256. 

 Capital project costs were miscoded in FAST resulting in an 
overstatement of R&D Expenditures of $815,889. 

 
Additionally, Audit identified the following deficiencies with the data 
compilation process: 
 

 The HERD survey utilizes a FAST query written by the data steward.  
As a result, the query is not subject to the established IT change 
management controls.  

 Departmentally funded research is not tracked in FAST; as a result, the 
Office of Decision Support (ODS) must provide a report of Education 
and General (E&G) funds used for research from the Faculty Academic 
Information Reporting (FAIR) system.  The report provides a summary 
of the E&G dollars by department with no detail by employee.  As a 
result, there is no ability for the ORI to validate the accuracy of the data.   

 The FAST and FAIR data is downloaded into an Access database where 
the data is combined and a manually maintained crosswalk is used to 
assign the R&D discipline based on department ID number.  No one 
besides the data steward validates the crosswalk. 

 Data is then transferred to an Excel spreadsheet where data from the 
USFF, USF Research Foundation (USFRF), and external affiliates is 
manually added.  USFRF and affiliates provide no detail of activities and 
report activities via a manually completed HERD survey.  As a result, 
there is no ability for the ORI to validate the accuracy of the data.  No 
one besides the data steward validates the consolidation is accurate. 

 
Once the data compilation process is complete, the data steward prepares the 
HERD survey for each campus along with a data quality report.  The data 
quality report includes summary reports, which compare total R&D 
expenditures by entity for the current reporting period to the last two previously 
reported periods, and the preeminence metric results for the current period to 
the last five reporting periods.  These reports are presented to the ORI 
Associate Vice President (sub-certifier) and to the Senior Vice President for 
approval.  Once approved, the data is submitted to the NSF.  Subsequent to this 
submission, an executive review process is performed which is overseen by the 
Resource Management & Analysis’ Office of Data Administration & State  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

383



AUDIT 19-020 
 

14 of 17 
 

 HIGH PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 

 Reporting.  The primary executive reviewer is the Vice President, Business and 
Finance and Chief Financial Officer which is inconsistent with the roles and 
responsibility document on the RMA-ODA website. 
 
When a robust data management framework is not in place the probability that 
data submitted to external entities is inaccurate, incomplete, or inconsistent with 
the established methodology of the data request is significantly increased.  
Whether intentional or unintentional, material errors in reporting data used to 
measure institutional performance creates a significant reputational risk. 

 

  
Recommendation:   
 

1. The ORI should review all convenience account funds included in 
the HERD survey for allowability.  A justification for including 
these expenditures should be maintained for each convenience 
account fund included in the HERD Survey.  Only those costs 
directly related to an R&D effort, as defined by HERD, should be 
included. 

2. The ORI should ensure all contract and grants, recorded in a 
FAST project, can be identified based on the grant’s purpose 
(research, research instruction, non-research instruction, or public 
service) so that accurate reporting can occur.   

3. The ORI should ensure USFF R&D expenditures are properly 
reported. 

4. The ORI should establish adequate controls over the HERD 
survey data production to ensure complete, accurate, and timely 
submission of the HERD data in accordance with the survey data 
definitions.  At a minimum: 
i) Develop work instructions, flowcharts, or other comprehensive 

documentation of the process used to gather, validate, and 
compile data for the HERD survey.  This should include data 
definitions and how ORI is assuring data produced is 
consistent with the definitions. 

ii) Request that the HERD survey be brought into the AppWorx 
process used to produce the IPEDS survey data and other 
BOG data submissions. 

iii) Develop anomaly reports to identify research activity 
inconsistent with the HERD data definitions. 

 
 
 

 

 Management Attention Required: ☒ 

 

Immediate ☐ 
 

Urgent ☐ 
 

Timely  

 Resources/Effort Required: ☒ 

 

Significant ☐ 
 

Moderate ☐ 
 

Minimal  

  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

384



AUDIT 19-020 
 

15 of 17 
 

APPENDIX C 

 MEDIUM PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 
1. Oversight over surveys used to support preeminence metrics needs to 

be enhanced. 
 

In Progress 

 USF Policy 11-007 Data Submission to External Entities communicates “to 
the USF System, the roles and responsibilities for responding to requests 
from External Entities that involve provision of institutional data.” 
 
USF Policy 11-007 states “Institutional data requested by external entities will be 
considered and furnished pursuant to University policies and protocols to ensure 
legitimacy of the request and accuracy of any data submitted. Upon approval by 
the Accountable Officer, the Unit Data Coordinator will engage with the USF 
System Office of Decision Support for review and processing of the request 
adhering to the highest standards of data integrity. Prior to external submission 
and in compliance with the relevant University Policies, ODS will approve data 
sources and definitions and ensure rigorous documentation and verification 
standards are upheld.” 
 
External data requests include publications to external entities including 
ranking publications, surveys administered by or on behalf of external entities, 
and mandated reports such as IPEDS. External data requests are exempt 
from USF Policy 11-007 if they are requested from the BOG since these 
requests are managed by RMA-ODA or if they are financial information 
managed by USF Business and Finance. 
 
Three survey results are used in the preeminence metrics and all three were 
considered exempt from ODS-ODA review for the following reasons: 

 Higher Education Research & Development (HERD) survey (metrics 
F, G, H) and National Science Foundation (NSF)/National Institutes 
of Health (NIH) Graduate Students and Postdoctorates in Science 
and Engineering (GSS) (metric K) were considered a BOG ad hoc 
report even though the data was submitted directly to survey 
administrator. 

 National Association of College and University Business Officers 
(NACUBO) – TIAA Study of Endowments (NTSE) (metric L) was 
considered financial information. 

 
While the HERD and GSS surveys had an executive review process which 
included leadership outside the vice presidential area responsible for data 
collection and reporting, the NTSE survey did not.  Only USFF leadership 
was involved in reviewing the survey prior to submission.   
 
In addition, the robust control process used with the BOG State University 
Database System (SUDS) file submissions, designed to ensure data was 
complete and accurate, were not in place for ad hoc reporting.  Since both the  

 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

385

http://regulationspolicies.usf.edu/policies-and-procedures/pdfs/policy-11-007.pdf


AUDIT 19-020 
 

16 of 17 
 

 MEDIUM PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 
  

HERD and NSF-GSS surveys are submitted directly to the external survey 
administrator on behalf of NSF, these surveys did not appear to meet the 
exemptions for BOG ad hoc reporting.  
 
When a robust data management framework is not in place the probability 
that data submitted to external entities is inaccurate, incomplete, or 
inconsistent with the established methodology of the data request is 
significantly increased.  Whether intentional or unintentional, material errors 
in reporting data used to measure institutional performance create a 
significant reputational risk. 
 

 

 Recommendation: 
 
1) The ORI should submit the HERD survey to the ODS for review 

rather than follow the BOG ad hoc process.  
2) The Office of Post-Doctoral Affairs should submit the NSF GSS 

survey to ODS for review rather than follow the BOG ad hoc 
process. 

3) The USF Foundation should implement an executive review 
process over the NTSE survey to ensure independent oversight over 
the survey’s completion. 

 
 

 

 Management Attention 
Required: 

☐ 

 

Immediate ☒ 
 

Urgent ☐ 
 

Timely  

 Resources/Effort Required: ☐ 
 

Significant ☒ 
 

Moderate ☐ 
 

Minimal  

Management’s Response:   
 

1) By January 31, 2021, USF Research & Innovation commits to working 
with financial management and technology resources to foster more 
efficient and consistent reporting as the current system is labor intensive.  
HERD survey data results will be provided to the USF System Office of 
Decision Support for review and processing to ensure data integrity prior 
to submission to NSF.   

2) Implemented as of February 27, 2020 
3) Implemented as of October 3, 2019. 

 

 

2. The integrity of historical records related to the submission of degrees 
awarded was not being maintained. 
 
The Student Instructional File-Degree (SIFD) preparation is the responsibility 
of the Office of the Registrar, a Division of Student Affairs and Student 
Success.  A copy of the degrees awarded (SIFD) table submitted to the BOG 
each semester is maintained in the data warehouse HubMart.  This table is 

 Resolved 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

386



AUDIT 19-020 
 

17 of 17 
 

 MEDIUM PRIORITY RISKS STATUS 
 used during the validation process of the SIFD table to allow late-awarded 

degrees to be submitted in future SIFD submissions.   
 
Beginning in Summer 2014, when a degree awarded was rescinded, the degree 
was removed from the historic SIFD table and a request to delete the degree 
from the BOG-ODA was submitted.  A request for the deletion was sent to 
the data administrator in RMA-ODA who ensured that both the SIFD sub-
certifier and primary executive reviewer had approved the deletion.  Once 
approved, a request to delete the record was sent to Information Technology.  
The ODS was also notified to delete the record in their database which was 
used to track progress toward the performance and preeminence metrics.  
The ODS maintained an Excel spreadsheet of the degrees removed.  Neither 
the RMA-ODA nor the Office of the Registrar were maintaining a cumulative 
record of degrees rescinded, but they were maintaining the email records 
supporting the deletion. 
 
Based on the list provided by the ODS, there were 6 rescinded degrees during 
the period under review (Summer 2017 to Spring 2018).  By deleting 
rescinded degrees from the SIFD file, rather them identifying them as 
rescinded, results in a loss of integrity of the file. 
 

 

 Recommendation: 
 
The Office of Student Affairs & Student Success should discontinue the 
practice of deleting rescinded degrees from the university’s copy of the 
historical SIFD file in order to maintain an appropriate audit trail.   
 

 

 Management Attention 
Required: 

☐ 

 

Immediate ☒ 
 

Urgent ☐ 
 

Timely  

 Resources/Effort Required: ☐ 
 

Significant ☒ 
 

Moderate ☐ 
 

Minimal  

    Management’s Response:   
    Implemented as of January 16, 2020. 
 
 

 

 
 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

387



 
 
 

USF Research & Innovation | Office of the Senior Vice President 
University of South Florida | 3702 Spectrum Blvd., Suite 165 | Tampa, FL 33612-9445 

(813) 974-5570 | Fax (813) 974-4962 | www.research.usf.edu 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Virginia L. Kalil, Executive Director/Chief Internal Audit 

USF System Audit 
 
FROM:  Paul R. Sanberg, Senior Vice President for Research, Innovation & 
  Knowledge Enterprise  

    
DATE: February 13, 2020 
 
RE:   Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 19-020 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk #1: 
 
USF Research & Innovation (USFR&I) agrees that the National Science Foundation (NSF) 
directs Higher Education Research and Development (HERD) survey respondents to exclude 
data for entities that are not discretely presented component units of the institution. 
 
While the University concedes that the inclusion of data for affiliated entities is contrary to 
HERD directives, the report was compiled with the goal of capturing all research in which the 
University plays an integral role.  This allows the report to capture activity not included in the 
University’s financial statements, the absence of which would fail to recognize the 
University’s unique relationship with its affiliates and would, therefore not otherwise be 
captured and reported to the Board of Governors as part of the HERD Survey. 
 
Such expenditures included: 

• Faculty holding dual appointments at Moffitt Cancer Center housed in the 
Department of Oncological Sciences at USF Health.  Note that the Moffitt 
relationship stems from when it was a Direct Support Organization (DSO). 

• Faculty holding dual appointments at Veteran’s Administration (VA)-Bay 
Pines, VA- Haley, All Children’s Hospital, Jaeb Center for Health Research, 
Florida Institute of Orthopedics, and Research Park tenants   

• Comparative Medicine staff operating the vivarium located in the Moffitt Cancer 
Center building.   

• Faculty operating under inter-agency personnel agreements (IPA). 
• Costs associated with conducting regulatory reviews and providing oversight to 

Moffitt (e.g., IRB, IACUC, biosafety, radiation safety, etc.) 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

388



 

 

Memo re Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 19-020 
February 13, 2020 
Page Two 
 
 
Action Plan— 
 
Commencing with FY2019, R&D conducted by University faculty or staff at outside 
institutions that are not accounted for in the University’s financial records will no longer be 
reported in the HERD Survey.  Unless otherwise directed by NSF, the University does not 
intend to restate data submitted previously. 
 
The University believes it is important for the Board of Governors to have a report that 
captures all research data from the University and affiliates.  USF will work with the 
Chancellor and his staff to determine a reporting methodology (e.g., HERD plus selected 
entities) that best meets the needs of the Board and the State of Florida in measuring all 
research activity. 
 
Date of Implementation— 
 
March 13, 2020 
 
Technical Owner/Functional Manager — 
 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President 
 
 
Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk #2: 
 
Recommendation #1— 
 
To ensure that R&D expenditures are reported accurately and consistently, management 
agrees that a robust data management framework must be in place which adheres to data 
integrity standards.  Additionally, the process used to gather, validate, and compile data from 
multiple sources must be documented and a methodology for identifying expenditures for 
funds designated for research must be developed.  Finally, dual purpose account funds 
containing research and non-research activities must be segregated based upon the grants 
purpose to facilitate accurate reporting.   
 
Action Plan— 
 
Sponsored Research reviewed each convenience account manually to discern if the activity 
reflected in these funds were related to research and/or scholarly activity directly or indirectly. 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

389



 

 

Memo re Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 19-020 
February 13, 2020 
Page Three 
 
 
Where the intent for creating the fund was ambiguous, additional documentation was solicited 
from the administrative unit to determine if an “element of research activity” was being 
conducted.  Further, telephone interviews were conducted with fund recipients or designated 
unit-level personnel to aid Sponsored Research in its decision-making efforts. 
 
For FY 2019’s HERD Survey, Sponsored Research will compare the data reported for FY 
2018 with the information generated for FY 2019.  Any convenience fund not vetted 
previously will be reviewed for appropriateness utilizing the method employed above.   
 
Because the University realizes that this method is labor-intensive, commencing with 
reporting for FY 2020, Sponsored Research will coordinate with Research Technologies to 
design tools to automate processes and reduce the administrative burden of categorizing 
convenience accounts.  
 
Date of Implementation— 
 
Completion of an overall framework and plan – March 13, 2020 
Completion of all of the remaining steps - January 31, 2021.    
 
Technical Owner/ Functional Manager— 
 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President 
 
 
Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk #2: 
 
Recommendation #2— 
 
Sponsored Research concurs that the classification assigned to each project must be based on 
the purpose and the deliverables required.  Where the purpose of the project is unclear, 
additional documentation was requested from the administrative unit—including, the scope of 
work to be performed as well as progress and/or technical reports.   
 
Action Plan— 
 
Commencing with FY 2020’s HERD Survey, the Internal Form will be amended to reflect 
four categories—research, research instruction, non-research instruction and public service—
so as to facilitate accurate reporting.  The justification for including expenditures involving a   

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

390



 

 

Memo re Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 19-020 
February 13, 2020 
Page Four 
 
 
new project will be based on R&D effort as indicated based on the definitions provided by 
NSF in the HERD Survey instructions.  Furthermore, formal classification or designation of a  
project as basic research, applied research and/or experimental development will occur 
commencing with fiscal year 2020. 
 
Date of Implementation— 
 
Revisions to the Internal Form will commence in February 2020.  The timeline for recoding 
existing projects will be dependent on the feasibility of designing tools to automate processes 
and reduce the administrative burden, as well as, the availability of Research Technologies’ 
staff. 
 
Completion of an overall framework and plan – March 13, 2020 
Completion of all of the remaining steps – January 31, 2021 
 
Technical Owner/ Functional Manager— 
 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President 
 
 
 
Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk #2: 
 
Recommendation #3— 
 
The University concurs with this finding. To ensure that R&D expenditures are reported 
accurately and consistently, the USF Research and Innovation will work in collaboration 
with financial management and technology resources to develop ancillary tools to create a 
robust data management framework.   
 
Action Plan— 
 
To facilitate reporting of the USF Foundation’s R&D expenditures, the USF Research and 
Innovation is working in conjunction with the USF Foundation to implement a crosswalk.  
The crosswalk is under review by the USF Foundation. 
 
Date of Implementation— 
 
Completion of an overall framework and plan – March 13, 2020 
  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

391



 

 

Memo re Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk 19-020 
February 13, 2020 
Page Five 
 
 
Technical Owner/ Functional Manager— 
 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President 
 
 
 
Management Overall Response to High Priority Risk #2: 
 
Recommendation #4— 
 
The University acknowledges that additional control measures governing data integrity are 
warranted as the current method does not yield repeatable outcomes consistently.   
 
Action Plan— 
 
To prevent material errors in data reporting, Sponsored Research will develop work 
instructions, flowcharts, or other comprehensive documentation of the process used to 
gather, validate, and compile data for the HERD survey will be developed. 
 
Date of Implementation— 
 
Completion of an overall framework and plan – March 13, 2020 
Completion of all of the remaining steps - January 31, 2021.  
 
Technical Owner/ Functional Manager— 
 
Keith Anderson, Assistant Vice President 
 
 
General Response 
 
The methodology used by USF to capture and report R&D expenditures to the HERD 
Survey is complex and utilizes multiple financial and information systems. Despite this, 
opportunities exist that are not measured or estimated via the University’s current 
approach.  The University hired Huron Consulting Group to assess the feasibility of 
capturing additional unreported or under reported research expenditures.  In their draft 
report, they cite a number of items they believe the University should include.  These 
opportunities are being explored at present. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

392



   P a g e |  1 

  

 

Internal Auditing & Management Consulting 
Audit:  Performance Based Funding Data Integrity - 2019 
Report # UWF19-20_003 
Date:  January 27, 2020                                   

 

 

 

 

  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
We audited Performance Based Funding Data 

Integrity as of September 30, 2019. This audit was 

included as part of our 2019/20 audit work plan, 

conducted in accordance with a Board of Governors 

(BOG) directive to state universities. Our specific 

objectives were to: 

  

• Evaluate internal controls designed to 

ensure the accuracy, completeness, and 

timeliness of data submissions to the Board 

of Governors, and 

• Provide an objective basis of support for the 

President and Chair of the Board of Trustees 

to sign the representations included in the 

Performance Based Funding – Data Integrity 

Certification, to be filed with the Board of 

Governors by March 2, 2020. 

 

Audit fieldwork began on November 7, 2019, and 

ended on January 17, 2020. Our audit was 

conducted in accordance with the Institute of 

Internal Auditors International Standards for the 

Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and 

generally accepted auditing standards. 

 

BACKGROUND 

The BOG has broad governance responsibilities 

affecting administrative and budgetary matters for 

Florida’s 12 public universities.  Beginning in fiscal 

year 2013-14, they instituted a performance 

funding program that is based on 10 metrics.  These 

metrics are used to evaluate the institutions on a 

range of issues including cost per degree, retention 

rates, graduation rates, and job placement, among 

other things.   

 

Each university is offered a “Board of Trustees 

Choice Metric,” enabling the institution to select a 

metric that improves their scoring with respect to  

 

performance funding, based on their unique 

strengths.  Since inception, the University has 

elected to use the metric “Percentage of Adult 

Undergraduates Enrolled,” defined as the 

percentage of undergraduates enrolled during the 

fall term who are at least 25 years old at the time of 

enrollment.  Next year this metric will be replaced 

with a newly designed metric, “Percent of 

Baccalaureate Graduates Completing 2+ High 

Impact Practices.” 

 

Much of the information that is used by the BOG in 

their calculation of the metrics is through 6 data 

files that are submitted periodically by the 

universities.  This includes the: 

 

• Admissions File 

• Degrees Awarded File 

• Hours to Degree File 

• Retention File 

• Student Financial Aid File 

• Student Instruction File 

 

Data that is ultimately submitted to the BOG 

through these electronic submissions is initially 

entered through the Admissions, Registrar, 

Financial Aid, and Controller’s departments into the 

Banner Student system.  The Office of Institutional 

Research (IR) has been delegated responsibility for 

compiling the data into tables according to BOG 

specifications, conducting a quality review of the 

data prior to submission to the BOG, and timely 

submission of the files.   

 

In accordance with BOG Regulation 3.007 “State 

University System (SUS) Management Information 

Systems,” the President has formally appointed an 

Institutional Data Administrator, who is the 

Director of Institutional Research.  The Director has 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

393



   P a g e |  2 

  

 

Internal Auditing & Management Consulting 
Audit:  Performance Based Funding Data Integrity - 2019 
Report # UWF19-20_003 
Date:  January 27, 2020                                   

 

 

 

 

frequent contact with the BOG Institutional 

Research staff, strengthening his understanding of 

their complex requirements for the data in the files.   

 

Audits similar to this one were conducted in 2014, 

2015, 2016, 2017, and 2018. 

 

OBSERVATIONS 

We interviewed key personnel involved in the 

processes that end with submission of data to the 
BOG that are used in the computation of metrics.  
We examined written policies and procedures and 
other related documents.  We evaluated internal 
controls that were in place and used the results to 
design audit tests. Extensive audit testing was 
conducted on data submitted to the BOG in order to 
evaluate accuracy and completeness.  We found that 
internal controls over all processes were strong.    
We therefore make no recommendations. 

 

We appreciate the cooperation, professionalism, and responsiveness of the employees who were involved in 
the audit. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Cindy Talbert, CFE, CIA, CPA, CRMA 

Interim Internal Audit Director 

 
REPORT PROVIDED TO THE FOLLOWING: 

Dr. Martha Saunders, President 

David E. Cleveland, Chair BOT 

Bob Jones, Chair Audit & Compliance Committee 

Dick Baker, Audit & Compliance Committee 

Robert Sires, Audit & Compliance Committee 

Dr. George Ellenberg, Provost/Sr. Vice President 

Dr. Kimberly McCorkle, Vice Provost 

Dr. Kim LeDuff, Vice President 

Betsy Bowers, Vice President 

Melanie Haveard, ITS Executive Director and CTO 

Keith King, Institutional Research Director 

Jeffrey Djerlek, Associate Vice President 

Shelly Blake, Associate Vice President 

Adam Burgess, Interim Registrar 

Katie Condon, Admissions Director 

Shana Gore, Enrollment Executive Director 

Jaime Hoelscher, Manager, FL Auditor General 

Ken Danley, Supervisor, FL Auditor General 

Julie Leftheris, BOG Chief Inspector General 

Lori Clark, BOG Compliance and Audit Specialist 

Rebecca Luntsford, BOT Liaison  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

394



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

395



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

396



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

397



SUS Data Integrity 

Audits, Action Plans, and Certifications Summary 

March 2020, Year 7 

UNIV. CONCLUSIONS OBSERVED ISSUES ACTION 
PLAN 

CERTIFICATION 

FAMU • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

One issue related to a logic error for Metric 10, which 
was identified and corrected. 

N/A Unmodified Certification 

FAU • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

No adverse findings N/A Unmodified Certification 

FGCU • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

Two issues noted related to lack of written procedures 
and user access.  No impact on PBF metrics. 

June 2020 Unmodified Certification 

FIU** • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

Issues related to user access, patch/change 
management, written procedures, and IT jobs monitoring. 
No impact on PBF or preeminence metrics. 

May 2020 Unmodified Certification 

FL 
Poly 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

FSU* • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

Minor coding issues noted.  No impact on PBF or 
preeminence metrics. 

N/A Unmodified Certification 

NCF • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

Issue related to PBF Metric 1 and enrollment reporting. May 1, 2020 Modified Certification – 
possible impact Metric 1 

UCF** • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

Issue related to one student’s transfer credits applied in 
error to degree (resulting in excess hours). No impact on 
University’s overall PBF ranking. 

N/A Modified Certification – 
delayed submission. (No 
significant impact.) 

UF* • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

Minor errors noted related to timely submissions, data 
reporting, and data accuracy. No impact on PBF metrics. 

N/A Unmodified Certification 

UNF • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

Five minor processing exceptions (manual data entry) 
noted and corrected. No impact on PBF metrics. 

N/A Unmodified Certification 

USF* • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

PBF: Issue related to incorrect coding and procedures in 
identifying repeat coursework. 
Preeminence: Issues related to reporting of affiliates and 
questioned costs related to expenditures. 

May 30, 2020 Modified Certification – 
Inaccurate coding, 
procedures, and 
reporting. (No impact) 

UWF • Controls Adequate 

• Basis for Certification 

No adverse findings N/A Unmodified Certification 

*Preeminent universities 

**Emerging preeminent universities 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Audit and Compliance Committee

398



AGENDA 
Innovation and Online Committee 

By Telephone Conference Call 
Tallahassee, Florida 

May 5, 2020 
3:00 p.m. - 3:30 p.m. 

or  
Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings 

Chair: Kent Stermon; Vice Chair:  Tim Cerio 
Members: Corcoran, Felton, Huizenga, Jr., Johnson, Lydecker, Tripp 

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Stermon 

2. Minutes of January 29, 2020, Committee Meeting Governor Stermon 

3. Performance Indicators and Goals Dr. Ralph Wilcox 
       Provost 

   University of South Florida 

4. Noncredit Programs

a. SUS Overview Dr. Nancy McKee 
Associate Vice Chancellor 

b. Institutional Noncredit Programs: USF Mark Koulianos 
USF Executive Director 
Corporate Training and    
Professional Education 

c. Institutional Noncredit Programs: UF IFAS       Nick T. Place, Ph.D.
  Dean for Extension & Director    

of the Florida Cooperative  
       Extension Service 

5. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Stermon 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

399



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Innovation and Online Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Minutes of Committee Meeting held January 29, 2020

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Consider approval of the minutes of the Innovation and Online Committee meeting held 
on January 29, 2020, at Florida State University.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Committee members will review and consider approval of the minutes of the meeting 
held on January 29, 2020, at Florida State University.

Supporting Documentation Included: Minutes, January 29, 2020

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Kent Stermon

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

403



MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
INNOVATION AND ONLINE COMMITTEE

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

JANUARY 29, 2020

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks

Chair Kent Stermon convened the meeting at 11:00 a.m. on January 29, 2020, with the 
following members present: Vice Chair Tim Cerio; Dr. Shawn Felton; H. Wayne 
Huizenga, Jr.; Zenani D. Johnson; Charles Lydecker; and Norman Tripp.  A quorum 
was established. 

2. Approval of Committee Meeting Minutes

Governor Felton moved that the committee approve the minutes of the October 30, 
2019, meeting, as presented.  Governor Tripp seconded the motion, and the members 
concurred.

3. SUS Textbook Affordability Action Plan

Chair Stermon reminded members that the committee and the full Board had approved 
the SUS Action Plan for the Pricing of Textbooks and Other Instructional Materials in 
August 2019 to provide students with access to quality and affordable textbooks and 
other materials.  He said that the Chancellor and his staff were directed to pursue 
Letters of Commitment with publishers and university bookstore vendors to ensure 
students in the State University System will be paying less for materials than they 
currently pay and that students throughout the System will be paying consistent prices 
for the same materials.

Dr. Lynn Nelson said the components of the Action Plan included student cost of course 
materials; format of materials; student access to materials on the first day of class; 
student access to digital materials beyond the end of the course; students not paying 
twice for digital access if the course is dropped and taken at a later time; student 
options for print-on-demand for digital materials; accessibility for students with 
disabilities; and mechanisms for capturing and reporting faculty use of open educational
resources and other no-cost resources. In addition, institutions would have access to 
data for reporting purposes.

She said that the first year of implementation of the Action Plan would be 2020-21, with 
outcomes reported in the 2020-21 annual report. Letters of Commitment from publishers 
and bookstore vendors were received by November 22, 2019, acknowledging and 
addressing the components of the initiative.  Participating publishers include Cengage, 
Lumen Learning, Macmillan Learning, McGraw Hill Higher Education, Pearson, Wiley, 
W.W. Norton & Company. Letters of Commitment were also received from bookstore 
vendors Barnes and Noble College and Follett Higher Education Group. Dr. Nelson said 
Chancellor Criser recognized the participating entities as Torchbearers for their 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

404



commitment to student success. She said they were invited to use the SUS torch 
symbol to identify materials that met all of the components of the Action Plan. Faculty 
are not required to use materials with the torch symbol, but the torch will help them, as
well as students, easily identify materials that meet the affordability initiative. 

Dr. Nelson indicated that a communications campaign will help inform faculty, 
administration, and students of the initiative. Publisher representatives will have 
materials identified for faculty consideration for use in the 2020 Fall term.

Governor Shawn Felton said that faculty have been involved in this initiative from the 
beginning when Chancellor Criser and Dr. Nancy McKee reached out to them. He said 
the Board, administrators, and faculty are interested in offering a quality education while 
being cognizant of the cost to students. Dr. Felton stated that many faculty have already 
been developing and using materials to lower the costs to students, and the agreements 
with publishers will continue the effort to reduce costs.

4. UF Online Annual Report and the 5-year Business Plan

Mrs. Evie Cummings presented the 2019 Annual Report for UF Online, saying there is a 
great demand for and a high denial rate into UF Online. She said in addition to providing 
online majors, UF Online provides experiential learning opportunities, such as field 
work, to bring students into the campus community. She said ten colleges at the 
University of Florida offer majors residentially and online through UF Online.

Mrs. Cummings said UF Online has the results of a recent student survey they plan to 
administer annually.  Other than PACE students who are traditional-aged university 
students, most of UF Online’s students (40%) work 30 hours or more a week and a third
of UF Online students have children at home. 

She indicated that UF Online was recently named by U.S. News and World Report as 
#4 in the country for Best Online Bachelor’s Program and #2 for Best Online Bachelor’s 
Program for Veterans.

Mrs. Cummings said the UF Online Advisory Board requested she revise the enrollment 
projections in the comprehensive business plan due to the high denial rate and the fact 
that UF Online has not seen the high enrollments from Wal-Mart, Disney, and other 
companies that were originally expected. She stated the revisions have been approved 
by the Advisory Board.

5. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

Chair Stermon adjourned the meeting at 11:26 a.m.

___________________________ ______________________________
Nancy C. McKee, Ph.D. Kent Stermon, Chair
Associate Vice Chancellor

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

405



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Innovation and Online Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Performance Indicators and Goals

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Consider approval

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

During their October 2019 meetings, the Innovation and Online Committee and Board of 
Governors approved the 2025 Strategic Plan for Online Education’s performance
indicators and goals. During the Committee meeting, Board members requested 
additional information regarding the goals for the percentage of undergraduate and 
graduate students enrolled in at least one distance learning course.  The Board of 
Governors Office of Data Analytics provided additional data that was reviewed by 
provosts on the Steering Committee that is guiding the implementation of the Plan. USF 
Provost Ralph Wilcox, who chairs the Steering Committee, will present the data and 
revised recommendations regarding those two performance indicators and goals.

1. CURRENT PERFORMANCE INDICATOR AND GOAL: Percentage of SUS 
undergraduate students enrolling in one or more online courses each year: 75%

a. REVISED Recommended Goal:  80%
b. Supporting Data: 

Undergraduate Students Enrolled in at Least One
Distance Learning course
ACADEMIC 
YEAR

AT LEAST 
ONE DL DL ONLY MIXED NO DL

2013-14 58% 6% 52% 42%

2014-15 62% 7% 55% 38%

2015-16 66% 9% 57% 34%

2016-17 69% 10% 59% 31%

2017-18 72% 11% 61% 28%

2018-19 75% 11% 63% 25%
BOG ODA analysis, data extracted 2020-01-21.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

406



2. CURRENT PERFORMANCE INDICATOR AND GOAL:  Percentage of SUS 
graduate students enrolling in one or more online courses each year: 50%

a. REVISED Recommended Performance Indicator and Goal:
Percentage of SUS Master’s students enrolling in one or more online 
courses in the Fall term: 60%

b. Supporting Data:

Masters Students

Professional Doctorate Students

Research Doctorate Students

Notes: Board ODA query extracted 2020-02-19. Includes only students enrolled in courses.

________________________________________________________________
Supporting Documentation Included: None

Facilitators/Presenters USF Provost Ralph Wilcox

TERM
STUDENTS 

(N)
AT LEAST 
ONE DL

DL ONLY MIXED NO DL

FALL 2015 38,922 46% 27% 19% 54%

FALL 2016 40,453 48% 30% 18% 52%

FALL 2017 41,027 51% 33% 18% 49%

FALL 2018 40,946 53% 36% 18% 47%

FALL 2019 42,420 56% 38% 18% 44%

TERM
STUDENTS 

(N)
AT LEAST 
ONE DL

DL ONLY MIXED NO DL

FALL 2015 6,531 29% 8% 21% 71%

FALL 2016 6,762 32% 13% 19% 68%

FALL 2017 7,006 30% 10% 20% 70%

FALL 2018 7,201 35% 13% 22% 65%

FALL 2019 7,137 37% 15% 22% 63%

TERM
STUDENTS 

(N)
AT LEAST 
ONE DL

DL ONLY MIXED NO DL

FALL 2015 13,576 12% 4% 9% 88%

FALL 2016 13,833 13% 4% 9% 87%

FALL 2017 14,010 13% 4% 9% 87%

FALL 2018 14,224 14% 4% 10% 86%

FALL 2019 14,482 15% 5% 10% 85%

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

407



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

Innovation and Online Committee 
May 5, 2020 

SUBJECT: Noncredit Programs 

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

For information 

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION 

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

In 2019, members of the Innovation and Online Committee expressed interest in the 
extent to which universities are providing options for meeting workforce needs, in 
addition to traditional academic programs. During the October 30, 2019, Committee 
meeting, Board staff presented information regarding credit certificate programs, 
including the number of completers, the number of programs in Areas of Strategic 
Emphasis, and the number of programs offered online. 

Board staff met with university Continuing Education leaders in December 2019 to 
determine categories for capturing noncredit programs; the categories were 
subsequently approved by the Steering Committee, the group of provosts guiding the 
implementation of the 2025 Strategic Plan for Online Education. A survey was 
distributed to universities in January 2020 to collect information on noncredit programs, 
including the number of completers, the number of programs, and the number of 
programs offered online. The results will be presented to the Committee by Board staff, 
Dr. Nancy McKee, during its May 5 meeting.  Mark Koulianos (USF) and Dr. Nick 
Place (UF IFAS) will provide responses to the following questions regarding noncredit 
programs: 

1. How does your unit identify employer/workforce needs?
2. How does your unit know those needs are being met?
3. How does your unit inform employers/potential students of offerings?
4. Are credentials earned upon completion of noncredit programs?
5. What are examples of noncredit programs that help meet workforce needs?

Supporting Documentation Included: 

Facilitators/Presenters: 

SUS Noncredit Programs 

Dr. Nancy McKee 
Mark Koulianos (USF)  
Dr. Nick Place (UF IFAS) 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

414



1

(excludes Medical and Law Schools)

Categories Programs Online Completers
Preparing Enrollees for Obtaining  
Licensure/Certification or for 
Admissions into College or Special 
Programs 

230 142 14,867 

Obtaining and Maintaining 
Licensure/Certifications 

229 11 22,012 

Career Development 825 315 140,681 

Well-being and Personal Growth >   348 > 213 67,085 

Total >  1,632 >    681 244,645 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Innovation and Online Committee

415



AGENDA 
Academic and Research Excellence Committee 

Telephone Conference Call 
May 5, 2020 

3:30 -3:45 p.m. 
or 

Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings 

Chair:  Mr. Alan Levine; Vice Chair:  Ms. Darlene Jordan 
Members:  Edge, Lydecker, Scott, Stermon, Tripp 

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Alan Levine 

2. Minutes of Academic and Research Governor Levine 
Excellence Committee

Minutes, January 29, 2020 

3. Update on House Select Committee on the Integrity Governor Levine 
of Research Institutions

4. SUS Research and Innovation Ms. Emily Sikes 
Dashboard Update Assistant Vice Chancellor 

for Strategic Initiatives and 
Economic Development 

5. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Levine 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

421



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Academic and Research Excellence Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Minutes of Committee Meeting held January 29, 2020

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Consider approval of the minutes of the Academic and Research Excellence Committee
meeting held on January 29, 2020, at Florida State University.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Academic and Research Excellence Committee will consider approval of the 
minutes of the meeting held on January 29, 2020, at Florida State University.

Supporting Documentation Included: January 29, 2020, minutes

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Alan Levine

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

426



MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
ACADEMIC AND RESEARCH EXCELLENCE COMMITTEE

FLORIDA STATE UNIVERSITY
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

January 29, 2020

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors
and its committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu/.

Call to Order and Opening Remarks

Chair Alan Levine convened the meeting on January 29, 2020, at 4:24 p.m. with the 
following members present: Governors Lydecker, Scott, Stermon, and Tripp.  A quorum 
was established.

Chair Levine updated the Committee on issues related to protecting Florida’s higher 
education research. Chair Levine mentioned that Speaker Oliva of the Florida House of 
Representatives established a Select Committee on the Integrity of Research 
Institutions and that this new Committee would be working with the State University 
System of Florida (SUS) institutions to collect information.  Chair Levine stated that he 
would be discussing this issue with the Vice Presidents for Research and that the 
Academic and Research Excellence Committee would receive an update on the House 
Committee’s actions at its March meeting.  

Minutes of Academic and Research Excellence Committee Meeting

Chair Levine called for a motion to approve the minutes of the June 12, 2019,
Committee meeting.  Governor Stermon moved to approve the minutes, Governor Tripp
seconded the motion, and the motion carried unanimously.

World Class Faculty and Scholar Program Report

Chair Levine stated that the next item on the Committee’s agenda was the 
consideration of the World Class Faculty and Scholar Program Report. Section 
1004.6497, Florida Statutes, requires that the Board of Governors submit a report on 
the World Class Faculty and Scholar Program to the Legislature by March 15 of each 
year.  The Legislature provided $90.5 million in 2018-19 to support the efforts of the 
State University System institutions to recruit and retain exemplary faculty and research 
scholars.  The 2020 report includes expenditure information for the 2018-19 fiscal year.  
Board staff collected the statutorily required data points from State University System 
institutions in the fall of 2019 to create the 2020 report.

Chair Levine recognized Ms. Emily Sikes, Associate Vice Chancellor for Strategic 
Initiatives and Economic Development, to present the 2020 World Class Faculty and
Scholar Program Report.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

427

http://www.flbog.edu/


2

Ms. Sikes began her presentation by stating that this program was formally established 
in statute in March of 2018, and that the Board is required to submit this report to the 
Legislature each March. She noted that the report provides high-level information on 
how the System spent funds from this program during fiscal year 2018-19.

Ms. Sikes stated that the program was established to fund and support the efforts of 
state universities to recruit and retain exemplary faculty and research scholars and to 
secure additional research funding, with the intent being to elevate the national 
competitiveness of the System.  She articulated that in terms of program expenditures 
for the 2018-19 fiscal year, the System had devoted almost all of the funds to faculty 
recruitment, retention, and research.  Some examples of faculty recruitment and 
retention efforts include research-centric cluster hires, awards for outstanding 
performance, professional development, and overall hiring/retention of faculty.  
Examples of research efforts include commercialization efforts, instruction and research 
infrastructure enhancements, student research initiatives, and postdoctoral fellowships.

Ms. Sikes highlighted several key takeaways from the report including achieving 
improvements in national institutional rankings, recruiting over 300 faculty under the 
program, retaining over 1,600 existing faculty, transferring roughly $90 million in 
research funding to the institutions, and having almost $300 million in research 
proposals under development or review.

Governor Huizenga asked how much of the $92.9 million in transferred research 
funding was attributable to the faculty recruited under this program.  Ms. Sikes 
responded that she believes it is almost all of it, but she would confirm.  Governor 
Huizenga noted that if this is the case, it would be worthwhile to report to the Legislature 
that the System has already recouped the investment in this program with the new 
research dollars being transferred into the institutions.

Chair Levine thanked Ms. Sikes for her presentation and asked if there were any 
questions from the Committee.  Hearing no questions from the Committee, Governor 
Tripp made a motion to approve the 2020 World Class Faculty and Scholar Program 
Report.  Governor Lydecker seconded the motion and the members of the Committee 
concurred.  

Professional and Graduate Degree Excellence Program Report

Chair Levine announced that the last item on the Committee’s agenda was the 
consideration of the 2020 Professional and Graduate Degree Excellence Program 
Report. He stated that section 1004.6498, Florida Statutes, requires that the Board of 
Governors submit a report on the Professional and Graduate Degree Excellence 
Program to the Legislature by March 15 of each year.  Chair Levine stated that the 
Legislature provided $60 million in 2018-19 to State University System institutions to 
enhance the quality and excellence of professional and graduate schools and degree 
programs in medicine, law, and business.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

428



3

Chair Levine again recognized Ms. Sikes to present the Professional and Graduate 
Degree Excellence Program Report.

Ms. Sikes began her presentation by stating that this program was established in statute 
in March of 2018. She explained the report provides high-level information on how the 
System spent funds from this program during fiscal year 2018-19.

Ms. Sikes stated that the purpose of the program is to enhance the quality and 
excellence of graduate schools and degree programs in medicine, law, and business.  
She reminded the Committee that the System includes six medical schools, four law 
schools, and graduate-level business programs at ten institutions.  She noted that New 
College of Florida and Florida Polytechnic University did not receive any funding from 
this program since neither has a college of medicine or law, and since they do not offer 
graduate-level business programs.  She articulated that institutions received funding 
based on prior performance on indicators such as licensure exam pass rates, 
employment outcomes, and the number of graduates.  She stated that during the 2018-
19 academic year, SUS institutions awarded 702 medical degrees, 774 law degrees, 
and 4,793 graduate-level business degrees.

Ms. Sikes noted that the Legislature provided funding of $60 million to the SUS 
institutions in 2018-19 to support the program.  She explained that most of the funds 
were used to recruit and retain faculty and support student success initiatives. Some 
examples of the student support activities include financial aid in the form of
scholarships to recruit graduate students, graduate assistant pay increases, and also 
services around career placement and academic advising.

Ms. Sikes stated that when examining the funds across the program areas of medicine, 
law, and business, the majority of the funds supported faculty and students. She 
explained that over the last year, SUS institutions spent $25.9 million to support 
colleges of medicine.  A majority of the funds (52%) supported faculty or students, and 
16% supported other initiatives such as efforts to improve passage rates on licensure 
examinations, technology enhancements, and support staff.  She went on to describe 
that SUS institutions spent approximately $17.4 million on law schools.  Almost two-
thirds of those funds were spent on faculty and students, while the remaining funds 
were devoted to other initiatives to increase bar passage rates, expenditures to improve 
national rankings, and other enhancements to existing learning environments.

Ms. Sikes explained that SUS institutions spent approximately $25.8 million on graduate 
business education.  Most of these funds (85%) were spent on faculty and students,
while the remaining funds were spent on other graduate student initiatives, including 
enhanced advising and efforts to improve national program rankings through data 
analytics.

Ms. Sikes highlighted several key takeaways from the report, including an increase in 
the percentage of graduate-level completers working in Florida and earning more than 
$40,000. There were also significant advancements in the national rankings for 
graduate and professional programs.  For example, University of Florida and Florida 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

429



4

International University law schools both improved by ten slots in one year. Ms. Sikes 
reiterated that it might take more time to realize the full effects of this program since it is 
relatively new, and it takes time to influence the outcome metrics.

Chair Levine thanked Ms. Sikes for her presentation and asked if there were any 
questions from the Committee.  Hearing no questions from the Committee, Governor 
Tripp made a motion to approve 2020 Professional and Graduate Degree Excellence 
Program Report. Governor Scott seconded the motion and the members of the 
Committee concurred.  

Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

Having no further business, Chair Levine adjourned the meeting at 4:41 p.m.

Alan Levine, Chair

Roger Strickland
Director, Economic Development

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

430



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Academic and Research Excellence Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Update on the House Select Committee on the Integrity of Research 
Institutions

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In December 2019, Speaker Oliva of the Florida House of Representatives created the 
House Select Committee on the Integrity of Research Institutions.  This Committee was 
directed to investigate research activities and international relationships of research 
institutions that are established by state law or supported by state funding.

Chair Levine will provide the Committee an update on the activities of the House Select 
Committee on the Integrity of Research Institutions.

Supporting Documentation Included: Senate Bill 72

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor Levine

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

431



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 1 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 1 

An act relating to higher education; amending s. 2 

287.057, F.S.; authorizing state agencies to contract 3 

with independent, nonprofit colleges and universities 4 

that meet specified requirements; amending s. 1001.03, 5 

F.S.; revising requirements for certain new 6 

construction, remodeling, or renovation projects; 7 

amending s. 1001.7065, F.S.; revising standards for 8 

the preeminent state research universities program; 9 

requiring such standards to be reported annually in a 10 

specified plan; repealing the programs of excellence 11 

designation within the State University System; 12 

creating the “state universities of distinction” 13 

designation within the State University System; 14 

requiring the Board of Governors to establish 15 

standards and measures for specific state university 16 

competencies; providing requirements for such 17 

standards and measures; authorizing the Board of 18 

Governors to annually submit such programs to the 19 

Legislature for funding by a specified date; amending 20 

s. 1001.92, F.S.; revising the performance-based 21 

metrics for state universities to include specific 22 

data; authorizing the Board of Governors to approve 23 

other metrics; prohibiting the adjustment of such 24 

metrics and benchmarks once specified data has been 25 

received; amending s. 1004.085, F.S.; requiring 26 

innovative pricing techniques and payment options to 27 

include an opt-out provision; amending s. 1004.346, 28 

F.S.; removing a limitation on the length of time a 29 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

432



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 2 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Phosphate Research and Activities Board member may 30 

serve after expiration of his or her term; creating s. 31 

1004.6499, F.S.; creating the Florida Institute of 32 

Politics within Florida State University College of 33 

Social Sciences and Public Policy; providing the 34 

purpose and goals of the institute; creating s. 35 

1004.64991, F.S.; creating the Adam Smith Center for 36 

the Study of Economic Freedom; providing a purpose and 37 

goals of the center; amending s. 1009.50, F.S.; 38 

requiring that grants administered through the Florida 39 

Public Student Assistance Grant Program not exceed a 40 

certain amount; authorizing students who receive an 41 

award in the fall or spring term to receive an award 42 

in the summer term, subject to the availability of 43 

funds; providing for the prioritization of eligible 44 

summer awards; prohibiting institutions from 45 

dispensing grants to students whose expected family 46 

contribution exceeds a certain amount; requiring the 47 

formula used to distribute funds for the program to 48 

account for changes in the number of eligible students 49 

across all student assistance grant programs; 50 

requiring institutions to certify the amount of funds 51 

disbursed within a specified timeframe; requiring 52 

institutions to remit any undisbursed advances within 53 

a specified timeframe; providing an exception; 54 

requiring institutions that receive moneys through the 55 

program to prepare and submit to the department by a 56 

specified date a biennial report that includes a 57 

financial audit conducted by the Auditor General; 58 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

433



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 3 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

authorizing the department to conduct its own annual 59 

or biennial audit under certain circumstances; 60 

authorizing the department to suspend or revoke an 61 

institution’s eligibility or request a refund of 62 

moneys overpaid to the institution under certain 63 

circumstances; providing a timeframe for such refunds; 64 

amending s. 1009.505, F.S.; requiring grants 65 

administered through the Florida Public Postsecondary 66 

Career Education Student Assistance Grant Program to 67 

not exceed a certain amount; authorizing students who 68 

receive an award in the fall or spring term to receive 69 

an award in the summer term, subject to the 70 

availability of funds; providing for the 71 

prioritization of eligible summer awards; requiring 72 

the formula used to distribute funds for the program 73 

to account for changes in the number of eligible 74 

students across all student assistance grant programs; 75 

requiring institutions to certify the amount of funds 76 

disbursed within a specified timeframe; requiring 77 

institutions to remit any undisbursed advances within 78 

a specified timeframe; providing an exception; 79 

requiring institutions that receive moneys through the 80 

program to prepare and submit to the department by a 81 

specified date a biennial report that includes a 82 

financial audit conducted by the Auditor General; 83 

authorizing the department to conduct its own annual 84 

or biennial audit under certain circumstances; 85 

authorizing the department to suspend or revoke an 86 

institution’s eligibility or request a refund of 87 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

434



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 4 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

moneys overpaid to the institution under certain 88 

circumstances; providing a timeframe for such refunds; 89 

authorizing funds appropriated for state student 90 

assistance grants to be deposited in a specified trust 91 

fund; requiring that any balance in the trust fund at 92 

the end of any fiscal year which has been allocated to 93 

the Florida Public Postsecondary Career Education 94 

Student Assistance Grant Program remain in the trust 95 

fund, subject to certain statutory exceptions; 96 

amending s. 1009.51, F.S.; requiring that grants 97 

administered through the Florida Private Student 98 

Assistance Grant Program not exceed a certain amount; 99 

authorizing students who receive an award in the fall 100 

or spring term to receive an award in the summer term, 101 

subject to the availability of funds; providing for 102 

the prioritization of eligible summer awards; 103 

prohibiting institutions from dispensing grants to 104 

students whose expected family contribution exceeds a 105 

certain amount; requiring the formula used to 106 

distribute funds for the program to account for 107 

changes in the number of eligible students across all 108 

student assistance grant programs; requiring 109 

institutions to certify the amount of funds disbursed 110 

within a specified timeframe; requiring institutions 111 

to remit any undisbursed advances within a specified 112 

timeframe; providing an exception; revising a 113 

requirement for a biennial report; amending s. 114 

1009.52, F.S.; requiring that grants administered 115 

through the Florida Postsecondary Student Assistance 116 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

435



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 5 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Grant Program not exceed a certain amount; authorizing 117 

students who receive an award in the fall or spring 118 

term to receive an award in the summer term, subject 119 

to the availability of funds; providing for the 120 

prioritization of eligible summer awards; prohibiting 121 

institutions from dispensing grants to students whose 122 

expected family contribution exceeds a certain amount; 123 

requiring the formula used to distribute funds for the 124 

program to account for changes in the number of 125 

eligible students across all student assistance grant 126 

programs; requiring institutions to certify the amount 127 

of funds disbursed within a specified timeframe; 128 

requiring institutions to remit any undisbursed 129 

advances within a specified timeframe; providing an 130 

exception; revising a requirement for a biennial 131 

report; amending s. 1009.534, F.S.; revising 132 

provisions relating to additional funds for textbooks 133 

under Florida Academic Scholars award; amending s. 134 

1009.535, F.S.; revising the amount of an award 135 

certain Florida Medallion Scholars may receive under 136 

certain circumstances; amending s. 1009.893, F.S.; 137 

revising and specifying eligibility for initial awards 138 

under the Benacquisto Scholarship Program; revising 139 

requirements for a student to receive a renewal award; 140 

providing a timeframe within which students may 141 

receive an award; providing an exception to renewal 142 

requirements; amending s. 1011.45, F.S.; revising the 143 

date by which a university must annually submit a 144 

spending plan to the university’s board of trustees 145 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

436



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 6 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

for approval; revising the date by which the Board of 146 

Governors must annually review and approve such plan; 147 

authorizing certain expenditures in a carry forward 148 

spending plan to include a commitment of funds to a 149 

contingency reserve for certain purposes; amending s. 150 

1011.90, F.S.; providing requirements for a specified 151 

legislative budget request; requiring the Board of 152 

Governors to define specified classifications by 153 

regulation and report such definitions in such budget 154 

requests; creating s. 1012.977, F.S.; providing for 155 

the disclosure of contracts that affect the integrity 156 

of state universities or entities; providing 157 

definitions; providing penalties for failure to 158 

disclose such information; amending s. 1013.841, F.S.; 159 

revising the date by which a Florida College System 160 

institution must annually submit a spending plan to 161 

the institution’s board of trustees for approval; 162 

revising the date by which the State Board of 163 

Education must annually review and publish such plans; 164 

authorizing certain expenditures in a carry forward 165 

spending plan to include a commitment of funds to a 166 

contingency reserve for certain purposes; providing 167 

effective dates. 168 

  169 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 170 

 171 

Section 1. Subsection (21) of section 287.057, Florida 172 

Statutes, is amended to read: 173 

287.057 Procurement of commodities or contractual 174 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

437



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 7 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

services.— 175 

(21) An agency may contract for services with any 176 

independent, nonprofit college or university which is located 177 

within the state on the same basis as it may contract with any 178 

state university or college if the independent, nonprofit 179 

college or university: 180 

(a) and Is accredited by the Southern Association of 181 

Colleges and Schools; or, on the same basis as it may contract 182 

with any state university and college 183 

(b) Is authorized to operate within this state pursuant to 184 

chapter 1005, offers a professional degree, and is accredited by 185 

the Middle States Commission on Higher Education. 186 

Section 2. Paragraph (c) of subsection (18) of section 187 

1001.03, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 188 

1001.03 Specific powers of State Board of Education.— 189 

(18) PUBLIC EDUCATION CAPITAL OUTLAY.—The State Board of 190 

Education shall develop and submit the prioritized list required 191 

by s. 1013.64(4). Projects considered for prioritization shall 192 

be chosen from a preliminary selection group which shall include 193 

the list of projects maintained pursuant to paragraph (d) and 194 

the top two priorities of each Florida College System 195 

institution. 196 

(c) A new construction, remodeling, or renovation project 197 

that has not received an appropriation in a previous year shall 198 

not be considered for inclusion on the prioritized list required 199 

by s. 1013.64(4), unless: 200 

1. A plan is provided to reserve funds in an escrow 201 

account, specific to the project, into which shall be deposited 202 

each year an amount of funds equal to 0.5 percent of the total 203 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

438



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 8 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

value of the building for future maintenance; 204 

2. There exists are sufficient capacity within the cash and 205 

bonding estimate of funds by the Revenue Estimating Conference 206 

to accommodate the project excess funds from the allocation 207 

provided pursuant to s. 1013.60 within the 3-year Public 208 

Education Capital Outlay funding cycle planning period which are 209 

not needed to complete the projects listed pursuant to paragraph 210 

(d); and 211 

3. The project has been recommended pursuant to s. 1013.31. 212 

Section 3. Effective upon this act becoming a law, 213 

subsections (2), (5), and (7) of section 1001.7065, Florida 214 

Statutes, are amended to read: 215 

1001.7065 Preeminent state research universities program.— 216 

(2) ACADEMIC AND RESEARCH EXCELLENCE STANDARDS.—The 217 

following academic and research excellence standards are 218 

established for the preeminent state research universities 219 

program and shall be reported annually in the Board of Governors 220 

Accountability Plan: 221 

(a) An average weighted grade point average of 4.0 or 222 

higher on a 4.0 scale and an average SAT score of 1800 or higher 223 

on a 2400-point scale or 1200 or higher on a 1600-point scale or 224 

an average ACT score of 25 or higher on a 36 score scale, using 225 

the latest published national concordance table developed 226 

jointly by the College Board and ACT, Inc., for fall semester 227 

incoming freshmen, as reported annually. 228 

(b) A top-50 ranking on at least two well-known and highly 229 

respected national public university rankings, including, but 230 

not limited to, the U.S. News and World Report rankings, 231 

reflecting national preeminence, using most recent rankings. 232 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

439



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 9 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(c) A freshman retention rate of 90 percent or higher for 233 

full-time, first-time-in-college students, as reported annually 234 

to the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS). 235 

(d) A 4-year graduation rate of 60 percent or higher for 236 

full-time, first-time-in-college students, as reported annually 237 

to the IPEDS. However, for the 2018 determination of a state 238 

university’s preeminence designation and the related 239 

distribution of the 2018-2019 fiscal year appropriation 240 

associated with preeminence and emerging preeminence, a 241 

university is considered to have satisfied this graduation rate 242 

measure by attaining a 6-year graduation rate of 70 percent or 243 

higher by October 1, 2017, for full-time, first-time-in-college 244 

students, as reported to the IPEDS and confirmed by the Board of 245 

Governors. 246 

(e) Six or more faculty members at the state university who 247 

are members of a national academy, as reported by the Center for 248 

Measuring University Performance in the Top American Research 249 

Universities (TARU) annual report or the official membership 250 

directories maintained by each national academy. 251 

(f) Total annual research expenditures, including federal 252 

research expenditures, of $200 million or more, as reported 253 

annually by the National Science Foundation (NSF). 254 

(g) Total annual research expenditures in diversified 255 

nonmedical sciences of $150 million or more, based on data 256 

reported annually by the NSF. 257 

(h) A top-100 university national ranking for research 258 

expenditures in five or more science, technology, engineering, 259 

or mathematics fields of study, as reported annually by the NSF. 260 

(i) One hundred or more total patents awarded by the United 261 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

440



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 10 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

States Patent and Trademark Office for the most recent 3-year 262 

period. 263 

(j) Four hundred or more doctoral degrees awarded annually, 264 

including professional doctoral degrees awarded in medical and 265 

health care disciplines, as reported in the Board of Governors 266 

Annual Accountability Report. 267 

(k) Two hundred or more postdoctoral appointees annually, 268 

as reported in the TARU annual report. 269 

(l) An endowment of $500 million or more, as reported in 270 

the Board of Governors Annual Accountability Report. 271 

(5) PREEMINENT STATE RESEARCH UNIVERSITIES PROGRAM 272 

SUPPORT.— 273 

(a) A state university that is designated as a preeminent 274 

state research university shall submit to the Board of Governors 275 

a 5-year benchmark plan with target rankings on key performance 276 

metrics for national excellence. Upon approval by the Board of 277 

Governors, and upon the university’s meeting the benchmark plan 278 

goals annually, the Board of Governors shall award the 279 

university its proportionate share of any funds provided 280 

annually to support the program created under this section. 281 

(b) A state university designated as an emerging preeminent 282 

state research university shall submit to the Board of Governors 283 

a 5-year benchmark plan with target rankings on key performance 284 

metrics for national excellence. Upon approval by the Board of 285 

Governors, and upon the university’s meeting the benchmark plan 286 

goals annually, the Board of Governors shall award the 287 

university its proportionate share of any funds provided 288 

annually to support the program created under this section. 289 

(c) The award of funds under this subsection is contingent 290 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

441



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 11 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

upon funding provided by the Legislature to support the 291 

preeminent state research universities program created under 292 

this section. Funding increases appropriated beyond the amounts 293 

funded in the previous fiscal year shall be distributed to as 294 

follows: 295 

1. each designated preeminent state research university 296 

that meets the criteria in paragraph (a). Each designated 297 

preeminent state research university shall receive an equal 298 

amount of funding. 299 

2. Each designated emerging preeminent state research 300 

university that meets the criteria in paragraph (b) shall, 301 

beginning in the 2018-2019 fiscal year, receive an amount of 302 

funding that is equal to one-fourth of the total increased 303 

amount awarded to each designated preeminent state research 304 

university. 305 

(7) STATE UNIVERSITIES PROGRAMS OF DISTINCTION EXCELLENCE 306 

THROUGHOUT THE STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM.—The Board of Governors 307 

shall establish standards and measures whereby state 308 

universities that focus on one core competency unique to the 309 

State University System that achieves excellence at the national 310 

or state level, meets state workforce needs, and fosters an 311 

innovation economy that focuses on areas such as health care, 312 

security, transportation, and science, technology, engineering, 313 

and mathematics (STEM), including supply chain management, 314 

individual undergraduate, graduate, and professional degree 315 

programs in state universities which objectively reflect 316 

national excellence can be identified. The Board of Governors 317 

may annually submit such programs, excluding those from 318 

preeminent state research universities, and make recommendations 319 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

442



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 12 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

to the Legislature by January September 1 for funding, 2018, as 320 

to how any such programs could be enhanced and promoted. 321 

Section 4. Subsection (1) of section 1001.92, Florida 322 

Statutes, is amended to read: 323 

1001.92 State University System Performance-Based 324 

Incentive.— 325 

(1) A State University System Performance-Based Incentive 326 

shall be awarded to state universities using performance-based 327 

metrics adopted by the Board of Governors of the State 328 

University System. Beginning with the Board of Governors’ 329 

determination of each university’s performance improvement and 330 

achievement ratings for 2018, and the related distribution of 331 

annual the 2018-2019 fiscal year appropriation, the performance-332 

based metrics must include: 333 

(a) The 4-year graduation rate for first-time-in-college 334 

students; 335 

(b) Beginning in fiscal year 2021-2022, the 2-year 336 

graduation rate for associate in arts transfer students rates; 337 

(c) Retention rates; 338 

(d) Postgraduation education rates; 339 

(e) Degree production; 340 

(f) Affordability; 341 

(g) Postgraduation employment and salaries, including wage 342 

thresholds that reflect the added value of a baccalaureate 343 

degree; 344 

(h) Access rate, based on the percentage of undergraduate 345 

students enrolled during the fall term who received a Pell Grant 346 

during the fall term; and 347 

(i) Beginning in fiscal year 2021-2022, the 6-year 348 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

443



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 13 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

graduation rate for students who are awarded a Pell Grant in 349 

their first year. 350 

 351 

The Board of Governors may approve and other metrics approved by 352 

the board in a publicly formally noticed meeting. The board 353 

shall adopt benchmarks to evaluate each state university’s 354 

performance on the metrics to measure the state university’s 355 

achievement of institutional excellence or need for improvement 356 

and minimum requirements for eligibility to receive performance 357 

funding. Benchmarks and metrics may not be adjusted after 358 

university performance data has been received by the Board of 359 

Governors Access rate benchmarks must be differentiated and 360 

scored to reflect the varying access rate levels among the state 361 

universities; however, the scoring system may not include bonus 362 

points. 363 

Section 5. Subsection (4) of section 1004.085, Florida 364 

Statutes, is amended to read: 365 

1004.085 Textbook and instructional materials 366 

affordability.— 367 

(4) Each Florida College System institution and state 368 

university board of trustees is authorized to adopt policies in 369 

consultation with providers, including bookstores, which allow 370 

for the use of innovative pricing techniques and payment options 371 

for textbooks and instructional materials. Such policies may 372 

include bulk pricing arrangements that enable students to 373 

purchase course materials or texts that are delivered digitally; 374 

delivered through other technologies that are, or the licenses 375 

of which are, required for use within a course; or delivered in 376 

a print format. Innovative pricing techniques and payment 377 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

444



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 14 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

options must include an opt-in or opt-out provision for students 378 

and may be approved only if there is documented evidence that 379 

the options reduce the cost of textbooks and instructional 380 

materials for students taking a course. 381 

Section 6. Effective upon this act becoming a law, 382 

paragraph (c) of subsection (2) of section 1004.346, Florida 383 

Statutes, is amended to read: 384 

1004.346 Florida Industrial and Phosphate Research 385 

Institute.— 386 

(2) PHOSPHATE RESEARCH AND ACTIVITIES BOARD.—The Phosphate 387 

Research and Activities Board is created to monitor the 388 

expenditure of funds appropriated to the university from the 389 

Phosphate Research Trust Fund. 390 

(c) Members of the board appointed by the Governor shall be 391 

appointed to 3-year terms. A board member may continue to serve 392 

until a successor is appointed, but not more than 180 days after 393 

the expiration of his or her term. A board member is eligible 394 

for reappointment to subsequent terms. 395 

Section 7. Section 1004.6499, Florida Statutes, is created 396 

to read: 397 

1004.6499 Florida Institute of Politics.— 398 

(1) The Florida Institute of Politics is established at the 399 

Florida State University within the College of Social Sciences 400 

and Public Policy. The purpose of the institute is to provide 401 

the southeastern region of the United States with a world class, 402 

bipartisan, nationally renowned institute of politics. 403 

(2) The goals of the institute are to: 404 

(a) Motivate students throughout the Florida State 405 

University to become aware of the significance of government and 406 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

445



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 15 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

civic engagement at all levels and politics in general. 407 

(b) Provide students with an opportunity to be politically 408 

active and civically engaged. 409 

(c) Nurture a greater awareness and passion for public 410 

service and politics. 411 

(d) Plan and host forums to allow students and guests to 412 

hear from and interact with experts from government, politics, 413 

policy, and journalism on a frequent basis. 414 

(e) Become a national and state resource on polling 415 

information and survey methodology. 416 

(f) Provide fellowships and internship opportunities to 417 

students in government, nonprofit organizations, and community 418 

organizations. 419 

(g) Provide training sessions for newly elected state and 420 

local public officials. 421 

(h) Organize and sponsor conferences, symposia, and 422 

workshops throughout this state to educate and inform citizens, 423 

elected officials, and appointed policymakers regarding 424 

effective policymaking techniques and processes. 425 

(i) Create and promote research and awareness regarding 426 

politics, citizen involvement, and public service. 427 

(j) Collaborate with related policy institutes and research 428 

activities at the Florida State University and other 429 

institutions of higher education to motivate, increase, and 430 

sustain citizen involvement in public affairs. 431 

Section 8. Section 1004.64991, Florida Statutes, is created 432 

to read: 433 

1004.64991 The Adam Smith Center for the Study of Economic 434 

Freedom.— 435 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

446



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 16 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(1) The Adam Smith Center for the Study of Economic Freedom 436 

at Florida International University, is hereby created. 437 

(2) The goals of the center are to: 438 

(a) Study the effect of government and free-market 439 

economies on individual freedom and human prosperity. 440 

(b) Conduct and promote research on the effect of political 441 

and economic systems on human prosperity. 442 

(c) Plan and host research workshops and conferences to 443 

allow, students, scholars, and guests to exchange in civil 444 

discussion of democracy and capitalism. 445 

(d) Provide fellowship and mentoring opportunities to 446 

students engaged in scholarly studies of the effect of political 447 

and economic systems on human prosperity. 448 

Section 9. Section 1009.50, Florida Statutes, is amended to 449 

read: 450 

1009.50 Florida Public Student Assistance Grant Program; 451 

eligibility for grants.— 452 

(1) There is hereby created a Florida Public Student 453 

Assistance Grant Program. The program shall be administered by 454 

the participating institutions in accordance with rules of the 455 

state board. 456 

(2)(a) State student assistance grants through the program 457 

may be made only to degree-seeking students who enroll in at 458 

least 6 semester hours, or the equivalent per term, and who meet 459 

the general requirements for student eligibility as provided in 460 

s. 1009.40, except as otherwise provided in this section. The 461 

grants shall be awarded annually for the amount of demonstrated 462 

unmet need for the cost of education and may not exceed the 463 

maximum annual award an amount equal to the average prior 464 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

447



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 17 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

academic year cost of tuition fees and other registration fees 465 

for 30 credit hours at state universities or such other amount 466 

as specified in the General Appropriations Act, to any 467 

recipient. A demonstrated unmet need of less than $200 shall 468 

render the applicant ineligible for a state student assistance 469 

grant. Recipients of the grants must have been accepted at a 470 

state university or Florida College System institution 471 

authorized by Florida law. If funds are available, a student who 472 

received an award in the fall or spring term may receive an 473 

award in the summer term. Priority in the distribution of summer 474 

awards shall be given to students who are within one semester of 475 

completing a degree program and students who have not yet earned 476 

at least 9 semester hours by attendance at one or more summer 477 

sessions. A student is eligible for the award for 110 percent of 478 

the number of credit hours required to complete the program in 479 

which enrolled, except as otherwise provided in s. 1009.40(3). 480 

(b) A student applying for a Florida public student 481 

assistance grant shall be required to apply for the Pell Grant. 482 

The Pell Grant entitlement shall be considered when conducting 483 

an assessment of the financial resources available to each 484 

student. 485 

(c) Priority in the distribution of grant moneys may be 486 

given to students who are within one semester of completing a 487 

degree program. shall be given to students with the lowest total 488 

family resources, in accordance with a nationally recognized 489 

system of need analysis. Using the system of need analysis, the 490 

department shall establish a maximum expected family 491 

contribution. An institution may not make a grant from this 492 

program to a student whose expected family contribution exceeds 493 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

448



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 18 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

one and one-half times the maximum Pell Grant-eligible family 494 

contribution level established by the department. An institution 495 

may not impose additional criteria to determine a student’s 496 

eligibility to receive a grant award. 497 

(d) Each participating institution shall report, to the 498 

department by the established date, the eligible students 499 

eligible for the program for to whom grant moneys are disbursed 500 

each academic term. Each institution shall also report to the 501 

department necessary demographic and eligibility data for such 502 

students. 503 

(3) Based on the unmet financial need of an eligible 504 

applicant, the amount of a Florida public student assistance 505 

grant must be between $200 and the weighted average of the cost 506 

of tuition and other registration fees for 30 credit hours at 507 

state universities per academic year or the amount specified in 508 

the General Appropriations Act. 509 

(4)(a) The funds appropriated for the Florida Public 510 

Student Assistance Grant shall be distributed to eligible 511 

institutions in accordance with a formula approved by the State 512 

Board of Education. The formula must shall consider at least the 513 

prior year’s distribution of funds, the number of full-time 514 

eligible applicants who did not receive awards, the 515 

standardization of the expected family contribution, and 516 

provisions for unused funds. The formula must account for 517 

changes in the number of eligible students across all student 518 

assistance grant programs established pursuant to this section 519 

and ss. 1009.505, 1009.51, and 1009.52.  520 

(b) Payment of Florida public student assistance grants 521 

shall be transmitted to the president of the state university or 522 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

449



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 19 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Florida College System institution, or to his or her 523 

representative, in advance of the registration period. 524 

Institutions shall notify students of the amount of their 525 

awards. 526 

(c) The eligibility status of each student to receive a 527 

disbursement shall be determined by each institution as of the 528 

end of its regular registration period, inclusive of a drop-add 529 

period. Institutions shall not be required to reevaluate a 530 

student’s eligibility status after this date for purposes of 531 

changing eligibility determinations previously made. 532 

(d) Institutions shall certify to the department within 30 533 

days after the end of regular registration each term the amount 534 

of funds disbursed to each student and shall remit to the 535 

department any undisbursed advances within 60 days after the end 536 

of regular registration each spring term. An exception to the 537 

remittance deadline may be granted if the institution documents 538 

to the department how it plans to disburse awards to students 539 

for the subsequent summer term. An institution that uses funds 540 

for the summer term shall certify to the department the amount 541 

of funds disbursed to each student and shall remit to the 542 

department any undisbursed advances within 30 days after the end 543 

of the summer term. 544 

(e) Each institution that receives moneys through the 545 

Florida Public Student Assistance Grant Program shall prepare a 546 

biennial report that includes a financial audit, conducted by 547 

the Auditor General, of the institution’s administration of the 548 

program and a complete accounting of moneys allocated to the 549 

institution for the program. Such report shall be submitted to 550 

the department by March 1 every other year. The department may 551 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

450



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 20 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

conduct its own annual or biennial audit of an institution’s 552 

administration of the program and its allocated funds in lieu of 553 

the required biennial report and financial audit report. The 554 

department may suspend or revoke an institution’s eligibility to 555 

receive future moneys for the program or may request a refund of 556 

any moneys overpaid to the institution for the program if the 557 

department finds that an institution has not complied with this 558 

section. Any refund requested pursuant to this paragraph shall 559 

be remitted within 60 days after notification by the department 560 

any advances by June 1 of each year. 561 

(5) Funds appropriated by the Legislature for state student 562 

assistance grants may be deposited in the State Student 563 

Financial Assistance Trust Fund. Notwithstanding the provisions 564 

of s. 216.301 and pursuant to s. 216.351, any balance in the 565 

trust fund at the end of any fiscal year which has been 566 

allocated to the Florida Public Student Assistance Grant Program 567 

shall remain therein and shall be available for carrying out the 568 

purposes of this section. 569 

(6) The State Board of Education shall establish rules 570 

necessary to implement this section. 571 

Section 10. Subsections (5) and (6) of section 1009.505, 572 

Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (6) and (7), 573 

respectively, a new subsection (5) is added to that section, and 574 

subsections (3) and (4) of that section are amended, to read: 575 

1009.505 Florida Public Postsecondary Career Education 576 

Student Assistance Grant Program.— 577 

(3)(a) Student assistance grants through the program may be 578 

made only to certificate-seeking students enrolled at least 579 

half-time in a public postsecondary career certificate program 580 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

451



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 21 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

who meet the general requirements for student eligibility as 581 

provided in s. 1009.40, except as otherwise provided in this 582 

section. The grants shall be awarded annually to any recipient 583 

for the amount of demonstrated unmet need for the cost of 584 

education and may not exceed the average annual cost of tuition 585 

and registration fees or such other amount as specified in the 586 

General Appropriations Act. Priority in the distribution of 587 

grant moneys may be given to students who are within one 588 

semester of completing a certificate program. A demonstrated 589 

unmet need of less than $200 shall render the applicant 590 

ineligible for a grant under this section. Recipients of the 591 

grants must have been accepted at a Florida College System 592 

institution authorized by Florida law or a career center 593 

operated by a district school board under s. 1001.44. If funds 594 

are available, a student who received an award in the fall or 595 

spring term may receive an award in the summer term. Priority in 596 

the distribution of summer awards shall be given to students who 597 

are within one term of completing a certificate program. A 598 

student is eligible for the award for 110 percent of the number 599 

of clock hours required to complete the program in which 600 

enrolled. 601 

(b) A student applying for a Florida public postsecondary 602 

career education student assistance grant shall be required to 603 

apply for the Pell Grant. A Pell Grant entitlement shall be 604 

considered when conducting an assessment of the financial 605 

resources available to each student; however, a Pell Grant 606 

entitlement shall not be required as a condition of receiving a 607 

grant under this section. 608 

(c) Each participating institution shall report, to the 609 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

452



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 22 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department by the established date, the eligible students 610 

eligible for the program for to whom grant moneys are disbursed 611 

each academic term. Each institution shall also report to the 612 

department necessary demographic and eligibility data for such 613 

students. 614 

(4)(a) The funds appropriated for the Florida Public 615 

Postsecondary Career Education Student Assistance Grant Program 616 

shall be distributed to eligible Florida College System 617 

institutions and district school boards in accordance with a 618 

formula approved by the department. The formula must account for 619 

changes in the number of eligible students across all student 620 

assistance grant programs established pursuant to this section 621 

and ss. 1009.50, 1009.51, and 1009.52.  622 

(b) Payment of Florida public postsecondary career 623 

education student assistance grants shall be transmitted to the 624 

president of the Florida College System institution or to the 625 

district school superintendent, or to the designee thereof, in 626 

advance of the registration period. Institutions shall notify 627 

students of the amount of their awards. 628 

(c) The eligibility status of each student to receive a 629 

disbursement shall be determined by each institution as of the 630 

end of its regular registration period, inclusive of a drop-add 631 

period. Institutions shall not be required to reevaluate a 632 

student’s eligibility status after this date for purposes of 633 

changing eligibility determinations previously made. 634 

(d) Participating institutions shall certify to the 635 

department within 30 days after the end of regular registration 636 

each term the amount of funds disbursed to each student and 637 

shall remit to the department any undisbursed advances within 60 638 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

453



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 23 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

days after the end of regular registration each spring term. An 639 

exception to the remittance deadline may be granted if the 640 

institution documents to the department how it plans to disburse 641 

awards to students for the subsequent summer term. An 642 

institution that uses funds for the summer term shall certify to 643 

the department the amount of funds disbursed to each student and 644 

shall remit to the department any undisbursed advances within 30 645 

days after the end of the summer term. 646 

(e) Each institution that receives moneys through the 647 

Florida Public Postsecondary Career Education Student Assistance 648 

Grant Program shall prepare a biennial report that includes a 649 

financial audit, conducted by the Auditor General, of the 650 

institution’s administration of the program and a complete 651 

accounting of moneys allocated to the institution for the 652 

program. Such report shall be submitted to the department by 653 

March 1 every other year. The department may conduct its own 654 

annual or biennial audit of an institution’s administration of 655 

the program and its allocated funds in lieu of the required 656 

biennial report and financial audit report. The department may 657 

suspend or revoke an institution’s eligibility to receive future 658 

moneys for the program or may request a refund of any moneys 659 

overpaid to the institution if the department finds that an 660 

institution has not complied with this section. Any refund 661 

requested pursuant to this paragraph shall be remitted within 60 662 

days after notification by the department. 663 

(5) Funds appropriated by the Legislature for state student 664 

assistance grants may be deposited in the State Student 665 

Financial Assistance Trust Fund. Notwithstanding s. 216.301 and 666 

pursuant to s. 216.351, any balance in the trust fund at the end 667 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

454



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 24 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

of any fiscal year which has been allocated to the Florida 668 

Public Postsecondary Career Education Student Assistance Grant 669 

Program shall remain therein and shall be available for carrying 670 

out the purposes of this section by June 1 of each year. 671 

Section 11. Section 1009.51, Florida Statutes, is amended 672 

to read: 673 

1009.51 Florida Private Student Assistance Grant Program; 674 

eligibility for grants.— 675 

(1) There is created a Florida Private Student Assistance 676 

Grant Program. The program shall be administered by the 677 

participating institutions in accordance with rules of the State 678 

Board of Education. 679 

(2)(a) Florida private student assistance grants from the 680 

State Student Financial Assistance Trust Fund may be made only 681 

to full-time degree-seeking students who meet the general 682 

requirements for student eligibility as provided in s. 1009.40, 683 

except as otherwise provided in this section. Such grants shall 684 

be awarded for the amount of demonstrated unmet need for tuition 685 

and fees and may not exceed the maximum annual award an amount 686 

equal to the average tuition and other registration fees for 30 687 

credit hours at state universities plus $1,000 per academic 688 

year, or as specified in the General Appropriations Act, to any 689 

applicant. A demonstrated unmet need of less than $200 shall 690 

render the applicant ineligible for a Florida private student 691 

assistance grant. Recipients of such grants must have been 692 

accepted at a baccalaureate-degree-granting independent 693 

nonprofit college or university, which is accredited by the 694 

Commission on Colleges of the Southern Association of Colleges 695 

and Schools and which is located in and chartered as a domestic 696 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

455



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 25 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

corporation by the state. If funds are available, a student who 697 

received an award in the fall or spring term may receive an 698 

award in the summer term. Priority in the distribution of summer 699 

awards shall be given to students who are within one semester of 700 

completing a degree or certificate program. No student may 701 

receive an award for more than the equivalent of 9 semesters or 702 

14 quarters of full-time enrollment, except as otherwise 703 

provided in s. 1009.40(3). 704 

(b) A student applying for a Florida private student 705 

assistance grant shall be required to apply for the Pell Grant. 706 

The Pell Grant entitlement shall be considered when conducting 707 

an assessment of the financial resources available to each 708 

student. 709 

(c) Priority in the distribution of grant moneys may be 710 

given to students who are within one semester of completing a 711 

degree or certificate program shall be given to students with 712 

the lowest total family resources, in accordance with a 713 

nationally recognized system of need analysis. Using the system 714 

of need analysis, the department shall establish a maximum 715 

expected family contribution. An institution may not make a 716 

grant from this program to a student whose expected family 717 

contribution exceeds one and one-half times the maximum Pell 718 

Grant-eligible family contribution the level established by the 719 

department. An institution may not impose additional criteria to 720 

determine a student’s eligibility to receive a grant award. 721 

(d) Each participating institution shall report, to the 722 

department by the established date, the eligible students 723 

eligible for the program for to whom grant moneys are disbursed 724 

each academic term. Each institution shall also report to the 725 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

456



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 26 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

department necessary demographic and eligibility data for such 726 

students. 727 

(3) Based on the unmet financial need of an eligible 728 

applicant, the amount of a Florida private student assistance 729 

grant must be between $200 and the average cost of tuition and 730 

other registration fees for 30 credit hours at state 731 

universities plus $1,000 per academic year or the amount 732 

specified in the General Appropriations Act. 733 

(4)(a) The funds appropriated for the Florida Private 734 

Student Assistance Grant shall be distributed to eligible 735 

institutions in accordance with a formula approved by the State 736 

Board of Education. The formula must shall consider at least the 737 

prior year’s distribution of funds, the number of full-time 738 

eligible applicants who did not receive awards, the 739 

standardization of the expected family contribution, and 740 

provisions for unused funds. The formula must account for 741 

changes in the number of eligible students across all student 742 

assistance grant programs established pursuant to this section 743 

and ss. 1009.50, 1009.505, and 1009.52. 744 

(b) Payment of Florida private student assistance grants 745 

shall be transmitted to the president of the college or 746 

university, or to his or her representative, in advance of the 747 

registration period. Institutions shall notify students of the 748 

amount of their awards. 749 

(c) The eligibility status of each student to receive a 750 

disbursement shall be determined by each institution as of the 751 

end of its regular registration period, inclusive of a drop-add 752 

period. Institutions shall not be required to reevaluate a 753 

student’s eligibility status after this date for purposes of 754 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

457



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 27 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

changing eligibility determinations previously made. 755 

(d) Institutions shall certify to the department within 30 756 

days after the end of regular registration each term the amount 757 

of funds disbursed to each student and shall remit to the 758 

department any undisbursed advances within 60 days after the end 759 

of regular registration each spring term. An exception to the 760 

remittance deadline may be granted if the institution documents 761 

to the department how it plans to disburse awards to students 762 

for the subsequent summer term. An institution that uses funds 763 

for the summer term shall certify to the department the amount 764 

of funds disbursed to each student and shall remit to the 765 

department any undisbursed advances within 30 days after the end 766 

of the summer term by June 1 of each year.  767 

(e) Each institution that receives moneys through the 768 

Florida Private Student Assistance Grant Program shall prepare a 769 

biennial report that includes a financial audit, conducted by an 770 

independent certified public accountant, of the institution’s 771 

administration of the program and a complete accounting of 772 

moneys in the State Student Financial Assistance Trust Fund 773 

allocated to the institution for the program. Such report shall 774 

be submitted to the department by March 1 every other year. The 775 

department may conduct its own annual or biennial audit of an 776 

institution’s administration of the program and its allocated 777 

funds in lieu of the required biennial report and financial 778 

audit report. The department may suspend or revoke an 779 

institution’s eligibility to receive future moneys from the 780 

trust fund for the program or request a refund of any moneys 781 

overpaid to the institution through the trust fund for the 782 

program if the department finds that an institution has not 783 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

458



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 28 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

complied with the provisions of this section. Any refund 784 

requested pursuant to this paragraph shall be remitted within 60 785 

days after notification by the department. 786 

(5) Funds appropriated by the Legislature for Florida 787 

private student assistance grants may be deposited in the State 788 

Student Financial Assistance Trust Fund. Notwithstanding the 789 

provisions of s. 216.301 and pursuant to s. 216.351, any balance 790 

in the trust fund at the end of any fiscal year which has been 791 

allocated to the Florida Private Student Assistance Grant 792 

Program shall remain therein and shall be available for carrying 793 

out the purposes of this section and as otherwise provided by 794 

law. 795 

(6) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 796 

necessary to implement this section. 797 

Section 12. Section 1009.52, Florida Statutes, is amended 798 

to read: 799 

1009.52 Florida Postsecondary Student Assistance Grant 800 

Program; eligibility for grants.— 801 

(1) There is created a Florida Postsecondary Student 802 

Assistance Grant Program. The program shall be administered by 803 

the participating institutions in accordance with rules of the 804 

State Board of Education. 805 

(2)(a) Florida postsecondary student assistance grants 806 

through the State Student Financial Assistance Trust Fund may be 807 

made only to full-time degree-seeking students who meet the 808 

general requirements for student eligibility as provided in s. 809 

1009.40, except as otherwise provided in this section. Such 810 

grants shall be awarded for the amount of demonstrated unmet 811 

need for tuition and fees and may not exceed the maximum annual 812 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

459



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 29 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

award an amount equal to the average prior academic year cost of 813 

tuition and other registration fees for 30 credit hours at state 814 

universities plus $1,000 per academic year, or as specified in 815 

the General Appropriations Act, to any applicant. A demonstrated 816 

unmet need of less than $200 shall render the applicant 817 

ineligible for a Florida postsecondary student assistance grant. 818 

Recipients of such grants must have been accepted at a 819 

postsecondary institution that is located in this the state and 820 

that is: 821 

1. A private nursing diploma school approved by the Florida 822 

Board of Nursing; or 823 

2. A college or university licensed by the Commission for 824 

Independent Education, excluding those institutions the students 825 

of which are eligible to receive a Florida private student 826 

assistance grant pursuant to s. 1009.51. 827 

 828 

If funds are available, a student who received an award in the 829 

fall or spring term may receive an award in the summer term. 830 

Priority in the distribution of summer awards shall be given to 831 

students who are within one semester of completing a degree or 832 

certificate program. No student may receive an award for more 833 

than the equivalent of 9 semesters or 14 quarters of full-time 834 

enrollment, except as otherwise provided in s. 1009.40(3). 835 

(b) A student applying for a Florida postsecondary student 836 

assistance grant shall be required to apply for the Pell Grant. 837 

The Pell Grant entitlement shall be considered when conducting 838 

an assessment of the financial resources available to each 839 

student. 840 

(c) Priority in the distribution of grant moneys may be 841 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

460



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 30 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

given to students who are within one semester of completing a 842 

degree or certificate program shall be given to students with 843 

the lowest total family resources, in accordance with a 844 

nationally recognized system of need analysis. Using the system 845 

of need analysis, the department shall establish a maximum 846 

expected family contribution. An institution may not make a 847 

grant from this program to a student whose expected family 848 

contribution exceeds one and one-half times the maximum Pell 849 

Grant-eligible family contribution the level established by the 850 

department. An institution may not impose additional criteria to 851 

determine a student’s eligibility to receive a grant award. 852 

(d) Each participating institution shall report, to the 853 

department by the established date, the eligible students 854 

eligible for the program for to whom grant moneys are disbursed 855 

each academic term. Each institution shall also report to the 856 

department necessary demographic and eligibility data for such 857 

students. 858 

(3) Based on the unmet financial need of an eligible 859 

applicant, the amount of a Florida postsecondary student 860 

assistance grant must be between $200 and the average cost of 861 

tuition and other registration fees for 30 credit hours at state 862 

universities plus $1,000 per academic year or the amount 863 

specified in the General Appropriations Act. 864 

(4)(a) The funds appropriated for the Florida Postsecondary 865 

Student Assistance Grant shall be distributed to eligible 866 

institutions in accordance with a formula approved by the State 867 

Board of Education. The formula must shall consider at least the 868 

prior year’s distribution of funds, the number of full-time 869 

eligible applicants who did not receive awards, the 870 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

461



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 31 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

standardization of the expected family contribution, and 871 

provisions for unused funds. The formula must account for 872 

changes in the number of eligible students across all student 873 

assistance grant programs established pursuant to this section 874 

and ss. 1009.50, 1009.505, and 1009.51. 875 

(b) Payment of Florida postsecondary student assistance 876 

grants shall be transmitted to the president of the eligible 877 

institution, or to his or her representative, in advance of the 878 

registration period. Institutions shall notify students of the 879 

amount of their awards. 880 

(c) The eligibility status of each student to receive a 881 

disbursement shall be determined by each institution as of the 882 

end of its regular registration period, inclusive of a drop-add 883 

period. Institutions shall not be required to reevaluate a 884 

student’s eligibility status after this date for purposes of 885 

changing eligibility determinations previously made. 886 

(d) Institutions shall certify to the department within 30 887 

days after the end of regular registration each term the amount 888 

of funds disbursed to each student and shall remit to the 889 

department any undisbursed advances within 60 days after the end 890 

of regular registration each spring term. An exception to the 891 

remittance deadline may be granted if the institution documents 892 

to the department how it plans to disburse awards to students 893 

for the subsequent summer term. An institution that uses funds 894 

for the summer term shall certify to the department the amount 895 

of funds disbursed to each student and shall remit to the 896 

department any undisbursed advances within 30 days after the end 897 

of the summer term by June 1 of each year. 898 

(e) Each institution that receives moneys through the 899 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

462



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 32 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Florida Postsecondary Student Assistance Grant Program shall 900 

prepare a biennial report that includes a financial audit, 901 

conducted by an independent certified public accountant, of the 902 

institution’s administration of the program and a complete 903 

accounting of moneys in the State Student Financial Assistance 904 

Trust Fund allocated to the institution for the program. Such 905 

report shall be submitted to the department by March 1 every 906 

other year. The department may conduct its own annual or 907 

biennial audit of an institution’s administration of the program 908 

and its allocated funds in lieu of the required biennial report 909 

and financial audit report. The department may suspend or revoke 910 

an institution’s eligibility to receive future moneys from the 911 

trust fund for the program or request a refund of any moneys 912 

overpaid to the institution through the trust fund for the 913 

program if the department finds that an institution has not 914 

complied with the provisions of this section. Any refund 915 

requested pursuant to this paragraph shall be remitted within 60 916 

days after notification by the department. 917 

(5) Any institution that was eligible to receive state 918 

student assistance grants on January 1, 1989, and that is not 919 

eligible to receive grants pursuant to s. 1009.51 is eligible to 920 

receive grants pursuant to this section. 921 

(6) Funds appropriated by the Legislature for Florida 922 

postsecondary student assistance grants may be deposited in the 923 

State Student Financial Assistance Trust Fund. Notwithstanding 924 

the provisions of s. 216.301 and pursuant to s. 216.351, any 925 

balance in the trust fund at the end of any fiscal year which 926 

has been allocated to the Florida Postsecondary Student 927 

Assistance Grant Program shall remain therein and shall be 928 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

463



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 33 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

available for carrying out the purposes of this section and as 929 

otherwise provided by law. 930 

(7) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 931 

necessary to implement this section. 932 

Section 13. Subsection (2) of section 1009.534, Florida 933 

Statutes, is amended to read: 934 

1009.534 Florida Academic Scholars award.— 935 

(2) A Florida Academic Scholar who is enrolled in a 936 

certificate, diploma, associate, or baccalaureate degree program 937 

at a public or nonpublic postsecondary education institution is 938 

eligible, beginning in the 2017-2018 academic year, for an award 939 

equal to the amount necessary to pay 100 percent of tuition and 940 

fees established under ss. 1009.22(3), (5), (6), and (7); 941 

1009.23(3), (4), (7), (8), (10), and (11); and 1009.24(4), (7)-942 

(13), (14)(r), and (16), as applicable, and is eligible for an 943 

additional stipend $300 each fall and spring academic semester 944 

or the equivalent for textbooks, to assist with the payment of 945 

educational expenses as funds are specifically appropriated in 946 

the General Appropriations Act. 947 

Section 14. Subsection (2) of section 1009.535, Florida 948 

Statutes, is amended to read: 949 

1009.535 Florida Medallion Scholars award.— 950 

(2) A Florida Medallion Scholar who is enrolled in a 951 

certificate, diploma, associate, or baccalaureate degree program 952 

at a public or nonpublic postsecondary education institution is 953 

eligible, beginning in the fall 2018 semester, for an award 954 

equal to the amount necessary to pay 75 percent of tuition and 955 

fees established under ss. 1009.22(3), (5), (6), and (7); 956 

1009.23(3), (4), (7), (8), (10), and (11); and 1009.24(4), (7)-957 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

464



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 34 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(13), (14)(r), and (16), as applicable, to assist with the 958 

payment of educational expenses. Beginning in the fall 2021 959 

semester, a Florida Medallion Scholar who is enrolled in an 960 

associate degree program at a Florida College System institution 961 

is eligible for an award equal to the amount necessary to pay 962 

100 percent of tuition and fees established under s. 1009.23(3), 963 

(4), (7), (8), (10), and (11) to assist with the payment of 964 

educational expenses. 965 

Section 15. Subsections (2), (4), (5), and (6) of section 966 

1009.893, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 967 

1009.893 Benacquisto Scholarship Program.— 968 

(2) The Benacquisto Scholarship Program is created to 969 

reward a high school graduate who receives recognition as a 970 

National Merit Scholar or National Achievement Scholar and who 971 

initially enrolls in the 2014-2015 academic year or, later, in a 972 

baccalaureate degree program at an eligible Florida public or 973 

independent postsecondary educational institution. 974 

(4) In order to be eligible for an initial award under the 975 

scholarship program, a student must meet the requirements of 976 

paragraph (a) or paragraph (b). 977 

(a) A student who is a resident of this state, as 978 

determined in s. 1009.40 and rules of the State Board of 979 

Education, must: 980 

1. Earn a standard Florida high school diploma or its 981 

equivalent pursuant to s. 1002.3105, s. 1003.4281, s. 1003.4282, 982 

or s. 1003.435 unless: 983 

a. The student completes a home education program according 984 

to s. 1002.41; or 985 

b. The student earns a high school diploma from a non-986 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

465



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 35 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Florida school while living with a parent who is on military or 987 

public service assignment out of this state; 988 

2. Be accepted by and enroll in a Florida public or 989 

independent postsecondary educational institution that is 990 

regionally accredited; and 991 

3. Be enrolled full-time in a baccalaureate degree program 992 

at an eligible regionally accredited Florida public or 993 

independent postsecondary educational institution during the 994 

fall academic term following high school graduation. 995 

(b) A student who initially enrolls in a baccalaureate 996 

degree program in the 2018-2019 academic year or later and who 997 

is not a resident of this state, as determined in s. 1009.40 and 998 

rules of the State Board of Education, must: 999 

1. Physically reside in this state on or near the campus of 1000 

the postsecondary educational institution in which the student 1001 

is enrolled; 1002 

2. Earn a high school diploma from a school outside Florida 1003 

which is comparable to a standard Florida high school diploma or 1004 

its equivalent pursuant to s. 1002.3105, s. 1003.4281, s. 1005 

1003.4282, or s. 1003.435 or must complete a home education 1006 

program in another state; and 1007 

3. Be accepted by and enrolled full-time in a baccalaureate 1008 

degree program at an eligible regionally accredited Florida 1009 

public or independent postsecondary educational institution 1010 

during the fall academic term following high school graduation. 1011 

(5)(a)1. An eligible student who meets the requirements of 1012 

paragraph (4)(a), who is a National Merit Scholar or National 1013 

Achievement Scholar, and who attends a Florida public 1014 

postsecondary educational institution shall receive a 1015 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

466



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 36 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

scholarship award equal to the institutional cost of attendance 1016 

minus the sum of the student’s Florida Bright Futures 1017 

Scholarship and National Merit Scholarship or National 1018 

Achievement Scholarship. 1019 

2. An eligible student who meets the requirements of 1020 

paragraph (4)(b), who is a National Merit Scholar, and who 1021 

attends a Florida public postsecondary educational institution 1022 

shall receive a scholarship award equal to the institutional 1023 

cost of attendance for a resident of this state minus the 1024 

student’s National Merit Scholarship. Such student is exempt 1025 

from the payment of out-of-state fees. 1026 

(b) An eligible student who is a National Merit Scholar or 1027 

National Achievement Scholar and who attends a Florida 1028 

independent postsecondary educational institution shall receive 1029 

a scholarship award equal to the highest cost of attendance for 1030 

a resident of this state enrolled at a Florida public 1031 

university, as reported by the Board of Governors of the State 1032 

University System, minus the sum of the student’s Florida Bright 1033 

Futures Scholarship and National Merit Scholarship or National 1034 

Achievement Scholarship. 1035 

(6)(a) To be eligible for a renewal award, a student must 1036 

be enrolled full time, earn all credits for which he or she was 1037 

enrolled, and maintain a 3.0 or higher grade point average. An 1038 

eligible Benacquisto Scholar who has fewer than 12 credits 1039 

remaining to complete his or her first baccalaureate degree may 1040 

receive funding for one term in order to complete the degree. 1041 

(b) A student’s renewal status is not affected by 1042 

subsequent changes in the residency status of the student or the 1043 

residency status of the student’s family. 1044 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

467



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 37 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(c)(b) A student may receive the scholarship award for a 1045 

maximum of 100 percent of the number of credit hours required to 1046 

complete a baccalaureate degree program, or until completion of 1047 

a baccalaureate degree program, whichever comes first. 1048 

(d) A student may receive an award for up to 5 years 1049 

following high school graduation and may not receive the award 1050 

for more than 10 semesters. 1051 

(e) A student who receives an award under this program and 1052 

fails to meet the renewal requirements due to a verifiable 1053 

illness or other documented emergency may be granted an 1054 

exception pursuant to s. 1009.40(1)(b)4. 1055 

Section 16. Subsection (2) and paragraphs (e) and (f) of 1056 

subsection (3) of section 1011.45, Florida Statutes, are 1057 

amended, and paragraph (g) is added to subsection (3) of that 1058 

section, to read: 1059 

1011.45 End of year balance of funds.—Unexpended amounts in 1060 

any fund in a university current year operating budget shall be 1061 

carried forward and included as the balance forward for that 1062 

fund in the approved operating budget for the following year. 1063 

(2) Each university that retains a state operating fund 1064 

carry forward balance in excess of the 7 percent minimum shall 1065 

submit a spending plan for its excess carry forward balance. The 1066 

spending plan shall be submitted to the university’s board of 1067 

trustees for review, approval, or, if necessary, amendment by 1068 

September 30 1, 2020, and each September 30 1 thereafter. The 1069 

Board of Governors shall review, approve, and amend, if 1070 

necessary, each university’s carry forward spending plan by 1071 

November 15 October 1, 2020, and each November 15 October 1 1072 

thereafter. 1073 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

468



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 38 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(3) A university’s carry forward spending plan shall 1074 

include the estimated cost per planned expenditure and a 1075 

timeline for completion of the expenditure. Authorized 1076 

expenditures in a carry forward spending plan may include: 1077 

(e) Operating expenditures that support the university 1078 

mission and that are nonrecurring; and 1079 

(f) Any purpose specified by the board or in the General 1080 

Appropriations Act; and 1081 

(g) A commitment of funds to a contingency reserve for 1082 

expenses incurred as a result of a state of emergency declared 1083 

by the Governor pursuant to s. 252.36. 1084 

Section 17. Subsection (4) of section 1011.90, Florida 1085 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1086 

1011.90 State university funding.— 1087 

(4) The Board of Governors shall establish and validate a 1088 

cost-estimating system consistent with the requirements of 1089 

subsection (1) and shall report as part of its legislative 1090 

budget request the actual expenditures for the fiscal year 1091 

ending the previous June 30. The legislative budget request must 1092 

also include 5-year trend information on the number of faculty 1093 

and administrators at each university and the proportion of FTE 1094 

dedicated to instruction and research compared to 1095 

administration. The Board of Governors, by regulation, shall 1096 

define faculty and administrator classifications and shall also 1097 

report the definitions in the legislative budget request. 1098 

Expenditure analysis, operating budgets, and annual financial 1099 

statements of each university must be prepared using the 1100 

standard financial reporting procedures and formats prescribed 1101 

by the Board of Governors. These formats shall be the same as 1102 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

469



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 39 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

used for the 2000-2001 fiscal year reports. Any revisions to 1103 

these financial and reporting procedures and formats must be 1104 

approved by the Executive Office of the Governor and the 1105 

appropriations committees of the Legislature jointly under the 1106 

provisions of s. 216.023(3). The Board of Governors shall 1107 

continue to collect and maintain at a minimum management 1108 

information existing on June 30, 2002. The expenditure analysis 1109 

report shall include total expenditures from all sources for the 1110 

general operation of the university and shall be in such detail 1111 

as needed to support the legislative budget request. 1112 

Section 18. Section 1012.977, Florida Statutes, is created 1113 

to read: 1114 

1012.977 Disclosure of contracts that affect the integrity 1115 

of state universities or entities; penalties.— 1116 

(1) Any person employed by a state university or entity 1117 

engaging in research which was created or authorized pursuant to 1118 

part II of chapter 1004 consents to the policies of the 1119 

university or entity, the regulations of the Board of Governors, 1120 

and the laws of this state. At a minimum, such policies shall 1121 

require employees engaged in the design, conduct, or reporting 1122 

of research to disclose and receive a determination that the 1123 

outside activity or financial interest does not affect the 1124 

integrity of the state university or entity. 1125 

(2)(a) “Financial interest” includes anything of value 1126 

other than that provided directly by the university or entity. 1127 

(b) “Outside activity” includes anything an employee does 1128 

for an organization or an individual, other than the university 1129 

or entity, that is related to the employee’s expertise. 1130 

(3) An employee who has failed to disclose any outside 1131 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

470



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 40 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

activity or financial interest as required by subsection (1) 1132 

shall be suspended without pay pending the outcome of an 1133 

investigation which shall not exceed 60 days. Upon conclusion of 1134 

the investigation, the university or entity may terminate the 1135 

contract of the employee. 1136 

Section 19. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2), paragraph (b) 1137 

of subsection (3), and subsection (4) of section 1013.841, 1138 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 1139 

1013.841 End of year balance of Florida College System 1140 

institution funds.— 1141 

(2) 1142 

(b) Each Florida College System institution with a final 1143 

FTE less than 15,000 for the prior year that retains a state 1144 

operating fund carry forward balance in excess of the 5 percent 1145 

minimum shall submit a spending plan for its excess carry 1146 

forward balance. The spending plan shall include all excess 1147 

carry forward funds from state operating funds. The spending 1148 

plan shall be submitted to the Florida College System 1149 

institution’s board of trustees for approval by September 30 1, 1150 

2020, and each September 30 1 thereafter. The State Board of 1151 

Education shall review and publish each Florida College System 1152 

institution’s carry forward spending plan by November 15 October 1153 

1, 2020, and each November 15 October 1 thereafter. 1154 

(3) 1155 

(b) Each Florida College System institution with a final 1156 

FTE of 15,000 or greater for the prior year that retains a state 1157 

operating fund carry forward balance in excess of the 7 percent 1158 

minimum shall submit a spending plan for its excess carry 1159 

forward balance. The spending plan shall include all excess 1160 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

471



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 41 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

carry forward funds from state operating funds. The spending 1161 

plan shall be submitted to the Florida College System 1162 

institution’s board of trustees for approval by September 30 1, 1163 

2020, and each September 30 1 thereafter. The State Board of 1164 

Education shall review and publish each Florida College System 1165 

institution’s carry forward spending plan by November 15 October 1166 

1, 2020, and each November 15 October 1 thereafter. 1167 

(4) A Florida College System institution identified in 1168 

paragraph (3)(b) (3)(a) must include in its carry forward 1169 

spending plan the estimated cost per planned expenditure and a 1170 

timeline for completion of the expenditure. Authorized 1171 

expenditures in a carry forward spending plan may include: 1172 

(a) Commitment of funds to a public education capital 1173 

outlay project for which an appropriation was previously 1174 

provided, which requires additional funds for completion, and 1175 

which is included in the list required by s. 1001.03(18)(d); 1176 

(b) Completion of a renovation, repair, or maintenance 1177 

project that is consistent with the provisions of s. 1013.64(1), 1178 

up to $5 million per project; 1179 

(c) Completion of a remodeling or infrastructure project, 1180 

up to $10 million per project, if such project is survey 1181 

recommended pursuant to s. 1013.31; 1182 

(d) Completion of a repair or replacement project necessary 1183 

due to damage caused by a natural disaster for buildings 1184 

included in the inventory required pursuant to s. 1013.31; 1185 

(e) Operating expenditures that support the Florida College 1186 

System institution’s mission which are nonrecurring; and 1187 

(f) Any purpose approved by the state board or specified in 1188 

the General Appropriations Act; and 1189 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

472



ENROLLED 

2020 Legislature CS for SB 72, 1st Engrossed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 202072er 

 Page 42 of 42  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(g) A commitment of funds to a contingency reserve for 1190 

expenses incurred as a result of a state of emergency declared 1191 

by the Governor pursuant to s. 252.36. 1192 

Section 20. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 1193 

act and except for this section, which shall take effect upon 1194 

this act becoming a law, this act shall take effect July 1, 1195 

2020. 1196 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

473



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Academic and Research Excellence Committee
May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: State University System Research and Innovation Dashboard Update

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Board approved a new research expenditure goal for the System of $3 billion in 
October 2019.  One mechanism for tracking progress of this goal is the Research and 
Innovation Dashboard.  In September 2016, the Board approved a 19-metric Research 
and Innovation Dashboard to document the progress that the System is making towards 
the expenditure goal, as well as the System’s progress towards achieving national and 
international prominence in research.  The dashboard includes metrics that quantify 
research activity and growth in the categories of “Research Contracts and Grants,” 
“Innovation,” “People,” and “Return on Investment.”  The first dashboard was presented 
to the Academic and Research Excellence Committee in March of 2018, with an update 
in March 2019.  

Ms. Emily Sikes, Assistant Vice Chancellor for Strategic Initiatives and Economic 
Development, will present the results of the 2020 research dashboard to the Committee.

Supporting Documentation Included: 2020 SUS Research and 
Innovation Dashboard

Facilitators/Presenters: Ms. Emily Sikes

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

474



State University System 2020 R&D Dashboard
2019 2020

METRICS YEAR SUS YEAR SUS

R
e

se
ar

ch
G

ra
n

ts
&

C
o

n
tr

a
ct

s

1 Total R&D Expenditures ($ Billions) FY2017-18 $2.12 B* FY2018-19 $2.27 B

2 Federal R&D Expenditures ($ Millions) FY2017-18 $936 M* FY2018-19 $996 M

3 Science & Engineering R&D Expenditures ($ Billions) FY2017-18 $1.88 B* FY2018-19 $1.95 B

4 Non‐Medical R&D Expenditures ($ Billions) FY2017-18 $1.42 B* FY2018-19 $1.43 B

5 Number of Grants/Contracts between Two or More SUS Institutions FY2017-18 120 FY2018-19 123

In
n

o
v

a
ti

o
n

Patents Awarded (over 3‐year period) 2015-2017 1,010 2016-2018 1,057

7 Number of Industry‐related Grants and Contracts FY2017-18 3,273** FY2018-19 3,671

8 Industry Related R&D Expenditures ($ Millions) FY2017-18 $157.5 M* FY2018-19 $165.0 M

9 Number of Startups 2015-16 43 2016-17 27

10 Number of National Academy of Inventors Fellows 2018 65 2019 72

11 Number of I‐Corps teams FY2015-17 40 FY2016-18 181

12 Number of Licenses and Options Executed 2015-16 496 2016-17 437

P
eo

p
le

13 Number of Students Engaged in Undergraduate Research n/a

14 Doctoral Degrees Awarded AY2017-18 4,305 AY2018-19 4,385

15 Number of Postdoctoral Appointees Fall 2017 1,509 Fall 2018 1,652

16 National Academy Members (NAS, NAE, NAM) 2019 63 2019 64

R
O

I

17

Total number of jobs supported from external funding  
The total research expenditures from external sources is multiplied using a regional
multiplier, which will generate the total number of jobs created for every $1 Million in
external funding. Rounded to nearest tens digit.

FY2017-18 18,320* FY2018-19 19,480

18

Economic Impact of State Funding ($ Millions)
The total research expenditures by the institutions funded from the State. The total
dollars received in state support is multiplied by the state multiplier, generating the total
economic impact on the state's economy for every $1 in state support.

FY2017-18 $709.7 M* FY2018-19 $661.0 M

19

Economic Impact of Federal Funding ($ Billions)
Calculated on the annual contract & grant dollars received by the institutions from the
federal agencies. The total dollars received in federal support is multiplied by the state
multiplier, generating the economic impact on the state's economy for every $1 in federal
support.

FY2017-18 $2.81 B* FY2018-19 $2.99 B

Source: Board of Governors survey of State University System institutions, February through April 2020
*The previously reported data for this metric has been restated to address a methodological error at USF.  This was largely comprised of research expenditures associated with dually-appointed USF staff for work 
that was included on the financial statements at other institutions (e.g., H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center & Research Institute), an allocation of graduate medical research effort, and training grants. The methodology 
has been applied to the 2018-19 data. The National Science Foundation is not requiring USF to resubmit historical data.
**USF revised the total for 2017-18 to include an unduplicated count.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Academic and Research Excellence Committee

475



AGENDA
Board of Governors Meeting
Telephone Conference Call

May 5, 2020
3:45 – 4:00 p.m.

or
Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings

1. Call to Order Chair Syd Kitson

2. Chair’s Report to the Board of Governors Chair Kitson

3. Chancellor’s Report Chancellor Marshall M. Criser III

4. Public Comment Chair Kitson

5. Consent Agenda Items for Approval: Chair Kitson

A. Minutes, March 25, 2020

B. Public Notice of Adoption of Regulations:
i. 8.007, Articulation
ii. 14.001, Construction Program Definitions
iii. 14.003, Fixed Capital Outlay Budgets

C. Public Notice of Approval of Amendments to Regulations:
i. 9.007, State University Operating Budgets
ii. 14.006, Fixed Capital Outlay Legislative Budget Request Procedures

D. Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulations:
i. 2.002, University Accountability Plans

E. Public Notice of Repeal of Regulation 
i. 14.002, Definitions

F. Performance Indicators and Goals

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

487



6. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Chair Kitson

Public comment will only be taken on agenda items before the Board.  Public comment forms will be available at the staff table 
at each meeting and must be submitted prior to the plenary meeting of the Board.  A maximum of 15 minutes will be set aside 
after the Chancellor’s Report to accept public comment from individuals, groups, or factions who have submitted a public 
comment form.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

488



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT:  Chair’s Report to the Board of Governors 

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Chair, Syd Kitson, will convene the meeting with opening remarks.

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Facilitators/Presenters: Chair Syd Kitson

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

489



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT:  Chancellor’s Report to the Board of Governors

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Chancellor Marshall M. Criser III will report on activities affecting the Board staff and the 
Board of Governors since the last meeting of the Board.

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Facilitators/Presenters: Chancellor Marshall M. Criser III

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

490



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Public Comment

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

For information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution; Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes; Article V, 
Section H, Board of Governors Operating Procedures

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Article V, Section H, of the Board of Governors Operating Procedures provides for 
public comment on propositions before the Board.  The Board will reserve a maximum 
of fifteen minutes during the plenary meeting of the Board to take public comment.

Individuals, organizations, groups or factions who desire to appear before the Board to 
be heard on a proposition pending before the Board shall complete a public comment 
form specifying the matter on which they wish to be heard.  Public comment forms will 
be available at each meeting and must be submitted prior to the plenary meeting.

Organizations, groups or factions wishing to address the Board on a proposition shall 
designate a representative to speak on its behalf to ensure the orderly presentation of 
information to the Board.  Individuals and representatives of organizations, groups or 
factions shall be allotted three minutes to present information; however, this time limit 
may be extended or shortened depending upon the number of speakers at the 
discretion of the Chair.

Supporting Documentation Included: None

Facilitators/Presenters: Chair Syd Kitson

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Board of Governors - Regular Meeting

491



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Minutes of Board of Governors Meeting held March 25, 2020

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Approval of minutes of the Board of Governors meeting held on March 25 via 
conference call. 

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Board members will review and approve the minutes of the Board of Governors meeting 
held on March 25, 2020 via conference call.

Supporting Documentation Included: Minutes:  March 25, 2020

Facilitators/Presenters: Chair Syd Kitson

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

492



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

1

INDEX OF MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
BY TELEPHONE CONFERENCE CALL

TALLAHASSEE, FL 
MARCH 25, 2020

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors
and its Committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu/.

ITEM PAGE
1. Call to Order ......................................................................................................... 3
2. Chair’s Report to the Board of Governors ............................................................ 3
3. Minutes of Board of Governors Meeting ............................................................... 5
4. Chancellor’s Report .............................................................................................. 5
5. Public Comment ................................................................................................... 5
6. Confirmation of Appointment of the President for the University of Central 

Florida .................................................................................................................. 5
7. Consent Agenda Items ......................................................................................... 9

A. Academic and Student Affairs Committee Report
i. Public Notice of Approval of Amendments to Board of Governors 

Regulations:
1. 6.002 Admission of Undergraduate First-Time-in-College, 

Degree-Seeking Freshmen
2. 6.008 Postsecondary College-level Preparatory Testing, 

Placement, and Instruction for State Universities
ii. Public Notice of Intent to Adopt Board of Governors Regulation 

8.007 Articulation
B. Budget and Finance Committee Report

i. Public Notice of Approval of Amendment to Board of Governors 
Regulation 5.001

ii. Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulation 
9.007, State University Operating Budgets

iii. Auxiliary Facilities that have Bond Covenants Requiring Approval of 
Estimated 2020-2021 Operating Budgets

C. Nomination and Governance Committee Report
i. Reappointment of University Trustees 

D. Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment Committee Report
i. Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment Work Plan

E. Facilities Committee Report
i. Public Notice of Intent to Adopt Regulations:

1. 14.001, Fixed Capital Outlay Definitions
2. 14.003, Fixed Capital Outlay Budgets

ii. Public Notice of Intent to Repeal Regulation 14.002, Definitions 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

493

http://www.flbog.edu/


MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

2

iii. Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulation 
14.006, Fixed Capital Outlay Legislative Budget Request 
Procedures 

iv. Authorization of a Resolution of the Board of Governors approving 
the issuance of debt by the Florida State University Seminole 
Boosters, Inc. to refinance College Town phase I

v. Authorization of a Resolution of the Board of Governors approving 
the issuance of debt by the Florida State University Seminole 
Boosters, Inc. to refinance College Town phase II

vi. Reauthorization of Florida International University Housing Bonds
8. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment ............................................................. 10

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

494



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

3

MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
BY TELEPHONE CONFERENCE CALL

TALLAHASSEE, FL
MARCH 25, 2020

1. Call to Order

On March 25, 2020, Chair Sydney Kitson convened the telephone conference meeting 
at 10:57 a.m. with the following members present and answering roll call: Vice 
Chair Syd Kitson; Tim Cerio; Aubrey Edge; Shawn Felton; Patricia Frost, H. Wayne 
Huizenga, Jr.; Zenani Johnson; Darlene Jordan; Brian Lamb; Charles Lydecker; Steven 
Scott; Eric Silagy; Kent Stermon and Norman Tripp.

Chair Kitson thanked the Board Members, boards of trustees, Chancellor Criser,
presidents, and collective staff for rapidly adjusting to dire circumstances in regards 
to COVID-19. Chair Kitson acknowledged the tremendous amount of effort across all 
fronts to try to contain the spread of the virus.

Chair Kitson then welcomed newly appointed Board member, Mr. Aubrey Edge. Mr. 
Edge is President and CEO of First Coast Energy, LLP, one of the larger distributors of 
Shell gasoline in the United States, with an extensive network of approximately 200 
stations in Florida and North Carolina. Mr. Edge was presented the Industry Leader 
award by JaxUSA and the Ultimate CEO award by the Jacksonville Business Journal. 
Mr. Edge currently sits on the Board of Directors of St. Vincent's Hospital, The Players 
Championship Council, the Parent development board of Auburn University and the 
Bolles School Board of Trustees.

2. Chair’s Report to the Board of Governors

Chair Kitson thanked everyone for participating in the conference call given the difficult 
circumstances and for their ongoing commitment to the State University System, and 
the 345,000 students who had their academic year upended. He noted the 2020 
legislative session had recently concluded and thanked Governor DeSantis, Speaker 
Oliva, and President Galvano for their continued focus on higher education. Without 
their support, Florida would not be number one in higher education three years in a row.
He indicated at the next in-person meeting, there would be an overview of the 2020 
legislative session but provided the following highlights:

Senate Bill 72 on Postsecondary Education contains a number of important policies 
including recognizing the Universities of Distinction program and modifying the Bright 
Futures Medallion Award from 75 percent to 100 percent if students initially attend a 
state college and then transfer to a state university. Performance-based funding metrics 
were amended to measure graduation rates for students who transfer to the State 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

495



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

4

University System with an Associates of Arts Degree and to measure the six-year 
graduation rate for Pell recipients. The bill also authorizes state universities and 
colleges to set aside reserved funds to prepare for natural disasters and for other 
emergencies, and for the termination of employees who violate university conflict of 
interest policies by a failure to disclose outside activities or financial interests that could 
impact the integrity of a university. It also created the Florida Institute for Politics at 
Florida State University and established a similar institute at Florida International 
University to be known as the Adam Smith Center for the Study of Economic Freedom. 

Chair Kitson stated the Legislature continues to show its support as illustrated by the 
appropriation of funds for Universities of Distinction, National Rankings, Performance 
Funding, additional operational funding for six universities, and capital outlay funds for
seven PECO projects. He thanked Board members for advocating for these initiatives 
as well as the presidents and trustees. He also thanked Chancellor Criser for his 
leadership and Board staff who helped make session successful, especially Ms. Kristin 
Whitaker and Ms. Renee’ Fargason.  He noted session was extended due to budget 
negotiations and COVID-19, which has dramatically impacted the way business is done 
on campuses and within our communities. 

He expressed appreciation to Governor DeSantis for the heightened level of 
communication between the Governor, his staff, and the Board office, and the continued 
focus on keeping students, faculty and staff safe. He remarked on the ongoing 
collaboration among the 12 presidents, the Board chairs, university trustees, and 
university staff who are working tirelessly to implement the changes needed to swiftly
respond to COVID-19. These changes include requiring remote instruction for the 
remainder of the spring term, postponing or establishing new delivery methods for 
Spring commencement, encouraging students to return home and remain off campus, 
and establishing plans for providing a refund, rebate or credit for students who can no 
longer utilize university residence hall and/or dining contracts. He also acknowledged 
that as more decisions are required to be made, more questions will arise and while 
there may be unintended consequences, the main priority is the safety of the students 
and citizens of our state. 

Chair Kitson acknowledged the valuable lessons learned in responding to COVID-19,
and his expectation the System will be better prepared if this should ever happen again. 
He believes universities will be at the forefront of helping the economy recover from the 
damage caused by COVID-19. He reminded everyone to heed health warnings and 
take precautions, but not act in fear as there is a continued responsibility on everyone’s 
part to act responsibly as we move through these difficult times. He conveyed his 
thanks to Board members for their service and passion to the System; and to the 
presidents, boards of trustees, board chairs, and university administrators for their 
continued efforts to lead the universities in bold and meaningful ways. He also extended 
a special thank you to Chancellor Criser for his steady hand and strong leadership, as 
well as to the students of the State University System. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

496



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

5

3. Minutes of the Board of Governors

A. Board of Governors Meeting held on January 30, 2020

Ms. Jordan moved approval of the Minutes of the meeting held on January 30, 2020, as 
presented. Mr. Silagy seconded the motion, and the members concurred unanimously.

4. Chancellor’s Report

Chancellor Criser thanked Board members for their valuable insights through this 
process. He stated the universities have been working closely on developing strategies 
to assist students in managing their academic workload during this time of extraordinary 
transition. One of these strategies includes the option of taking courses on a 
satisfactory/unsatisfactory or pass/fail basis versus receiving a traditional grade. He 
explained a key element will be student information and student choice, recognizing that 
a student’s individual decision may depend on a student’s major, whether the student 
attends on a full or part-time basis, and the requirements of financial aid programs. 
Chancellor Criser stressed this will be a time of informed choice and commended 
university staff who are working closely with Board staff to address the issues raised in 
this challenging time. 

5. Public Comment

Chair Kitson asked the Board’s General Counsel Vikki Shirley if there were any 
requests for public comment for items on the Board’s agenda. Ms. Shirley stated no 
requests for public comment had been received.

6. Confirmation of Appointment of the President for The University of Central 
Florida

Chair Kitson stated Ms. Beverly Seay, Chair of the University of Central Florida Board of
Trustees, submitted a request for confirmation of Dr. Alexander Cartwright as the next 
president of the University of Central Florida. Chair Kitson then recognized Ms. Seay. 

Ms. Seay thanked Chair Kitson and the Board and provided an overview of the 
presidential search process that began in October 2019. The Presidential Search 
Committee was comprised of students, faculty, community leaders, trustees, as well as 
Mr. Cerio as the Board of Governors’ representative. The Search Committee received a
charge to recommend to the University of Central Florida Board of Trustees, no later than 
spring 2020, an unranked list of three to five individuals who met the robust list of 
qualifications that were in place for leading UCF as its next president. She explained the 
Search Committee was asked to base its recommendation upon the Leadership 
Statement adopted by the Board of Trustees. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

497



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

6

Ms. Seay said the Search Committee hired Storbeck/Pimentel & Associates to assist 
with the recruitment of candidates. Following that hire, the Search Committee 
commenced a series of more than 20 listening sessions and open forums held across 
UCF’s campuses with students, faculty, staff, alumni, community members and business 
leaders. After conducting a rigorous recruitment phase during January and February, 
2020, and an extensive review of the applicant pool, on March 5 the committee invited 
seven semi-finalists to interview on campus. These seven individuals represented an 
extraordinary breadth and depth of academic scholarship and professional achievement.

Those interviewed included candidates with membership in the prestigious National 
Academy of Medicine and National Academy of Engineering. Candidates also had 
affiliation with institutions in the Association of American Universities, which represents 
the country’s leading research universities. Out of this pool, three candidates were 
advanced for the Board of Trustees’ consideration. 

Ms. Seay stated in mid-March, the committee was faced with the unique and challenging
circumstances presented by the rapidly evolving Coronavirus situation. The Board of 
Trustees made the decision to move the search forward. They made the necessary 
accommodations for the candidates and stakeholders to participate via virtual platforms to 
meet the March deadline. She said the Coronavirus situation served to underscore the 
importance of getting the right leader on board at UCF.

Ms. Seay noted there were over 1,000 views on the open forums and extensive campus 
engagement, with over 200 questions submitted for the forum and more than 550 survey 
responses. Although two individuals from the original finalist pool decided to withdraw, the 
Search Committee met its requirement to provide a slate of candidates and the Board of 
Trustees was pleased to consider the two remaining finalists on March 20, 2020.

Ms. Seay then introduced the President-elect, Dr. Alexander N. Cartwright, for 
confirmation and discussed why he was selected by the Board of Trustees to serve as the 
next president of the University of Central Florida. Dr. Cartwright came from the University 
of Missouri, where he has served as chancellor since 2017 and has achieved a significant 
record of accomplishments in research, fundraising, enrollment management, and 
legislative affairs. But long before those accomplishments, Dr. Cartwright’s own higher 
education journey began when he moved with his mother from the Bahamas to Iowa 
where he earned a GED and attended community college while working to defray the cost 
of classes.    

After transferring to the University of Iowa, Dr. Cartwright earned a bachelor’s degree and 
a doctorate in electrical and computer engineering and held a joint appointment as a 
professor in the Electrical Engineering and Computer Science Department. Before joining 
the University of Missouri, he served as provost and executive vice chancellor at the State 
University of New York, a system with 64 campuses and 1.3 million students. There, he 
introduced policies to boost recruitment and retention of students and faculty while 
improving diversity and inclusion. His changes resulted in installing a chief diversity officer 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

498



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

7

at every campus, expanding candidate pools for new hires, and implementing cultural 
competency training.

As chancellor at the University of Missouri’s flagship campus in Columbia, Dr. Cartwright 
arrived when the institution was experiencing challenging times. The president of the 
state’s university system and the campus chancellor had resigned following protests 
focused on race relations. As an advocate for student success initiatives, Dr. Cartwright
pushed for a more equitable and diverse environment.

Dr. Cartwright also led the university through strategic enrollment and research growth, 
and in 2018 developed a five-year blueprint called the “Flagship of the Future,” which set 
the groundwork for innovation and growth. In addition, he successfully led the conclusion 
of the University of Missouri’s $1.3 billion fundraising campaign.  

One of his proudest accomplishments has been the launch of the Missouri Land Grant 
program, which helps Pell Grant-eligible students by covering their tuition and fees. Dr. 
Cartwright also launched programs to improve retention and graduation rates and post‐
graduation outcomes.

Dr. Cartwright is an internationally recognized scholar in optical sensors, and his lifetime 
awards and accomplishments - for research, innovation, scholarship and professional 
achievement, are too numerous to list but include the American Association for the 
Advancement of Science and the National Academy of Inventors.   

In closing, Ms. Seay stated Dr. Cartwright impressed the Search Committee and the 
Board of Trustees with his keen understanding of the role that a metropolitan public 
research university can have in advancing not just new knowledge, but also in becoming 
an economic engine for the state. Ms. Seay respectfully requested the Board to confirm 
Dr. Cartwright as the next president of the University of Central Florida.  

Chair Kitson called on Mr. Cerio for his remarks as the Board’s representative to the 
Search Committee. Mr. Cerio expressed his thanks to Ms. Seay for her leadership in 
guiding the Search Committee and the Board of Trustees through a successful process in 
an unprecedented time of challenge for the state and the nation. Throughout this process, 
he was reminded of just how critical their roles are in safeguarding and stewarding the 
commitment to public education for the future of Florida and beyond. Mr. Cerio said it was 
an honor to have that responsibility, and one that was taken very seriously. 

Mr. Cerio applauded the leadership and courage of UCF’s leaders to soldier on, despite 
the adversities. He then detailed why he believes Dr. Cartwright is the right choice for 
UCF and the State University System.  Dr. Cartwright is an outstanding, immensely 
qualified leader in higher education who has the proven track record of taking on great 
challenges, restoring trust and confidence in institutions, and setting them on successful 
pathways to greater achievements and outcomes. He also found Dr. Cartwright to be a 
man of integrity with a moral compass heading true north and heartily endorsed Dr. 
Cartwright to serve as the next president of UCF.  

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

499



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

8

Chair Kitson next called on Dr. Cartwright. Dr. Cartwright thanked Chair Kitson, Vice 
Chair Lamb, the Board members, and Chancellor Criser. He also thanked Mr. Cerio for 
his dedication, valuable insight, and guidance he provided during the search process and 
to himself personally.  He next thanked the UCF Board of Trustees, members of the 
Search Committee, and everyone who participated in the process. Dr. Cartwright stressed 
that he was there to serve all students, graduate and undergraduate, and felt that every 
student deserves an opportunity. 

Dr. Cartwright said he was excited about coming to UCF due to the tremendous capacity 
for impact at the university and the university’s Programs of Distinction, which he believes 
can retain the highest caliber faculty and serve regionally relevant needs with nationally 
recognized expertise.  He was also influenced by how nimble and innovative UCF has 
been in key efforts ranging from Medical City to the Downtown campus. And he was 
impressed with Florida’s ranking by U.S. News & World Report as being number one in 
higher education for three consecutive years – a fact he attributed to the tireless 
commitment of the Board of Governors, in partnership with Governor DeSantis and the 
Legislature to keep higher education affordable, efficient, and of the highest quality.

Dr. Cartwright described himself as a consensus builder; developing relationships across 
multiple constituencies. He sees opportunities where others may see obstacles and is 
looking forward to working with the other State University System presidents. Dr. 
Cartwright next outlined some of his goals.  He will work with the Board of Trustees to 
assess strategic priorities and capacity and to expand UCF’s research portfolio and 
funding, fostering key relationships with stakeholders from business, industry, the 
legislature, as well as the alumni and benefactor base.  He will understand and fully 
leverage UCF’s great academic experience for its students through a supportive culture, 
with a focus on student welfare and strong interaction with faculty.  

Dr. Cartwright said he believes in keeping students at the heart of everything the 
university does, and expressed a strong commitment to continuous improvements in 
student outcomes, including 4-year graduation rates.  He will foster strategies to ensure
post-graduate success by working with students on their paths forward, knowing that 
UCF’s job placement and internship rates are already strong, but expanding on these 
efforts.  He will work with the trustees and stakeholders to expand revenue generation 
efforts through fundraising and other means, to increase support of students, faculty and 
programs at all levels.  He plans to develop new initiatives and strengthen those 
supporting UCF’s role as an economic driver in the region.  He will also be focused on 
both institutional and personal performance standards, including established 
performance-based funding metrics to measure progress.  Finally, he expects the 
university to bring an updated strategic plan to the Board of Governors that is in full 
alignment with the goals of Board of Governors’ Strategic Plan.

In closing, Dr. Cartwright stated if he is confirmed, it will be his privilege to work with the 
Board of Governors and the Board of Trustees in the months and years ahead to make 
UCF the best version of UCF that it can be. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

500



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

9

Chair Kitson thanked Dr. Cartwright and asked him to talk about challenges he 
encountered upon his arrival at the University of Missouri. Dr. Cartwright said one of the 
most important aspects to addressing the challenges at the University of Missouri was 
how to win back the confidence and trust in the organization. He explained there were
many conversations around this and the role of a research university and what it means 
to serve a state in providing world class education and research. He credited the 
collaboration between students, faculty, staff, alumni, friends, and the community as 
being key to helping the university restore the public trust. 

Mr. Silagy inquired if Dr. Cartwright has experience with ensuring workforce alignment 
with university academic programs, and how he views the role of a president and a 
university with regard to economic development. Dr. Cartwright responded when he was 
the Vice President of Research at the University of Buffalo, he was also the Vice 
President of Economic Development. During this time, he engaged with the state on a 
new concept called “Buffalo Billion”. Dr. Cartwright and his team worked diligently to 
persuade companies in New York, both public and private, to build partnerships between 
the university and the business industry. Similarly, he views Orlando as a region that is 
ripe with opportunities for workforce and academic alignment.

Chair Kitson turned to the various funding models, including Pillars of Excellence, 
Universities of Distinction, Preeminence, National Ranking and Performance-based 
funding. He asked Dr. Cartwright about his experience with performance-based funding 
and his thoughts on the concept of focusing funding on university areas of expertise. Dr. 
Cartwright described a similar model in place at the University of Missouri that uses
academic analytics to measure contributions on a larger scale but that also illustrates the 
strengths of the campuses. Dr. Cartwright stressed the importance of building on the 
strengths of the campuses and hire not across the board, but in those areas of strength. 
He said he is looking forward to focusing on the strengths at UCF with the goal of 
achieving preeminence status.  

There being no further questions, Mr. Cerio moved approval of the confirmation of Dr. 
Alexander Cartwright as the President of the University of Central Florida. Ms. Jordan 
seconded the motion, and the members concurred unanimously.

7. Consent Agenda Items

Mr. Tripp moved approval of the slate of items on the Consent Agenda. Ms. Frost 
seconded the motion, and the members concurred unanimously.

8. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

Chair Kitson announced the next in-person meeting of the Board will be held on June
23-25, 2020 at the University of Central Florida. Having no further business, the meeting 
was adjourned at 11:50 a.m. on March 25, 2020.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

501



MINUTES:  FLORIDA BOARD OF GOVERNORS                        March 25, 2020

10

______________________________
Sydney Kitson, Chair

____________________________
Vikki Shirley,
Corporate Secretary

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

502



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Public Notice to Approve Board of Governors Regulation 8.007 
Articulation

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Consider approval of the proposed Board of Governors Regulation 8.007 Articulation

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution, authorizes the Board of Governors to define 
the distinctive missions of the State University System (SUS) institutions and their 
“articulation with free public schools and community colleges, ensuring the well-planned 
coordination and operation of the system, and avoiding wasteful duplication of facilities 
or programs.” 

Before the creation of the Board of Governors, the Board of Regents of the State 
University System collaborated with the State Board of Education to create Rule 6A-
10.024, Articulation Between and Among State Universities, Community Colleges, and 
School Districts.  This rule was then adopted by the Board of Governors through a 
resolution on January 7, 2003.  

Since that time, the State Board of Education has revised the rule, and the Board of 
Governors has addressed key changes through stand-alone regulations, such as 
Regulation 6.006 Acceleration Mechanisms.  Although current Board regulations 
address some areas of articulation, there are key components that require further 
direction. New areas for articulation, such as reverse transfer credit and SUS associate 
in arts degree requirements, have more recently been established.  Institutions have 
also developed 2+2 enhancement programs, providing direct articulation for students 
from a partner Florida College System institution to a specific SUS institution.  There is 
also a continual need for reinforcing system-wide participation in the Statewide Course 
Numbering System, the Florida Automated System for Transferring Educational 
Records, and the advising portal Florida Shines.  Finally, among other issues, it is 
important to recognize the responsibility of institutions to provide clear and accessible 
information that assists in the smooth transference of students between institutions. 

The regulation was reviewed by the university general counsels, the Council of 
Academic Vice Presidents, and other state university staff.  The regulation was 
approved for noticing on March 25, 2020.  No concerns were expressed during this 
notice period.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

503



Supporting Documentation Included: Board of Governors Regulation 
8.007 Articulation

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

504



Page 1 of 3

8.007 Articulation

(1) Each board of trustees shall plan and adopt policies and procedures to provide articulated 
programs so students can proceed toward their educational objectives as rapidly as their 
circumstances permit.

(2) General education.
(a) Regulation 6.017 requires completion of thirty-six (36) semester hours of general education

courses in communication, mathematics, social sciences, humanities, and natural sciences.  
Specific general education core requirements are found in Regulation 8.005.

(b) After a State University System (SUS) or Florida College System (FCS) institution has
published its general education curriculum, the integrity of that curriculum shall be accepted
by other Florida public postsecondary institutions. Once the full general education 
requirement is certified on the official transcript as being satisfactorily completed, no SUS 
institution may require any further general education coursework.

(c) Certain degree programs may expect students to complete specified course(s) that meet both 
general education and program common prerequisite requirements.  Students and advisors 
should plan early so that students do not run the risk of acquiring excess hours.

(d) If a student does not complete the general education curriculum before he or she transfers, 
the student must meet the general education requirements of the receiving institution, 
consistent with section 1007.25, Florida Statutes.

(3) Associate in Arts (A.A.) Degree. 
(a) An associate in arts degree from a SUS institution shall include, for purposes of articulation 

consistent with section 1007.23, Florida Statutes:
1. Completion of sixty (60) semester hours of college credit courses in an established 

program of study that includes a general education curriculum of thirty-six (36) semester 
hours of college credit in communication, mathematics, social sciences, humanities, and 
natural sciences.

2. Competence in civic literacy pursuant to section 1007.25, Florida Statutes.
3. Completion of the foreign language admission requirement pursuant to Regulations 6.002 

and 6.004.
(b) Nothing herein shall prevent a SUS institution from denying admission or continued 

enrollment based on an applicant’s past misconduct, both on or off-campus, or when past 
actions were found to disrupt or interfere with the orderly conduct, processes, functions or 
programs at any other postsecondary institution.

(c) Every associate in arts graduate of an FCS or SUS institution shall be granted admission to 
the upper-division of a public postsecondary institution consistent with section 1007.23, 
Florida Statutes. Admission to the student’s preferred public postsecondary institution or 
program is not guaranteed. Additional requirements may be required for admission to 
limited access degree programs. 

(d) State Board of Education Rule 6A-14.030(2), Florida Administrative Code, defines an 
associate in arts degree earned at an FCS institution (A copy of the rule may be viewed at 
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=COMMUNITY%20COLLEGES&ID=6A-
14.030).

(e) SUS institution shall recognize that an FCS associate in arts graduate meets SUS foreign l
language admission and civic literacy graduation requirements if their official FCS 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

505

https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=COMMUNITY%20COLLEGES&ID=6A-14.030
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/RuleNo.asp?title=COMMUNITY%20COLLEGES&ID=6A-14.030


Page 2 of 3

postsecondary transcript reflects the student satisfied those requirements. 
(f) Each SUS institution shall allow FCS associate in arts degree graduates to continue to earn 

additional credits at the FCS institution, provided that the following is met:
1.  The course is the same prefix and course number as a course listed by the SUS 

institution 
as required for the degree or as a course prerequisite for a required course for the 
degree.

2. Students must meet the same minimum grade requirements as the course grade 
minimums required of native students.

3. The earning of such credit conflicts with the SUS institution’s residency requirements 
infinal semesters.

(g) Students may apply for an associate in arts degree through two different options.  Some 
students may meet the requirements for both options and be able to choose the avenue for 
possibly receiving the degree.  Students may not, however, receive an A.A. degree from 
both the SUS and the home FCS institution.:
1.  Associate in arts degree awarded at a SUS institution:

a.  Students are informed of the criteria and process for requesting an associate in arts 
degree at new student orientation as well as in individual advising sessions.  

b. Eligible students who stop out, do not re-enroll, and become inactive at the institution 
may meet the requirements of subsection (3)(a) above.  Beginning with students 
enrolled at the SUS institution in the 2018-2019 academic year and thereafter, those 
who do not re-enroll at the institution the subsequent fall shall receive specific 
instructions from the SUS institution on how to apply for an A.A. degree.

2. Associate in arts degree awarded to FCS transfer students by the awarding FCS 
institution through the reverse transfer of credit earned at the SUS institution:
a.  SUS students who transfer more than 30 semester hours from a single Florida 

College System institution are notified about being eligible to receive an associate in 
arts degree at their home FCS institution if the student has earned at least a 
combined total of 60 semester hours, including the 30 or more semester hours from 
the home FCS with an overall cumulative grade point average of 2.0 or higher.

b. SUS institutions must notify transfer students meeting the subsection (3)(g)2 
requirements above of their possible eligibility to receive an associate in arts degree 
from their home FCS institution.  Students must consent to the sharing of information 
from the SUS institution to their home FCS institution regarding this option. If consent 
is given, SUS institutions must inform the appropriate FCS institution about the 
student’s interest in receiving an A.A. degree and provide any applicable information.

(4) Associate in Science (A.S.) Degree. The associate in science degree earned by FCS students is 
defined in Rule 6A-14.030, Florida Administrative Code. Pursuant to Rule 6A-14.030, the A.S. 
degree consists of lower-division college credit courses to prepare for entry into employment. It is a 
transfer degree and basis for admission to a related baccalaureate degree.

(a) Courses taken as part of the associate in science degree at a FCS institution to meet the 
general education requirements will transfer and apply toward the thirty-six (36) general 
education semester hours required for the baccalaureate degree. No additional general 
education semester hours can be required except to complete the total thirty-six (36) general 
education hours.

(b) Capstone and Career Ladder Degree Articulation Agreements. A capstone agreement

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

506



Page 3 of 3

provides for the acceptance of a specific associate in science degree from any FCS
institution. A career ladder agreement integrates specific associate in science degree 
programs with identified baccalaureate degree programs statewide.  

(c) The SUS shall work through the Articulation Coordinating Committee to establish appropriate 
statewide associate in science to baccalaureate degree program articulation agreements
and to recommend revisions that are consistent with board policies. Final statewide 
agreements must be approved by the ACC, the State Board of Education, and the Board of 
Governors before implementation.

(5) 2+2 Enhancement Programs: Pursuant to section 1007.23, Florida Statutes, SUS institutions 
must partner with at least one FCS institution in providing 2+2 targeted program(s) specifically 
designed to strengthen Florida’s 2+2 system of articulation and to improve student retention and on-
time graduation.  SUS institutions shall:

(a) Develop a Memorandum of Understanding with individual FCS partner(s), detailing the 
components of the 2+2 Enhancement Program, including academic transition, campus 
cultural transition, administrative oversight, and data support, as appropriate.

(b) Conduct a biennial review of each Enhancement Program, starting in 2020, using the State 
University System Rubric for Self-Evaluation for Effective 2+2 Enhancement Programs.
1.  Make appropriate adjustments to the program if possible.
2. Submit the completed rubric(s) to the Board of Governors office by March 1.  The SUS 

institution shall provide name(s) and contact information of the individual(s) who can 
provide details about the enhancement program(s) to the Board.

(6) Each SUS institution shall provide the name and contact information of the faculty or staff 
member(s) who will serve as the initial contact for articulation issues, including articulation issues 
brought forth by the Florida Virtual Campus (FLVC).  Each institution shall work with FLVC in 
providing timely and accurate information necessary for the promotion of articulation to students, 
parents, academic advisors, and other interested parties.

(7) Each SUS institution shall maintain the electronic exchange of student transcripts between other 
SUS institutions, FCS institutions, and the Department of Education and utilize the Florida 
Automated System for Transferring Educational Records (FASTER) or another system that converts 
educational records into a compatible format.

(8) All SUS institutions, except for New College of Florida, shall enter all postsecondary college 
credit courses in the Statewide Course Numbering System (SCNS).  The SCNS uses a course 
designation that consists of a three-letter prefix and a four-digit number. Courses that have the 
same academic content and are taught by faculty with comparable credentials are given the same 
prefix and number (i.e., last three digits of the number).  The credit awarded for these equivalent 
courses will satisfy the receiving institution’s requirements on the same basis as credits awarded to 
native students.  Institutions must refer to the Florida Statewide Course Numbering System 
Handbook for exceptions to the policy.  New College of Florida is exempt from this requirement due 
to the unique nature of its curriculum and its special mission to create innovative, highly 
personalized educational experiences.  New College of Florida must, however, recognize the 
academic integrity of SCNS credit and award equivalent and appropriate credit as earned.

Authority:  Section 7(d), Art. IX, Fla. Const., Section 1001.92, Florida Statutes; New 05-05-20

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

507



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Regulation 14.001 – Construction Program Definitions

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Adopt Regulation 14.001 – Construction Program Definitions.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution, Regulation Development Procedures

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Regulation 14.001, “Construction Program Definitions,” is proposed as a new regulation 
to replace 14.002, “Definitions”. The new regulation places the definitions in alphabetical 
order; adds a definition for “FCO Projects”; and edits some of the existing definitions for 
greater clarity. On March 25, 2020, the Board approved the Public Notice of Intent to 
Adopt Regulation 14.001, and notice was made on March 30, 2020 via posting of the 
proposed action on the Board website. No comments or concerns were expressed from 
the public. 

Supporting Documentation Included: Proposed Regulation 14.001

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

508



14.001 Construction Program Definitions

(1) “Board of Trustees” means the university board of trustees; where referenced in 
Chapter 14, trustee authorization may not be delegated unless otherwise specified.

(2) “Chancellor” means the Chancellor of the State University System, or designee.

(3) “Construction budget” means that amount which is announced after the deadline 
for the receipt of bids, but prior to the opening of bids.

(4) “Construction Management Services” means those services whereby the 
construction manager is selected pursuant to Regulation 14.0055, to provide consulting 
services during the design phase; and management and contractual responsibility for 
the total construction project under a negotiated fee and guaranteed maximum price 
construction contracting method. A fee is negotiated for profit, overhead, and direct 
management costs. Trade contracts are awarded by the construction manager based 
on competitive bids received in response to invitations to bid issued by the construction 
manager. A guaranteed maximum price is provided by the construction manager, and 
the total price paid to the construction manager is either the fee plus the actual cost or 
the guaranteed maximum price, whichever is less.

(5) “Continuing Contract for Construction Management Services” means a contract 
with a construction manager for work during a defined time period on construction 
projects described by type, which may or may not be identified at the time of entering 
into the contract, and under which the estimated construction cost of each individual 
project does not exceed $2 million.

(6) “Continuing Contract for Professional Services,” also referred to as Campus 
Service Agreements, means a contract for professional services entered into in 
accordance with all the procedures of Regulations 14.004 and 14.005 between a 
university and a firm whereby the firm provides professional services to the university 
for projects in which the estimated construction cost of each individual project under the
contract does not exceed $2 million; for study activity, if the fee for professional services 
for each individual study under the contract does not exceed $200,000, or for work of a 
specified nature as outlined in the contract required by the university, with the contract 
being for a fixed term.

(7) “Design-Build Services” means those services whereby one single legal entity 
selected, pursuant to Regulation 14.0055, is responsible for design and construction 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

509



services under one contract. Where such services are within the scope of practice of 
architecture, or professional engineering as defined by law, they are to be performed by 
a registered architect or professional engineer, and where those services are within the 
scope of construction contracting as defined by law for construction, they are to be 
performed by a certified or registered contractor as applicable according to Florida
Statute.

(8) “Fixed Capital Outlay Projects” (FCO Projects) means the construction, acquisition, 
or demolition of fixed assets or real property (land, land improvements, buildings 
including appurtenances, fixtures and equipment) including additions, replacements, 
major repairs, remodeling, and renovations to real property which materially extend the 
useful life or materially improve or change its functional use, including furniture and 
equipment necessary to furnish and operate a new or improved facility, provided all 
such projects meet at least one of the following criteria:

a. Land, land improvements, or buildings with an expected useful life of 20 years or 
more, and in excess of $100,000 or the university’s dollar value capitalization 
threshold for the subject asset classes.

b. Appropriated by the State as Fixed Capital Outlay.

(9) “Guaranteed Maximum Price” means the fixed amount in a negotiated contract 
within which the construction will be achieved. It includes both the fee and construction
cost.

(10) “Maintenance and Repair” means those funds designated for the upkeep of 
university facilities, site and site improvements;  including but not limited to, roof or 
roofing replacement short of complete replacement of membrane or structure; 
repainting of interior or exterior surfaces; resurfacing of floors; repair or replacement of 
glass; repair of hardware, furniture, equipment, electrical fixtures, and plumbing fixtures; 
and repair or resurfacing of parking lots, roads, and walkways are all examples of the 
types of expenses that could be charged to either. 

(11) “President” means the university president, or designee.

(12) “Professional Services” means those services within the scope of the practice of 
architecture, professional engineering, or registered land surveying as defined by law or 
those performed by any architect, landscape architect, professional engineer, or 
registered land surveyor in connection with professional employment or practice or 
other professional services that may be required.

(13) “Project” means that fixed capital outlay construction project, study, or planning 
activity described in the Public Notice, including:

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

510



a. Individual facilities;
b. Grouping of substantially similar facilities, rehabilitation, and/or renovation 

activities; or
c. Grouping of minor facilities, rehabilitation, and/or renovation activities.

(14) “Remodeling” means the changing of existing facilities by rearrangement of spaces 
and their use and includes, but is not limited to, the conversion of two classrooms to a 
science laboratory or the conversion of a closed plan arrangement to an open plan 
configuration.

(15) “Renovation” means the rejuvenating or upgrading of existing facilities by 
installation or replacement of materials and equipment and includes, but is not limited 
to, interior or exterior reconditioning of facilities and spaces; air-conditioning, heating, or 
ventilating equipment; fire alarm systems; emergency lighting; electrical systems; and 
complete roofing or roof replacement, including replacement of membrane or structure; 
and upgrades and replacement of campus infrastructure, including, but not limited to 
roads, water, sewer, gas, steam, chilled water loops, and electrical systems.

(16) “The University Facilities Office” means any office at a university with authority for 
design and construction administration.

Authority: Section 7(d), Art. IX, Fla. Const., History–New June __, 2020, Replaces 
Formerly 6C-14.002, Amended 1-13-99, Amended and Renumbered as 14.002, 3-27-
08, Amended 9-24-09, __. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

511



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Proposed Board of Governors Regulation 14.003 - Fixed Capital Outlay 
Projects – University Budgeting Procedures

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Adopt Board Regulation 14.003 – Fixed Capital Outlay Projects – University Budgeting 
Procedures.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution; Board of Governors Regulation Development
Procedure

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Board Regulation 14.003, Fixed Capital Outlay Projects, is proposed to address both the 
2019 SB 190 changes and in response to the Crowe Huron Business Process Review.
Highlights include:

∑ Requires each university board of trustees to approve the fixed capital outlay 
(FCO) budget.

∑ Defines the use of Education & General operating funds to be used for FCO 
projects.

∑ Defines minor and major carryforward projects and sets limitations in accordance 
with SB 190.

∑ Provides guidance on the inclusion of state appropriated and non-appropriated 
projects’ inclusion in FCO budgets.

∑ Provides guidance on amending the FCO budget.

On March 25, 2020, the Board approved the Public Notice of Intent to Adopt Regulation 
14.003, and notice was made on March 30, 2020 via posting of the proposed action on 
the Board website.  No comments or concerns were expressed from the public. 

Supporting Documentation Included:  Regulation 14.003

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

512



Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

513



14.003 Fixed Capital Outlay Projects – University Budgeting Procedures

(1) Each university will prepare an annual Fixed Capital Outlay (FCO) Budget for all 
Fixed Capital Outlay (FCO) Projects in accordance with the instructions, guidelines, and 
standard formats provided by the Chancellor for those FCO Projects as defined in Board
Regulation 14.001. The FCO Budget must be approved by both the university board of 
trustees and the Board of Governors.  Such approval remains in effect for the life of the 
FCO Projects. The annual FCO Budget must include all FCO Projects, including 
previously approved projects which have not yet been completed. 

(2) FCO Projects shall be listed by category or categories in the University FCO 
Budget as follows:

FCO Budget Categories

a. Education & General (E&G) Operating Projects – This category is 
consolidated, and includes all FCO Projects 1) funded from current year E&G 
operating funds; and 2) which meet the university’s criteria for capitalization. No 
individual project in this category shall exceed $1,000,000. Allowable uses include 
only those Plant Operations and Maintenance (“PO&M”) projects which meet the 
definition of a Capital Asset as found in Board Regulation 9.001, and may only 
include 1) maintenance, repair, renovation, remodeling, and demolition of existing 
educational facilities and existing general site improvements; and 2) new campus 
infrastructure needed to maintain or improve campus code compliance, related to 
identified ADA, environmental health and safety, security or sanitation concerns. 

This category must be budgeted as a single identical line in both the operating and 
FCO budget for purposes of Board of Governors approval. Boards of Trustees may 
adopt policies requiring more detailed line item budgeting at the local level, 
including a requirement that plant operations and maintenance be specified to 
distinguish between PO&M expenses and PO&M Capital Assets. 

b. Minor Carryforward (CF) Projects – This category is consolidated and 
includes all FCO Projects with a cost less than $2 million funded from E&G CF 
funds. No individual FCO project in this category shall exceed $2,000,000.  
Allowable uses include maintenance, repair, renovation, remodeling, and 
demolition of existing educational facilities and existing general site improvements 
(E&G campus real property improvements), as well as replacement of facilities 
less than 10,000 gross square feet.  This category must be budgeted as a single 
identical line in both the carry forward and FCO Budget. 

c. Major Carryforward (CF) Projects are FCO Projects funded in whole or in part 
from CF funds, where the total individual FCO Project cost exceeds $2 million. 
Allowable uses include the following:

i. Completion of a Public Education Capital Outlay (PECO) project that has 
received a state appropriation and is included on the Board’s incomplete 
project list. 

ii. A renovation, repair, or maintenance project with a total cost between $2 
million and $5 million.

iii. A remodeling or infrastructure project, including a developmental 
research school, with a total cost between $2 million and $10 million. 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

514



iv. Repair or replacement of facilities due to damage caused by a natural 
disaster.

d. State Appropriated Projects includes all FCO Projects using funds originally 
appropriated as FCO funds by the State of Florida, notwithstanding the criteria 
provided in Board Regulation 14.001. These funds should never be included in 
the university operating budget. Examples include PECO and Capital 
Improvement Trust Fund (CITF). 

e. Non-Appropriated Projects includes all FCO Projects that have not directly 
or indirectly used funds appropriated by the State. Examples of such funding 
sources would include housing revenue bonds, parking revenue bonds, private 
donations, federal grants, insurance proceeds, and athletic revenues. 

(3) For the purpose of this regulation, Fixed Capital Outlay (FCO) Projects do not 
apply to those projects acquired, constructed, and owned by a Direct Support 
Organization or under a Public Private Partnership; the requirements for those projects 
are addressed in either the Debt Management Guidelines or the Public Private 
Partnership Guidelines.  

(4) The FCO Budget may be amended, subject to use of only the categories 
authorized in section (2), as follows:

a. E&G Operating Projects - must be approved by the board of trustees or 
designee.

b. Minor CF Projects – must be approved by the board of trustees or designee. 

c. Major CF Projects –Individual new projects greater than $2 million and 
increases to individual existing projects greater than $2 million require Board of
Governors approval. 

d. State Appropriated Projects – Individual new projects greater than $5 million 
and increases to existing individual projects greater than $5 million require Board 
of Governors approval. 

e. Non-Appropriated Projects – All new projects greater than $5 million and 
increases to existing projects greater than $5 million require Board of Governors 
approval. 

(5) FCO Project spending will be reported annually at the end of the fiscal year at the 
project detail level, in the format specified by the Chancellor. 

Authority: Section 7(d), Art. IX, Fla. Const., History–New May 5, 2020

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

515



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Regulation 9.007 – State University Operating Budget

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Approve the Public Notice of Intent to Amend Regulation 9.007 and authorize the 
Chancellor to prepare the guidelines, instructions, and schedules for developing the 2021-
2022 Operating Legislative Budget Request. 

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution, Regulation Development Procedures

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

This regulation is being amended to reference guidelines on the carryforward spending 
plans, including recommendations from the Crowe report, and to delegate to the 
Chancellor the authority to establish the legislative budget request guidelines, formats, 
and instructions needed to prepare the annual legislative budget request. 

No comments or concerns were expressed from the public. 

Supporting Documentation Included:  Regulation 9.007

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

516



9.007 State University Operating Budgets and Requests

(1) Each university president shall prepare an operating budget, including an Education 
& General (E&G) Carryforward Spending Plan, for approval by the university board of 
trustees in accordance with instructions, guidelines and standard formats provided by 
the Board of Governors.

(2) Each university board of trustees shall adopt an operating budget, including an 
E&G Carryforward Spending Plan, for the general operation of the university as 
prescribed by the regulations of the Board of Governors. The university board of trustees-
ratified operating budget and E&G Carryforward Spending Plan must be presented to 
the Board of Governors for approval by a date established by the Chancellor. Each 
university president shall implement the operating budget and E&G Carryforward 
Spending Plan of the university as prescribed by Florida Statutes, regulations of the 
Board of Governors, policies of the university board of trustees, provisions of the General 
Appropriations Act, and data reflected within the State University System Allocation 
Summary and Workpapers publication.  

(3) The operating budgets of each state university shall consist of the following budget 
entities:

(a) Education and General (E&G)– reports actual and estimated fiscal year operating 
revenues and expenditures for all E&G funds, including: General Revenue, 
Student and Other Fees Trust Fund, Educational Enhancement Trust Fund 
(Lottery), Phosphate Research Trust Fund, – and including the following 
previously-appropriated trust funds: Experiment Station Federal Grant, 
Experiment Station Incidental, Extension Service Federal Grant, Extension Service 
Incidental, UF-HSC Incidental, and UF-Health Science Center Operations and 
Maintenance. In addition, expenditures from university E&G carryforward funds 
(unexpended balances from all prior-period E&G appropriations) shall be 
included in the actual history fiscal year reporting. University budgeted E&G 
carryforward funds shall be reported in the E&G Carryforward Spending Plan 
Report.  
1. Otherwise by law, E&G funds are to be used for E&G activities only, such as, 

but not limited to, general instruction, research, public service, plant operations 
and maintenance as defined in Board of Governors guidelines, furniture, 
fixtures, and equipment, student services, libraries, administrative support, 
minor capital projects not to exceed $1 million per individual project, and other 
enrollment-related and stand-alone operations of the universities.   

2. Universities shall accumulate ending E&G fund balances for activities such as 
those outlined in section 3(a)(4). The ending E&G carryforward balances can 
only be used for nonrecurring expenditures. At any time the unencumbered 
available balance in the E&G fund of the university board of trustees approved 
operating budget falls below seven (7) percent of the approved total, the 
university  shall provide a written notification and plan to the Board of 
Governors to attain a seven (7) percent balance of state operating funds within 
the next fiscal year.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

517



3. Each university that retains a state operating fund carryforward balance in 
excess of the seven (7) percent minimum shall submit an E&G Carryforward 
Spending Plan for its excess carry forward balance. The Carryforward 
Spending Plan shall be submitted to the university’s board of trustees for 
review, approval, or if necessary, amendment by September 1, 2020, and each 
September 1 thereafter. The Board of Governors shall review, approve, and 
amend, if necessary, each university’s E&G Carryforward Spending Plan by 
October 1, 2020, and each October 1 thereafter.

4. A university’s E&G Carryforward Spending Plan shall include the estimated 
cost per planned expenditure and a projected timeline for completion of the 
expenditure. Authorized expenditures in an E&G Carryforward Spending Plan 
may include:
a. Commitment of funds to a public education capital outlay project for which 

an appropriation has previously been provided that requires additional 
funds for completion and which is included in the list required by section 
1001.706(12)(d);

b. Completion of a renovation, repair, or maintenance project (as defined in 
Board Regulation 14.001) that is consistent with the provisions of section 
1013.64(1), up to $5 million per project and replacement of a minor facility 
that does not exceed 10,000 gross square feet in size up to $2 million;

c. Completion of a remodeling or infrastructure project (as defined in Board 
Regulation 14.001), including a project for a developmental research school, 
up to $10 million per project, if such project is survey recommended 
pursuant to section 1013.31;

d. Completion of a repair or replacement project necessary due to damage 
caused by a natural disaster for buildings included in the inventory 
required pursuant to section 1013.31;

e. Operating expenditures that support the university mission and that are 
nonrecurring; and

f. Any purpose specified by the university board of trustees or in the General 
Appropriations Act.

5. Annually, by September 30, the chief financial officer of each university shall 
certify the unexpended amount of funds appropriated to the university from 
the General Revenue Fund, the Educational Enhancement Trust Fund, and the 
Student and Other Fees Trust Fund as of June 30 of the previous fiscal year.

6. A University may spend the minimum carry forward balance of seven (7) 
percent if a demonstrated emergency exists and the plan is approved by the 
university’s board of trustees and the Board of Governors.

7 Expenditures from any source of funds by any university shall not exceed the 
funds available. No expenditure of funds, contract, or agreement of any nature 
shall be made that requires additional appropriation of state funds by the 
Legislature unless specifically authorized in advance by law or the General 
Appropriations Act.

8. The following units are required to report under this budget entity:
State Universities
UF - Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences
UF Health Science Center
USF Medical Center

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

518



FSU Medical School 
UCF Medical School
FIU Medical School
FAU Medical School
FAMU-FSU College of Engineering
Florida Postsecondary Comprehensive Transition Program (UCF)

(b) Contracts and Grants – reports actual and estimated year revenues, expenditures, 
and positions for university functions which are supported by foundations, 
various state and federal agencies, local units of governments, businesses, and 
industries. Universities shall comply with all applicable federal, state, local, and 
university regulations and guidelines as they relate to grants, contracts, and 
sponsored research programs.

(c) Auxiliary Enterprises – reports actual and estimated year revenues, expenditures, 
and positions for self-supporting functions such as, but not limited to, parking 
services, housing, bookstore operations, and food services.

(d) Local Funds – reports actual and estimated year revenues, expenditures, and 
positions for the following specific areas:
1. Student Activities – revenues generated primarily from the activity and service 

fee each university is authorized to charge its students as a component of the 
mandatory fee schedule.  Activities commonly supported by these revenues 
include student government, cultural events, student organizations, and 
intramural/club events.

2. Intercollegiate Athletics – revenues generated from the student athletic fee that 
each university is authorized to collect as a component of the mandatory fee 
schedule, and from other sources including ticket sales, radio/TV, bowl games, 
and tournament revenues.

3. Concession Fund – revenues generated from various vending activities located 
around the campuses.  The university’s budget must reflect the various 
departments/activities on each campus which benefit from receipt of these 
funds.

4. Student Financial Aid – revenues received by the university for loans, grants, 
scholarships, and other student financial aid.  Expenditures of these funds must 
be reported by activities such as externally-funded loans, student scholarships, 
need-based financial aid, academic-based financial aid, and athletic 
grants/scholarships.

5. Technology Fee – revenues generated from the technology fee that a university 
is authorized to charge its students as a component of the mandatory fee 
schedule. Proceeds from this fee shall be used to enhance instructional 
technology resources for students and faculty. 

6. Board-Approved Fees – student fees presented to the Board of Governors for 
approval by a university board of trustees that is intended to address a student 
need not currently being met through existing university services, operations, 
or another fee.

7. Self-Insurance Programs – revenues received by the university from entities 
and individuals protected by the self-insurance programs. This budget must 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

519



reflect expenditures related to the administration of the self-insurance 
programs and the judgments or claims arising out of activities for which the 
self- insurance program was created. 

(e) Faculty Practice Plan – related to the activities for the state universities’                  
medical schools and health centers. This budget must be designed to report the 
monetary level of clinical activity regarding the training of students, post-graduate 
health professionals, and medical faculty.

(4) The operating budgets of each university shall represent the following:
(a) The university’s plan for utilizing the resources available through direct or 

continuing appropriations by the Legislature, allocation amendments, or from 
local sources including student tuition and fees. The provisions of the General 
Appropriations Act and the State University System Allocation Summary and 
Workpapers publication will be taken into consideration in the development 
and preparation of the E&G data.

(b) Actual prior-year revenues, expenditures (including E&G carryforward 
amounts expended), and positions, as well as current-year estimated revenues, 
expenditures, and positions. University E&G carryforward funds shall be 
budgeted in the E&G Carryforward Spending Plan.

(c) Assurance that the universities are in compliance with general legislative intent 
for expenditure of the appropriated state funds and with the Board of 
Governors’ regulations, guidelines and priorities for all funding sources

(5) Any earnings (interest, investment, or other) resulting from the investment of 
current-year E&G appropriations are considered to be of the same nature as the original 
appropriations, and are subject to the same expenditure regulations as the original 
appropriations. E&G earnings are not to be utilized for non-E&G related activities or for 
fixed capital outlay activities except as provided by law. Earnings resulting from invested 
E&G carryforward funds are considered to be additions to the university’s E&G 
carryforward balance and shall be expended in accordance with section (3)(a) of this 
regulation.

Anticipated earnings for the estimated year from invested E&G funds should not be 
included when building the detailed operating budget schedules. Estimated-year E&G 
earnings and planned expenditures of these funds should only be reported on the 
manually-prepared E&G Schedule I and Summary Schedule I reports.

(6) Any unexpended E&G appropriation carried forward to the fund balance in a new 
fiscal year shall be utilized in support of nonrecurring E&G activities only unless 
otherwise provided by law.

(7) E&G non-recurring is defined as an expenditure that is not expected to be needed or 
available after a point in time. Non-recurring expenditures have distinct elements:

(a) Time limited in nature, where an end date to a given contract or activity is known,
(b) There is no promise or guarantee of future funding,
(c) May cross multiple years, but the above two provisions apply, 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

520



(d) May address financial challenges resulting from external factors (examples could 
include, but are not limited to, federal government shutdown, drop in state 
revenue resulting in a mid-year reduction)

(8) Any amendments to the approved E&G Carryforward Spending Plan during the 
fiscal year shall be reported to the Board of Governors for a time period and in a format 
as prescribed by the Chancellor.

(9) Each university board of trustees may submit to the Chancellor’s Office annually a 
Legislative Budget Request for operations. Such requests shall be made in accordance 
with the fiscal policy guidelines, formats, instructions, and schedule provided by the 
Chancellor.

Authority:  Section 7(d), Art. IX, Fla. Const., History: New 12-6-07, Amended 11-21-13, 9-
22-16, 10-30-19, x-xx-2020

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

521



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Regulation 14.0025 - Building Program and Fixed Capital Outlay 
Legislative Budget Request Procedures

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Approve the Amendment to Regulation 14.0025.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution, Regulation Development Procedures

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Regulation 14.0025 is being amended to modify the regulation title from “Action 
Required Prior to Fixed Capital Outlay Budget Request” to “Building Program and Fixed 
Capital Outlay Legislative Budget Request Procedures”, renumbering it as 14.006, and 
to clarify that all Public Education Capital Outlay projects must have an Educational 
Plant Survey recommendation.  

Additionally, the regulation is being amended to delegate preparation of the annual 
Fixed Capital Outlay legislative budget request (FCO LBR) guidelines, instructions, and 
schedules to the Chancellor for distribution to the universities. Historically, the Board of 
Governors has adopted the FCO LBR guidelines each year for the universities to follow 
in developing their Capital Improvement Plans. However, with the revised PECO LBR 
framework enacted into law under Senate Bill 190, the guidelines for the development of 
the FCO LBR have become more procedural in nature. Accordingly, the proposal is to 
amend Regulation 14.0025 to incorporate a delegation of authority to the Chancellor for 
the annual preparation of the FCO LBR guidelines. Note, because the regulation, as 
amended, could not be presented to the Board for final approval until a later date, the 
Board delegated authority to the Chancellor for preparation of the FCO LBR guidelines 
for the 2021-2022 LBR cycle.

On March 25, 2020, the Board approved the Public Notice of Intent to Amend
Regulation 14.0025, and notice was made on March 30, 2020 via posting of the 
proposed action on the Board website. No comments or concerns were expressed from 
the public.

Supporting Documentation Included: Regulation 14.006

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

522



14.006 Building Program and Fixed Capital Outlay Legislative Budget Request 
Procedures

(1)  The university is responsible for the preparation of the building program. The 
program shall be consistent with the university strategic plan, academic and facilities 
master plan, and shall include the project budget and the building codes applicable to 
the project.

(2)  The university president shall have the responsibility for the building program 
review and approval to assure compatibility with the institution’s approved strategic 
plan, master plan, educational plant survey and with space utilization criteria. Building 
programs approved by the university president, and budgets approved by the university 
board of trustees shall serve as the basic planning documents for development of plans 
and specifications for construction.  

(3)  All projects requested by a university for inclusion on the PECO-eligible priority 
list must have an educational plant survey recommendation. 

(4)  Proposals for fixed capital outlay projects to be funded by Capital Improvement 
Fees shall be prepared by the university, and submitted to the Board of Governors. 
Each proposed project shall be approved by the university president after consultation 
with the student government association. For the purpose of this regulation, 
“consultation” is defined as an ongoing dialogue with the student body president prior to 
developing the university proposal. An attachment containing any objections and 
alternatives, and stating that both the university president and the student government 
association have reviewed the project proposals, shall be included in the proposal.

(5) Each university board of trustees will submit to the Chancellor’s Office a Fixed 
Capital Outlay Legislative Budget Request. Such requests shall be made in accordance 
with the fiscal policy guidelines, formats, instructions and schedule provided by the 
Chancellor. 

Authority: Section 7(d), Art. IX, Fla. Const., History–Formerly 6C-14.0025, 1-24-89, 
Amended 1-13-99, Amended and Renumbered as 14.0025, 3-27-08, Amended 11-21-
13,____________.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

523



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulation 2.002 
University Accountability Plans

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION

Consider approval of Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulation 
2.002 University Accountability Plans

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Board of Governors Regulation 2.002 University Accountability Plans has been 
amended to address section 1001.706(5)(h), Florida Statutes.  The amendment 
requires that each institution, as part of the University Accountability Plan, submit 
information on the effectiveness of its plan for improving four-year graduation rates and 
the level of financial assistance provided to students pursuant to Section 
1001.706(5)(h), Florida Statutes.

If approved by the full Board of Governors, the Intent to Amend will be available for 
public comment for thirty days.  If no concerns are raised by that time, the regulation will 
come before the Board of Governors for final approval.

The Strategic Planning Committee Chair will provide a recommendation to the full 
Board.

Supporting Documentation Included: In Strategic Planning Committee 
Materials

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

524



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Regulation 14.002 – Definitions 

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Repeal Regulation 14.002, Definitions.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution, Regulation Development Procedures

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Regulation 14.002 Definitions is proposed for repeal; it is being replaced by Regulation 
14.001, Construction Program Definitions. On March 25, 2020, the Board approved the 
Public Notice of Intent to Repeal Regulation 14.002, and notice was made on March 30, 
2020 via posting of the proposed action on the Board website.  No comments or 
concerns were expressed from the public.

Supporting Documentation Included: Regulation 14.002

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

525



14.002 Definitions

(1) “Professional Services” means those services within the scope of the practice of 
architecture, professional engineering, or registered land surveying as defined by law 
or those performed by any architect, landscape architect, professional engineer or 
registered land surveyor in connection with professional employment or practice or 
other professional services that may be required.

(2) “Construction Management Services” means those services whereby the 
construction manager is selected pursuant to Regulation 14.0055, to provide 
consulting services during the design phase; and management and contractual 
responsibility for the total construction project under a negotiated fee and guaranteed 
maximum price construction contracting method. A fee is negotiated for profit, 
overhead and direct management costs. Trade contracts are awarded by the 
construction manager based on competitive bids received in response to invitations to 
bid issued by the construction manager. A guaranteed maximum price is provided by 
the construction manager, and the total price paid to the construction manager is 
either the fee plus the actual cost or the guaranteed maximum price, whichever is less.

(3) “Design-Build Services” means those services whereby one single legal entity 
selected pursuant to Regulation 14.0055, is responsible for design and construction 
services under one contract. Where such services are within the scope of practice of 
architecture, or professional engineering as defined by law, they are to be performed 
by a registered architect or professional engineer, and where those services are within 
the scope of construction contracting as defined by law for construction, they are to be 
performed by a certified or registered contractor as applicable according to Florida
Statute.

(4) “Project” means that fixed capital outlay construction project, study or planning 
activity described in the Public Notice including:

(a) Individual facilities;
(b) Grouping of substantially similar facilities, rehabilitation and/or renovation 

activities; or
(c) Grouping of minor facilities, rehabilitation and/or renovation activities.

(5) “Construction budget” shall mean that amount which is announced after the 
deadline for the receipt of bids, but prior to the opening of bids.

(6) A “Continuing Contract for Professional Services, also referred to as Campus 
Service Agreements, is a contract for professional services entered into in accordance 

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

526



with all the procedures of Regulations 14.004 and 14.005 between a university and a 
firm whereby the firm provides professional services to the university for projects in 
which the estimated construction cost of each individual project under the contract 
does not exceed $2,000,000, for study activity if the fee for professional services for 
each individual study under the contract does not exceed $200,000, or for work of a 
specified nature as outlined in the contract required by the university, with the contract 
being for a fixed term.

(7) A “Continuing Contract for Construction Management Services” means a 
contract with a construction manager for work during a defined time period on 
construction projects described by type, which may or may not be identified at the 
time of entering into the contract, and under which the estimated construction cost of 
each individual project does not exceed $2 million.

(8) “Guaranteed Maximum Price” means the fixed amount in a negotiated contract 
within which the construction will be achieved. It includes both the fee and 
construction cost.

(9) “Chancellor” means the Chancellor of the State University System, or designee.

(10) “President” means the university president, or designee.

(11) “The University Facilities Office” means any office at a university with 
authority for design and construction administration.

(12) “Board of Trustees” means the university board of trustees.

Authority: Section 7(d), Art. IX, Fla. Const., History–Formerly 6C-14.002, Amended 1-
13-99, Amended and Renumbered as 14.002, 3-27-08, Amended 9-24-09.

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

527



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

May 5, 2020

SUBJECT: Performance Indicators and Goals

PROPOSED BOARD ACTION
Consider for approval

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

During their October 2019 meetings, the Innovation and Online Committee and Board of 
Governors approved the 2025 Strategic Plan for Online Education’s performance
indicators and goals. During the Committee meeting, Board members requested 
additional information regarding the goals for the percentage of undergraduate and 
graduate students enrolled in at least one distance learning course.  The Board of 
Governors Office of Data Analytics provided additional data that was reviewed by 
provosts on the Steering Committee that is guiding the implementation of the Plan. Based 
on that review, the Steering Committee recommended changes to the performance 
indicators/goals as follows:

1. CURRENT PERFORMANCE INDICATOR AND GOAL: Percentage of SUS 
undergraduate students enrolling in one or more online courses each year: 75%

REVISED Recommended Goal:  80%

2. CURRENT PERFORMANCE INDICATOR AND GOAL:  Percentage of SUS 
graduate students enrolling in one or more online courses each year: 50%

REVISED Recommended Performance Indicator and Goal:
Percentage of SUS Master’s students enrolling in one or more online courses in 
the Fall term: 60%

If approved by the Innovation and Online Committee, the proposed plan will move to the 
full Board for approval.

Supporting Documentation Included:  Data included with the Innovation 
and Online Committee materials

Board of Governors Committees and Meeting Conference Call - May 5, 2020 - Consent Agenda

528


	Introductory Materials
	Agenda Cover
	Schedule of Activities
	Constitutional Amendment

	Academic and Student Affairs Committee
	Call to Order and Opening Remarks
	Annotated Agenda

	Minutes of Committee Meeting
	Agenda Item for Committee action
	Minutes, March 25, 2020

	Review of Regulation 6.002 Admission of Undergraduate First-Time-in-College, Degree-Seeking Freshman
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	Regulation 6.002

	Academic and Student Affairs Updates
	SUS Council of Academic Vice Presidents (CAVP)
	Agenda Item for Committee Information

	SUS Council for Student Affairs (CSA)
	Agenda Item for Committee Information

	Florida Student Association (FSA)
	Agenda Item for Committee Information



	Strategic Planning Committee
	Call to Order and Opening Remarks
	Minutes of Committee Meeting
	Agenda Item for Committee Action
	Minutes, January 29, 2020

	Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulation 2.002, University Accountability Plans
	Agenda Item for Committee Action
	Regulation 2.002 University Accountability Plans

	Overview of PBF Metric 3
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	PBF 3 Methodology
	State University System Student Debt Information Brief
	Presentation

	SUS Student Debt
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	Presentation


	Task Force on Academic and Workforce Alignment
	Call to Order and Opening Remarks
	Annotated Agenda and Comments

	Minutes of Committee Meeting
	Agenda Item for Committee Action
	Minutes, March 25, 2020

	SUS Initiatives Around Academic and Workforce Alignment
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	Presentation


	Audit and Compliance Committee
	Call to Order and Opening Remarks
	Minutes of Committee Meeting
	Agenda Item for Committee Action
	Minutes, January 29, 2020

	SUS Data Integrity Audits and Certifications Summary
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	University Performance-based Funding Data Integrity Audit Reports, FAMU-FGCU
	University Performance-based Funding Data Integrity Audit Reports, FIU-FSU
	University Performance-based Funding Data Integrity Audit Reports, NCF-UWF
	Summary Table


	Innovation and Online Committee
	Call to Order and Opening Remarks
	Minutes of Committee Meeting
	Agenda Item for Committee Action
	Minutes, January 29, 2020

	Performance Indicators and Goals
	Agenda Item for Committee Action
	Presentation

	Noncredit Programs
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	SUS Noncredit Programs
	Presentation


	Academic and Research Excellence Committee
	Call to Order and Opening Remarks
	Minutes of Committee Meeting
	Agenda Item for Committee Action
	Minutes, January 29, 2020

	Update on House Select Committee on the Integrity of Research Institutions
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	Senate Bill 72

	SUS Research and Innovation Dashboard Update
	Agenda Item for Committee Information
	2020 SUS Research and Innovation Dashboard
	Presentation


	Board of Governors - Regular Meeting
	Chair's Report to the Board of Governors
	Agenda Item for Board information

	Chancellor's Report
	Agenda Item for Board information

	Public Comment
	Agenda Item for Board information


	Consent Agenda
	Minutes, March 25, 2020
	Agenda Item for Board Action
	Minutes, March 25, 2020

	Public Notice of Adoption of Regulations:
	8.007, Articulation
	Agenda Item for Board Action
	Regulation 8.007

	14.001, Construction Program Definitions
	Agenda Item for Board Action
	Regulation 14.001

	14.003, Fixed Capital Outlay Budgets
	Agenda Item for Board Action
	Regulation 14.003


	Public Notice of Approval of Amendments to Regulations:
	9.007, State University Operating Budgets
	Agenda Item for Board Action
	Regulation 9.007

	14.006, Fixed Capital Outlay Legislative Budget Request Procedures
	Agenda Item for Board Action
	Regulation 14.006


	Public Notice of Intent to Amend Board of Governors Regulations:
	2.002, University Accountability Plans
	Agenda Item for Board Action


	Public Notice of Repeal of Regulation:
	14.002, Definitions
	Agenda Item for Board Action
	Regulation 14.002


	Performance Indicators and Goals
	Agenda Item for Board Action





